“"“”Hu
Iy

\l iy 'h::n““

| l||||||

ly, iy,
g
||u||||||mm“:::n!1“
Iy iy Uiy, |||||1||||||||||||Li
||||||I| Iy iIHIItI uunnu
e [
||I [

!HHIIIIIII"-'

il
| ||||||||||IIIII|||||||l|
:m:””:”::llﬂlll|I|||

|||II|I|||||||||||||||
I
|I\IIIII|I|I

||||||||

U,

|||||\|||\||||||IIIIII|||| i Illlll::“nu:

“ ||||l|||| (g
i

il

g
|'| il I|||I|m|”IHI !
||l||
il

N
E?osg(e)rties

ort
al Rep
Annu

2013




On the Cover

Pictured top:
Embarcadero Center, San Francisco, CA (left)
John HancockTower, Boston, MA (right)

Pictured bottom:

767 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY (left)
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC (right)

Contents

IFC Company Description
1-7 Letter to Shareholders

8 Board of Directors and Officers
9 Form 10-K
IBC Corporate Information

About Boston Properties

Boston Properties, Inc., a self-administered and self-managed
real estate investment trust (REIT), is one of the largest owners,
managers and developers of Class A office properties in the
United States, with a significant presence in four markets:
Boston, New York, San Francisco and Washington, DC. The
Company was founded in 1970 by Mortimer B. Zuckerman

and Edward H. Linde in Boston, where it maintains its
headquarters. Boston Properties became a public company

in June 1997 and is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol “BXP.”

The Company acquires, develops and manages its properties
through full-service regional offices. Its property portfolio

is comprised primarily of Class A office properties and also
includes one hotel, three residential properties and four retail
properties. Boston Properties is well-known for its in-house
building management expertise and responsiveness to tenants’
needs. The Company holds a superior track record in developing
premium Central Business District (CBD) office buildings,
suburban office centers and build-to-suit projects for the U.S.
government and a diverse array of creditworthy tenants.

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities laws.
See the discussion under “Forward-Looking Statements” in the Form 10-K for matters to be considered in this regard.



Mortimer B. Zuckerman
Executive Chairman

Owen D.Thomas
Chief Executive Officer

DouglasT. Linde

President

To Our Shareholders

Boston Properties’ fundamental operating performance was

strong in 2013. We had a very productive leasing year, continued

to enhance our development pipeline and were active in the
capital markets, taking advantage of favorable property and
capital market conditions. Specifically, we:

¢ increased diluted FFO per share from $4.90 to $4.91, despite
the reduction of $0.11 per share of FFO from the sale of all or
a portion of eight assets for $1.25 billion,

¢ declared total dividends of $4.85 per share, including a
special dividend of $2.25 per share,

e increased portfolio-wide occupancy from 91.4% to 93.4%
through the leasing of 5.1 million square feet of space,

e completed four acquisitions, including three development
sites, for $523 million,

e made significant progress constructing and leasing our
robust development pipeline, and

¢ reduced our overall cost of capital by raising $1.4 billion in
debt and preferred equity capital at very favorable rates.

Despite these operational accomplishments, we were not
fully satisfied with our total shareholder return of -0.6% in
2013. Though the S&P 500 Index was up 32.4% in 2013, REITs
had weaker stock price performance as interest rate fears
weighed on investor sentiment toward public real estate. This
was particularly true for the larger capitalization REITs, such as

Boston Properties’ Total Return to Shareholders
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The graph assumes an investment of $100 on December 31, 2003 and the
reinvestment of dividends. Data shown is based on the share price or index
values, as applicable, as of December 31 of each year shown. Source: NAREIT

Boston Properties. Specifically, total returns in 2013 for
the FTSE NAREIT Office Index and Cohen & Steers Realty
Majors Portfolio Index of large capitalization REITS were
2.5% and -1.5%, respectively.

Notwithstanding our performance in 2013, Boston Properties
has provided outstanding absolute and relative shareholder
returns since its IPO in 1997. Specifically, Boston Properties
has delivered an annualized return of 14.3% compared to the
S&P 500 Index annualized return of 6.4%.

Strategy and Market Position

Boston Properties remains committed to its strategy, which
has served the company and its shareholders well through
our 17-year history as a public company. Our strategy is

as follows:

e maintain a keen focus on select markets that exhibit the
strongest economic growth and investment characteristics
over time, currently Boston, New York, San Francisco
and Washington, DC,

* investin the highest quality buildings that are able to
maintain a premium in occupancy and rental rates,
particularly in difficult economic periods,

e in our core markets, maintain scale and a full service real
estate capability (leasing, development, construction and
management) to ensure we (1) see all relevant investment
opportunities and (2) maintain an ability to execute on all
types of real estate opportunities, such as acquisitions,
dispositions, repositioning and development, throughout
the real estate investment cycle,

e ensure a strong balance sheet to maintain consistent access
to capital and the resultant ability to make opportunistic
investments during challenging economic periods, and

e foster a culture and reputation of integrity and fair dealing,
making us the counterparty of choice for real estate
industry participants.



Economy and Operating Environment

Five years after the most recent financial crisis and despite
record fiscal stimulus, the U.S. economy continues to recover
at a sluggish and uneven pace. GDP growth in the U.S.

was 1.9% in 2013 (3.2% in the fourth quarter); however,
unemployment remained stubbornly high at 6.7%. In fact,
the absolute level of employment has not recovered to levels
experienced before 2008, which is unprecedented when
compared to prior recessions. However, the economic
recovery is clearly multi-speed with new economy industries
such as technology, health care and aspects of energy
experiencing significantly higher growth. Many of the markets
we selected and serve, such as San Francisco and parts of
Boston, are benefitting significantly from this phenomenon.
Though risks abound, we generally see a continuation of this
bifurcated recovery into 2014.

The leasing markets are also variable by industry and location.
Law firms and large-scale banks are generally contracting their
space use due to headcount reductions and/or densification
opportunities created by new technologies. Law libraries and
legal assistants are less prevalent; firms increasingly prefer
denser, more collaborative open-space floor plans; and
individual mobility creates shared office opportunities.

On the brighter side, we are having success building new,
efficient buildings catering to these dynamics and engaging
our tenants well in advance of their lease expirations to
address their long-term space needs. Further, not all financial
firms are shrinking, and we have had success attracting
mid-size and small-scale financial firms, a growing sector

comprised of asset managers and advisory boutiques, to
our buildings over the past year.

Lastly, technology, health care and life sciences tenants
are experiencing explosive employment growth, which is
materially benefitting our existing and future portfolio in
San Francisco, Cambridge and the Boston suburbs. Boston
Properties intends to increase its exposure to this thriving
tenant base in all of our markets over time.

In terms of capital markets conditions, demand for real estate
investment, particularly for high-quality office assets in our
core markets, continues to be strong. Commercial real estate
transaction volumes in the U.S. are approaching 2006 levels;
however, the investor profiles and capital structures are
different with substantially more equity and lower debt levels

Boston Properties Consistently Outperforms
Market Leasing Rates
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being deployed. Capitalization rates reflect this demand and
were not materially impacted by the 130 bps increase in the
10-year U.S. Treasury rate from lows experienced in the

first half of 2013. We believe interest rates will rise as the
economy improves and the Federal Reserve tapers its market
intervention; however, the timing and magnitude of such
increases are difficult to discern. While higher interest rates
and resultant higher capital costs will likely be a headwind for
real estate values, if rates are rising due to improvements in the
economy, we should also experience a pickup in demand and
higher rental growth rates.

Leasing

Our leasing teams had another strong year, having executed
339 leases representing 5.1 million square feet of space in
2013. Most of our buildings are substantially full as overall
occupancy increased 2.0% during the year to 93.4%. Though
leasing activity was generally robust throughout our portfolio,
San Francisco and Princeton (our only suburban New York
market) had particularly strong years, leasing 1.1 million and
671,000 square feet, respectively, a record year for Princeton.

The larger deals signed during the year were:

e an extension of two leases with Genentech for 428,000
square feet at our Gateway property in South San Francisco,

e at Carnegie Center in Princeton, we completed an extension
of a 234,000 square foot lease with URS Energy & Construction;
given this deal and 437,000 square feet of additional new
leasing and extensions, we were able to bring Carnegie Center
to approximately 90% leased and substantially reduce our
rollovers over the next few years,

e at Reston Town Center, we completed a 214,000 square foot
expansion and extension of our lease with L-3 and executed
a 154,000 square foot, long-term lease with Leidos, bringing
the entire Reston Town Center complex to nearly 100%
leased, and

e atBay Colony, we executed 245,000 square feet of leases,
increasing our occupancy by 16% over the last 12 months.

We also made significant progress leasing our new
developments. At 250 West 55th Street in New York City,
we completed a 96,000 square foot lease with Soros Fund
Management and we are now 64% leased in this 989,000
square foot project. We also leased 55,000 square feet to
athenahealth at our 680 Folsom Street development in
San Francisco bringing the project to 96% leased.

Lastly, we initiated productive dialogues with a number of
new tenants for existing and future developments in all four
of our core markets.

Leasing Productivity
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(Opposite page) Pictured left: 680 Folsom Street, San Francisco, CA;
Right: The Avant at RestonTown Center, Reston, VA

Pictured left: 2560 West 55th Street, New York, NY



Acquisitions

Early in 2013 we completed four important acquisitions:

Transbay Tower - For $192 million, we purchased a 95%
interest in a site in downtown San Francisco, which is
entitled for a 60-story, 1.4 million square foot office tower.
When complete the Transbay Tower will be San Francisco’s
tallest building and one of its most iconic assets.

535 Mission Street — For $71 million, we purchased a site

as well as related building materials entitled for a 307,000
square foot office tower located in downtown San Francisco
where we are in active construction and expect delivery by
year end 2014.

Mountain View Research Park/Mountain View Technology
Park — For $233 million, we purchased a 60.5% interest
bringing our ownership to 100% in these 739,000 square
foot office parks located in Mountain View, California, one
of the strongest submarkets in the heart of Silicon Valley.
Reston Town Center Land - For $27 million, we purchased

a site entitled for 250,000 square feet of office space at

our highly successful Reston Town Center project in
Reston, Virginia.

While we have and will continue to look for off-market
acquisitions in our core markets, finding opportunities is
difficult given elevated pricing levels. We will remain

disciplined and only pursue opportunities that present an
attractive financial return to our shareholders.

Dispositions

In 2013, Boston Properties took advantage of the robust capital
market for office buildings and monetized eight assets raising
$1.25 billion for shareholders, resulting in a $2.25 per share special
dividend. Assets sold were either (1) in submarkets that we are
exiting, such as 303 Almaden Boulevard in San Jose, California
and One Preserve Parkway in Rockville, Maryland, or (2) have
lower cash flow growth rates than the balance of our portfolio,
such as 1301 New York Avenue in Washington, DC and 125 West
55th Street in New York City.

Our most significant disposition of the year was a 45% interest

in Times Square Tower in New York City, which was sold for

$684 million to Norges Bank Investment Management. Norges
will be our joint venture partner and is a new and important capital
relationship for our company. Boston Properties developed Times
Square Tower in 2004 at a cost of $653 million; therefore, the
inferred 100% sale price for Times Square Tower represents a gain
of $867 million, or 133%, which is indicative of the profit-making
power of our development capability.

biogen idec




Developments

Existing and new developments will be an important
contributor to our growth and value creation for shareholders
over the next several years. In our core markets, new buildings
are being delivered at higher yields and lower costs per square
foot than where existing older buildings are trading. Further,

in the U.S. today office development remains at very low levels
relative to historical averages. In 2013, 0.7% of existing office
square footage was delivered in the U.S. versus a long-term
average of 1.5% per year.

Boston Properties’ roots are as a development company,
and we have an extraordinary track record of creating value
through new development. As of year-end 2013 we had nine
properties under construction, comprising 2.9 million square
feet and a total development cost of $2.5 billion. During 2013,
we placed in service the following projects:

e Two Patriots Park — a 256,000 square foot, 100% leased,
Class A office redevelopment located in Reston, Virginia.

e 500 North Capitol — a 231,000, 91% leased Class A office
redevelopment located in Washington, DC.

e Seventeen Cambridge Center —a 195,000 square foot,
100% leased, Class A office property located in
Cambridge, Massachusetts.

(Opposite page) Pictured left: 535 Mission Street, San Francisco, CA;
Top right: 500 North Capitol Street, NW, Washington, DC;
Bottom right: 17 Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA

Pictured left: Cambridge Center Connector, Cambridge, MA;
Right: Rendering of 601 Massachusetts Avenue, NW, Washington, DC

Annapolis Junction Building Six — a 120,000 square foot, 49%
leased Class A office building located in Annapolis, Maryland.
Cambridge Center Connector - a 43,000 square foot,

100% leased, Class A office space located in

Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Additionally, in 2013 Boston Properties significantly advanced
its future development pipeline:

Working with the current landowner, Delaware North, we
received city approvals to partner in the development of the
former Boston Garden site, a 1.8 million square foot, mixed-
use development located adjacent to the TD Garden in
downtown Boston, Massachusetts.

We received approvals to build a 200,000 square foot
residential and street-level retail project in the center of our
Kendall Square properties in Cambridge, Massachusetts.
We secured a 130,000 square foot lease commitment for

a build-to-suit project at Carnegie Center in Princeton,

New Jersey.

In addition, we continue to have productive discussions with
anchor tenants for 10/20 CityPoint in Waltham, Massachusetts,
888 Boylston Street in Boston, Massachusetts and Transbay
Tower in San Francisco, California. All of these existing and
future development projects will comprise a significant
component of our new investments over the next several
years and are expected to lay the groundwork for significant
contributions to our FFO growth.



Balance Sheet

Boston Properties took advantage of historically low interest
rates to reduce our capital costs in 2013. In April we raised
$500 million in 10-year senior unsecured notes with an
effective yield of 3.28%, the lowest yield at which we have
ever borrowed for long-term debt. As interest rates began

to rise during the year, we raised another $700 million in
10-year senior unsecured notes with an effective yield of
3.92% to prefund debt that matured in February 2014. We also
redeemed $450 million of unsecured exchangeable senior
notes, refinanced two secured borrowings and increased our

Boston Properties’ Total Consolidated
Market Capitalization

In Billions

e

B $174 Equity
M $6.6 Unsecured Debt
M $47 Secured Debt

$28.7 Total Consolidated Market Capitalization

Amounts are as of December 31, 2013.

unsecured line of credit from $750 million to $1 billion. Lastly,
we issued our first perpetual preferred equity security, raising
$194 million at a coupon of 5.25%.

Boston Properties’ balance sheet remains strong, and we
maintained our investment grade ratings. As of February 21,
2014, after paying a special dividend of $2.25 per share and
repaying $747.5 million in unsecured exchangeable senior
notes, we have approximately $900 million of cash-on-hand.
We continue to have full availability of our $1 billion unsecured
line of credit and have ready access to the equity and debt
capital markets to fund our existing development pipeline and
additional investment opportunities as they become available.

Organization and Team

We made some additions and changes to our Senior
Management team in 2013. Owen Thomas joined Boston
Properties in April as our CEO, and our founder Mort
Zuckerman became Executive Chairman. Robert Selsam, our
New York Regional Manager, retired after 33 years of service
to our company. We are deeply grateful to Robert for his many
contributions to Boston Properties. We subsequently hired



John Powers for the role. John was Chairman of the New York
Region for CBRE and has been a trusted advisor to Boston
Properties for over 15 years while at CBRE. John brings a wealth
of experience, New York market knowledge and relationships
to Boston Properties. His integration has been seamless.

Organizationally, we have merged our Princeton region

into the New York region under John. Princeton does not have
the scale of our other four regions, and all of our regional
organizations outside of New York have both CBD and suburban
assets and operations.

At Boston Properties we are fortunate to have a very dedicated
and talented team that takes great pride in the quality of their
work and the assets we nurture. Many of our professionals are
recognized leaders in the real estate industry and their local
communities, and many of Boston Properties’ activities have
earned industry recognition. We are deeply appreciative of our
team’s loyalty and commitment, without which we could

not accomplish all that we do.

(Opposite page) Pictured left: Atlantic Wharf, Boston MA;
Right: South of Market, Reston, VA

Pictured left: 599 and 601 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY

Boston Properties’ Income
by Region

M 30% Boston

M 38% NewYork
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Percentage of our Net Operating Income (NOI), which includes our share of NOI from
our unconsolidated joint venture assets, for the year ended December 31, 2013.

We would like to thank all of our colleagues at Boston
Properties, as well as our Board of Directors, for all of their
contributions in 2013. And, most importantly, we would
also like to thank you, our shareholders, for your continued
input and support.
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PART I

Item 1.  Business

General

2 < 9% <

As used herein, the terms “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to Boston Properties, Inc., a Delaware
corporation organized in 1997, individually or together with its subsidiaries, including Boston Properties Limited
Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership, and our predecessors. We are a fully integrated, self-administered
and self-managed real estate investment trust, or “REIT,” and one of the largest owners and developers of office
properties in the United States.

Our properties have been concentrated in five markets—Boston, New York, Princeton, San Francisco and
Washington, DC. Beginning in fiscal 2014, Princeton will be reflected as the suburban component of the
New York region. We conduct substantially all of our business through our subsidiary, Boston Properties Limited
Partnership. At December 31, 2013, we owned or had interests in 175 properties, totaling approximately
44 .4 million net rentable square feet, including nine properties under construction totaling approximately
2.9 million net rentable square feet. In addition, we had structured parking for approximately 45,234 vehicles
containing approximately 15.4 million square feet. Our properties consisted of:

e 167 office properties, including 128 Class A office properties (including eight properties under
construction) and 39 Office/Technical properties;

e one hotel;
e four retail properties; and

e three residential properties (one of which is under construction).

We own or control undeveloped land totaling approximately 503.6 acres, which could support
approximately 12.4 million square feet of additional development.

We consider Class A office properties to be centrally-located buildings that are professionally managed and
maintained, attract high-quality tenants and command upper-tier rental rates, and that are modern structures or
have been modernized to compete with newer buildings. We consider Office/Technical properties to be
properties that support office, research and development, laboratory and other technical uses. Our definitions of
Class A office and Office/Technical properties may be different than those used by other companies.

We are a full-service real estate company, with substantial in-house expertise and resources in acquisitions,
development, financing, capital markets, construction management, property management, marketing, leasing,
accounting, tax and legal services. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 760 employees. Our thirty-
four senior officers have an average of twenty-nine years experience in the real estate industry, including an
average of nineteen years of experience with us. Our principal executive office and Boston regional office are
located at The Prudential Center, 800 Boylston Street, Suite 1900, Boston, Massachusetts 02199 and our
telephone number is (617) 236-3300. In addition, we have regional offices at 599 Lexington Avenue, New York,
New York 10022; Four Embarcadero Center, San Francisco, California 94111; and 2200 Pennsylvania Avenue
NW, Washington, DC 20037.

Our Web site is located at http://www.bostonproperties.com. On our Web site, you can obtain a free copy of
our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments
to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. You may also obtain our reports by accessing the EDGAR
database at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov, or we will furnish an electronic or paper copy of these
reports free of charge upon written request to: Investor Relations, Boston Properties, Inc., The Prudential Center,
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800 Boylston Street, Suite 1900, Boston, Massachusetts 02199. The name “Boston Properties” and our logo
(consisting of a stylized “b”) are registered service marks of Boston Properties Limited Partnership.

Boston Properties Limited Partnership

Boston Properties Limited Partnership, or BPLP or our Operating Partnership, is a Delaware limited
partnership, and the entity through which we conduct substantially all of our business and own, either directly or
through subsidiaries, substantially all of our assets. We are the sole general partner and, as of February 21, 2014,
the owner of approximately 89.5% of the economic interests in BPLP. Economic interest was calculated as the
number of common partnership units of BPLP owned by the Company as a percentage of the sum of (1) the
actual aggregate number of outstanding common partnership units of BPLP, (2) the number of common
partnership units issuable upon conversion of outstanding preferred partnership units of BPLP and (3) the number
of common units issuable upon conversion of all outstanding long term incentive plan units of BPLP, or LTIP
Units, other than LTIP Units issued in the form of Outperformance Awards (“OPP Awards”) and Multi-Year
Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards (“MYLTIP Awards”), assuming all conditions have been met for the
conversion of the LTIP Units. Refer to Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. An LTIP Unit is
generally the economic equivalent of a share of our restricted common stock, although LTIP Units issued in the
form of OPP Awards or MYLTIP Awards are only entitled to receive one-tenth (1/10%) of the regular quarterly
distributions (and no special distributions) prior to being earned. Our general and limited partnership interests in
BPLP entitle us to share in cash distributions from, and in the profits and losses of, BPLP in proportion to our
percentage interest and entitle us to vote on all matters requiring a vote of the limited partners. The other limited
partners of BPLP are persons who contributed their direct or indirect interests in properties to BPLP in exchange
for common units or preferred units of limited partnership interest in BPLP or recipients of LTIP Units pursuant
to our Stock Option and Incentive Plan. Under the limited partnership agreement of BPLP, unitholders may
present their common units of BPLP for redemption at any time (subject to restrictions agreed upon at the time of
issuance of the units that may restrict such right for a period of time, generally one year from issuance). Upon
presentation of a unit for redemption, BPLP must redeem the unit for cash equal to the then value of a share of
our common stock. In lieu of cash redemption by BPLP, however, we may elect to acquire any common units so
tendered by issuing shares of our common stock in exchange for the common units. If we so elect, our common
stock will be exchanged for common units on a one-for-one basis. This one-for-one exchange ratio is subject to
specified adjustments to prevent dilution. We generally expect that we will elect to issue our common stock in
connection with each such presentation for redemption rather than having BPLP pay cash. With each such
exchange or redemption, our percentage ownership in BPLP will increase. In addition, whenever we issue shares
of our common stock other than to acquire common units of BPLP, we must contribute any net proceeds we
receive to BPLP and BPLP must issue to us an equivalent number of common units of BPLP. This structure is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT.

Preferred units of BPLP have the rights, preferences and other privileges as are set forth in an amendment to
the limited partnership agreement of BPLP. As of December 31, 2013 and February 21, 2014, BPLP had three
series of Preferred Units outstanding consisting of 666,116 Series Two Preferred Units, 360,126 Series Four
Preferred Units and 80,000 Series B Preferred Units. The Series Two Preferred Units have a liquidation
preference of $50.00 per unit (or an aggregate of approximately $33.3 million at December 31, 2013 and
February 21, 2014). The Series Two Preferred Units are convertible, at the holder’s election, into common units
at a conversion price of $38.10 per common unit (equivalent to a ratio of 1.312336 common units per Series Two
Preferred Unit). Distributions on the Series Two Preferred Units are payable quarterly and, unless the greater rate
described in the next sentence applies, accrue at 6.0% per annum. If distributions on the number of common units
of limited partnership interest, or OP Units, into which the Series Two Preferred Units are convertible are greater
than distributions calculated using the rate described in the preceding sentence for the applicable quarterly
period, then the greater distributions are payable instead. The holders of Series Two Preferred Units have the
right to require our Operating Partnership to redeem their units for cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit
on May 12, 2014. The holders also had the right to have their Series Two Preferred Units redeemed for cash as of
May 12, 2009, May 12, 2010, May 12, 2011, May 14, 2012 and May 14, 2013, although no holder exercised such
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right. In May 2014, our Operating Partnership also has the right, subject to certain conditions, to call for
redemption all of the outstanding Series Two Preferred Units for cash or to convert into OP Units any Series Two
Preferred Units that have not been previously redeemed. In the event that our Operating Partnership calls the
Series Two Preferred Units for redemption, the holders shall have the right to convert the Series Two Preferred
Units to OP Units. Due to the holders’ redemption option existing outside our control, the Series Two Preferred
Units are presented outside of permanent equity in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Series Four Preferred Units have a liquidation preference of $50.00 per unit (or an aggregate of
approximately $18.0 million at December 31, 2013 and February 21, 2014). The Series Four Preferred Units,
which bear a preferred distribution equal to 2.00% per annum on a liquidation preference of $50.00 per unit, are
not convertible into or exchangeable for any common equity of BPLP or us. In order to secure the performance
of certain obligations by the holders, such Series Four Preferred Units are subject to forfeiture pursuant to the
terms of a pledge agreement. The holders of Series Four Preferred Units have the right, at certain times and
subject to certain conditions set forth in the Certificate of Designations establishing the rights, limitations and
preferences of the Series Four Preferred Units, to require our Operating Partnership to redeem all of their units
for cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit. Our Operating Partnership also has the right, at certain times
and subject to certain conditions, to redeem all of the Series Four Preferred Units for cash at the redemption price
of $50.00 per unit. The Series Four Preferred Units that are subject to the security interest under the pledge
agreement may not be redeemed until and unless such security interest is released. Due to the holders’
redemption option existing outside our control, the Series Four Preferred Units are presented outside of
permanent equity in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Series B Preferred Units have a liquidation preference of $2,500.00 per share (or an aggregate of
approximately $193.6 million at December 31, 2013 and February 21, 2014, after deducting the underwriting
discount and transaction expenses). The Series B Preferred Units were issued by our Operating Partnership on
March 27, 2013 in connection with our issuance of 80,000 shares (8,000,000 depositary shares each representing
1/100th of a share) of 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock™).
We contributed the net proceeds from the offering to our Operating Partnership in exchange for Series B
Preferred Units having terms and preferences generally mirroring those of the Series B Preferred Stock. We will
pay cumulative cash dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock at a rate of 5.25% per annum of the $2,500.00
liquidation preference per share. We may not redeem the Series B Preferred Stock prior to March 27, 2018,
except in certain circumstances relating to the preservation of our REIT status. On or after March 27, 2018, at our
option, we may redeem the Series B Preferred Stock for a cash redemption price of $2,500.00 per share, plus all
accrued and unpaid dividends. The Series B Preferred Stock is not redeemable by the holders, has no maturity
date and is not convertible into any other security of the Company or its affiliates.

Transactions During 2013
Acquisitions

On February 6, 2013, we completed the acquisition of 535 Mission Street, a development site, in San
Francisco, California for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $71.0 million in cash, including work
completed and materials purchased to date. When completed, 535 Mission Street will consist of a 27-story,
Class A office tower with approximately 307,000 net rentable square feet of office and retail space. The property
is currently under development.

On March 26, 2013, a consolidated joint venture in which we have a 95% interest completed the acquisition
of a land parcel in San Francisco, California that will support a 60-story, 1.4 million square foot office tower
known as Transbay Tower. The purchase price for the land was approximately $192.0 million. On February 7,
2013, the partner in the joint venture issued a notice that it was electing under the joint venture agreement to
reduce its nominal ownership interest in the venture from 50% to 5%. On February 26, 2013, we issued a notice
to the partner electing to proceed with the venture on that basis. As a result, we have a 95% nominal interest in



and are consolidating the joint venture. The initial phase of the development consisting of building the project to
grade is currently under development.

On March 29, 2013, we completed the acquisition of a parcel of land located in Reston, Virginia for a
purchase price of approximately $27.0 million. The land parcel is commercially zoned for 250,000 square feet of
office space.

On April 10, 2013, we acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park
properties from our Value-Added Fund (the “Value-Added Fund”) for an aggregate net purchase price of
approximately $233.1 million. Mountain View Research Park is a 16-building complex of Office/Technical
properties aggregating approximately 604,000 net rentable square feet. Mountain View Technology Park is a
seven-building complex of Office/Technical properties aggregating approximately 135,000 net rentable square
feet. Prior to the acquisition, our ownership interest in the properties was approximately 39.5%. As a result of the
acquisition, we own 100% of the properties and account for them on a consolidated basis.

On May 31, 2013, our two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) located in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint
venture to third parties. 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) is a Class A office property totaling
approximately 1.8 million net rentable square feet. In connection with the transfer, we and our new joint venture
partners modified our relative decision making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s
assets and operations. These changes resulted in us having sufficient financial and operating control over
767 Venture, LLC such that, effective as of May 31, 2013, we account for the assets, liabilities and operations of
767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in our financial statements instead of under the equity method of
accounting.

Dispositions

On February 20, 2013, the foreclosure sale of our Montvale Center property was ratified by the court. As a
result of the ratification, the mortgage loan totaling $25.0 million was extinguished and the related obligations
were satisfied with the transfer of the real estate resulting in the recognition of a gain on forgiveness of debt
totaling approximately $20.2 million.

On June 28, 2013, we completed the sale of our 303 Almaden Boulevard property located in San Jose,
California for a sale price of $40.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $39.3 million. 303 Almaden
Boulevard is a Class A office property totaling approximately 158,000 net rentable square feet. Because we
entered into the related purchase and sale agreement on March 28, 2013 and the carrying value of the property
exceeded its net sale price, we recognized an impairment loss totaling approximately $3.2 million during the
three months ended March 31, 2013. As a result, there was no loss on sale of real estate recognized during the
year ended December 31, 2013. The sale of this asset caused us to reevaluate our strategy for development of our
adjacent Almaden land parcel, which can accommodate an approximately 840,000 square feet office
complex. Based on a shorter than expected hold period, we reduced the carrying value of the land parcel to its
estimated fair market value and recognized an impairment loss of approximately $8.3 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2013.

On August 22, 2013, we completed the sale of our 1301 New York Avenue property located in Washington,
DC for a net contract sale price of approximately $121.7 million. After adjusting for outstanding lease and other
transaction costs assumed by the buyer, the gross sale price was approximately $135.0 million. Net cash proceeds
totaled approximately $121.5 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $86.4 million. 1301 New York
Avenue is a Class A office property totaling approximately 201,000 net rentable square feet.

On October 9, 2013, we completed the sale of a 45% ownership interest in our Times Square Tower
property for a gross sale price of $684.0 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $673.1 million,
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after the payment of transaction costs. In connection with the sale, we formed a joint venture with the buyer and
will provide customary property management and leasing services to the joint venture. Times Square Tower is an
approximately 1,246,000 net rentable square foot Class A office tower located in New York City. The transaction
did not qualify as a sale of real estate for financial reporting purposes because we continue to control the joint
venture and will therefore continue to account for the entity on a consolidated basis in our financial statements.
We have accounted for the transaction as an equity transaction and have recognized noncontrolling interest in our
consolidated balance sheets totaling approximately $243.5 million, which is equal to 45% of the carrying value
of the total equity of the property immediately prior to the transaction. The difference between the net cash
proceeds received and the noncontrolling interest recognized, which difference totals approximately

$429.6 million, has not been reflected as a gain on sale of real estate in our consolidated statements of operations
and has instead been reflected as an increase to additional paid-in capital in our consolidated balance sheets.

On December 20, 2013, we completed the sale of our 10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road property located in
Burlington, Massachusetts for a sale price of approximately $30.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled
approximately $29.4 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $20.5 million. 10 & 20 Burlington Mall
Road consists of two Class A office properties aggregating approximately 152,000 net rentable square feet.

On December 20, 2013, we completed the sale of our One Preserve Parkway property located in Rockville,
Maryland for a sale price of approximately $61.3 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $59.9 million,
resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $5.9 million. One Preserve Parkway is a Class A office property
totaling approximately 184,000 net rentable square feet.

Developments

As of December 31, 2013, we had nine properties under construction comprised of eight office properties and
one residential property, which aggregate approximately 2.9 million square feet. We estimate the total investment to
complete these projects, in the aggregate, is approximately $2.5 billion of which we had already invested
approximately $1.8 billion as of December 31, 2013. The investment through December 31, 2013 and estimated
total investment for our properties under construction as of December 31, 2013 are detailed below (in thousands):

Estimated Investment Estimated Total

Construction Properties Stabilization Date Location to Date(1) Investment(1)
Office
Annapolis Junction Building Seven

(50% ownership) ................. First Quarter, 2015  Annapolis, MD $ 11,580 $ 17,500
680 Folsom Street .................. Third Quarter, 2015  San Francisco, CA 279,923 340,000
250 West 55t Street . ... ... ... Fourth Quarter, 2015 New York, NY 840,317 1,050,000
804 Carnegie Center .. ............... First Quarter, 2016  Princeton, NJ 1,970 40,410
535 Mission Street . .......... ... ..., Third Quarter, 2016  San Francisco, CA 113,275 215,000
601 Massachusetts Avenue ........... Fourth Quarter, 2017 Washington, DC 155,310 360,760
Transbay Tower (95% ownership)(2) ... N/A San Francisco, CA 244,082 340,000
Total Office Properties under

CONStruCtion . .. ..vvveeeenennn.. $1,646,457 $2,363,670
Residential
The Avant at Reston Town Center

(B59Units) ... Fourth Quarter, 2015 Reston, VA $ 109,194 $ 137,250

Total Properties under
Construction . ................ $1,755,651  $2,500,920

(1) Represents our share. Includes net revenue during lease up period and approximately $53.9 million of
construction cost and leasing commission accruals.
(2) The Estimated Total Investment represents only the cost to build to grade.
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On March 22, 2013, we completed and fully placed in-service Two Patriots Park, a Class A office
redevelopment project with approximately 256,000 net rentable square feet located in Reston, Virginia. As of
December 31, 2013, this property was 100% leased.

On April 1, 2013, we commenced construction on the initial phase of our Transbay Tower development
project in San Francisco, California, which consists of building the project to grade.

On April 25, 2013, we commenced construction of our 601 Massachusetts Avenue, a Class A office
development project totaling approximately 478,000 net rentable square feet located in Washington, DC.

On June 14, 2013, we completed and fully placed in-service Seventeen Cambridge Center, a Class A office
project with approximately 195,000 net rentable square feet located in Cambridge, Massachusetts. As of
December 31, 2013, this property was 100% leased.

On July 1, 2013, we completed and fully placed in-service our Cambridge Center Connector, a Class A
office project with approximately 43,000 net rentable square feet located in Cambridge, Massachusetts. As of
December 31, 2013, this property was 100% leased.

On October 29, 2013, we entered into a lease agreement as landlord with a third-party tenant for a build-to-
suit project with approximately 130,000 net rentable square feet of Class A office space located in Princeton,
New Jersey.

As of December 31, 2013, we have placed in-service approximately 63% of The Avant at Reston Town
Center development project comprised of 359 apartment units and retail space aggregating approximately
355,000 square feet located in Reston, Virginia. The retail space totaling approximately 26,000 net rentable
square feet is 100% leased and the residential units are approximately 17% leased as of February 21, 2014. On
February 10, 2014, this project was fully placed in-service.

As of December 31, 2013, we have placed in-service approximately 6% of our 250 West 55th Street
development project. When completed, this project will consist of approximately 989,000 net rentable square feet
of Class A office space and is approximately 61% leased as of February 21, 2014.

As of December 31, 2013, we have placed in-service approximately 1% of our 680 Folsom Street
development project. When completed, this project will consist of approximately 524,509 net rentable square feet
of Class A office space and is approximately 96% leased as of February 21, 2014.

Secured Debt Transactions

On February 5, 2013, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our Kingstowne
One property located in Alexandria, Virginia totaling approximately $17.0 million. The mortgage loan bore
interest at a fixed rate of 5.96% per annum and was scheduled to mature on May 5, 2013. There was no
prepayment penalty.

On February 20, 2013, the foreclosure sale of our Montvale Center property was ratified by the court. As a
result of the ratification, the mortgage loan totaling $25.0 million was extinguished and the related obligations
were satisfied with the transfer of the real estate resulting in the recognition of a gain on forgiveness of debt
totaling approximately $20.2 million.

On April 1, 2013, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our 140 Kendrick
Street property located in Needham, Massachusetts totaling approximately $47.6 million. The mortgage loan
bore interest at a fixed rate of 7.51% per annum and was scheduled to mature on July 1, 2013. There was no
prepayment penalty. We recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.3 million
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related to the acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the
result of purchase accounting.

On May 31, 2013, in conjunction with the consolidation of our 767 Venture, LLC joint venture (the entity
that owns 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building)), we recorded mortgage loans collateralized by the
property aggregating $1.3 billion and mezzanine loans aggregating $306.0 million. The mortgage loans require
interest-only payments at a weighted-average fixed interest rate of 5.95% per annum and mature on October 7,
2017. The mezzanine loans require interest-only payments at a weighted-average fixed interest rate of 6.02% per
annum and mature on October 7, 2017. The mortgage loans and mezzanine loans were recorded at their fair
values aggregating approximately $1.5 billion and $311.7 million, respectively, using weighted-average effective
interest rates of approximately 2.44% and 5.53% per annum, respectively. In addition, in conjunction with the
consolidation, we recorded loans payable to the joint venture’s partners totaling $450.0 million and related
accrued interest payable totaling approximately $175.8 million. The member loans bear interest at a fixed rate of
11.0% per annum and mature on June 9, 2017. We have eliminated in consolidation our member loan totaling
$270.0 million and our share of the related accrued interest payable of approximately $114.5 million at
December 31, 2013. The remaining notes payable to the outside joint venture partners and related accrued
interest payable totaling $180.0 million and approximately $76.4 million as of December 31, 2013 have been
reflected as Outside Members’ Notes Payable and within Accrued Interest Payable, respectively, on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The related interest expense from the Outside Members’ Notes Payable totaling
approximately $16.0 million for the period from May 31, 2013 through December 31, 2013 is fully allocated to
the outside joint venture partners as an adjustment to Noncontrolling Interests in Property Partnerships in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Unsecured Senior Notes

On April 11, 2013, our Operating Partnership completed a public offering of $500.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of its 3.125% senior unsecured notes due 2023. The notes were priced at 99.379% of the
principal amount to yield an effective rate (including financing fees) of 3.279% to maturity. The notes will
mature on September 1, 2023, unless earlier redeemed. The aggregate net proceeds from the offering were
approximately $492.5 million after deducting underwriting discounts and transaction expenses.

On June 27, 2013, our Operating Partnership completed a public offering of $700.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of its 3.800% senior unsecured notes due 2024. The notes were priced at 99.694% of the
principal amount to yield an effective rate (including financing fees) of 3.916% to maturity. The notes will
mature on February 1, 2024, unless earlier redeemed. The aggregate net proceeds from the offering were
approximately $691.9 million after deducting the underwriting discount and transaction expenses.

Unsecured Exchangeable Senior Notes

On April 15, 2013, we announced that holders of our Operating Partnership’s 3.75% Exchangeable Senior
Notes due 2036 (the “Notes™) had the right to surrender their Notes for purchase by our Operating Partnership
(the “Put Right”) on May 18, 2013. On April 15, 2013, we also announced that our Operating Partnership issued
a notice of redemption to the holders of the Notes to redeem, on May 18, 2013 (the “Redemption Date”), all of
the Notes outstanding on the Redemption Date. In connection with the notice of redemption, holders of the Notes
had the right to exchange their Notes on or prior to May 16, 2013. Notes with respect to which the Put Right was
not exercised and that were not surrendered for exchange on or prior to May 16, 2013, were redeemed by our
Operating Partnership at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued and
unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the Redemption Date. Based on final information provided to our
Operating Partnership by the trustee for the Notes, no Notes were validly tendered and accepted for purchase in
the Put Right. Pursuant to the notice of redemption, an aggregate principal amount of $990,000 of the Notes was
redeemed on May 18, 2013. The remaining aggregate principal amount of $449,010,000 of the Notes was
surrendered for exchange and, in addition to the repayment of the principal in cash, we issued an aggregate of
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419,116 shares of our common stock in exchange for the Notes. We recognized a loss on early extinguishment of
debt totaling approximately $0.1 million consisting of transaction costs.

Unsecured Line of Credit

On July 26, 2013, our Operating Partnership amended and restated the revolving credit agreement governing
its Unsecured Line of Credit, which, among other things, (1) increased the total commitment from $750.0 million
to $1.0 billion, (2) extended the maturity date from June 24, 2014 to July 26, 2018 and (3) reduced the per annum
variable interest rates and other fees. Our Operating Partnership may increase the total commitment to
$1.5 billion, subject to syndication of the increase and other conditions. At our Operating Partnership’s option,
loans outstanding under the Unsecured Line of Credit will bear interest at a rate per annum equal to (1), in the
case of loans denominated in Dollars, Euro or Sterling, LIBOR or, in the case of loans denominated in Canadian
Dollars, CDOR, in each case, plus a margin ranging from 0.925% to 1.70% based on our Operating Partnership’s
credit rating or (2) an alternate base rate equal to the greatest of (a) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (b) the
Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% or (c) LIBOR for a one month period plus 1.00%, in each case, plus a margin
ranging from 0.0% to 0.70% based on our Operating Partnership’s credit rating. The Unsecured Line of Credit
also contains a competitive bid option that allows banks that are part of the lender consortium to bid to make loan
advances to our Operating Partnership at a reduced interest rate. In addition, our Operating Partnership is also
obligated to pay (1) in quarterly installments a facility fee on the total commitment at a rate per annum ranging
from 0.125% to 0.35% based on our Operating Partnership’s credit rating and (2) an annual fee on the undrawn
amount of each letter of credit equal to the LIBOR margin. Based on our Operating Partnership’s current credit
rating, the LIBOR and CDOR margin is 1.00%, the alternate base rate margin is 0.0% and the facility fee is
0.15%. At December 31, 2013, there were no amounts outstanding on the Unsecured Line of Credit.

Equity Transactions

On March 27, 2013, we completed an underwritten public offering of 80,000 shares (8,000,000 depositary
shares, each representing 1/100th of a share) of our newly designated 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock, at a price of $2,500.00 per share ($25.00 per depositary share). The net proceeds from this
offering were approximately $194 million, after deducting the underwriting discount and transaction expenses.
We contributed the net proceeds from the offering to our Operating Partnership in exchange for 80,000 Series B
Preferred Units having terms and preferences generally mirroring those of the Series B Preferred Stock.

On August 29, 2013, our Operating Partnership redeemed approximately 861,400 Series Four Preferred
Units for cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit plus accrued and unpaid distributions through the
redemption date.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we acquired an aggregate of 929,441 common units of limited
partnership interest, including 26,402 common units issued upon the conversion of LTIP units and 432,914
issued upon the conversion of Series Two preferred units, presented by the holders for redemption, in exchange
for an equal number of shares of common stock.

Special Dividend

On December 2, 2013, we announced that our Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of
$2.25 per common share payable on January 29, 2014 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on
December 31, 2013. The decision to declare a special dividend was primarily a result of the sale of a 45% interest
in our Times Square Tower property in October 2013. The Board of Directors did not make any change in our
policy with respect to regular quarterly dividends. Holders of common units of limited partnership interest in our
Operating Partnership, as of the close of business on December 31, 2013, received the same distribution on
January 29, 2014. Holders of Series Two Preferred Units of limited partnership interest will participate in the
special cash dividend (separately from their regular February 2014 distribution) on an as-converted basis in



connection with their regular May 2014 distribution payment as provided in our Operating Partnership’s
partnership agreement.

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

On February 28, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 50% interest completed and fully placed in-
service Annapolis Junction Building Six, a Class A office property with approximately 119,000 net rentable
square feet located in Annapolis, Maryland. As of December 31, 2013, this property was approximately 49%
leased.

On March 31, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 30% interest completed and fully placed in-service
500 North Capitol Street, NW, a Class A office redevelopment project with approximately 231,000 net rentable
square feet located in Washington, DC. As of December 31, 2013, this property was approximately 85% leased.

On April 4, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 50% interest obtained construction financing
collateralized by its Annapolis Junction Building Seven development project located in Annapolis, Maryland
totaling $22.0 million. The construction financing bears interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per
annum and matures on April 4, 2016, with two, one-year extension options, subject to certain conditions.

On April 10, 2013, we acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park
properties from our Value-Added Fund for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately $233.1 million. In
conjunction with the acquisition, the Value-Added Fund repaid the mortgage loans collateralized by the
Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park properties totaling approximately
$90.0 million and $20.0 million, respectively, as well as the outstanding loans payable to our Operating
Partnership totaling approximately $8.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively. The Mountain View Research
Park and Mountain View Technology Park mortgage loans bore interest at variable rates equal to LIBOR plus
2.00% per annum and LIBOR plus 2.50% per annum, respectively and were scheduled to mature on May 31,
2014 and November 22, 2014, respectively. The joint venture recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt
totaling approximately $0.4 million, of which our share was approximately $0.2 million, consisting of the write-
off of unamortized deferred financing costs. Prior to the acquisition, our ownership interest in the properties was
approximately 39.5%. As a result of the acquisition, we own 100% of the properties and are accounting for them
on a consolidated basis. We had previously recognized an impairment loss on our investment in the
unconsolidated joint venture. As a result, we recognized a gain on our investment of approximately
$26.5 million, which is included within gains on consolidation of joint ventures in our consolidated statements
of operations.

On May 30, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 60% interest completed the sale of its 125 West 55th
Street property located in New York City for a sale price of $470.0 million, including the assumption by the
buyer of the mortgage loan collateralized by the property totaling approximately $198.6 million. The mortgage
loan bore interest at a fixed rate of 6.09% per annum and was scheduled to mature on March 10, 2020. Net cash
proceeds totaled approximately $253.7 million, of which our share was approximately $152.2 million, after the
payment of transaction costs. 125 West 55th Street is a Class A office property totaling approximately
588,000 net rentable square feet. We had previously recognized an impairment loss on our investment in the
unconsolidated joint venture. As a result, we recognized a gain on sale of real estate totaling approximately
$43.2 million, which is included within income from unconsolidated joint ventures in our consolidated
statements of operations.

On May 31, 2013, our two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) located in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint
venture to third parties. In connection with the transfer, we and our new joint venture partners modified our
relative decision making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s assets and operations.
These changes resulted in us having sufficient financial and operating control over 767 Venture, LLC such that
we now account for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LL.C on a consolidated basis in our
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financial statements instead of under the equity method of accounting. Upon consolidation, we recognized a non-
cash gain on our investment of approximately $359.5 million, which is included within gains on consolidation of
joint ventures in our consolidated statements of operations.

On May 31, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 30% interest refinanced its construction loan
collateralized by 500 North Capitol Street, NW located in Washington, DC. The construction loan totaling
approximately $90.6 million bore interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per annum and was
scheduled to mature on October 14, 2014. The joint venture recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt
totaling approximately $1.0 million, of which our share was approximately $0.3 million, consisting of the write-
off of unamortized deferred financing costs. The new mortgage loan totaling $105.0 million requires interest only
payments at a fixed interest rate of 4.15% per annum and matures on June 6, 2023.

On June 5, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 60% interest refinanced its mortgage loans
collateralized by 540 Madison Avenue located in New York City. The mortgage loans aggregating approximately
$118.0 million bore interest at a weighted-average fixed rate of 5.20% per annum and were scheduled to mature
on July 11, 2013. The joint venture recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately
$0.3 million, of which our share was approximately $0.2 million, related to the acceleration of the remaining
balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the result of purchase accounting. The new
mortgage loan totaling $120.0 million requires interest only payments at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus
1.50% per annum and matures on June 5, 2018.

On July 19, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 50% interest completed the sale of its Eighth Avenue
and 46th Street project located in New York City for an imputed sale price of $45.0 million. The Eighth Avenue
and 46th Street project is comprised of an assemblage of land parcels and air-rights. Net cash proceeds to us
totaled approximately $21.8 million, after the payment of transaction costs. The joint venture had previously
recognized an impairment loss on the property. As a result, the joint venture recognized a gain on sale of real
estate totaling approximately $12.6 million, of which our share was approximately $11.3 million. Our share of
the gain on sale of real estate is reflective of our share of the net proceeds from the sale price and is included
within income from unconsolidated joint ventures in our consolidated statements of operations.

On September 26, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 50% interest entered into a lease agreement for
its Annapolis Junction Building Seven development project. Annapolis Junction Building Seven when completed
will consist of a Class A office property with approximately 125,000 net rentable square feet located in
Annapolis, Maryland.

On October 29, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 50% interest exercised an option to extend the
maturity date to November 17, 2014 of the construction financing collateralized by its Annapolis Junction
Building Six property. The construction financing totaling approximately $14.0 million bears interest at a
variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per annum and was scheduled to mature on November 17, 2013.
Annapolis Junction Building Six is a Class A office property with approximately 119,000 net rentable square feet
located in Annapolis, Maryland.

Stock Option and Incentive Plan

On January 28, 2013, our Compensation Committee approved a new equity-based, multi-year, long-term
incentive program (the “2013 MYLTIP”) in lieu of an Outperformance Plan as a performance-based component
of our overall compensation program. Under the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 718 “Compensation—Stock Compensation,” the 2013 MYLTIP has an aggregate value of
approximately $8.1 million, which amount will generally be amortized into earnings over the five-year plan
period under the graded vesting method.
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On February 1, 2013, we issued 35,087 shares of restricted common stock and our Operating Partnership
issued 153,006 LTIP units and 201,373 non-qualified stock options under the 2012 Plan to certain of our
employees.

Succession Planning

On March 11, 2013, we announced that Owen D. Thomas would succeed Mortimer B. Zuckerman as our
Chief Executive Officer, effective April 2, 2013. Mr. Zuckerman will continue to serve as Executive Chairman
for a transition period and thereafter is expected to continue to serve as the Non-Executive Chairman of the
Board. In connection with succession planning, Mr. Zuckerman entered into a Transition Benefits Agreement
with us. If Mr. Zuckerman remains employed by us through July 1, 2014, he will be entitled to receive on
January 1, 2015 a lump sum cash payment of $6.7 million and an equity award with a targeted value of
approximately $11.1 million. The cash payment and equity award vest one-third on each of March 10,

2013, October 1, 2013 and July 1, 2014, subject to acceleration in certain circumstances. As a result, we
recognized approximately $13.8 million of compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2013. We
expect to recognize the remaining approximately $4.0 million of compensation expense over the remaining
vesting period and, accordingly, expect to expense approximately $2.0 million in each of the 1st and 2nd quarters
of 2014. In addition, the agreement provides that if Mr. Zuckerman terminates his employment with us for any
reason, voluntarily or involuntarily, he will become fully vested in any outstanding equity awards with time-
based vesting. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2013, we accelerated the remaining
approximately $12.9 million of stock-based compensation expense associated with Mr. Zuckerman’s unvested
long-term equity awards.

On April 2, 2013, we issued 24,231 LTIP units, 38,926 2013 MYLTIP Units and 50,847 non-qualified stock
options under the 2012 Plan to Owen D. Thomas, our new Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to his employment
agreement.

Business and Growth Strategies

Business Strategies

Our primary business objective is to maximize return on investment so as to provide our investors with the
greatest possible total return in all points of the economic cycle. Our strategies to achieve this objective are:

e totarget a few carefully selected geographic markets, including Boston, New York, San Francisco and
Washington, DC, and to be one of the leading, if not the leading, owners, developers and managers in
each of those markets with a full-service office in each market providing property management, leasing,
development, construction and legal expertise. We select markets and submarkets with a diverse
economic base and a deep pool of prospective tenants in various industries and where tenants have
demonstrated a preference for high-quality office buildings and other facilities;

e to emphasize markets and submarkets within those markets where the lack of available sites and the
difficulty of receiving the necessary approvals for development and the necessary financing constitute
high barriers to the creation of new supply, and where skill, financial strength and diligence are required
to successfully develop, finance and manage high-quality office, research and development space, as
well as selected retail and residential space;

e to take on complex, technically challenging development projects, leveraging the skills of our
management team to successfully develop, acquire or reposition properties that other organizations may
not have the capacity or resources to pursue;

e to own and develop high-quality real estate designed to meet the demands of today’s tenants who
require sophisticated telecommunications and related infrastructure, support services and amenities, and
to manage those facilities so as to become the landlord of choice for both existing and prospective
clients;
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to opportunistically acquire assets which increase our penetration in the markets in which we have
chosen to concentrate, as well as potential new markets, which exhibit an opportunity to improve or
preserve returns through repositioning (through a combination of capital improvements and shift in
marketing strategy), changes in management focus and leasing;

to explore joint venture opportunities primarily with existing property owners located in desirable
locations, who seek to benefit from the depth of development and management expertise we are able to
provide and our access to capital, and/or to explore joint venture opportunities with strategic
institutional partners, leveraging our skills as owners, operators and developers of Class A office space
and mixed-use complexes;

to pursue on a selective basis the sale of properties or interests therein, including core properties, to
either (1) take advantage of the demand for our premier properties and realize the value we have created
or (2) pare from our portfolio of properties that we believe have slower future growth potential;

to seek third-party development contracts, which can be a significant source of revenue and enable us to
retain and utilize our existing development and construction management staff, especially when our
internal development is less active or when new development is less-warranted due to market
conditions; and

to enhance our capital structure through our access to a variety of sources of capital and proactively
manage our debt expirations.

Growth Strategies

External Growth Strategies

We believe that our development experience and our organizational depth position us to continue to
selectively develop a range of property types, including high-rise urban developments, mixed-use developments
(including residential), low-rise suburban office properties and research and laboratory space, within budget and
on schedule. We believe we are also well positioned to achieve external growth through acquisitions. Other
factors that contribute to our competitive position include:

our control of sites (including sites under contract or option to acquire) in our markets that could support
approximately 12.4 million additional square feet of new office, retail, and residential development;

our reputation gained through 44 years of successful operations and the stability and strength of our
existing portfolio of properties;

our relationships with leading national corporations, universities and public institutions seeking new
facilities and development services;

our relationships with nationally recognized financial institutions that provide capital to the real estate
industry;

our track record and reputation for executing acquisitions efficiently provide comfort to domestic and
foreign institutions, private investors and corporations who seek to sell commercial real estate in our
market areas;

our ability to act quickly on due diligence and financing; and

our relationships with institutional buyers and sellers of high-quality real estate assets.

Opportunities to execute our external growth strategy fall into three categories:

Development in selected submarkets. We believe the additional development of well-positioned office
buildings and mixed use complexes could be justified in many of our submarkets. We believe in
acquiring land after taking into consideration timing factors relating to economic cycles and in response
to market conditions that allow for its development at the appropriate time. While we purposely
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concentrate in markets with high barriers-to-entry, we have demonstrated throughout our 44-year
history, an ability to make carefully timed land acquisitions in submarkets where we can become one of
the market leaders in establishing rent and other business terms. We believe that there are opportunities
at key locations in our existing and other markets for a well-capitalized developer to acquire land with
development potential.

In the past, we have been particularly successful at acquiring sites or options to purchase sites that need
governmental approvals for development. Because of our development expertise, knowledge of the
governmental approval process and reputation for quality development with local government
regulatory bodies, we generally have been able to secure the permits necessary to allow development
and to profit from the resulting increase in land value. We seek complex projects where we can add
value through the efforts of our experienced and skilled management team leading to attractive returns
on investment.

Our strong regional relationships and recognized development expertise have enabled us to capitalize on
unique build-to-suit opportunities. We intend to seek and expect to continue to be presented with such
opportunities in the near term allowing us to earn relatively significant returns on these development
opportunities through multiple business cycles.

e Acquisition of assets and portfolios of assets from institutions or individuals. We believe that due to our
size, management strength and reputation, we are well positioned to acquire portfolios of assets or
individual properties from institutions or individuals if valuations meet our criteria. In addition, we
believe that our market knowledge and our liquidity and access to capital may provide us with a
competitive advantage when pursuing acquisitions. There may be enhanced opportunities to purchase
assets with near-term financing maturities or possibly provide debt on assets at enhanced yields given
the limited availability of traditional sources of debt. Opportunities to acquire properties may also come
through the purchase of first mortgage or mezzanine debt. We may also acquire properties for cash, but
we are also particularly well-positioned to appeal to sellers wishing to contribute on a tax-deferred basis
their ownership of property for equity in a diversified real estate operating company that offers liquidity
through access to the public equity markets in addition to a quarterly distribution. Our ability to offer
common and preferred units of limited partnership in BPLP to sellers who would otherwise recognize a
taxable gain upon a sale of assets or our common stock may facilitate this type of transaction on a tax-
efficient basis. In addition, we may consider mergers with and acquisitions of compatible real estate
firms.

*  Acquisition of underperforming assets and portfolios of assets. We believe that because of our in-depth
market knowledge and development experience in each of our markets, our national reputation with
brokers, financial institutions and others involved in the real estate market and our access to
competitively-priced capital, we are well-positioned to identify and acquire existing, underperforming
properties for competitive prices and to add significant additional value to such properties through our
effective marketing strategies, repositioning/redevelopment expertise and a responsive property
management program. We have developed this strategy and program for our existing portfolio, where
we provide high-quality property management services using our own employees in order to encourage
tenants to renew, expand and relocate in our properties. We are able to achieve speed and transaction
cost efficiency in replacing departing tenants through the use of in-house and third-party vendors’
services for marketing, including calls and presentations to prospective tenants, print advertisements,
lease negotiation and construction of tenant improvements. Our tenants benefit from cost efficiencies
produced by our experienced work force, which is attentive to preventive maintenance and energy
management.

Internal Growth Strategies

We believe that opportunities will exist to increase cash flow from our existing properties because they are
of high quality and in desirable locations within markets where, in general, the creation of new supply is limited
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by the lack of available sites and the difficulty of obtaining the necessary approvals for development on vacant
land and financing. Our strategy for maximizing the benefits from these opportunities is three-fold: (1) to provide
high-quality property management services using our employees in order to encourage tenants to renew, expand
and relocate in our properties, (2) to achieve speed and transaction cost efficiency in replacing departing tenants
through the use of in-house services for marketing, lease negotiation and construction of tenant improvements
and (3) to work with new or existing tenants with space expansion or contraction needs maximizing the cash flow
from our assets. We expect to continue our internal growth as a result of our ability to:

e Cultivate existing submarkets and long-term relationships with credit tenants. In choosing locations for
our properties, we have paid particular attention to transportation and commuting patterns, physical
environment, adjacency to established business centers, proximity to sources of business growth and
other local factors.

The average lease term of our in-place leases, including unconsolidated joint ventures, was
approximately 6.6 years at December 31, 2013 and we continue to cultivate long-term leasing
relationships with a diverse base of high-quality, financially stable tenants. Based on leases in place at
December 31, 2013, leases with respect to approximately 6.2% of the total square feet in our portfolio,
including unconsolidated joint ventures, will expire in calendar year 2014.

e Directly manage properties to maximize the potential for tenant retention. We provide property
management services ourselves, rather than contracting for this service, to maintain awareness of and
responsiveness to tenant needs. We and our properties also benefit from cost efficiencies produced by an
experienced work force attentive to preventive maintenance and energy management and from our
continuing programs to assure that our property management personnel at all levels remain aware of
their important role in tenant relations.

*  Replace tenants quickly at best available market terms and lowest possible transaction costs. We
believe that we are well-positioned to attract new tenants and achieve relatively high rental rates as a
result of our well-located, well- designed and well-maintained properties, our reputation for high-quality
building services and responsiveness to tenants, and our ability to offer expansion and relocation
alternatives within our submarkets.

e Extend terms of existing leases to existing tenants prior to expiration. We have also successfully
structured early tenant renewals, which have reduced the cost associated with lease downtime while
securing the tenancy of our highest quality credit-worthy tenants on a long-term basis and enhancing
relationships.

Policies with Respect to Certain Activities

The discussion below sets forth certain additional information regarding our investment, financing and other
policies. These policies have been determined by our Board of Directors and, in general, may be amended or
revised from time to time by our Board of Directors.

Investment Policies
Investments in Real Estate or Interests in Real Estate

Our investment objectives are to provide quarterly cash dividends to our securityholders and to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through increases in the value of Boston Properties, Inc. We have not established a
specific policy regarding the relative priority of these investment objectives.

We expect to continue to pursue our investment objectives primarily through the ownership of our current
properties, development projects and other acquired properties. We currently intend to continue to invest
primarily in developments of properties and acquisitions of existing improved properties or properties in need of
redevelopment, and acquisitions of land that we believe have development potential, primarily in our existing
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markets of Boston, New York, San Francisco and Washington, DC, but also potentially in new markets. Future
investment or development activities will not be limited to a specified percentage of our assets. We intend to
engage in such future investment or development activities in a manner that is consistent with the maintenance of
our status as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. In addition, we may purchase or lease income-producing
commercial and other types of properties for long-term investment, expand and improve the real estate presently
owned or other properties purchased, or sell such real estate properties, in whole or in part, when circumstances
warrant. We do not have a policy that restricts the amount or percentage of assets that will be invested in any
specific property, however, our investments may be restricted by our debt covenants.

We may also continue to participate with third parties in property ownership, through joint ventures or other
types of co-ownership, including third parties with expertise in mixed-use opportunities. These investments may
permit us to own interests in larger assets without unduly restricting diversification and, therefore, add flexibility
in structuring our portfolio.

Equity investments may be subject to existing mortgage financing and other indebtedness or such financing
or indebtedness as may be incurred in connection with acquiring or refinancing these investments. Debt service
on such financing or indebtedness will have a priority over any distributions with respect to our common stock.
Investments are also subject to our policy not to be treated as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”).

Investments in Real Estate Mortgages

While our current portfolio consists primarily of, and our business objectives emphasize, equity investments
in commercial real estate, we may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, invest in mortgages and other
types of real estate interests consistent with our qualification as a REIT. Investments in real estate mortgages run
the risk that one or more borrowers may default under such mortgages and that the collateral securing such
mortgages may not be sufficient to enable us to recoup our full investment. We may invest in participating,
convertible or traditional mortgages if we conclude that we may benefit from the cash flow, or any appreciation
in value of the property or as an entrance to the fee ownership.

Securities of or Interests in Entities Primarily Engaged in Real Estate Activities

Subject to the percentage of ownership limitations and gross income and asset tests necessary for our REIT
qualification, we also may invest in securities of other REITs, other entities engaged in real estate activities or
securities of other issuers, including for the purpose of exercising control over such entities.

Dispositions

Our decision to dispose or partially dispose of properties is based upon the periodic review of our portfolio
and the determination by the Board of Directors that such action would be in our best interests. Any decision to
dispose of a property will be authorized by the Board of Directors or a committee thereof. Some holders of
limited partnership interests in BPLP, including Mortimer B. Zuckerman, could incur adverse tax consequences
upon the sale of certain of our properties that differ from the tax consequences to us. Consequently, holders of
limited partnership interests in BPLP may have different objectives regarding the appropriate pricing and timing
of any such sale. Such different tax treatment derives in most cases from the fact that we acquired these
properties in exchange for partnership interests in contribution transactions structured to allow the prior owners
to defer taxable gain. Generally this deferral continues so long as we do not dispose of the properties in a taxable
transaction. Unless a sale by us of these properties is structured as a like-kind exchange under Section 1031 of
the Internal Revenue Code or in a manner that otherwise allows deferral to continue, recognition of the deferred
tax gain allocable to these prior owners is generally triggered by a sale. Some of our assets are subject to tax
protection agreements, which may limit our ability to dispose of the assets or require us to pay damages to the
prior owners in the event of a taxable sale.
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Financing Policies

The agreement of limited partnership of BPLP and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws do not limit
the amount or percentage of indebtedness that we may incur. We do not have a policy limiting the amount of
indebtedness that we may incur. However, our mortgages, credit facilities and unsecured debt securities contain
customary restrictions, requirements and other limitations on our ability to incur indebtedness. We have not
established any limit on the number or amount of mortgages that may be placed on any single property or on our
portfolio as a whole.

Our Board of Directors will consider a number of factors when evaluating our level of indebtedness and
when making decisions regarding the incurrence of indebtedness, including the purchase price of properties to be
acquired with debt financing, the estimated market value of our properties upon refinancing, the entering into
agreements such as interest rate swaps, caps, floors and other interest rate hedging contracts and the ability of
particular properties and BPLP as a whole to generate cash flow to cover expected debt service.

Policies with Respect to Other Activities

As the sole general partner of BPLP, we have the authority to issue additional common and preferred units
of limited partnership interest of BPLP. We have in the past, and may in the future, issue common or preferred
units of limited partnership interest of BPLP to persons who contribute their direct or indirect interests in
properties to us in exchange for such common or preferred units of limited partnership interest in BPLP. We have
not engaged in trading, underwriting or agency distribution or sale of securities of issuers other than BPLP and
we do not intend to do so. At all times, we intend to make investments in such a manner as to maintain our
qualification as a REIT, unless because of circumstances or changes in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (or the Treasury Regulations), our Board of Directors determines that it is no longer in our best interest
to qualify as a REIT. We may make loans to third parties, including, without limitation, to joint ventures in
which we participate or in connection with the disposition of a property. We intend to make investments in such
a way that we will not be treated as an investment company under the 1940 Act. Our policies with respect to
these and other activities may be reviewed and modified or amended from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Sustainability

As one of the largest owners and developers of office properties in the United States, we actively work to
promote our growth and operations in a sustainable and responsible manner across our four regions. We focus
our sustainability initiatives on the design and construction of our new developments, the operation of our
existing buildings and our internal corporate practices. Our sustainability initiatives are centered on energy
efficiency, waste reduction and water preservation, as well as making a positive impact on the communities in
which we conduct business. Through these efforts we demonstrate that operating and developing commercial real
estate can be conducted with a conscious regard for the environment while mutually benefiting our tenants,
investors, employees and the communities in which we operate. We provide disclosure on our website to increase
the transparency of our sustainability program, which we periodically update with current or additional
information. You may access our sustainability report on our website at http://www.bostonproperties.com under
the heading “Sustainability.”

Competition
We compete in the leasing of office, retail and residential space with a considerable number of other real
estate companies, some of which may have greater marketing and financial resources than are available to us. In

addition, our hotel property competes for guests with other hotels, some of which may have greater marketing
and financial resources than are available to us and to the manager of our one hotel, Marriott International, Inc.
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Principal factors of competition in our primary business of owning, acquiring and developing office
properties are the quality of properties, leasing terms (including rent and other charges and allowances for tenant
improvements), attractiveness and convenience of location, the quality and breadth of tenant services provided,
and reputation as an owner and operator of quality office properties in the relevant market. Additionally, our
ability to compete depends upon, among other factors, trends of the national and local economies, investment
alternatives, financial condition and operating results of current and prospective tenants, availability and cost of
capital, construction and renovation costs, taxes, utilities, governmental regulations, legislation and population
trends.

In addition, although not part of our core strategy, we are currently developing one residential property and
operate two residential properties and may in the future decide to acquire or develop additional residential
properties. As an owner and operator of apartments, we will also face competition for prospective residents from
other operators whose properties may be perceived to offer a better location or better amenities or whose rent
may be perceived as a better value given the quality, location and amenities that the resident seeks. We will also
compete against condominiums and single-family homes that are for sale or rent. Because we have limited
experience with residential properties, we expect to retain third parties to manage our residential properties.

Our Hotel Property

We operate our hotel property through a taxable REIT subsidiary. The taxable REIT subsidiary, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of BPLP, is the lessee pursuant to a lease for the hotel property. As lessor, BPLP is entitled to a
percentage of gross receipts from the hotel property. The hotel lease allows economic benefits of ownership to
flow to us. Marriott International, Inc. continues to manage the hotel property under the Marriott name and under
terms of the existing management agreements. Marriott has been engaged under a separate long-term incentive
management agreement to operate and manage the hotel on behalf of the taxable REIT subsidiary. In connection
with these arrangements, Marriott has agreed to operate and maintain our hotel in accordance with its system-
wide standard for comparable hotels and to provide the hotel with the benefits of its central reservation system
and other chain-wide programs and services. Under a management agreement for the hotel, Marriott acts as the
taxable REIT subsidiary’s agent to supervise, direct and control the management and operation of the hotel and
receives as compensation base management fees that are calculated as a percentage of the hotel’s gross revenues,
and supplemental incentive fees if the hotel exceeds negotiated profitability breakpoints. In addition, the taxable
REIT subsidiary compensates Marriott, on the basis of a formula applied to the hotel’s gross revenues, for certain
system-wide services provided by Marriott, including central reservations, marketing and training. During 2013,
2012 and 2011, Marriott received an aggregate of approximately $1.2 million, $2.0 million and $2.5 million,
respectively, from our taxable REIT subsidiary.

Seasonality

Our hotel property traditionally has experienced significant seasonality in its operating income, with the
percentage of net operating income by quarter over the year ended December 31, 2013 shown below.

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
11% 32% 34% 23%
Corporate Governance
Boston Properties is currently governed by an eleven member Board of Directors. The current members of

our Board of Directors are Mortimer B. Zuckerman, Zo€ Baird Budinger, Carol B. Einiger, Dr. Jacob A. Frenkel,
Joel I. Klein, Douglas T. Linde, Matthew J. Lustig, Alan J. Patricof, Owen D. Thomas, Martin Turchin and David
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A. Twardock. All directors stand for election for one-year terms expiring at the next succeeding annual meeting
of stockholders.

Our Board of Directors has Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees.
The membership of each of these committees is described below.

Nominating
and
Corporate
W Audit Compensation Governance
Zoé Baird Budinger ........... .. ... ... .. ... X
Carol B.Einiger .. ....... .. i X
Dr.Jacob A. Frenkel .......... ... ... ... ... . ... ...... X X*
Joel LKlein ........ ... ... . . . X X
AlanJ. Patricof . . ... ... ... ... . ... X* X
David A. Twardock ........... ... ... ... .. ... ... ...... X X*

X=Committee member, *=Chair

Our Board of Directors has adopted charters for each of its Audit, Compensation and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committees. A copy of each of these charters is available on our website at
http://www.bostonproperties.com under the heading “Corporate Governance” and subheading
“Committees and Charters.”

Our Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, a copy of which is available on
our website at http://www.bostonproperties.com under the heading “Corporate Governance” and
subheading “Governance Guidelines.”

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which governs business
decisions made and actions taken by our directors, officers and employees. A copy of this code is
available on our website at http://www.bostonproperties.com under the heading “Corporate
Governance” and subheading “Code of Conduct and Ethics.” We intend to disclose on this website any
amendment to, or waiver of, any provisions of this Code applicable to our directors and executive
officers that would otherwise be required to be disclosed under the rules of the SEC or the New York
Stock Exchange.

Our Board of Directors has established an ethics reporting system that employees may use to
anonymously report possible violations of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, including concerns
regarding questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, by telephone or
over the internet.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Policy on Company Political Spending, a copy of which is
available on our website at http://www.bostonproperties.com under the heading “Corporate
Governance” and subheading “Policy on Political Spending.”

Supplemental U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

As of January 1, 2013, (1) the maximum tax rate on “qualified dividend income” for individuals is 20%,
(2) the maximum tax rate on long-term capital gain for individuals is 20%, (3) the highest marginal individual
income tax rate is 39.6%, and (4) the backup withholding rate remains at 28%.

In addition, the effective date for U.S. withholding taxes that may apply, in certain circumstances, under the
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, has been extended. In particular, withholding on interest and dividends
now applies starting June 30, 2014, and withholding on gross proceeds from the sale of our stock or our
Operating Partnership’s notes now applies starting December 31, 2016.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Set forth below are the risks that we believe are material to our investors. We refer to the shares of our
common stock and the units of limited partnership interest in BPLP together as our “securities,” and the
investors who own shares or units, or both, as our “securityholders.” This section contains forward-looking
statements. You should refer to the explanation of the qualifications and limitations on forward-looking
statements beginning on page 51.

Our performance and value are subject to risks associated with our real estate assets and with the real estate
industry.

Our economic performance and the value of our real estate assets, and consequently the value of our
securities, are subject to the risk that if our properties do not generate revenues sufficient to meet our operating
expenses, including debt service and capital expenditures, our cash flow and ability to pay distributions to our
securityholders will be adversely affected. The following factors, among others, may adversely affect the income
generated by our properties:

e downturns in the national, regional and local economic conditions (particularly increases in
unemployment);

e competition from other office, hotel, retail and residential buildings;

e local real estate market conditions, such as oversupply or reduction in demand for office, hotel, retail or
residential space;

e changes in interest rates and availability of financing;
e vacancies, changes in market rental rates and the need to periodically repair, renovate and re-let space;
e changes in space utilization by our tenants due to technology, economic conditions and business culture;

* increased operating costs, including insurance expense, utilities, real estate taxes, state and local taxes
and heightened security costs;

e civil disturbances, earthquakes and other natural disasters, or terrorist acts or acts of war which may
result in uninsured or underinsured losses;

* significant expenditures associated with each investment, such as debt service payments, real estate
taxes, insurance and maintenance costs which are generally not reduced when circumstances cause a
reduction in revenues from a property;

e declines in the financial condition of our tenants and our ability to collect rents from our tenants; and

e decreases in the underlying value of our real estate.

We are dependent upon the economic climates of our markets—Boston, New York, San Francisco and
Washington, DC.

Substantially all of our revenue is derived from properties located in four markets: Boston, New York,
San Francisco and Washington, DC. A downturn in the economies of these markets, or the impact that a
downturn in the overall national economy may have upon these economies, could result in reduced demand for
office space. Because our portfolio consists primarily of office buildings (as compared to a more diversified real
estate portfolio), a decrease in demand for office space in turn could adversely affect our results of operations.
Additionally, there are submarkets within our markets that are dependent upon a limited number of industries.
For example, in our Washington, DC market we focus on leasing office properties to governmental agencies and
contractors, as well as legal firms. A reduction in spending by the federal government could result in reduced
demand for office space and adversely effect our results of operations. In addition, in our New York market we
have historically leased properties to financial, legal and other professional firms. A significant downturn in one
or more of these sectors could adversely affect our results of operations.
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In addition, a significant economic downturn over a period of time could result in an event or change in
circumstances that results in an impairment in the value of our properties or our investments in unconsolidated
joint ventures. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the asset (1) is not recoverable over its
expected holding period and (2) exceeds its fair value. There can be no assurance that we will not take charges in
the future related to the impairment of our assets or investments. Any future impairment could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the charge is taken.

Our investment in property development may be more costly than anticipated.

We intend to continue to develop and substantially renovate office and residential properties. Our current
and future development and construction activities may be exposed to the following risks:

* we may be unable to proceed with the development of properties because we cannot obtain financing on
favorable terms or at all;

* we may incur construction costs for a development project that exceed our original estimates due to
increases in interest rates and increased materials, labor, leasing or other costs, which could make
completion of the project less profitable because market rents may not increase sufficiently to
compensate for the increase in construction costs;

* we may be unable to obtain, or face delays in obtaining, required zoning, land-use, building, occupancy,
and other governmental permits and authorizations, which could result in increased costs and could
require us to abandon our activities entirely with respect to a project;

* we may abandon development opportunities after we begin to explore them and as a result we may lose
deposits or fail to recover expenses already incurred;

* we may expend funds on and devote management’s time to projects which we do not complete;
* we may be unable to complete construction and/or leasing of a property on schedule; and

* we may suspend development projects after construction has begun due to changes in economic
conditions or other factors, and this may result in the write-off of costs, payment of additional costs or
increases in overall costs when the development project is restarted.

Investment returns from our developed properties may be less than anticipated.
Our developed properties may be exposed to the following risks:

* we may lease developed properties at rental rates that are less than the rates projected at the time we
decide to undertake the development;

e operating expenses may be greater than projected at the time of development, resulting in our
investment being less profitable than we expected; and

* occupancy rates and rents at newly developed properties may fluctuate depending on a number of
factors, including market and economic conditions, and may result in our investments being less
profitable than we expected or not profitable at all.

We face risks associated with the development of mixed-use commercial properties.

We operate, are currently developing, and may in the future develop, properties either alone or through joint
ventures with other persons that are known as “mixed-use” developments. This means that in addition to the
development of office space, the project may also include space for residential, retail, hotel or other commercial
purposes. We have limited experience in developing and managing non-office and non-retail real estate. As a
result, if a development project includes a non-office or non-retail use, we may seek to develop that component
ourselves, sell the rights to that component to a third-party developer with experience in that use or we may seek
to partner with such a developer. If we do not sell the rights or partner with such a developer, or if we choose to
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develop the other component ourselves, we would be exposed not only to those risks typically associated with the
development of commercial real estate generally, but also to specific risks associated with the development and
ownership of non-office and non-retail real estate. In addition, even if we sell the rights to develop the other
component or elect to participate in the development through a joint venture, we may be exposed to the risks
associated with the failure of the other party to complete the development as expected. These include the risk that
the other party would default on its obligations necessitating that we complete the other component ourselves
(including providing any necessary financing). In the case of residential properties, these risks include
competition for prospective residents from other operators whose properties may be perceived to offer a better
location or better amenities or whose rent may be perceived as a better value given the quality, location and
amenities that the resident seeks. We will also compete against condominiums and single-family homes that are
for sale or rent. Because we have limited experience with residential properties, we expect to retain third parties
to manage our residential properties. If we decide to not sell or participate in a joint venture and instead hire a
third party manager, we would be dependent on them and their key personnel who provide services to us and we
may not find a suitable replacement if the management agreement is terminated, or if key personnel leave or
otherwise become unavailable to us.

We face risks associated with the use of debt to fund acquisitions and developments, including refinancing
risk.

We are subject to the risks normally associated with debt financing, including the risk that our cash flow
will be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest. We anticipate that only a small portion of
the principal of our debt will be repaid prior to maturity. Therefore, we are likely to need to refinance at least a
portion of our outstanding debt as it matures. There is a risk that we may not be able to refinance existing debt or
that the terms of any refinancing will not be as favorable as the terms of our existing debt. If principal payments
due at maturity cannot be refinanced, extended or repaid with proceeds from other sources, such as new equity
capital, our cash flow may not be sufficient to repay all maturing debt in years when significant “balloon”
payments come due. In addition, we may rely on debt to fund a portion of our new investments such as our
acquisition and development activity. There is a risk that we may be unable to finance these activities on
favorable terms or at all. This risk is currently heightened because of tightened underwriting standards. These
conditions, which increase the cost and reduce the availability of debt, may continue or worsen in the future.

We have agreements with a number of limited partners of BPLP who contributed properties in exchange for
partnership interests that require BPLP to maintain for specified periods of time secured debt on certain of our
assets and/or allocate partnership debt to such limited partners to enable them to continue to defer recognition of
their taxable gain with respect to the contributed property. These tax protection and debt allocation agreements
may restrict our ability to repay or refinance debt.

Adverse economic and geopolitical conditions and dislocations in the credit markets could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and ability to pay distributions to you.

Our business may be affected by market and economic challenges experienced by the U.S. economy or real
estate industry as a whole, by the local economic conditions in the markets in which our properties are located,
including the continuing impact of high unemployment, and by international economic conditions. These current
conditions, or similar conditions existing in the future, may adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition and ability to pay distributions as a result of the following, among other potential consequences:

e the financial condition of our tenants, many of which are financial, legal and other professional firms,
may be adversely affected, which may result in tenant defaults under leases due to bankruptcy, lack of
liquidity, operational failures or for other reasons;

* significant job losses in the financial and professional services industries may occur, which may
decrease demand for our office space, causing market rental rates and property values to be negatively
impacted,;
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e our ability to borrow on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, or at all, may be limited, which
could reduce our ability to pursue acquisition and development opportunities and refinance existing
debt, reduce our returns from our acquisition and development activities and increase our future interest
expense;

e reduced values of our properties may limit our ability to dispose of assets at attractive prices or to obtain
debt financing secured by our properties and may reduce the availability of unsecured loans;

e the value and liquidity of our short-term investments and cash deposits could be reduced as a result of a
deterioration of the financial condition of the institutions that hold our cash deposits or the institutions
or assets in which we have made short-term investments, a dislocation of the markets for our short-term
investments, increased volatility in market rates for such investments or other factors;

e one or more lenders under our line of credit could refuse to fund their financing commitment to us or
could fail and we may not be able to replace the financing commitment of any such lenders on favorable
terms, or at all; and

e to the extent we enter into derivative financial instruments, one or more counterparties to our derivative
financial instruments could default on their obligations to us, or could fail, increasing the risk that we
may not realize the benefits of these instruments.

An increase in interest rates would increase our interest costs on variable rate debt and could adversely impact
our ability to refinance existing debt or sell assets on favorable terms or at all.

As of February 21, 2014, we had no outstanding indebtedness, excluding our unconsolidated joint ventures,
that bears interest at variable rates, but we may incur such indebtedness in the future. If interest rates increase,
then so would the interest costs on our unhedged variable rate debt, which could adversely affect our cash flow
and our ability to pay principal and interest on our debt and our ability to make distributions to our
securityholders. Further, rising interest rates could limit our ability to refinance existing debt when it matures or
significantly increase our future interest expense. From time to time, we enter into interest rate swap agreements
and other interest rate hedging contracts, including swaps, caps and floors. While these agreements are intended
to lessen the impact of rising interest rates on us, they also expose us to the risk that the other parties to the
agreements will not perform, we could incur significant costs associated with the settlement of the agreements,
the agreements will be unenforceable and the underlying transactions will fail to qualify as highly-effective cash
flow hedges under guidance included in ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging”. In addition, an increase in interest
rates could decrease the amounts third-parties are willing to pay for our assets, thereby limiting our ability to
change our portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions.

Covenants in our debt agreements could adversely affect our financial condition.

The mortgages on our properties contain customary covenants such as those that limit our ability, without
the prior consent of the lender, to further mortgage the applicable property or to discontinue insurance coverage.
Our unsecured credit facility, unsecured debt securities and certain secured loans contain customary restrictions,
requirements and other limitations on our ability to incur indebtedness, including total debt to asset ratios,
secured debt to total asset ratios, debt service coverage ratios and minimum ratios of unencumbered assets to
unsecured debt, which we must maintain. Our continued ability to borrow under our credit facilities is subject to
compliance with our financial and other covenants. In addition, our failure to comply with such covenants could
cause a default under the applicable debt agreement, and we may then be required to repay such debt with capital
from other sources. Under those circumstances, other sources of capital may not be available to us, or be
available only on unattractive terms. Additionally, in the future our ability to satisfy current or prospective
lenders’ insurance requirements may be adversely affected if lenders generally insist upon greater insurance
coverage against acts of terrorism or losses resulting from earthquakes than is available to us in the marketplace
or on commercially reasonable terms.
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We rely on debt financing, including borrowings under our unsecured credit facility, issuances of unsecured
debt securities and debt secured by individual properties, to finance our existing portfolio, our acquisition and
development activities and for working capital. If we are unable to obtain debt financing from these or other
sources, or to refinance existing indebtedness upon maturity, our financial condition and results of operations
would likely be adversely affected. If we breach covenants in our debt agreements, the lenders can declare a
default and, if the debt is secured, can take possession of the property securing the defaulted loan. In addition,
our unsecured debt agreements contain specific cross-default provisions with respect to specified other
indebtedness, giving the unsecured lenders the right to declare a default if we are in default under other loans in
some circumstances. Defaults under our debt agreements could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our degree of leverage could limit our ability to obtain additional financing or affect the market price of our
common stock or debt securities.

On February 21, 2014, our total consolidated debt was approximately $10.6 billion (i.e., excluding
unconsolidated joint venture debt). Consolidated debt to total consolidated market capitalization ratio, defined as
total consolidated debt as a percentage of the market value of our outstanding equity securities plus our total
consolidated debt, is a measure of leverage commonly used by analysts in the REIT sector. Our total consolidated
market capitalization was approximately $30.0 million at February 21, 2014. Total consolidated market
capitalization was calculated using the closing stock price of $112.10 per common share and the following:

(1) 153,006,302 shares of our common stock, (2) 15,582,151 outstanding common units of limited partnership
interest in Boston Properties Limited Partnership (excluding common units held by us), (3) an aggregate of
874,168 common units issuable upon conversion of all outstanding Series Two Preferred Units of partnership
interest in Boston Properties Limited Partnership, (4) an aggregate of 1,571,467 common units issuable upon
conversion of all outstanding LTIP Units, assuming all conditions have been met for the conversion of the LTIP
Units, (5) 360,126 Series Four Preferred Units of partnership interest multiplied by the fixed liquidation
preference of $50 per unit, (6) 80,000 shares (8,000,000 depositary shares, each representing 1/100th of a share),
of our 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, at a price of $2,500 per share ($25 per
depositary share) and (7) our consolidated debt totaling approximately $10.6 billion. The calculation of total
consolidated market capitalization does not include 396,150 2012 OPP Units, 316,325 2013 MYLTIP Units and
485,459 2014 MYLTIP Units because, unlike other LTIP Units, they are not earned until certain return
thresholds are achieved. Our total consolidated debt, which excludes debt collateralized by our unconsolidated
joint ventures, at February 21, 2014 represented approximately 35.31% of our total consolidated market
capitalization. This percentage will fluctuate with changes in the market price of our common stock and does not
necessarily reflect our capacity to incur additional debt to finance our activities or our ability to manage our
existing debt obligations. However, for a company like ours, whose assets are primarily income-producing real
estate, the consolidated debt to total consolidated market capitalization ratio may provide investors with an
alternate indication of leverage, so long as it is evaluated along with other financial ratios and the various
components of our outstanding indebtedness.

Our degree of leverage could affect our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions, development or other general corporate purposes. Our senior unsecured debt is
currently rated investment grade by the three major rating agencies. However, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to maintain this rating, and in the event our senior debt is downgraded from its current rating, we
would likely incur higher borrowing costs and/or difficulty in obtaining additional financing. Our degree of
leverage could also make us more vulnerable to a downturn in business or the economy generally. There is a risk
that changes in our debt to market capitalization ratio, which is in part a function of our stock price, or our ratio
of indebtedness to other measures of asset value used by financial analysts may have an adverse effect on the
market price of our equity or debt securities.
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We face risks associated with property acquisitions.

We have acquired in the past and intend to continue to pursue the acquisition of properties and portfolios of
properties, including large portfolios that could increase our size and result in alterations to our capital structure.
Our acquisition activities and their success are subject to the following risks:

e even if we enter into an acquisition agreement for a property, we may be unable to complete that
acquisition after making a non-refundable deposit and incurring certain other acquisition-related costs;

* we may be unable to obtain or assume financing for acquisitions on favorable terms or at all;
e acquired properties may fail to perform as expected;

e the actual costs of repositioning, redeveloping or maintaining acquired properties may be greater than
our estimates;

e the acquisition agreement will likely contain conditions to closing, including completion of due
diligence investigations to our satisfaction or other conditions that are not within our control, which may
not be satisfied;

e acquired properties may be located in new markets, either within or outside the United States, where we
may face risks associated with a lack of market knowledge or understanding of the local economy, lack
of business relationships in the area and unfamiliarity with local governmental and permitting
procedures;

* we may acquire real estate through the acquisition of the ownership entity subjecting us to the risks of
that entity; and

* we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions, particularly acquisitions of
portfolios of properties, into our existing operations, and this could have an adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition.

We have acquired in the past and in the future may acquire properties through the acquisition of first
mortgage or mezzanine debt. Investments in these loans must be carefully structured to ensure that we satisfy the
various asset and income requirements applicable to REITs. If we fail to structure any such acquisition properly,
we could fail to qualify as a REIT. In addition, acquisitions of first mortgage or mezzanine loans subject us to the
risks associated with the borrower’s default, including potential bankruptcy, and there may be significant delays
and costs associated with the process of foreclosure on collateral securing or supporting these investments. There
can be no assurance that we would recover any or all of our investment in the event of such a default or
bankruptcy.

We have acquired in the past and in the future may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax
deferred contribution transactions in exchange for partnership interests in BPLP. This acquisition structure has
the effect, among others, of reducing the amount of tax depreciation we can deduct over the tax life of the
acquired properties, and typically requires that we agree to protect the contributors’ ability to defer recognition of
taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the acquired properties and/or the allocation of
partnership debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. These restrictions could limit our ability to sell an
asset at a time, or on terms, that would be favorable absent such restrictions.

Any future international activities will be subject to special risks and we may not be able to effectively manage
our international business.

We have underwritten, and in the future may acquire, properties, portfolios of properties or interests in real-
estate related entities on a strategic or selective basis in international markets that are new to us. If we acquire
properties or platforms located in these markets, we will face risks associated with a lack of market knowledge
and understanding of the local economy, forging new business relationships in the area and unfamiliarity with
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local laws and government and permitting procedures. In addition, our international operations will be subject to
the usual risks of doing business abroad such as possible revisions in tax treaties or other laws and regulations,
including those governing the taxation of our international income, restrictions on the transfer of funds and
uncertainty over terrorist activities. We cannot predict the likelihood that any of these developments may occur.
Further, we may in the future enter into agreements with non-U.S. entities that are governed by the laws of, and
are subject to dispute resolution in the courts of, another country or region. We cannot accurately predict whether
such a forum would provide us with an effective and efficient means of resolving disputes that may arise.

Investments in international markets may also subject us to risks associated with funding increasing
headcount, integrating new offices, and establishing effective controls and procedures to regulate the operations
of new offices and to monitor compliance with U.S. laws and regulations such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act and similar foreign laws and regulations.

We may be subject to risks from potential fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the
currencies of the other countries in which we invest.

If we invest in countries where the U.S. dollar is not the national currency, we will be subject to
international currency risks from the potential fluctuations in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the
currencies of those other countries. A significant depreciation in the value of the currency of one or more
countries where we have a significant investment may materially affect our results of operations. We may
attempt to mitigate any such effects by borrowing in the currency of the country in which we are investing and,
under certain circumstances, by hedging exchange rate fluctuations; however, access to capital may be more
restricted, or unavailable on favorable terms or at all, in certain locations. For leases denominated in international
currencies, we may use derivative financial instruments to manage the international currency exchange risk. We
cannot assure you, however, that our efforts will successfully neutralize all international currency risks.

Acquired properties may expose us to unknown liability.

We may acquire properties subject to liabilities and without any recourse, or with only limited recourse,
against the prior owners or other third parties with respect to unknown liabilities. As a result, if a liability were
asserted against us based upon ownership of those properties, we might have to pay substantial sums to settle or
contest it, which could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flow. Unknown liabilities with respect
to acquired properties might include:

e liabilities for clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination;
e claims by tenants, vendors or other persons against the former owners of the properties;
e liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business; and

e claims for indemnification by general partners, directors, officers and others indemnified by the former
owners of the properties.

Competition for acquisitions may result in increased prices for properties.

We plan to continue to acquire properties as we are presented with attractive opportunities. We may face
competition for acquisition opportunities with other investors, and this competition may adversely affect us by
subjecting us to the following risks:

* we may be unable to acquire a desired property because of competition from other well-capitalized real
estate investors, including publicly traded and private REITs, institutional investment funds and other
real estate investors; and

e even if we are able to acquire a desired property, competition from other real estate investors may
significantly increase the purchase price.
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Our use of joint ventures may limit our flexibility with jointly owned investments.

In appropriate circumstances, we intend to develop, acquire and recapitalize properties in joint ventures with
other persons or entities when circumstances warrant the use of these structures. We currently have joint ventures
that are and are not consolidated within our financial statements. Our share of the aggregate revenue from all of
our joint ventures represented approximately 14.9% of our total revenue (the sum of our total consolidated
revenue and our share of such joint venture revenue) for the year ended December 31, 2013. Our participation in
joint ventures is subject to the risks that:

e we could become engaged in a dispute with any of our joint venture partners that might affect our ability
to develop or operate a property and could lead to the sale of either parties ownership interest or the

property;

e some of our joint ventures are subject to debt and in the current credit markets the refinancing of such
debt may require equity capital calls;

e our joint venture partners may default on their obligations necessitating that we fulfill their obligation
ourselves;

e our joint venture partners may have different objectives than we have regarding the appropriate timing
and terms of any sale or refinancing of properties;

e our joint venture partners may be structured differently than us for tax purposes and this could create
conflicts of interest;

e our joint venture partners may have competing interests in our markets that could create conflicts of
interest; and

e our joint ventures may be unable to repay any amounts that we may loan to them.

Our properties face significant competition.

We face significant competition from developers, owners and operators of office and residential properties
and other commercial real estate, including sublease space available from our tenants. Substantially all of our
properties face competition from similar properties in the same market. This competition may affect our ability to
attract and retain tenants and may reduce the rents we are able to charge. These competing properties may have
vacancy rates higher than our properties, which may result in their owners being willing to lease available space
at lower rates than the space in our properties.

We face potential difficulties or delays renewing leases or re-leasing space.

We derive most of our income from rent received from our tenants. If a tenant experiences a downturn in its
business or other types of financial distress, it may be unable to make timely rental payments. Also, when our
tenants decide not to renew their leases or terminate early, we may not be able to re-let the space. Even if tenants
decide to renew or lease new space, the terms of renewals or new leases, including the cost of required
renovations or concessions to tenants, may be less favorable to us than current lease terms. As a result, our cash
flow could decrease and our ability to make distributions to our securityholders could be adversely affected.

We face potential adverse effects from major tenants’ bankruptcies or insolvencies.

The bankruptcy or insolvency of a major tenant may adversely affect the income produced by our
properties. Our tenants could file for bankruptcy protection or become insolvent in the future. We cannot evict a
tenant solely because of its bankruptcy. On the other hand, a bankrupt tenant may reject and terminate its lease
with us. In such case, our claim against the bankrupt tenant for unpaid and future rent would be subject to a
statutory cap that might be substantially less than the remaining rent actually owed under the lease, and, even so,
our claim for unpaid rent would likely not be paid in full. This shortfall could adversely affect our cash flow and
results of operations.
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We may have difficulty selling our properties, which may limit our flexibility.

Properties like the ones that we own could be difficult to sell. This may limit our ability to change our
portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. In addition, federal tax laws limit our
ability to sell properties and this may affect our ability to sell properties without adversely affecting returns to
our securityholders. These restrictions reduce our ability to respond to changes in the performance of our
investments and could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to dispose of some of our properties is constrained by their tax attributes. Properties which we
developed and have owned for a significant period of time or which we acquired through tax deferred
contribution transactions in exchange for partnership interests in BPLP often have low tax bases. Furthermore, as
a REIT, we may be subject to a 100% “prohibited transactions” tax on the gain from dispositions of property if
we are deemed to hold the property primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, unless the
disposition qualifies under a safe harbor exception for properties that have been held for at least two years and
with respect to which certain other requirements are met. The potential application of the prohibited transactions
tax could cause us to forego potential dispositions of property or other opportunities that might otherwise be
attractive to us, or to undertake such dispositions or other opportunities through a taxable REIT subsidiary, which
would generally result in income taxes being incurred. If we dispose of these properties outright in taxable
transactions, we may be required to distribute a significant amount of the taxable gain to our securityholders
under the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code for REITSs, which in turn would impact our future cash flow
and may increase our leverage. In some cases, without incurring additional costs we may be restricted from
disposing of properties contributed in exchange for our partnership interests under tax protection agreements with
contributors. To dispose of low basis or tax-protected properties efficiently we from time to time use like-kind
exchanges, which qualify for non-recognition of taxable gain, but can be difficult to consummate and result in
the property for which the disposed assets are exchanged inheriting their low tax bases and other tax attributes
(including tax protection covenants).

Because we own a hotel property, we face the risks associated with the hospitality industry.

The following factors, among others, are common to the hotel industry, and may reduce the receipts
generated by our hotel property:

e our hotel property competes for guests with other hotels, a number of which have greater marketing and
financial resources than our hotel-operating business partners;

e if there is an increase in operating costs resulting from inflation and other factors, our hotel-operating
business partners may not be able to offset such increase by increasing room rates;

e our hotel property is subject to the fluctuating and seasonal demands of business travelers and tourism;
and

e our hotel property is subject to general and local economic and social conditions that may affect demand

for travel in general, including war and terrorism.

In addition, because our hotel property is located in Cambridge, Massachusetts, it is subject to the
Cambridge market’s fluctuations in demand, increases in operating costs and increased competition from
additions in supply.

We face risks associated with short-term liquid investments.

We continue to have significant cash balances that we invest in a variety of short-term investments that are
intended to preserve principal value and maintain a high degree of liquidity while providing current income.
From time to time, these investments may include (either directly or indirectly):

e direct obligations issued by the U.S. Treasury;

e obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies;

27



e taxable municipal securities;
e obligations (including certificates of deposit) of banks and thrifts;

e commercial paper and other instruments consisting of short-term U.S. dollar denominated obligations
issued by corporations and banks;

e repurchase agreements collateralized by corporate and asset-backed obligations;
e both registered and unregistered money market funds; and

e other highly rated short-term securities.

Investments in these securities and funds are not insured against loss of principal. Under certain
circumstances we may be required to redeem all or part of our investment, and our right to redeem some or all of
our investment may be delayed or suspended. In addition, there is no guarantee that our investments in these
securities or funds will be redeemable at par value. A decline in the value of our investment or a delay or
suspension of our right to redeem may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial
condition.

Failure to qualify as a real estate investment trust would cause us to be taxed as a corporation, which would
substantially reduce funds available for payment of dividends.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we will be taxed as a corporation unless
certain relief provisions apply. We believe that we are organized and qualified as a REIT and intend to operate in
a manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT. However, we cannot assure you that we are
qualified as such, or that we will remain qualified as such in the future. This is because qualification as a REIT
involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code as to which
there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations and involves the determination of facts and
circumstances not entirely within our control. Future legislation, new regulations, administrative interpretations
or court decisions may significantly change the tax laws or the application of the tax laws with respect to
qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes or the federal income tax consequences of such
qualification.

In addition, we currently hold certain of our properties through subsidiaries that have elected to be taxed as
REITs and we may in the future determine that it is in our best interests to hold one or more of our other
properties through one or more subsidiaries that elect to be taxed as REITs. If any of these subsidiaries fails to
qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, then we may also fail to qualify as a REIT for federal income
tax purposes.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT then, unless certain relief provisions apply, we will face serious tax
consequences that will substantially reduce the funds available for payment of dividends for each of the years
involved because:

e we would not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to stockholders in computing our taxable
income and would be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates;

e we also could be subject to the federal alternative minimum tax and possibly increased state and local
taxes; and

e unless we are entitled to relief under statutory provisions, we could not elect to be subject to tax as a

REIT for four taxable years following the year during which we were disqualified.

In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT and the relief provisions do not apply, we will no longer be
required to pay dividends. As a result of all these factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT could impair our ability
to raise capital and expand our business, and it would adversely affect the value of our common stock. If we fail
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to qualify as a REIT but are eligible for certain relief provisions, then we may retain our status as a REIT but
may be required to pay a penalty tax, which could be substantial.

In order to maintain our REIT status, we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market
conditions.

In order to maintain our REIT status, we may need to borrow funds on a short-term basis to meet the REIT
distribution requirements, even if the then-prevailing market conditions are not favorable for these borrowings.
To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at least 90% of our net taxable income
each year, excluding capital gains. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the
amount, if any, by which dividends paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary
income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. We may
need short-term debt or long-term debt or proceeds from asset sales, creation of joint ventures or sales of
common stock to fund required distributions as a result of differences in timing between the actual receipt of
income and the recognition of income for federal income tax purposes, or the effect of non-deductible capital
expenditures, the creation of reserves or required debt or amortization payments. The inability of our cash flows
to cover our distribution requirements could have an adverse impact on our ability to raise short- and long-term
debt or sell equity securities in order to fund distributions required to maintain our REIT status.

Limits on changes in control may discourage takeover attempts beneficial to stockholders.

Provisions in our Charter and bylaws, our shareholder rights agreement and the limited partnership
agreement of BPLP, as well as provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and Delaware corporate law, may:

e delay or prevent a change of control over us or a tender offer, even if such action might be beneficial to
our stockholders; and

e limit our stockholders’ opportunity to receive a potential premium for their shares of common stock
over then-prevailing market prices.

Stock Ownership Limit

To facilitate maintenance of our qualification as a REIT and to otherwise address concerns relating to
concentration of stock ownership, our Charter generally prohibits ownership, directly, indirectly or beneficially,
by any single stockholder of more than 6.6% of the number of outstanding shares of any class or series of our
common stock. We refer to this limitation as the “ownership limit.” Our Board of Directors may waive, in its sole
discretion, or modify the ownership limit with respect to one or more persons if it is satisfied that ownership in
excess of this limit will not jeopardize our status as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. In addition, under
our Charter each of Mortimer B. Zuckerman and the respective families and affiliates of Mortimer B. Zuckerman
and Edward H. Linde, as well as, in general, pension plans and mutual funds, may actually and beneficially own
up to 15% of the number of outstanding shares of any class or series of our equity common stock. Shares owned
in violation of the ownership limit will be subject to the loss of rights to distributions and voting and other
penalties. The ownership limit may have the effect of inhibiting or impeding a change in control.

BPLP’s Partnership Agreement

We have agreed in the limited partnership agreement of BPLP not to engage in specified extraordinary
transactions, including, among others, business combinations, unless limited partners of BPLP other than us
receive, or have the opportunity to receive, either (1) the same consideration for their partnership interests as
holders of our common stock in the transaction or (2) limited partnership units that, among other things, would
entitle the holders, upon redemption of these units, to receive shares of common equity of a publicly traded
company or the same consideration as holders of our common stock received in the transaction. If these limited
partners would not receive such consideration, we cannot engage in the transaction unless limited partners
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holding at least 75% of the common units of limited partnership interest, other than those held by Boston
Properties, Inc. or its affiliates, consent to the transaction. In addition, we have agreed in the limited partnership
agreement of BPLP that we will not complete specified extraordinary transactions, including among others,
business combinations, in which we receive the approval of our common stockholders unless (1) limited partners
holding at least 75% of the common units of limited partnership interest, other than those held by Boston
Properties, Inc. or its affiliates, consent to the transaction or (2) the limited partners of BPLP are also allowed to
vote and the transaction would have been approved had these limited partners been able to vote as common
stockholders on the transaction. Therefore, if our common stockholders approve a specified extraordinary
transaction, the partnership agreement requires the following before we can complete the transaction:

e holders of partnership interests in BPLP, including Boston Properties, Inc., must vote on the matter;

e Boston Properties, Inc. must vote its partnership interests in the same proportion as our stockholders
voted on the transaction; and

e the result of the vote of holders of partnership interests in BPLP must be such that had such vote been a
vote of stockholders, the business combination would have been approved.

As a result of these provisions, a potential acquirer may be deterred from making an acquisition proposal,
and we may be prohibited by contract from engaging in a proposed extraordinary transaction, including a
proposed business combination, even though our stockholders approve of the transaction.

Shareholder Rights Plan

We have a shareholder rights plan. Under the terms of this plan, we can in effect prevent a person or group
from acquiring more than 15% of the outstanding shares of our common stock because, unless we approve of the
acquisition, after the person acquires more than 15% of our outstanding common stock, all other stockholders
will have the right to purchase securities from us at a price that is less than their then fair market value. This
would substantially reduce the value and influence of the stock owned by the acquiring person. Our Board of
Directors can prevent the plan from operating by approving the transaction in advance, which gives us significant
power to approve or disapprove of the efforts of a person or group to acquire a large interest in our company.

Changes in market conditions could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

As with other publicly traded equity securities, the value of our common stock depends on various market
conditions that may change from time to time. Among the market conditions that may affect the value of our
common stock are the following:

o the extent of investor interest in our securities;

e the general reputation of REITs and the attractiveness of our equity securities in comparison to other
equity securities, including securities issued by other real estate-based companies;

e our underlying asset value;

e investor confidence in the stock and bond markets, generally;
e national economic conditions;

e changes in tax laws;

e our financial performance;

e changes in our credit ratings; and

e general stock and bond market conditions.

The market value of our common stock is based primarily upon the market’s perception of our growth
potential and our current and potential future earnings and cash dividends. Consequently, our common stock may

30



trade at prices that are greater or less than our net asset value per share of common stock. If our future earnings
or cash dividends are less than expected, it is likely that the market price of our common stock will diminish.

Further issuances of equity securities may be dilutive to current securityholders.

The interests of our existing securityholders could be diluted if additional equity securities are issued to
finance future developments, acquisitions, or repay indebtedness. Our ability to execute our business strategy
depends on our access to an appropriate blend of debt financing, including unsecured lines of credit and other
forms of secured and unsecured debt, and equity financing, including common and preferred equity.

The number of shares available for future sale could adversely affect the market price of our stock.

In connection with and subsequent to our initial public offering, we have completed many private placement
transactions in which shares of stock of Boston Properties, Inc. or partnership interests in BPLP were issued to
owners of properties we acquired or to institutional investors. This common stock, or common stock issuable in
exchange for such partnership interests in BPLP, may be sold in the public securities markets over time under
registration rights we granted to these investors. Additional common stock issuable under our employee benefit
and other incentive plans, including as a result of the grant of stock options and restricted equity securities, may
also be sold in the market at some time in the future. Future sales of our common stock in the market could
adversely affect the price of our common stock. We cannot predict the effect the perception in the market that
such sales may occur will have on the market price of our common stock.

We may change our policies without obtaining the approval of our stockholders.

Our operating and financial policies, including our policies with respect to acquisitions of real estate,
growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and dividends, are exclusively determined by our Board of
Directors. Accordingly, our securityholders do not control these policies.

Our success depends on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed.

We depend on the efforts of key personnel, particularly Mortimer B. Zuckerman, Executive Chairman,
Owen D. Thomas, our Chief Executive Officer, Douglas T. Linde, our President, and Raymond A. Ritchey,
Executive Vice President, National Director of Acquisitions and Development. Among the reasons that Messrs.
Zuckerman, Thomas, Linde and Ritchey are important to our success is that each has a national reputation, which
attracts business and investment opportunities and assists us in negotiations with lenders, joint venture partners
and other investors. If we lost their services, our relationships with lenders, potential tenants and industry
personnel could diminish. Mr. Zuckerman has substantial outside business interests that could interfere with his
ability to devote his full time to our business and affairs.

Our Chief Financial Officer and Regional Managers also have strong reputations. Their reputations aid us in
identifying opportunities, having opportunities brought to us, and negotiating with tenants and build-to-suit
prospects. While we believe that we could find replacements for these key personnel, the loss of their services
could materially and adversely affect our operations because of diminished relationships with lenders,
prospective tenants and industry personnel.

Conflicts of interest exist with holders of interests in BPLP.

Sales of properties and repayment of related indebtedness will have different effects on holders of interests in
BPLP than on our stockholders.

Some holders of interests in BPLP, including Mr. Zuckerman, could incur adverse tax consequences upon
the sale of certain of our properties and on the repayment of related debt which differ from the tax consequences
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to us and our stockholders. Consequently, these holders of partnership interests in BPLP may have different
objectives regarding the appropriate pricing and timing of any such sale or repayment of debt. While we have
exclusive authority under the limited partnership agreement of BPLP to determine when to refinance or repay
debt or whether, when, and on what terms to sell a property, subject, in the case of certain properties, to the
contractual commitments described below, any such decision would require the approval of our Board of
Directors. While the Board of Directors has a policy with respect to these matters, as directors and executive
officers, Messrs. Zuckerman and D. Linde could exercise their influence in a manner inconsistent with the
interests of some, or a majority, of our stockholders, including in a manner which could prevent completion of a
sale of a property or the repayment of indebtedness.

Agreement not to sell some properties.

We have entered into agreements with respect to some properties that we have acquired in exchange for
partnership interests in BPLP. Pursuant to those agreements, we have agreed not to sell or otherwise transfer
some of our properties, prior to specified dates, in any transaction that would trigger taxable income and we are
responsible for the reimbursement of certain tax-related costs to the prior owners if the subject properties are sold
in a taxable sale. In general, our obligations to the prior owners are limited in time and only apply to actual
damages suffered. As of December 31, 2013, there were a total of three properties subject to these restrictions. In
the aggregate, all properties subject to the restrictions accounted for approximately 11% of our total revenue (the
sum of our total consolidated revenue and our share of joint venture revenue) for the year ended December 31,
2013.

BPLP has also entered into agreements providing prior owners of properties with the right to guarantee
specific amounts of indebtedness and, in the event that the specific indebtedness they guarantee is repaid or
reduced, additional and/or substitute indebtedness. These agreements may hinder actions that we may otherwise
desire to take to repay or refinance guaranteed indebtedness because we would be required to make payments to
the beneficiaries of such agreements if we violate these agreements.

Mr. Zuckerman will continue to engage in other activities.

Mr. Zuckerman has a broad and varied range of investment interests. He could acquire an interest in a
company which is not currently involved in real estate investment activities but which may acquire real property
in the future. However, pursuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Zuckerman will not, in general, have
management control over such companies and, therefore, he may not be able to prevent one or more of such
companies from engaging in activities that are in competition with our activities.

Compliance or failure to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act or other safety regulations and
requirements could result in substantial costs.

The Americans with Disabilities Act generally requires that public buildings, including office buildings and
hotels, be made accessible to disabled persons. Noncompliance could result in the imposition of fines by the
federal government or the award of damages to private litigants. If, under the Americans with Disabilities Act,
we are required to make substantial alterations and capital expenditures in one or more of our properties,
including the removal of access barriers, it could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations, as well as the amount of cash available for distribution to our securityholders.

Our properties are subject to various federal, state and local regulatory requirements, such as state and local
fire and life safety requirements. If we fail to comply with these requirements, we could incur fines or private
damage awards. We do not know whether existing requirements will change or whether compliance with future
requirements will require significant unanticipated expenditures that will affect our cash flow and results of
operations.
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Failure to comply with Federal government contractor requirements could result in substantial costs and loss
of substantial revenue.

We are subject to compliance with a wide variety of complex legal requirements because we are a Federal
government contractor. These laws regulate how we conduct business, require us to administer various
compliance programs and require us to impose compliance responsibilities on some of our contractors. Our
failure to comply with these laws could subject us to fines, penalties and damages, cause us to be in default of
our leases and other contracts with the Federal government and bar us from entering into future leases and other
contracts with the Federal government. There can be no assurance that these costs and loss of revenue will not
have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations or business.

Some potential losses are not covered by insurance.

We carry insurance coverage on our properties of types and in amounts and with deductibles that we believe
are in line with coverage customarily obtained by owners of similar properties. In response to the uncertainty in
the insurance market following the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the Federal Terrorism Risk Insurance
Act (as amended, “TRIA”) was enacted in November 2002 to require regulated insurers to make available
coverage for “certified” acts of terrorism (as defined by the statute). The expiration date of TRIA was extended
to December 31, 2014 by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2007 (“TRIPRA”) and
we can provide no assurance that it will be extended further. Currently, the per occurrence limits of our portfolio
property insurance program are $1.0 billion, including coverage for acts of terrorism certified under TRIA other
than nuclear, biological, chemical or radiological terrorism (“Terrorism Coverage”). We also carry $250 million
of Terrorism Coverage for 601 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York (“601 Lexington Avenue”) in excess of
the $1.0 billion of Terrorism Coverage in our property insurance program which is provided by IXP, LLC
(“IXP”) as a direct insurer. Certain properties, including the General Motors Building located at 767 Fifth
Avenue in New York, New York (“767 Fifth Avenue”), are currently insured in separate insurance programs.
The property insurance program per occurrence limits for 767 Fifth Avenue are $1.625 billion, including
Terrorism Coverage, with $1.375 billion of Terrorism Coverage in excess of $250 million being provided by
NYXP, LLC, (“NYXP”) as a direct insurer. We also currently carry nuclear, biological, chemical and
radiological terrorism insurance coverage for acts of terrorism certified under TRIA (“NBCR Coverage”), which
is provided by IXP, as a direct insurer, for the properties in our portfolio, including 767 Fifth Avenue, but
excluding certain other properties owned in joint ventures with third parties or which we manage. The per
occurrence limit for NBCR Coverage is $1 billion. Under TRIA, after the payment of the required deductible and
coinsurance, the additional Terrorism Coverage provided by IXP for 601 Lexington Avenue, the NBCR
Coverage provided by IXP and the Terrorism Coverage provided by NYXP are backstopped by the Federal
Government if the aggregate industry insured losses resulting from a certified act of terrorism exceed a “program
trigger.” The program trigger is $100 million and the coinsurance is 15%. Under TRIPRA, if the Federal
Government pays out for a loss under TRIA, it is mandatory that the Federal Government recoup the full amount
of the loss from insurers offering TRIA coverage after the payment of the loss pursuant to a formula in TRIPRA.
We may elect to terminate the NBCR Coverage if the Federal Government seeks recoupment for losses paid
under TRIA, if there is a change in our portfolio or for any other reason. In the event TRIPRA is not extended
beyond December 31, 2014, (i) we will evaluate alternative approaches to secure coverage for acts of terrorism
thereby potentially increasing our overall cost of insurance, (ii) if such insurance is not available at commercially
reasonable rates with limits equal to our current coverage or at all, we may not continue to have full occurrence
limit coverage for acts of terrorism, (iii) we may not satisfy the insurance requirements under existing or future
debt financings secured by individual properties, (iv) we may not be able to obtain future debt financings secured
by individual properties and (v) we may cancel the insurance policies issued by IXP for the NBCR Coverage and
the additional Terrorism Coverage for 601 Lexington Avenue and by NYXP for the Terrorism Coverage for
767 Fifth Avenue. We intend to continue to monitor the scope, nature and cost of available terrorism insurance
and maintain terrorism insurance in amounts and on terms that are commercially reasonable.

We also currently carry earthquake insurance on our properties located in areas known to be subject to
earthquakes in an amount and subject to self-insurance that we believe are commercially reasonable. In addition,
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this insurance is subject to a deductible in the amount of 5% of the value of the affected property. Specifically,
we currently carry earthquake insurance which covers our San Francisco region (excluding 535 Mission Street
and the below grade improvements for Transbay Tower) with a $120 million per occurrence limit and a

$120 million annual aggregate limit, $20 million of which is provided by IXP, as a direct insurer. The builders
risk policy maintained for the development of 535 Mission Street in San Francisco includes a $15 million per
occurrence and annual aggregate limit of earthquake coverage. In addition, the builders risk policy maintained
for the development of the below grade improvements of the Transbay Tower in San Francisco includes a

$15 million per occurrence and annual aggregate limit of earthquake coverage. The amount of our earthquake
insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover losses from earthquakes. In addition, the amount of earthquake
coverage could impact our ability to finance properties subject to earthquake risk. We may discontinue
earthquake insurance or change the structure of our earthquake insurance program on some or all of our
properties in the future if the premiums exceed our estimation of the value of the coverage.

IXP, a captive insurance company which is a wholly-owned subsidiary, acts as a direct insurer with respect
to a portion of our earthquake insurance coverage for our Greater San Francisco properties, the additional
Terrorism Coverage for 601 Lexington Avenue and our NBCR Coverage. The additional Terrorism Coverage
provided by IXP for 601 Lexington Avenue only applies to losses which exceed the program trigger under TRIA.
NYXP, a captive insurance company which is a wholly-owned subsidiary, acts as a direct insurer with respect to
a portion of our Terrorism Coverage for 767 Fifth Avenue. Currently, NYXP only insures losses which exceed
the program trigger under TRIA and NYXP reinsures with a third-party insurance company any coinsurance
payable under TRIA. Insofar as we own IXP and NYXP, we are responsible for their liquidity and capital
resources, and the accounts of IXP and NYXP are part of our consolidated financial statements. In particular, if a
loss occurs which is covered by our NBCR Coverage but is less than the applicable program trigger under TRIA,
IXP would be responsible for the full amount of the loss without any backstop by the Federal Government. IXP
and NYXP would also be responsible for any recoupment charges by the Federal Government in the event losses
are paid out and their insurance policies are maintained after the payout by the Federal Government. If we
experience a loss and IXP or NYXP are required to pay under their insurance policies, we would ultimately
record the loss to the extent of the required payment. Therefore, insurance coverage provided by IXP and NYXP
should not be considered as the equivalent of third-party insurance, but rather as a modified form of self-
insurance. In addition, our Operating Partnership has issued a guarantee to cover liabilities of IXP in the amount
of $20.0 million.

The mortgages on our properties typically contain requirements concerning the financial ratings of the
insurers who provide policies covering the property. We provide the lenders on a regular basis with the identity
of the insurance companies in our insurance programs. The ratings of some of our insurers are below the rating
requirements in some of our loan agreements and the lenders for these loans could attempt to claim an event of
default has occurred under the loan. We believe we could obtain insurance with insurers which satisfy the rating
requirements. Additionally, in the future our ability to obtain debt financing secured by individual properties, or
the terms of such financing, may be adversely affected if lenders generally insist on ratings for insurers or
amounts of insurance which are difficult to obtain or which result in a commercially unreasonable premium.
There can be no assurance that a deficiency in the financial ratings of one or more of our insurers will not have a
material adverse effect on us.

We continue to monitor the state of the insurance market in general, and the scope and costs of coverage for
acts of terrorism and California earthquake risk in particular, but we cannot anticipate what coverage will be
available on commercially reasonable terms in future policy years. There are other types of losses, such as from
wars, for which we cannot obtain insurance at all or at a reasonable cost. With respect to such losses and losses
from acts of terrorism, earthquakes or other catastrophic events, if we experience a loss that is uninsured or that
exceeds policy limits, we could lose the capital invested in the damaged properties, as well as the anticipated
future revenues from those properties. Depending on the specific circumstances of each affected property, it is
possible that we could be liable for mortgage indebtedness or other obligations related to the property. Any such
loss could materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition and results of operations.
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Actual or threatened terrorist attacks may adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and the value of
our properties.

We have significant investments in large metropolitan markets that have been or may be in the future the
targets of actual or threatened terrorism attacks, including Boston, New York, San Francisco and Washington,
DC. As a result, some tenants in these markets may choose to relocate their businesses to other markets or to
lower-profile office buildings within these markets that may be perceived to be less likely targets of future
terrorist activity. This could result in an overall decrease in the demand for office space in these markets
generally or in our properties in particular, which could increase vacancies in our properties or necessitate that
we lease our properties on less favorable terms or both. In addition, future terrorist attacks in these markets could
directly or indirectly damage our properties, both physically and financially, or cause losses that materially
exceed our insurance coverage. As a result of the foregoing, our ability to generate revenues and the value of our
properties could decline materially. See also “—Some potential losses are not covered by insurance.”

We face risks associated with our tenants and contractual counterparties being designated ‘“Prohibited
Persons” by the Office of Foreign Assets Control.

Pursuant to Executive Order 13224 and other laws, the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States
Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”) maintains a list of persons designated as terrorists or who are otherwise
blocked or banned (“Prohibited Persons’). OFAC regulations and other laws prohibit conducting business or
engaging in transactions with Prohibited Persons (the “OFAC Requirements”). Certain of our loan and other
agreements require us to comply with OFAC Requirements. We have established a compliance program whereby
tenants and others with whom we conduct business are checked against the OFAC list of Prohibited Persons prior
to entering into any agreement and on a periodic basis thereafter. Our leases and other agreements, in general,
require the other party to comply with OFAC Requirements. If a tenant or other party with whom we contract is
placed on the OFAC list we may be required by the OFAC Requirements to terminate the lease or other
agreement. Any such termination could result in a loss of revenue or a damage claim by the other party that the
termination was wrongful.

We face possible risks associated with the physical effects of climate change.

We cannot assert with certainty whether climate change is occurring and, if so, at what rate. However, the
physical effects of climate change could have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations and
business. For example, many of our properties are located along the East and West coasts, particularly those in
the Central Business Districts of Boston, New York, and San Francisco. To the extent climate change causes
changes in weather patterns, our markets could experience increases in storm intensity and rising sea-levels. Over
time, these conditions could result in declining demand for office space in our buildings or our inability to
operate the buildings at all. Climate change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost
of (or making unavailable) property insurance on terms we find acceptable, increasing the cost of energy and
increasing the cost of snow removal at our properties. There can be no assurance that climate change will not
have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations or business.

Potential liability for environmental contamination could result in substantial costs.

Under federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, we may be required to
investigate and clean up the effects of releases of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products at our
properties simply because of our current or past ownership or operation of the real estate. If unidentified
environmental problems arise, we may have to make substantial payments, which could adversely affect our cash
flow and our ability to make distributions to our securityholders, because: as owner or operator we may have to
pay for property damage and for investigation and clean-up costs incurred in connection with the contamination;
the law typically imposes clean-up responsibility and liability regardless of whether the owner or operator knew
of or caused the contamination; even if more than one person may be responsible for the contamination, each
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person who shares legal liability under the environmental laws may be held responsible for all of the clean-up
costs; and governmental entities and third parties may sue the owner or operator of a contaminated site for
damages and costs.

These costs could be substantial and in extreme cases could exceed the amount of our insurance or the value
of the contaminated property. We currently carry environmental insurance in an amount and subject to
deductibles that we believe are commercially reasonable. Specifically, we carry a pollution legal liability policy
with a $20 million limit per incident and a policy aggregate limit of $40 million. The presence of hazardous or
toxic substances or petroleum products or the failure to properly remediate contamination may materially and
adversely affect our ability to borrow against, sell or rent an affected property. In addition, applicable
environmental laws create liens on contaminated sites in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs
in connection with contamination. Changes in laws, regulations and practices and their implementation
increasing the potential liability for environmental conditions existing at our properties, or increasing the
restrictions on the handling, storage or discharge of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products or other
actions may result in significant unanticipated expenditures.

Environmental laws also govern the presence, maintenance and removal of asbestos and other building
materials. For example, laws require that owners or operators of buildings containing asbestos:

e properly manage and maintain the asbestos;
e notify and train those who may come into contact with asbestos; and

e undertake special precautions, including removal or other abatement, if asbestos would be disturbed
during renovation or demolition of a building.

Such laws may impose fines and penalties on building owners or operators who fail to comply with these
requirements and may allow third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators for personal injury
associated with exposure to asbestos fibers.

Some of our properties are located in urban and previously developed areas where fill or current or historic
industrial uses of the areas have caused site contamination. It is our policy to retain independent environmental
consultants to conduct or update Phase I environmental site assessments and asbestos surveys with respect to our
acquisition of properties. These assessments generally include a visual inspection of the properties and the
surrounding areas, an examination of current and historical uses of the properties and the surrounding areas and a
review of relevant state, federal and historical documents, but do not involve invasive techniques such as soil and
ground water sampling. Where appropriate, on a property-by-property basis, our practice is to have these
consultants conduct additional testing, including sampling for asbestos, for lead and other contaminants in
drinking water and, for soil and/or groundwater contamination where underground storage tanks are or were
located or where other past site usage creates a potential environmental problem. Even though these
environmental assessments are conducted, there is still the risk that:

e the environmental assessments and updates did not identify all potential environmental liabilities;

e aprior owner created a material environmental condition that is not known to us or the independent
consultants preparing the assessments;

* new environmental liabilities have developed since the environmental assessments were conducted; and
e future uses or conditions such as changes in applicable environmental laws and regulations could result

in environmental liability for us.

Inquiries about indoor air quality may necessitate special investigation and, depending on the results,
remediation beyond our regular indoor air quality testing and maintenance programs. Indoor air quality issues
can stem from inadequate ventilation, chemical contaminants from indoor or outdoor sources, and biological
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contaminants such as molds, pollen, viruses and bacteria. Indoor exposure to chemical or biological contaminants
above certain levels can be alleged to be connected to allergic reactions or other health effects and symptoms in
susceptible individuals. If these conditions were to occur at one of our properties, we may be subject to third-
party claims for personal injury, or may need to undertake a targeted remediation program, including without
limitation, steps to increase indoor ventilation rates and eliminate sources of contaminants. Such remediation
programs could be costly, necessitate the temporary relocation of some or all of the property’s tenants or require
rehabilitation of the affected property.

We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise, as well as
other significant disruptions of our information technology (IT) networks and related systems.

We face risks associated with security breaches, whether through cyber attacks or cyber intrusions over the
Internet, malware, computer viruses, attachments to e-mails, persons inside our organization or persons with
access to systems inside our organization, and other significant disruptions of our IT networks and related
systems. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber attack or cyber intrusion,
including by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number,
intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Our IT
networks and related systems are essential to the operation of our business and our ability to perform day-to-day
operations (including managing our building systems) and, in some cases, may be critical to the operations of
certain of our tenants. Although we make efforts to maintain the security and integrity of these types of IT
networks and related systems, and we have implemented various measures to manage the risk of a security
breach or disruption, there can be no assurance that our security efforts and measures will be effective or that
attempted security breaches or disruptions would not be successful or damaging. Even the most well protected
information, networks, systems and facilities remain potentially vulnerable because the techniques used in such
attempted security breaches evolve and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, and in some
cases are designed not be detected and, in fact, may not be detected. Accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate
these techniques or to implement adequate security barriers or other preventative measures, and thus it is
impossible for us to entirely mitigate this risk.

A security breach or other significant disruption involving our IT networks and related systems could:

e disrupt the proper functioning of our networks and systems and therefore our operations and/or those of
certain of our tenants;

e result in misstated financial reports, violations of loan covenants, missed reporting deadlines and/or
missed permitting deadlines;

e result in our inability to properly monitor our compliance with the rules and regulations regarding our
qualification as a REIT;

e result in the unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of,
proprietary, confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable information of ours or others, which others
could use to compete against us or for disruptive, destructive or otherwise harmful purposes and
outcomes;

e result in our inability to maintain the building systems relied upon by our tenants for the efficient use of
their leased space;

e require significant management attention and resources to remedy any damages that result;

e subject us to claims for breach of contract, damages, credits, penalties or termination of leases or other
agreements; or

e damage our reputation among our tenants and investors generally.

Any or all of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.
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We did not obtain new owner’s title insurance policies in connection with properties acquired during our
initial public offering.

We acquired many of our properties from our predecessors at the completion of our initial public offering in
June 1997. Before we acquired these properties, each of them was insured by a title insurance policy. We did not
obtain new owner’s title insurance policies in connection with the acquisition of these properties. To the extent
we have financed properties after acquiring them in connection with the initial public offering, we have obtained
new title insurance policies, however, the amount of these policies may be less than the current or future value of
the applicable properties. Nevertheless, because in many instances we acquired these properties indirectly by
acquiring ownership of the entity that owned the property and those owners remain in existence as our
subsidiaries, some of these title insurance policies may continue to benefit us. Many of these title insurance
policies may be for amounts less than the current or future values of the applicable properties. If there was a title
defect related to any of these properties, or to any of the properties acquired at the time of our initial public
offering, that is no longer covered by a title insurance policy, we could lose both our capital invested in and our
anticipated profits from such property. We have obtained title insurance policies for all properties that we have
acquired after our initial public offering, however, these policies may be for amounts less than the current or
future values of the applicable properties.

Because of the ownership structure of our hotel property, we face potential adverse effects from changes to the
applicable tax laws.

We own one hotel property. However, under the Internal Revenue Code, REITsS like us are not allowed to
operate hotels directly or indirectly. Accordingly, we lease our hotel property to one of our taxable REIT
subsidiaries. As lessor, we are entitled to a percentage of the gross receipts from the operation of the hotel
property. Marriott International, Inc. manages the hotel under the Marriott name pursuant to a management
contract with the taxable REIT subsidiary as lessee. While the taxable REIT subsidiary structure allows the
economic benefits of ownership to flow to us, the taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to tax on its income from
the operations of the hotel at the federal and state level. In addition, the taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to
detailed tax regulations that affect how it may be capitalized and operated. If the tax laws applicable to taxable
REIT subsidiaries are modified, we may be forced to modify the structure for owning our hotel property, and
such changes may adversely affect the cash flows from our hotel. In addition, the Internal Revenue Service, the
United States Treasury Department and Congress frequently review federal income tax legislation, and we cannot
predict whether, when or to what extent new federal tax laws, regulations, interpretations or rulings will be
adopted. Any of such actions may prospectively or retroactively modify the tax treatment of the taxable REIT
subsidiary and, therefore, may adversely affect our after-tax returns from our hotel property.

We face possible adverse changes in tax laws.

From time to time changes in state and local tax laws or regulations are enacted, which may result in an
increase in our tax liability. A shortfall in tax revenues for states and municipalities in which we operate may
lead to an increase in the frequency and size of such changes. If such changes occur, we may be required to pay
additional taxes on our assets or income. These increased tax costs could adversely affect our financial condition
and results of operations and the amount of cash available for the payment of dividends.

We face possible state and local tax audits.

Because we are organized and qualify as a REIT, we are generally not subject to federal income taxes, but is
subject to certain state and local taxes. In the normal course of business, certain entities through which we own
real estate either have undergone, or are currently undergoing, tax audits. Although we believe that we have
substantial arguments in favor of our positions in the ongoing audits, in some instances there is no controlling
precedent or interpretive guidance on the specific point at issue. Collectively, tax deficiency notices received to
date from the jurisdictions conducting the ongoing audits have not been material. However, there can be no
assurance that future audits will not occur with increased frequency or that the ultimate result of such audits will
not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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Changes in accounting pronouncements could adversely affect our operating results, in addition to the
reported financial performance of our tenants.

Accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how we record and report our financial condition and
results of operations. Uncertainties posed by various initiatives of accounting standard-setting by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board and the Securities and Exchange Commission, which create and interpret applicable
accounting standards for U.S. companies, may change the financial accounting and reporting standards or their
interpretation and application of these standards that govern the preparation of our financial statements. Proposed
changes include, but are not limited to, changes in lease accounting and the adoption of accounting standards
likely to require the increased use of “fair-value” measures.

These changes could have a material impact on our reported financial condition and results of operations. In
some cases, we could be required to apply a new or revised standard retroactively, resulting in potentially
material restatements of prior period financial statements. Similarly, these changes could have a material impact
on our tenants’ reported financial condition or results of operations or could affect our tenants’ preferences
regarding leasing real estate.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2.  Properties.

At December 31, 2013, we owned or had interests in 175 properties, totaling approximately 44.4 million net
rentable square feet, including nine properties under construction totaling approximately 2.9 million net rentable
square feet. In addition, we had structured parking for approximately 45,234 vehicles containing approximately
15.4 million square feet. Our properties consisted of (1) 167 office properties, including 128 Class A office
buildings, including eight properties under construction, and 39 properties that support both office and technical

uses, (2) four retail properties, (3) one hotel and (4) three residential properties (one of which is under

construction). In addition, we own or control 503.6 acres of land for future development. The table set forth
below shows information relating to the properties we owned, or in which we had an ownership interest, at

December 31, 2013.

Properties

Class A Office

767 Fifth Avenue (The General Motors

Building) (60% ownership) ...........
John Hancock Tower ..................
399 Park Avenue .....................
601 Lexington Avenue ................
100 Federal Street . ...................
Times Square Tower (55% ownership) . . ..
800 Boylston Street—The Prudential

Center........oovvivnvininnnnan..
599 Lexington Avenue ................
Bay Colony Corporate Center ...........
Embarcadero Center Four ..............
111 Huntington Avenue—The Prudential

Center........oovviviiiiinennan..
Embarcadero CenterOne . ..............
Atlantic Wharf Office .................
Embarcadero Center Two ..............
Embarcadero Center Three .............
Capital Gallery .. .....................
Southof Market ......................
Metropolitan Square

(51% ownership) (1) ................
3200 ZankerRoad ....................
901 New York Avenue

(25% ownership) (1) ................
ReservoirPlace ......................
One and Two Patriots Park .............
Fountain Square (50% ownership) .......
601 and 651 Gateway .................
101 Huntington Avenue—The Prudential

Center........oovviviiininnnnan..
2200 Pennsylvania Avenue .............
One Freedom Square ..................
Two Freedom Square .. ................
One Tower Center ....................

Net
% Number  Rentable
Leased as of of Square
Location December 31, 2013 Buildings Feet
New York, NY 98.7% 1 1,806,957
Boston, MA 95.9% 1 1,722,629
New York, NY 99.0% 1 1,710,383
New York, NY 99.8% 1 1,631,300
Boston, MA 94.6% 1 1,265,399
New York, NY 100.0% 1 1,245,823
Boston, MA 98.5% 1 1,228,651
New York, NY 99.2% 1 1,045,128
Waltham, MA 76.4% 4 992,042
San Francisco, CA 90.5% 1 934,377
Boston, MA 98.2% 1 858,326
San Francisco, CA 96.3% 1 833,438
Boston, MA 100.0% 1 793,827
San Francisco, CA 98.2% 1 779,768
San Francisco, CA 97.4% 1 775,086
Washington, DC 92.5% 1 631,165
Reston, VA 100.0% 3 623,665
Washington, DC 90.6% 1 588,917
San Jose, CA 49.9% 4 543,900
Washington, DC 99.9% 1 539,679
Waltham, MA 85.2% 1 527,860
Reston, VA 100.0% 2 523,482
Reston, VA 98.4% 2 521,628
South San Francisco, CA 99.2% 2 506,277
Boston, MA 99.2% 1 505,389
Washington, DC 98.1% 1 458,831
Reston, VA 98.8% 1 432,831
Reston, VA 100.0% 1 421,142
East Brunswick, NJ 37.3% 1 414,648
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Net
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% Number  Rentable
Leased as of of Square
Properties Location December 31, 2013 Buildings Feet
Market Square North

(50% ownership) (1) ................ Washington, DC 87.9% 1 407,607
140 Kendrick Street . .................. Needham, MA 95.6% 3 380,987
One and Two Discovery Square ......... Reston, VA 93.8% 2 366,990
Weston Corporate Center .............. Weston, MA 100.0% 1 356,995
510 Madison Avenue . ................. New York, NY 68.2% 1 355,598
505 9th Street, N.-W. (50% ownership) . ... Washington, DC 100.0% 1 321,943
One Reston Overlook ................. Reston, VA 100.0% 1 319,519
1333 New Hampshire Avenue . .......... Washington, DC 91.8% 1 315,371
Waltham Weston Corporate Center . . . . . .. Waltham, MA 99.1% 1 306,687
230 CityPoint .. ..... ... Waltham, MA 74.1% 1 301,373
Wisconsin Place Office ................ Chevy Chase, MD 100.0% 1 299,186
540 Madison Avenue

(60% ownership) (1) ................ New York, NY 75.8% 1 294,345
Quorum Office Park .................. Chelmsford, MA 90.0% 2 267,527
Five Cambridge Center ................ Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 263,450
Reston Corporate Center ............... Reston, VA 100.0% 2 261,046
Democracy Tower .................... Reston, VA 100.0% 1 259,441
611 Gateway .............coeninian.. South San Francisco, CA 81.0% 1 257,664
New Dominion Technology Park—

Building Two .......... ... .. .. .. Herndon, VA 100.0% 1 257,400
200 West Street .. ... Waltham, MA 87.9% 1 256,245
1330 Connecticut Avenue .............. Washington, DC 100.0% 1 252,136
500 E Street, S W. ................... Washington, DC 100.0% 1 248,336
New Dominion Technology Park—

BuildingOne ...................... Herndon, VA 100.0% 1 235,201
510 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% 1 234,160
500 North Capitol (30% ownership) (1) ... Washington, DC 85.0% 1 231,411
Four Cambridge Center ................ Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 216,156
One Cambridge Center ................ Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 215,629
77CityPoint ........ ..o Waltham, MA 100.0% 1 209,707
Sumner Square . .......... .. ... Washington, DC 97.3% 1 208,892
University Place . ..................... Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 195,282
Seventeen Cambridge Center ........... Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 195,191
North First Business Park (2) ........... San Jose, CA 100.0% 5 190,636
Three Patriots Park ................... Reston, VA 100.0% 1 182,423
2600 Tower Oaks Boulevard ............ Rockville, MD 70.7% 1 179,369
Eight Cambridge Center ............... Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 177,226
Lexington Office Park ................. Lexington, MA 94.5% 2 166,759
210 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 79.3% 1 162,372
206 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% 1 161,763
191 Spring Street ..................... Lexington, MA 100.0% 1 158,900
Kingstowne Two ..................... Alexandria, VA 73.0% 1 156,251
Ten Cambridge Center ... .............. Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 152,664
212 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 79.5% 1 152,576
Kingstowne One ..................... Alexandria, VA 83.5% 1 151,483
214 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 67.1% 1 150,774
506 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% 1 149,110
2440 West El CaminoReal ............. Mountain View, CA 100.0% 1 140,042



Net

% Number  Rentable
Leased as of of Square
Properties Location December 31, 2013 Buildings Feet
Two Reston Overlook ................. Reston, VA 100.0% 1 134,615
508 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 69.4% 1 133,915
202 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 97.4% 1 130,582
101 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 84.0% 1 125,269
502 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 83.3% 1 122,460
504 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% 1 121,990
40 Shattuck Road . .. .................. Andover, MA 87.7% 1 121,216
91 Hartwell Avenue . .................. Lexington, MA 63.6% 1 120,458
701 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% 1 120,000
Annapolis Junction Building Six
(50% ownership) (1) ................ Annapolis, MD 48.9% 1 119,339
Annapolis Junction (50% ownership) (1) .. Annapolis, MD 91.6% 1 117,599
Three Cambridge Center ............... Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 115,061
201 Spring Street .. ........... .. ...... Lexington, MA 100.0% 1 106,300
104 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 90.2% 1 102,886
33 Hayden Avenue ................... Lexington, MA 64.3% 1 80,128
Eleven Cambridge Center .............. Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 79,616
Reservoir Place North . ................ Waltham, MA 100.0% 1 73,258
105 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 62.7% 1 69,955
32 Hartwell Avenue . .................. Lexington, MA 100.0% 1 69,154
302 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 96.1% 1 64,926
195 West Street . ............. ... Waltham, MA 100.0% 1 63,500
100 Hayden Avenue .................. Lexington, MA 100.0% 1 55,924
181 Spring Street ..................... Lexington, MA 100.0% 1 55,793
211 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% 1 47,025
92 Hayden Avenue ................... Lexington, MA 100.0% 1 31,100
201 Carnegie Center .................. Princeton, NJ 100.0% — 6,500
Subtotal for Class A Office
Properties . .......... ... .. ... 93.7% 120 37,974,940
Retail
Shops at The Prudential Center .......... Boston, MA 100.0% 1 501,357
Fountain Square Retail (50% ownership) .. Reston, VA 100.0% 1 234,339
Kingstowne Retail .................... Alexandria, VA 100.0% 88,288
Shaws Supermarket at The Prudential
Center.......ovviiiii.. Boston, MA 100.0% 1 57,235
Subtotal for Retail Properties ....... 100.0% 4 881,219
Office/Technical Properties
Mountain View Research Park .......... Mountain View, CA 83.5% 16 603,564
Seven Cambridge Center .. ............. Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 231,028
Mountain View Technology Park ........ Mountain View, CA 100.0% 7 135,279
7601 Boston Boulevard ................ Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 103,750
7435 Boston Boulevard . ............... Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 103,557
8000 Grainger Court .................. Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 88,775
7500 Boston Boulevard ................ Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 79,971
7501 Boston Boulevard ................ Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 75,756
Fourteen Cambridge Center ... .......... Cambridge, MA 100.0% 1 67,362
164 Lexington Road .................. Billerica, MA 0.0% 1 64,140
7450 Boston Boulevard .. .............. Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 62,402
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Properties

7374 Boston Boulevard ................
8000 Corporate Court . ................
7451 Boston Boulevard ................
7300 Boston Boulevard ................
17 Hartwell Avenue . ..................
453 Ravendale Avenue ................
7375 Boston Boulevard ................

Subtotal for Office/Technical
Properties . .......... ... .. ...

Residential Properties

Residences on The Avenue (335 units) . . ..
The Lofts at Atlantic Wharf (86 units) . ...

Subtotal for Residential Properties . ..

Hotel Property

Cambridge Center Marriott (433 rooms) . . .
Subtotal for Hotel Property .........

Subtotal for In-Service Properties . . . .

Structured Parking (45,234 spaces) ...........

Properties Under Construction (8)
Office:

Annapolis Junction Building Seven

(50% ownership) (1) ................
680 Folsom Street (9) .................
250 West 55th Street (10) ..............
804 Carnegie Center ..................
535 Mission Street . ...................
601 Massachusetts Avenue .............
Transbay Tower (95% ownership) (11) .. ..

Residential:

ey
@)
3)

“)

The Avant at Reston Town Center
(B59units) (12) .......... ... ... ....

Subtotal for Properties Under
Construction . . .................

Total Portfolio .......................

Property is an unconsolidated joint venture.

Net

% Number  Rentable
Leased as of of Square
Location December 31, 2013 Buildings Feet
Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 57,321
Springfield, VA 0.0% 1 52,539
Springfield, VA 34.9% 1 45,615
Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 32,000
Lexington, MA 0.0% 1 30,000
Mountain View, CA 100.0% 1 29,620
Springfield, VA 100.0% 1 26,865
854% 39 1889544
Washington, DC 95.0%((3) 1 323,050(4)
Boston, MA &%(3) _l ﬂ(S)
95.7% _2 410,147
Cambridge, MA 75.3%(6) _1 334,260(7)
_753% 1 _ 334260
93.4% @ 41,490,110
15,440,948
Annapolis, MD 100% 1 125,000
San Francisco, CA 96% 2 524,509
New York, NY 61% 1 989,000
Princeton, NJ 100% 1 130,000
San Francisco, CA 0% 1 307,000
Washington, DC 79% 1 478,000
San Francisco, CA N/A 1 N/A
Reston, VA 21% _1 355,327(13)
63% _9 2,908,836
175

Property held for redevelopment as of December 31, 2013.
Represents the Average Physical Occupancy as of December 31, 2013. Average Physical Occupancy is
defined as the average number of occupied units during the fourth quarter of 2013 divided by the total
number of units, expressed as a percentage. Note that these amounts are not included in the calculation of
the Total Portfolio occupancy rate for In-Service Properties as of December 31, 2013.
Includes 49,528 square feet of retail space which is 100% leased as of December 31, 2013. Note that this
amount is not included in the calculation of the Total Portfolio occupancy rate for In-Service Properties as

of December 31, 2013.
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(5) Includes 9,617 square feet of retail space which is 100% leased as of December 31, 2013. Note that this
amount is not included in the calculation of the Total Portfolio occupancy rate for In-Service Properties as
of December 31, 2013.

(6) Represents the weighted-average room occupancy for the year ended December 31, 2013. Note that this
amount is not included in the calculation of the Total Portfolio occupancy rate for In-Service Properties as
of December 31, 2013.

(7) Includes 4,260 square feet of retail space which is 100% leased of December 31, 2013. Note that this
amount is not included in the calculation of the Total Portfolio occupancy rate for In-Service Properties as
of December 31, 2013.

(8) Represents percentage leased as of February 21, 2014.

(9) As of February 21, 2014 this property was 1% placed in-service.

(10) As of February 21, 2014 this property was 6% placed in-service.

(11) This project could support a 60-story, 1.4 million square foot office tower, however it currently only has
approval to be built to grade.

(12) As of February 21, 2014 this property was fully placed in-service (Refer to Footnote 20 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements).

(13) Includes 26,179 square feet of retail space which is 100% leased as of December 31, 2013.

Percentage Leased and Average Annualized Revenue per Square Foot for In-Service Properties

The following table sets forth our percentage leased and average annualized revenue per square foot on a
historical basis for our In-Service Properties.

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Percentage leased .......... ... ... ... ... ... 92.4% 93.2% 91.3% 91.4% 93.4%
Average annualized revenue per square foot(1) ... $52.84 $53.21 $53.58 $55.43 $56.36

(1) Represents the monthly contractual base rents and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of
December 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 multiplied by twelve. These annualized amounts are before
rent abatements and include expense reimbursements, which may be estimates as of such date. The aggregate
amount of rent abatements per square foot under existing leases as of December 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012
and 2013 for the succeeding twelve month period is $0.96, $1.11, $1.10, $1.17 and $0.58, respectively.
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Top 20 Tenants by Square Feet

Our 20 largest tenants by square feet as of December 31, 2013 were as follows:

% of

Square In-Service
Tenant Feet Portfolio
1 U.S. Government 2,423,424(1) 5.95%
2 Citibank 1,018,432(2) 2.50%
3 Bank of America 867,030(3) 2.13%
4  Biogen 772,212 1.90%
5  Wellington Management 707,568 1.74%
6  Kirkland & Ellis 639,683(4) 1.57%
7  Genentech 568,097 1.39%
8  Ropes & Gray 528,931 1.30%
9  O’Melveny & Myers 504,902 1.24%
10 Weil Gotshal Manges 490,065(5) 1.20%
11 Shearman & Sterling 472,808 1.16%
12 Manufactures Investment (ManuLife) 440,974 1.08%
13 State Street Bank and Trust 408,552 1.00%
14 Finnegan Henderson Farabow 362,405(6) 0.89%
15 Microsoft 359,859 0.88%
16  Ann Inc. (fka Ann Taylor Corp.) 351,026 0.86%
17 Parametric Technology 320,655 0.79%
18 Google 306,386 0.75%
19 Mass Financial Services 301,668 0.74%
20 Bingham McCutchen 301,385 0.74%

(1) Includes 92,620 and 104,874 square feet of space in properties in which we have a 51% and 50% interest,

respectively.

(2) Includes 10,080 and 2,761 square feet of space in properties in which we have a 60% and 51% interest,

respectively.
(3) Includes 50,887 square feet of space in a property in which we have a 60% interest.

(4) Includes 248,021 square feet of space in a property in which we have a 51% interest.
(5) Includes 449,871 square feet of space in a property in which we have a 60% interest.
(6) Includes 292,548 square feet of space in a property in which we have a 25% interest.

Tenant Diversification (Gross Rent)

Our tenant diversification as of December 31, 2013 was as follows:

Sector

Legal ServiCes . .. ..ottt
Financial Services—all other .. ... ... . . ... . . . . . . . . . .
Financial Services—commercial and investment banking .........................
Technical and Scientific Services . ............. . .. .
Other Professional ServiCes . ... ........ i e e
Retail . ...
Government / Public Administration . .............. ... .. i
Manufacturing / Consumer Products . ........ ... .
O T . . .
Real Estate and Insurance . .............. ... .
Media / TelecOmmUNICAIONS . . . .. .o\ttt it et et e e e e e e e

Percentage
of Gross
Rent

25%
16%
12%
12%
7%
7%
5%
5%
4%
4%
3%



Lease Expirations (1)(2)

Current Current Current Current
Annualized Annualized Annualized Annualized
Rentable Contractual Contractual Contractual Contractual Rent
Square Feet Rent Under Rent Under Rent Under Under Expiring
Subject to  Expiring Leases  Expiring Leases  Expiring Leases Leases With Percentage of
Year of Lease Expiring Without Future =~ Without Future With Future Future Total Square
Expiration Leases Step-Ups(3) Step-Ups p.s.f.(3) Step-Ups(4) Step-Ups p.s.f.(4) Feet
2014 .. ... 2,540,562 $118,726,987 $46.73 $119,505,067 $47.04 6.2%
2015 ... ... 2,936,829 153,984,971 5243 155,587,846 52.98 7.2%
2016 ............ 3,248,649 162,740,370 50.09 166,813,872 51.35 8.0%
2017 ..o 4,220,059 282,602,966 66.97 289,133,131 68.51 10.4%
2018 ... ... 1,877,474 116,800,109 62.21 122,282,936 65.13 4.6%
2019 ... ... 4,095,650 222,751,651 54.39 237,400,238 57.96 10.1%
2020 ... ... 3,463,210 207,424,504 59.89 225,469,867 65.10 8.5%
2021 ..o 2,389,732 127,804,161 53.48 143,518,208 60.06 5.9%
2022 ... 4,053,888 224,975,114 55.50 250,776,512 61.86 10.0%
Thereafter ....... 8,753,899 500,425,443 57.17 595,601,122 68.04 21.5%

(1) Includes 100% of unconsolidated joint venture properties. Does not include residential units and the hotel.

(2) Does not include data for leases expiring in a particular year when leases for the same space have already
been signed with replacement tenants with future commencement dates. In those cases, the data is included
in the year in which the future lease with the replacement tenant expires.

(3) Represents the monthly contractual base rent and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of
December 31, 2013 multiplied by twelve. This amount reflects total rent before any rent abatements and
includes expense reimbursements, which may be estimates as of such date.

(4) Represents the monthly contractual base rent under expiring leases with future contractual increases upon
expiration and recoveries from tenants under existing leases as of December 31, 2013 multiplied by twelve.
This amount reflects total rent before any rent abatements and includes expense reimbursements, which may
be estimates as of such date.

Item 3.  Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. These
matters are generally covered by insurance. Management believes that the final outcome of such matters will not
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
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PART II

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

(a) Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “BXP.” The high and
low sales prices and dividends for the periods indicated in the table below were:

Dividends

per common
Quarter Ended High Low share
December 31,2013 .. ... . $109.83 $ 98.04 $2.90(1)
September 30, 2013 .. ... 112.93 98.21 0.65
June 30, 2013 ... 115.85 99.59 0.65
March 31, 2013 ... 109.65 99.85 0.65
December 31,2012 .. ... o 111.56 99.23 0.65
September 30, 2012 .. ... 117.00  107.52 0.55
June 30, 2012 ..o 110.17 98.92 0.55
March 31,2012 ... 107.87 96.73 0.55

(1) Paid on January 29, 2014 to stockholders of record as of the close of business on December 31, 2013.
Amount includes a $2.25 per common share special dividend.

At February 21, 2014, we had approximately 1,444 stockholders of record.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must make annual distributions to our stockholders of
at least 90% of our taxable income (not including net capital gains). We have adopted a policy of paying regular
quarterly distributions on our common stock, and we have adopted a policy of paying regular quarterly
distributions on the common units of BPLP. Cash distributions have been paid on our common stock and BPLP’s
common units since our initial public offering. Distributions are declared at the discretion of the Board of
Directors and depend on actual and anticipated cash from operations, our financial condition, capital
requirements, the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and
other factors the Board of Directors may consider relevant.

During the three months ended December 31, 2013, we issued an aggregate of 592,506 common shares in
exchange for 592,506 common units of limited partnership held by certain limited partners of BPLP. Of these
shares, 586,831 (of which 432,914 shares had been issued in exchange for common units issued by BPLP upon
conversion of 329,880 Series Two Preferred Units) were issued in reliance on an exemption from registration
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We relied on the exemption under Section 4(2)
based upon factual representations received from the limited partners who received the common shares.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph provides a comparison of cumulative total stockholder return for the period from
December 31, 2008 through December 31, 2013, among Boston Properties, the Standard & Poor’s (“S&P””) 500
Index, the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, Inc. (“NAREIT”) Equity REIT Total Return
Index (the “Equity REIT Index”’) and the NAREIT Office REIT Index (the “Office REIT Index”). The Equity
REIT Index includes all tax-qualified equity REITs listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock
Exchange and the NASDAQ Stock Market. Equity REITs are defined as those with 75% or more of their gross
invested book value of assets invested directly or indirectly in the equity ownership of real estate. The Office
REIT Index includes all office REITs included in the Equity REIT Index. Data for Boston Properties, the S&P
500 Index, the Equity REIT Index and the Office REIT Index was provided to us by NAREIT. Upon written
request, Boston Properties will provide any stockholder with a list of the REITs included in the Equity REIT
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Index and the Office REIT Index. The stock performance graph assumes an investment of $100 in each of Boston
Properties and the three indices, and the reinvestment of any dividends. The historical information set forth
below is not necessarily indicative of future performance. The data shown is based on the share prices or index

values, as applicable, at the end of each month shown.
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|+ Boston Properties —0— S&P 500 —A— Equity REIT Index —%— Office REIT Index |

As of the year ended December 31,

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Boston Properties ............ ... 0oL, $100.00 $127.52 $167.82 $198.28 $215.25 $214.06
S&P500 ... $100.00 $126.46 $145.51 $148.59 $172.37 $228.19
Equity REIT Index ............... ... ..... $100.00 $127.99 $163.76 $177.32 $212.26 $218.32
Office REITIndex .. ..........covviveei.n. $100.00 $135.55 $160.50 $159.28 $181.82 $191.96

(b) None.

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. No repurchases during the fourth quarter.
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth our selected financial and operating data on a historical basis. Certain prior
year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation and have been revised for the
reclassifications related to the disposition of qualifying properties during 2013 which have been reclassified as
discontinued operations, for the periods presented, in accordance with the guidance in ASC 360 “Property, Plant
and Equipment” (“ASC 360”). We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate our San Francisco and
Princeton regional offices to reflect the growing activity in our San Francisco region and to have a consistent
presentation across our company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $8.1 million, $7.7 million,
$7.5 million, $8.1 million and $8.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses and are now included in General and
Administrative Expenses for all periods presented. The following data should be read in conjunction with our
financial statements and notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Our historical operating results may not be comparable to our future operating results.

For the year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Information:

TOtAl TEVEIUE . . . o vttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e $2,135,539 $1,847,186 $1,722,792 $1,515,420 $1,488,683
Expenses:
Rental OPerating . . ... ... ... 742,956 639,088 572,668 479,879 480,273
HOtel OPErating . ... ...\ 28,447 28,120 26,128 25,153 23,966
General and administrative ... ........ ...ttt i 115,329 90,129 87,101 87,459 83,512
Transaction COSES . . ..\ vttt e e e et e e e e e 1,744 3,653 1,987 2,876 —
Impairment loss ... ... 8,306 — — — —
Suspension of development . .............. i — — — (7,200) 27,766
Depreciation and amortization . . .............. ot 560,637 445,875 429,742 329,749 313,444
TOtAl EXPEISES - . . . e 1,457,419 1,206,865 1,117,626 917,916 928,961
OPErating INCOMIC . . . . . vttt ettt ettt ettt et ettt 678,120 640,321 605,166 597,504 559,722
Other income (expense):
Income from unconsolidated joint ventures . ..................oiiiiiiiinn... 75,074 49,078 85,896 36,774 12,058
Gains on consolidation of joint ventures . ............... .. ... 385,991 — — — —
Interest and Other iNCOME . . . .. .. ...ttt e e e e 8,310 10,091 5,358 7,332 4,050
Gains (losses) from investments in SECUTIES . .. .....vuvter et ernenen .. 2911 1,389 (443) 935 2,434
INEEIESt EXPENSE . . . oottt e ettt e e e e e (446,880) (410,970) (391,533) (375,403) (318,989)
Gains (losses) from early extinguishments of debt ............................ 122 (4,453) (1,494)  (89,670) (494)
Income from continuing OPErations . . . ... ....ouuuu ettt 703,648 285,456 302,950 177,472 258,781
Gains on sales of real eState . .. ...ttt — — — 2,734 11,760
Discontinued OPerations ... .............uueitiunne et 137,792 46,683 10,876 10,121 3,958
NELINCOME . . .\ ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e 841,440 332,139 313,826 190,327 274,499
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests . . ...............oveeuunn .. (91,629) (42,489) (41,147) (31,255) (43,485)
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ............. .. ... ..o, 749,811 289,650 272,679 159,072 231,014
Preferred dividends . ......... ... i e (8,057) — — — —
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common shareholders .............. $ 741,754$ 289,650 % 272,679 $ 159,072$ 231,014
Basic earnings per common share attributable to Boston Properties, Inc.:
Income from continuing operations . ...................c.iiiiiiiiiiiii $ 4.06 $ 1.65$ 1.80 $ 1.08 $ 1.73
Discontinued Operations ... ... ... .....ceueunt ettt 0.81 0.28 0.07 0.06 0.03
NELINCOME & o oottt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 487 $ 1.93$ 1.87$ 1.14 $ 1.76
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding . ......................... 152,201 150,120 145,693 139,440 131,050
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Boston Properties, Inc.:
Income from continuing OPerations . . . ...........uuueeerrunnneenunnneennn.. $ 4.05$ 1.64 $ 1.80 $ 1.08 $ 1.73
Discontinued Operations .. ... .........c.ueunt ettt 0.81 0.28 0.01 0.06 0.03
NELINCOME & o oottt et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 4.86$ 1.92$ 1.81$ 1.14 $ 1.76
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding ... ... 152,521 150,711 146,218 140,057 131,512
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Balance Sheet information:

Real estate, ross .. ........oeuniiiniineina..
Realestate, Nt .. ......... i,
Cash and cash equivalents ..........................
Total @SSELS . o v v ettt
Total indebtedness . .............ooiiiiiiininan..
Noncontrolling interests . ..............cooeeueenn. ..

Stockholders’ equity attributable to Boston Properties,

Inc. ..o

Equity noncontrolling interests

Other Information:

(e))

(@)

Funds from Operations attributable to Boston Properties,

Inc. (1) .o
Dividends declared per share (2) .....................

Cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities . . . ..

Total square feet at end of year (including development

projects and parking) ............ ... ...
In-service percentage leased atend of year .............

December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
$18,978,765  $14,893,328  $13,389,472  $12,764,935 $11,099,558
15,817,194 11,959,168 10,746,486 10,441,117 9,065,881
2,365,137 1,041,978 1,823,208 478,948 1,448,933
20,162,251 15,462,321 14,782,966 13,348,263 12,348,703
11,341,508 8,912,369 8,704,138 7,786,001 6,719,771
150,921 208,434 55,652 55,652 55,652
5,741,153 5,097,065 4,865,998 4,372,643 4,446,002
1,302,465 537,789 547,518 591,550 623,057
For the year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

$ 751464 $

(in thousands, except per share and percentage data)

4.85

777,926
(532,640)
1,077,873

59,840
93.4%

741,419 $ 710991 $ 547356 $ 618,006
2.30 2.05 2.00 2.18
642,949 606,328 375,893 617,376
(1,278,032) (90,096)  (1,161,274) (446,601)
(146,147) 828,028 (184,604) 1,036,648
60,275 57,259 53,557 50,468
91.4% 91.3% 93.2% 92.4%

Pursuant to the revised definition of Funds from Operations adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT, we calculate Funds from
Operations, or FFO, by adjusting net income (loss) attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. (computed in accordance with GAAP,
including non-recurring items) for gains (or losses) from sales of properties, impairment losses on depreciable real estate of consolidated
real estate, impairment losses on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures driven by a measurable decrease in the fair value of
depreciable real estate held by the unconsolidated joint ventures, real estate related depreciation and amortization, and after adjustment
for unconsolidated partnerships, joint ventures and preferred distributions. FFO is a non-GAAP financial measure. The use of FFO,
combined with the required primary GAAP presentations, has been fundamentally beneficial in improving the understanding of operating
results of REITs among the investing public and making comparisons of REIT operating results more meaningful. Management
generally considers FFO to be a useful measure for reviewing our comparative operating and financial performance because, by
excluding gains and losses related to sales of previously depreciated operating real estate assets, impairment losses on depreciable real
estate of consolidated real estate, impairment losses on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures driven by a measurable decrease in
the fair value of depreciable real estate held by the unconsolidated joint ventures and excluding real estate asset depreciation and
amortization (which can vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life
estimates), FFO can help one compare the operating performance of a company’s real estate between periods or as compared to different
companies. Our computation of FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs or real estate companies that do not define
the term in accordance with the current NAREIT definition or that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently. Amount
represents our share, which was 89.99%, 89.48%, 88.57%, 87.25% and 86.57% for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively, after allocation to the noncontrolling interests.

FFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. (determined in accordance with
GAAP) as an indication of our performance. FFO does not represent cash generated from operating activities determined in accordance
with GAAP and is not a measure of liquidity or an indicator of our ability to make cash distributions. We believe that to further
understand our performance, FFO should be compared with our reported net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. and
considered in addition to cash flows in accordance with GAAP, as presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

A reconciliation of FFO to net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. computed in accordance with GAAP is provided under the
heading of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Funds from Operations.”

Includes the special dividend of $2.25 per share paid on January 29, 2014 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on

December 31, 2013.
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Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this report.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the documents incorporated by reference, contains forward-
looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We intend these forward-
looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and are including this statement for purposes of complying with
those safe harbor provisions. Such statements are contained principally, but not only, under the captions
“Business—Business and Growth Strategies,” “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” We caution investors that any such forward-looking statements
are based on beliefs and on assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our management. When
used, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “project,”
“result,” “should,” “will” and similar expressions which do not relate solely to historical matters are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions and are
not guarantees of future performance, which may be affected by known and unknown risks, trends, uncertainties
and factors that are beyond our control. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should
underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or
projected by the forward-looking statements. We caution you that, while forward-looking statements reflect our
good faith beliefs when we make them, they are not guarantees of future performance and are impacted by actual
events when they occur after we make such statements. Accordingly, investors should use caution in relying on
forward-looking statements, which are based on results and trends at the time they are made, to anticipate future
results or trends.

99 ¢ 9 < 9% < 2 <

Some of the risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements include, among others, the following:

* the continuing impacts of high unemployment and other macroeconomic trends, which are having and
may continue to have a negative effect on the following, among other things:

» the fundamentals of our business, including overall market occupancy, tenant space utilization, and
rental rates;

e the financial condition of our tenants, many of which are financial, legal and other professional
firms, our lenders, counterparties to our derivative financial instruments and institutions that hold
our cash balances and short-term investments, which may expose us to increased risks of default by
these parties; and

e the value of our real estate assets, which may limit our ability to dispose of assets at attractive prices
or obtain or maintain debt financing secured by our properties or on an unsecured basis;

» general risks affecting the real estate industry (including, without limitation, the inability to enter into or
renew leases, tenant space utilization, dependence on tenants’ financial condition, and competition from
other developers, owners and operators of real estate);

e failure to manage effectively our growth and expansion into new markets and sub-markets or to
integrate acquisitions and developments successfully;

e the ability of our joint venture partners to satisfy their obligations;

¢ risks and uncertainties affecting property development and construction (including, without limitation,
construction delays, cost overruns, inability to obtain necessary permits and public opposition to such
activities);
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» risks associated with the availability and terms of financing and the use of debt to fund acquisitions and
developments, including the impact of higher interest rates on the cost and/or availability of financing;

» risks associated with forward interest rate contracts and the effectiveness of such arrangements;

¢ risks associated with downturns in the national and local economies, increases in interest rates, and
volatility in the securities markets;

¢ risks associated with actual or threatened terrorist attacks;
e costs of compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other similar laws;
e potential liability for uninsured losses and environmental contamination;

e risks associated with our potential failure to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended;

e possible adverse changes in tax and environmental laws;

e the impact of newly adopted accounting principles on our accounting policies and on period-to-period
comparisons of financial results;

* risks associated with possible state and local tax audits; and

e risks associated with our dependence on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed.

The risks set forth above are not exhaustive. Other sections of this report, including “Part I, Item 1A—Risk
Factors,” include additional factors that could adversely affect our business and financial performance.
Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from
time to time and it is not possible for management to predict all risk factors, nor can we assess the impact of all
risk factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results
to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and uncertainties,
investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.
Investors should also refer to our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for future periods and Current Reports on
Form 8-K as we file them with the SEC, and to other materials we may furnish to the public from time to time
through Current Reports on Form 8-K or otherwise, for a discussion of risks and uncertainties that may cause
actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-
looking statements. We expressly disclaim any responsibility to update any forward-looking statements to reflect
changes in underlying assumptions or factors, new information, future events, or otherwise, and you should not
rely upon these forward-looking statements after the date of this report.

Overview

We are a fully integrated self-administered and self-managed REIT and one of the largest owners and
developers of Class A office properties in the United States. Our properties have been concentrated in five
markets—Boston, New York, Princeton, San Francisco and Washington, DC. Beginning in fiscal 2014, Princeton
will be reflected as the suburban component of the New York region. We generate revenue and cash primarily by
leasing Class A office space to our tenants. Factors we consider when we lease space include the
creditworthiness of the tenant, the length of the lease, the rental rate to be paid at inception and throughout the
lease term, the costs of tenant improvements and other landlord concessions, current and anticipated operating
costs and real estate taxes, our current and anticipated vacancy, current and anticipated future demand for office
space and general economic factors. From time to time, we also generate cash through the sale of assets.

Our core strategy has always been to own, operate and develop properties in supply-constrained markets
with high barriers to entry and to focus on executing long-term leases with financially strong tenants.
Historically, this combination has tended to reduce our exposure in down cycles and enhance revenues as market
conditions improve. To be successful in the current leasing environment, we believe all aspects of the tenant-
landlord relationship must be considered. In this regard, we believe that our understanding of tenants’ short- and
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long-term space utilization and amenity needs in the local markets in which we operate, our relationships with
local brokers, our reputation as a premier owner and operator of Class A office properties, our financial strength
and our ability to maintain high building standards provide us with a competitive advantage. We expect tenants
in our markets to continue to take advantage of the ability to upgrade to high-quality space in Class A properties
like ours, particularly those tenants who value our operational expertise and financial stability when making their
leasing decisions.

Leasing activity has continued to improve in our submarkets in which demand is driven primarily by growth
in the technology and life sciences industries. This is particularly true in the San Francisco Central Business
District (“CBD”), Silicon Valley, Cambridge, Massachusetts and suburban Boston submarkets, and we remain
optimistic about the long-term operating fundamentals in all of our markets. Our portfolio is concentrated in
markets and submarkets where businesses are oriented on new ideas, such as technology, advertising, media and
information distribution (often referred to as “TAMI”), mobility, life sciences and medical devices, and these
segments of the economy are expanding and leasing additional office space. However, there continue to be
headwinds against more rapid improvements in the overall office business. The strongest force is densification,
which occurs as businesses seek less traditional layouts that cater to more collaborative work environments and
fit people more efficiently into less space. We are also seeing moderate levels of new construction in our markets
accommodating both growing tenant sectors and tenants seeking more efficient space utilization, and the
resulting increase in supply presents challenges for increasing our occupancy and the rents we can realize.

Leasing activity in our portfolio during 2013 was consistent with recent years as we signed approximately
5.1 million square feet of leases covering vacant space, extensions and expansions and pre-leasing for our
development projects. This total was in line with our annual average of approximately 5.1 million square feet
over the past five years. Our activity has resulted in significant improvement in our portfolio occupancy of
200 basis points in 2013 from 91.4% at December 31, 2012 to 93.4% at December 31, 2013.

In the midtown Manhattan market, overall leasing activity in 2013 remained strong for tenants seeking
between 5,000 and 25,000 square feet, and we completed approximately 600,000 square feet of leasing in
58 lease transactions. Activity in our portfolio has improved with same store occupancy increasing by 330 basis
points from the end of 2012 to approximately 96.6% as of December 31, 2013, with little near-term lease
expirations. The increase in demand in our portfolio is driven by smaller tenants, primarily in the financial
services industry. We also experienced activity from larger tenants and during 2013 we signed a 96,000 square
foot lease with an established financial tenant at our 250 West 55th Street development project with projected
revenue beginning in early 2015. As of December 31, 2013, 250 West 55th Street has been partially placed in-
service and is currently 61% leased. We expect to commence revenue recognition on a significant portion of the
signed leases in the second half of 2014. We are also negotiating leases with four tenants totaling approximately
175,000 square feet and, if these leases are signed, the building will be approximately 76% leased. We do not
expect these leases under negotiation, if signed, to begin revenue recognition until early 2015. At 510 Madison
Avenue and 540 Madison Avenue our space leased has improved to 80% and 85%, respectively, with
approximately 159,000 square feet of new leases signed during 2013 in 25 separate transactions.

In our Washington, DC region, the overall leasing activity continues to be slow and public sector and
defense contractor demand has been adversely impacted by continued federal budgetary uncertainty,
sequestration and the reductions in discretionary spending programs. Our near-term exposure in the Washington,
DC CBD is limited due to our strong occupancy rate of 94.6%. In addition, with positive absorption in our
suburban Washington, DC assets, particularly in Reston, Virginia, occupancy in our Washington region portfolio
improved from approximately 94.3% at the end of 2012 to approximately 95.0% at December 31, 2013, with
moderate rollover/exposure through 2014 of approximately 7.8%. We are actively engaging our law firm tenants
with future lease expirations to provide new space configuration in exchange for extended lease terms at market
rents. This may result in us reducing the amount of space the tenant leases, therefore reducing near-term revenue,
but providing for more stable long-term revenues.
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In the Boston region, the expansion of the life sciences and technology industry is positively impacting each
of the submarkets in which we operate. Our assets in the Boston CBD are approximately 98.0% leased. We have
been actively leasing space to cover our 2014-2015 lease expirations at the John Hancock Tower and the
Prudential Center and have signed approximately 817,000 square feet of new leases, early renewals and
relocations. However, the positive rental impact from approximately 568,000 square feet will not be realized
until 2015 because (1) a portion of these leases are with existing sublease tenants and therefore higher rents will
not commence until the new direct lease takes effect and (2) other tenants do not take occupancy until 2015. The
East Cambridge submarket is the strongest submarket in the region. Our Cambridge portfolio is 100% leased
with approximately 77,000 square feet expiring through 2014. Although we have no vacant space to lease, we are
negotiating early renewals with tenants in Cambridge that we expect will increase our rental revenues from these
spaces in future years. In the suburbs of Boston along the Route 128 corridor, we are also benefiting from the
strong tenant demand in the technology and life sciences industries with the completion of approximately
803,000 square feet of leases since the end of 2012. Specifically, at our Bay Colony Corporate Center we have
signed leases or have leases under negotiation that, if consummated, would increase our occupancy from
approximately 76.4%, as of December 31, 2013, to approximately 89.5%. In total, our suburban portfolio
occupancy improved 790 basis points since the beginning of 2013 to 86.3%.

The San Francisco CBD and Silicon Valley submarkets continue to benefit from business expansion and job
growth, particularly in the technology sector, which has resulted in positive absorption, lower vacancy and
increasing rental rates. Our assets in San Francisco CBD and the Silicon Valley submarkets are approximately
89.9% leased. During 2013 we leased approximately 1.1 million square feet, including an approximately
428,000 square foot renewal at our Gateway complex and an approximately 56,000 square foot lease at 50
Hawthorne Street. Our 680 Folsom Street/50 Hawthorne Street development project is now approximately 96%
pre-leased with delivery expected in mid 2014. Construction of 535 Mission Street is on schedule and we expect
to be able to deliver space to tenants in the second half of 2014 with revenue commencing in 2015. In addition,
we have commenced the construction of below grade and foundation work for the Transbay Tower, a 1.4 million
square foot project located in the heart of San Francisco’s South Financial submarket. These activities will be
completed in early 2015 and, prior to completing these activities, we expect to determine whether to proceed to
complete vertical construction.

At Carnegie Center in Princeton, New Jersey, we continue to gain occupancy, extend leases and expand our
portfolio with build-to-suit opportunities. During 2013, we completed approximately 541,000 square feet of
leases with existing, new or expanding tenants that will improve our occupancy from approximately 84.5%, as of
December 31, 2012, to a projected average of approximately 90% in 2014. In addition, we signed a 15-year lease
with NRG Energy, Inc. for an approximately 130,000 net rentable square foot build-to-suit that we expect to
deliver in 2016.
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The table below details the leasing activity during the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013:

Three Months Twelve Months
Ended Ended
December 31,2013 December 31, 2013

Total Square Feet

Vacant space available at the beginning of the period .................. 2,973,975 3,501,253
Property dispositions/properties taken out of service . .................. (30,077) (139,354)
Properties acquired vacant Space . .............iiiiiii — 86,661
Properties placed in-Service ... ... 4,100 616,783
Leases expiring or terminated during the period ...................... 547,336 2,877,334
Total space available forlease ............. ... .. .. ... .. ... ... .. 3,495,334 6,942,677

Ist generation 1€ases ... .. ...ttt 68,450 648,942
2nd generation leases withnew tenants . .......... .. .. .. ... .. ... ..... 548,660 2,398,202
2nd generation lease renewals . ....... .. L L 194,577 1,211,886
Total space leased .. ...... ...t 811,687 4,259,030
Vacant space available for lease at the end of the period . ............... 2,683,647 2,683,647
Second generation leasing information: (1)

Leases commencing during the period, in square feet .................. 743,237 3,610,088
Average Lease Term .. ... ... it 76 Months 81 Months
Average Free RentPeriod . . ..... .. .. .. .. .. . i i 79 Days 76 Days
Total Transaction Costs Per Square Foot (2) ......................... $ 37.85 $ 36.58
Increase / (decrease) in Gross Rents (3) . ........... ... . ... ... ....... 1.30% (1.08)%
Increase / (decrease) inNetRents (4) . ... .. 2.11% 2.29)%
(1) Second generation leases are defined as leases for space that had previously been under lease by us. Of the

@)
3)

“)

743,237 and 3,610,088 square feet of second generation leases that commenced during the three and twelve
months ended December 31, 2013, respectively, 514,202 and 2,208,099 square feet were signed in prior
periods for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013, respectively.

Total transaction costs include tenant improvements and leasing commissions and exclude free rent
concessions.

Represents the increase/(decrease) in gross rent (base rent plus expense reimbursements) on the new vs.
expired leases on the 407,680 and 2,462,953 square feet of second generation leases (1) that had been
occupied within the prior 12 months and (2) for which the new lease term is greater than six months, for the
three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013, respectively.

Represents the increase/(decrease) in net rent (gross rent less operating expenses) on the new vs. expired
leases on the 407,680 and 2,462,953 square feet of second generation leases (1) that had been occupied
within the prior 12 months and (2) for which the new lease term is greater than six months, for the three and
twelve months ended December 31, 2013, respectively.

From January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014, leases representing approximately 6.2% of the space at our

properties expire. As these leases expire, assuming no change in current market rental rates, we expect that the
rental rates we are likely to achieve on new leases will generally be greater than the rates that are currently being

paid.

Although we continue to evaluate opportunities to acquire assets, the abundance of capital and demand for

assets has resulted in increasing prices. As a result, in the current environment we are able to develop properties
at a cost per square foot that is generally less than the cost at which we can acquire older existing properties,
thereby generating relatively better returns with lower annual maintenance expenses and capital costs.
Accordingly, we believe the successful lease-up and completion of our development pipeline will enhance our
long-term return on equity and earnings growth as these developments are placed in-service through 2016.
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During the twelve months ended December 31, 2013, we fully placed in-service Two Patriots Park in Reston,
Virginia, 500 North Capitol Street in Washington, DC, Annapolis Junction Building Six in Annapolis, Maryland,
Seventeen Cambridge Center in Cambridge, Massachusetts, and the Cambridge Center Connector in Cambridge,
Massachusetts. In addition, during 2013, we partially placed in-service 250 West 55th Street in New York City,
680 Folsom Street in San Francisco and The Avant, our residential project in Reston, Virginia. We believe the
development of well-positioned office buildings is justified in many of our submarkets where tenants have shown
demand for high-quality construction, modern design, efficient floor plates and sustainable features. In addition,
select first-class residential developments that are part of a mixed-use environment, which combine office, retail
and residential uses, have proven successful in our markets. Each of our development projects underway is pre-
certified USGB LEED Silver or higher. As of December 31, 2013, our current development pipeline, which
excludes properties which are fully placed in-service, totals approximately 2.9 million square feet with a total
projected investment of approximately $2.5 billion. Additionally, we are working on several new developments
in each of our markets that could commence in 2015 or later.

Given investor demand for assets like ours we also continue to review our portfolio to identify properties
that may have limited opportunities for cash flow growth, no longer fit within our portfolio strategy or can attract
premium pricing in the current market environment as potential sales candidates. During 2013 we sold
approximately $1.25 billion (our share) of assets, including:

* a45% ownership interest in our Times Square Tower property in New York City for a gross sale price
of approximately $684 million,

e 125 West 55th Street in New York City, which was owned by a joint venture in which we had a
60% interest, for approximately $470 million, of which our share is approximately $282.0 million,

e an assemblage of land parcels and air-rights at Eighth Avenue and 46th Street in New York City, which
were owned by a joint venture in which we had a 50% interest, for an imputed sale price of
approximately $45 million, of which our share is approximately $22.5 million,

e 303 Almaden Boulevard in San Jose, California for approximately $40 million,
e 1301 New York Avenue in Washington, DC for approximately $135 million,
e 10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road in Burlington, Massachusetts for approximately $30 million, and

e One Preserve Parkway in Rockville, Maryland for approximately $61 million.

In general, we structure asset sales for possible inclusion in like kind exchanges within the meaning of
Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code. The ability to complete a like kind exchange depends on many
factors, including, among others, identifying and acquiring suitable replacement property within limited time
periods and the ownership structure of the property being sold, and therefore we are not always able to sell an
asset as part of a like kind exchange. When successful, however, like kind exchanges enable us to defer the
taxable gain on the asset sold and thus preserve capital. Primarily as a result of our 2013 asset sales program, we
declared a special dividend of $2.25 per share of common stock to holders of record as of December 31, 2013
that was paid on January 29, 2014. We are considering the sale of all or a portion of additional properties and if
we are unable to identify and acquire suitable replacement property in a like kind exchange, then we expect to
distribute at least the amount of proceeds necessary to avoid paying a corporate level tax on the gain realized
from the sale.

After repaying $747.5 million of our Operating Partnership’s 3.625% exchangeable senior notes on
February 18, 2014, we maintain substantial liquidity including available cash, as of February 21, 2014, of
approximately $0.9 billion and approximately $989.4 million available under our Operating Partnership’s
$1.0 billion Unsecured Line of Credit. Our more significant future funding requirements include $0.7 billion of
our development pipeline that remains to be funded through 2017 and approximately $77 million of secured debt
(of which our share is approximately $70 million) that matures by the end of 2014. We have access to multiple
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sources of capital, including current cash balances, public debt and equity markets, secured and unsecured debt
markets and potential asset sales to fund our future capital requirements.

For descriptions of significant transactions that we completed during 2013, see “Item I. Business—
Transactions During 2013.”

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, or GAAP, requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting
policies, including making estimates and assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These judgments affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. If our
judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, it is
possible that different accounting policies would have been applied resulting in a different presentation of our
financial statements. From time to time, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. In the event estimates or
assumptions prove to be different from actual results, adjustments are made in subsequent periods to reflect more
current information. Below is a discussion of accounting policies that we consider critical in that they may
require complex judgment in their application or require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain.

Real Estate

Upon acquisitions of real estate that constitutes a business, which includes the consolidation of previously
unconsolidated joint ventures,, we assess the fair value of acquired tangible and intangible assets, (including
land, buildings, tenant improvements, “above-" and “below-market” leases, leasing and assumed financing
origination costs, acquired in-place leases, other identified intangible assets and assumed liabilities) and allocate
the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities, including land and buildings as if vacant. We
assess and consider fair value based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize discount and/or capitalization
rates that we deem appropriate, as well as available market information. Estimates of future cash flows are based
on a number of factors including the historical operating results, known and anticipated trends, and market and
economic conditions.

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property as if it were
vacant. We also consider an allocation of purchase price of other acquired intangibles, including acquired in-
place leases that may have a customer relationship intangible value, including (but not limited to) the nature and
extent of the existing relationship with the tenants, the tenants’ credit quality and expectations of lease renewals.
Based on our acquisitions to date, our allocation to customer relationship intangible assets has been immaterial.

We record acquired “above-" and “below-market” leases at their fair values (using a discount rate which
reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) equal to the difference between (1) the contractual amounts
to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for each
corresponding in-place lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease for above-market
leases and the initial term plus the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for below- market leases.
Acquired “above-" and “below-market” lease values have been reflected within Prepaid Expenses and Other
Assets and Other Liabilities, respectively, in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Other intangible assets acquired
include amounts for in-place lease values that are based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of each
tenant’s lease. Factors to be considered include estimates of carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease-up
periods considering current market conditions, and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating carrying costs,
we include real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates
during the expected lease-up periods, depending on local market conditions. In estimating costs to execute
similar leases, we consider leasing commissions, legal and other related expenses.
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Management reviews its long-lived assets for impairment following the end of each quarter and when there
is an event or change in circumstances that indicates an impairment in value. An impairment loss is recognized if
the carrying amount of its assets is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. If such criteria are present, an
impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its fair value. The
evaluation of anticipated cash flows is highly subjective and is based in part on assumptions regarding future
occupancy, rental rates and capital requirements that could differ materially from actual results in future periods.
Since cash flows on properties considered to be “long-lived assets to be held and used” are considered on an
undiscounted basis to determine whether an asset has been impaired, our established strategy of holding
properties over the long term directly decreases the likelihood of recording an impairment loss. If our strategy
changes or market conditions otherwise dictate an earlier sale date, an impairment loss may be recognized and
such loss could be material. If we determine that an impairment has occurred, the affected assets must be reduced
to their fair value, less cost to sell.

Guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360 “Property Plant and Equipment” (“ASC 360”)
requires that qualifying assets and liabilities and the results of operations that have been sold, or otherwise
qualify as “held for sale,” be presented as discontinued operations in all periods presented if the property
operations are expected to be eliminated and we will not have significant continuing involvement following the
sale. The components of the property’s net income that is reflected as discontinued operations include the net
gain (or loss) upon the disposition of the property held for sale, operating results, depreciation and interest
expense (if the property is subject to a secured loan). We generally consider assets to be “held for sale” when the
transaction has been approved by our Board of Directors, or a committee thereof, and there are no known
significant contingencies relating to the sale, such that a sale of the property within one year is considered
probable. Following the classification of a property as “held for sale,” no further depreciation is recorded on the
assets, and the asset is written down to the lower of carrying value or fair market value, less cost to sell.

Real estate is stated at depreciated cost. A variety of costs are incurred in the acquisition, development and
leasing of properties. The cost of buildings and improvements includes the purchase price of property, legal fees
and other acquisition costs. We expense costs that we incur to effect a business combination such as legal, due
diligence and other closing related costs. Costs directly related to the development of properties are capitalized.
Capitalized development costs include interest, internal wages, property taxes, insurance, and other project costs
incurred during the period of development. After the determination is made to capitalize a cost, it is allocated to
the specific component of a project that is benefited. Determination of when a development project commences
and capitalization begins, and when a development project is substantially complete and held available for
occupancy and capitalization must cease, involves a degree of judgment. Our capitalization policy on
development properties is guided by guidance in ASC 835-20 “Capitalization of Interest” and ASC 970 “Real
Estate—General.” The costs of land and buildings under development include specifically identifiable costs.

The capitalized costs include pre-construction costs necessary to the development of the property,
development costs, construction costs, interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries and related costs and other costs
incurred during the period of development. We begin the capitalization of costs during the pre-construction
period which we define as activities that are necessary to the development of the property. We consider a
construction project as substantially completed and held available for occupancy upon the completion of tenant
improvements, but no later than one year from cessation of major construction activity. We cease capitalization
on the portion (1) substantially completed, (2) occupied or held available for occupancy, and we capitalize only
those costs associated with the portion under construction or (3) if activities necessary for the development of the
property have been suspended.

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

We consolidate variable interest entities (VIEs) in which we are considered to be the primary beneficiary.
VIEs are entities in which the equity investors do not have sufficient equity at risk to finance their endeavors
without additional financial support or that the holders of the equity investment at risk do not have a controlling
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financial interest. The primary beneficiary is defined by the entity having both of the following characteristics:
(1) the power to direct the activities that, when taken together, most significantly impact the variable interest
entity’s performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb losses and right to receive the returns from the variable
interest entity that would be significant to the variable interest entity. For ventures that are not VIEs we
consolidate entities for which we have significant decision making control over the ventures’ operations. Our
judgment with respect to our level of influence or control of an entity involves the consideration of various
factors including the form of our ownership interest, our representation in the entity’s governance, the size of our
investment (including loans), estimates of future cash flows, our ability to participate in policy making decisions
and the rights of the other investors to participate in the decision making process and to replace us as manager
and/or liquidate the venture, if applicable. Our assessment of our influence or control over an entity affects the
presentation of these investments in our consolidated financial statements. In addition to evaluating control
rights, we consolidate entities in which the outside partner has no substantive kick-out rights to remove us as the
managing member.

Accounts of the consolidated entity are included in our accounts and the non-controlling interest is reflected
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of equity or in temporary equity between liabilities and
equity. Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are recorded initially at cost, and subsequently adjusted for
equity in earnings and cash contributions and distributions. Any difference between the carrying amount of these
investments on the balance sheet and the underlying equity in net assets is amortized as an adjustment to equity
in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures over the life of the related asset. Under the equity method of
accounting, our net equity investment is reflected within the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and our share of net
income or loss from the joint ventures is included within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The joint
venture agreements may designate different percentage allocations among investors for profits and losses;
however, our recognition of joint venture income or loss generally follows the joint venture’s distribution
priorities, which may change upon the achievement of certain investment return thresholds. We may account for
cash distributions in excess of our investment in an unconsolidated joint venture as income when we are not the
general partner in a limited partnership and when we have neither the requirement nor the intent to provide
financial support to the joint venture. Our investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for
impairment periodically and we record impairment charges when events or circumstances change indicating that
a decline in the fair values below the carrying values has occurred and such decline is other-than-temporary. The
ultimate realization of the investment in unconsolidated joint ventures is dependent on a number of factors,
including the performance of each investment and market conditions. We will record an impairment charge if we
determine that a decline in the value below the carrying value of an investment in an unconsolidated joint venture
is other-than-temporary.

To the extent that we contribute assets to a joint venture, our investment in the joint venture is recorded at
our cost basis in the assets that were contributed to the joint venture. To the extent that our cost basis is different
than the basis reflected at the joint venture level, the basis difference is amortized over the life of the related asset
and included in our share of equity in net income of the joint venture. In accordance with the provisions of
ASC 970-323 “Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures” (“ASC 970-323”), we will recognize gains on
the contribution of real estate to joint ventures, relating solely to the outside partner’s interest, to the extent the
economic substance of the transaction is a sale.

The combined summarized financial information of the unconsolidated joint ventures is disclosed in Note 5
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Contractual rental revenue is reported on a straight-line basis over the terms of our respective leases. We
recognize rental revenue of acquired in-place “above-" and “below-market” leases at their fair values over the
terms of the respective leases. Accrued rental income as reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets represents
rental income recognized in excess of rent payments actually received pursuant to the terms of the individual
lease agreements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, the impact of the net adjustments of rents from “above-" and
“below-market” leases increased rental revenue by approximately $28.0 million. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, the impact of the straight-line rent adjustment increased rental revenue by approximately
$65.8 million. Those amounts exclude the adjustment of rents from “above-" and “below-market” leases and
straight-line income from unconsolidated joint ventures, which are disclosed in Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Our leasing strategy is generally to secure creditworthy tenants that meet our underwriting guidelines.
Furthermore, following the initiation of a lease, we continue to actively monitor the tenant’s creditworthiness to
ensure that all tenant related assets are recorded at their realizable value. When assessing tenant credit quality,
we:

e review relevant financial information, including:
* financial ratios;
e net worth;
* revenue;
e cash flows;
e leverage; and
e liquidity;
e evaluate the depth and experience of the tenant’s management team; and

e assess the strength/growth of the tenant’s industry.

As a result of the underwriting process, tenants are then categorized into one of three categories:
(1) low risk tenants;
(2) the tenant’s credit is such that we require collateral, in which case we:
e require a security deposit; and/or
e reduce upfront tenant improvement investments; or
(3) the tenant’s credit is below our acceptable parameters.
We consistently monitor the credit quality of our tenant base. We provide an allowance for doubtful
accounts arising from estimated losses that could result from the tenant’s inability to make required current rent

payments and an allowance against accrued rental income for future potential losses that we deem to be
unrecoverable over the term of the lease.

Tenant receivables are assigned a credit rating of 1 through 4. A rating of 1 represents the highest possible
rating and no allowance is recorded. A rating of 4 represents the lowest credit rating, in which case we record a
full reserve against the receivable balance. Among the factors considered in determining the credit rating include:

e payment history;

e credit status and change in status (credit ratings for public companies are used as a primary metric);
e change in tenant space needs (i.e., expansion/downsize);

e tenant financial performance;

e economic conditions in a specific geographic region; and

e industry specific credit considerations.
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If our estimates of collectability differ from the cash received, the timing and amount of our reported
revenue could be impacted. The average remaining term of our in-place tenant leases, including unconsolidated
joint ventures, was approximately 6.6 years as of December 31, 2013. The credit risk is mitigated by the high
quality of our existing tenant base, reviews of prospective tenants’ risk profiles prior to lease execution and
consistent monitoring of our portfolio to identify potential problem tenants.

Recoveries from tenants, consisting of amounts due from tenants for common area maintenance, real estate
taxes and other recoverable costs, are recognized as revenue in the period during which the expenses are
incurred. Tenant reimbursements are recognized and presented in accordance with guidance in ASC 605-45
“Principal Agent Considerations” (“ASC 605-45”"). ASC 605-45 requires that these reimbursements be recorded
on a gross basis, as we are generally the primary obligor with respect to purchasing goods and services from
third-party suppliers, have discretion in selecting the supplier and have credit risk. We also receive
reimbursement of payroll and payroll related costs from third parties which we reflect on a net basis.

Our parking revenues are derived from leases, monthly parking and transient parking. We recognize parking
revenue as earned.

Our hotel revenues are derived from room rentals and other sources such as charges to guests for telephone
service, movie and vending commissions, meeting and banquet room revenue and laundry services. Hotel
revenues are recognized as earned.

We receive management and development fees from third parties. Property management fees are recorded
and earned based on a percentage of collected rents at the properties under management, and not on a straight-
line basis, because such fees are contingent upon the collection of rents. We review each development agreement
and record development fees as earned depending on the risk associated with each project. Profit on development
fees earned from joint venture projects is recognized as revenue to the extent of the third-party partners’
ownership interest.

Gains on sales of real estate are recognized pursuant to the provisions included in ASC 360-20 “Real Estate
Sales” (“ASC 360-20”). The specific timing of the sale is measured against various criteria in ASC 360-20
related to the terms of the transaction and any continuing involvement in the form of management or financial
assistance associated with the properties. If the sales criteria for the full accrual method are not met, we defer
some or all of the gain recognition and account for the continued operations of the property by applying the
finance, leasing, profit sharing, deposit, installment or cost recovery methods, as appropriate, until the sales
criteria are met.

Depreciation and Amortization

We compute depreciation and amortization on our properties using the straight-line method based on
estimated useful asset lives. We allocate the acquisition cost of real estate to its components and depreciate or
amortize these assets over their useful lives. The amortization of acquired “above-" and “below-market” leases
and acquired in-place leases is recorded as an adjustment to revenue and depreciation and amortization,
respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, escrows, receivables, accounts
payable, accrued expenses and other assets and liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair values because of
the short maturities of these instruments.

We follow the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements when valuing our financial instruments
for disclosure purposes. We determine the fair value of our unsecured senior notes and unsecured exchangeable
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senior notes using market prices. The inputs used in determining the fair value of our unsecured senior notes and
unsecured exchangeable senior notes is categorized at a level 1 basis (as defined in the accounting standards for
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures) due to the fact that we use quoted market rates to value these
instruments. However, the inputs used in determining the fair value could be categorized at a level 2 basis if
trading volumes are low. We determine the fair value of our mortgage notes payable using discounted cash flow
analyses by discounting the spread between the future contractual interest payments and hypothetical future
interest payments on mortgage debt based on current market rates for similar securities. In determining the
current market rates, we add our estimates of market spreads to the quoted yields on federal government treasury
securities with similar maturity dates to our debt. The inputs used in determining the fair value of our mortgage
notes payable and mezzanine notes payable are categorized at a level 3 basis (as defined in the accounting
standards for Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures) due to the fact that we consider the rates used in the
valuation techniques to be unobservable inputs.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivative instruments and hedging activities require management to make judgments on the nature of its
derivatives and their effectiveness as hedges. These judgments determine if the changes in fair value of the
derivative instruments are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a component of net income
or as a component of comprehensive income and as a component of equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
While management believes its judgments are reasonable, a change in a derivative’s effectiveness as a hedge
could materially affect expenses, net income and equity. We account for the effective portion of changes in the
fair value of a derivative in other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently reclassify the effective portion
to earnings over the term that the hedged transaction affects earnings. We account for the ineffective portion of
changes in the fair value of a derivative directly in earnings.

Results of Operations

The following discussion is based on our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, we owned or had interests in a portfolio of 175, 157 and 153
properties, respectively (in each case, the “Total Property Portfolio”). As a result of changes within our Total
Property Portfolio, the financial data presented below shows significant changes in revenue and expenses from
period-to-period. Accordingly, we do not believe that our period-to-period financial data with respect to the Total
Property Portfolio are necessarily meaningful. Therefore, the comparison of operating results for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 show separately the changes attributable to the properties that were owned
by us and in service throughout each period compared (the “Same Property Portfolio”) and the changes
attributable to the properties included in the Placed In-Service, Acquired or Consolidated or Development or
Redevelopment Portfolios.

In our analysis of operating results, particularly to make comparisons of net operating income between
periods meaningful, it is important to provide information for properties that were in-service and owned by us
throughout each period presented. We refer to properties acquired or consolidated or placed in-service prior to
the beginning of the earliest period presented and owned by us and in service through the end of the latest period
presented as our Same Property Portfolio. The Same Property Portfolio therefore excludes properties placed in-
service, acquired or consolidated, repositioned or in development or redevelopment after the beginning of the
earliest period presented or disposed of prior to the end of the latest period presented.

Net operating income, or NOI, is a non-GAAP financial measure equal to net income attributable to Boston
Properties, Inc., the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, plus income attributable to
noncontrolling interests, discontinued operations, depreciation and amortization, interest expense, impairment
loss, transaction costs, general and administrative expense, less gains (losses) from early extinguishments of debt,
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gains (losses) from investments in securities, gains on consolidation of joint ventures, income from
unconsolidated joint ventures, interest and other income and development and management services revenue. We
use NOI internally as a performance measure and believe NOI provides useful information to investors regarding
our financial condition and results of operations because it reflects only those income and expense items that are
incurred at the property level. Therefore, we believe NOI is a useful measure for evaluating the operating
performance of our real estate assets.

Our management also uses NOI to evaluate regional property level performance and to make decisions
about resource allocations. Further, we believe NOI is useful to investors as a performance measure because,
when compared across periods, NOI reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental
rates, operating costs and acquisition and development activity on an unleveraged basis, providing perspectives
not immediately apparent from net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. NOI excludes certain
components from net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. in order to provide results that are more
closely related to a property’s results of operations. For example, interest expense is not necessarily linked to the
operating performance of a real estate asset and is often incurred at the corporate level as opposed to the property
level. In addition, depreciation and amortization, because of historical cost accounting and useful life estimates,
may distort operating performance at the property level. NOI presented by us may not be comparable to NOI
reported by other REITs that define NOI differently. We believe that in order to facilitate a clear understanding
of our operating results, NOI should be examined in conjunction with net income attributable to Boston
Properties, Inc. as presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements. NOI should not be considered as an
alternative to net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. as an indication of our performance or to cash
flows as a measure of liquidity or ability to make distributions. For a reconciliation of NOI to net income
attributable to Boston Properties, Inc., see Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2013 to the year ended December 31, 2012

The table below shows selected operating information for the Same Property Portfolio and the Total
Property Portfolio. The Same Property Portfolio consists of 126 properties totaling approximately 33.5 million
net rentable square feet of space, excluding unconsolidated joint ventures. The Same Property Portfolio includes
properties acquired or consolidated or placed in-service on or prior to January 1, 2012 and owned and in service
through December 31, 2013. The Total Property Portfolio includes the effects of the other properties either
placed in-service, acquired or consolidated or in development or redevelopment after January 1, 2012 or disposed
of on or prior to December 31, 2013. This table includes a reconciliation from the Same Property Portfolio to the
Total Property Portfolio by also providing information for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 with
respect to the properties which were placed in-service, acquired or consolidated or in development or
redevelopment.
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Same Property Portfolio

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue from the Same Property Portfolio increased approximately $54.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to 2012. The increase was primarily the result of an increase of approximately
$46.9 million in rental revenue from our leases and increases in parking and other recoveries of approximately
$4.9 million and $3.2 million, respectively, partially offset by a decrease in other income of approximately
$0.9 million. The increase in parking was primarily related to transient parking. The increase in rental revenue
from our leases of approximately $46.9 million was the result of our average revenue increasing by
approximately $0.97 per square foot, contributing approximately $29.5 million, and an approximately $17.4
million increase due to an increase in average occupancy from 91.4% to 92.3%.

For 2014, we expect continued improvement in our occupancy to result in an increase in Same Property
Portfolio net operating income of approximately 1.25% to 2.5% compared to 2013. We are expecting occupancy
to average between 92.5% to 93.5% for 2014.

Termination Income

Termination income decreased by approximately $5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to 2012.

Termination income for the year ended December 31, 2013 related to twenty-two tenants across the Same
Property Portfolio and totaled approximately $2.4 million, of which approximately $1.0 million was negotiated
termination income from one of our Reston, Virginia properties in order to accommodate growth of an existing
tenant.

Termination income for the year ended December 31, 2012 related to twenty-eight tenants across the Same
Property Portfolio and totaled approximately $7.6 million of which approximately $3.6 million was from the
settlement of a bankruptcy claim against a former tenant that rejected our lease in 2009 and approximately
$0.9 million was a negotiated termination from one of our Reston, Virginia properties in order to accommodate
growth of an existing tenant.

Real Estate Operating Expenses

Operating expenses from the Same Property Portfolio increased approximately $24.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012 due primarily to (1) an increase of approximately $13.9 million, or
5.3%, in real estate taxes, which increases primarily occurred in our Boston and New York regions, (2) an
increase of approximately $4.9 million, or 5.3%, in utilities expense, that was primarily due to an increase in the
delivery rate for steam in the Boston region, (3) an increase of approximately $5.3 million, or 5.8%, in property
repairs and maintenance expense and (4) an increase of approximately $3.2 million, or 2.3%, in other operating
expenses. This was partially offset by an approximately $3.2 million cumulative non-cash straight-line
adjustment for ground rent expense that occurred in 2012 and did not recur in 2013.

We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate our San Francisco and Princeton regional offices
to reflect the growing activity in our San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across our
company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $8.1 million and $7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses and are now
included in General and Administrative Expenses for all periods presented.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense for the Same Property Portfolio increased approximately
$3.5 million, or 0.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012.
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Properties Acquired or Consolidated Portfolio

On March 1, 2012, we acquired 453 Ravendale Drive located in Mountain View, California for a purchase
price of approximately $6.7 million in cash. 453 Ravendale Drive is an approximately 30,000 net rentable square
foot Office/Technical property.

On March 13, 2012, we acquired 100 Federal Street in Boston, Massachusetts for an aggregate investment
of approximately $615.0 million in cash. In connection with the transaction, we entered into a long-term lease
with an affiliate of Bank of America for approximately 732,000 square feet. 100 Federal Street is an
approximately 1,265,000 net rentable square foot, 37-story Class A office tower.

On October 4, 2012, we completed the formation of a joint venture which owns and operates Fountain
Square located in Reston, Virginia, adjacent to our other Reston properties. Fountain Square is an office and
retail complex aggregating approximately 756,000 net rentable square feet, comprised of approximately 522,000
net rentable square feet of Class A office space and approximately 234,000 net rentable square feet of retail
space. We own 50% of, and are consolidating, the joint venture.

On April 10, 2013, we acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park
properties from the Value-Added Fund for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately $233.1 million.
Prior to the acquisition, our ownership interest in the properties was approximately 39.5%. As a result of the
acquisition, we own 100% of the properties and account for them on a consolidated basis. Mountain View
Research Park is an approximately 604,000 net rentable square foot, sixteen building Office/Technical complex.
Mountain View Technology Park is an approximately 135,000 net rentable square foot, seven building Office/
Technical complex.

On May 31, 2013, our two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint venture to
third parties. In connection with the transfer, we and our new joint venture partners modified our relative
decision making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s assets and operations. These
changes resulted in us having sufficient financial and operating control over 767 Venture, LLC such that we now
account for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in our financial
statements instead of under the equity method of accounting. Our ownership interest in 767 Venture, LLC
remained unchanged at 60%. 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) is an approximately 1.8 million
net rentable square foot, 59-story Class A office tower.

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue from our Properties Acquired or Consolidated Portfolio increased approximately $228.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012, as detailed below:

Rental Revenue for the year ended December 31,

Property Date Acquired 2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)

453 Ravendale Drive . ...........c.ouuuo.... March 1, 2012 $ 582 $ 494 $ 88
100 Federal Street ........................ March 13, 2012 67,848 52,529 15,319
Fountain Square .......................... October 4, 2012 37,035 8,669 28,366
Mountain View Research Park .............. April 10, 2013 13,508 — 13,508
Mountain View Technology Park ............ April 10, 2013 3,168 — 3,168
767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors

Building) ......... ... ... L May 31, 2013 167,764 — 167,764
Total ........ ... ... ... ... .. .. ... $289,905 $61,692 $228,213
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Real Estate Operating Expenses

Real estate operating expenses from our Properties Acquired or Consolidated Portfolio increased
approximately $73.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012, as detailed below:

Real Estate Operating Expenses for the year ended

December 31,
Property Date Acquired 2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)
453 Ravendale Drive . ........... ... .. .... March 1, 2012 $ 161 $ 149 $ 12
100 Federal Street . ....................... March 13, 2012 28,704 22,141 6,563
Fountain Square .......................... October 4, 2012 12,411 3,088 9,323
Mountain View Research Park .............. April 10, 2013 2,996 — 2,996
Mountain View Technology Park ............ April 10, 2013 554 — 554
767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors
Building) ........ ... ... i May 31, 2013 54,458 — 54,458
Total ....... ... . ... ... .. .. ... $99,284 $25,378 $73,906

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense for our Properties Acquired or Consolidated Portfolio increased by
approximately $107.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012 as a result of the
acquisition or consolidation of properties after December 31, 2012, as well as the additional depreciation expense
incurred for the year ended December 31, 2013 associated with 453 Ravendale Drive, 100 Federal Street and
Fountain Square, which were acquired on March 1, 2012, March 13, 2012 and October 4, 2012, respectively,
and, as a result, were not recognizing depreciation expense for the full year ended December 31, 2012.

For a discussion of the operating results for 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), Mountain
View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park for the period prior to consolidation / acquisition refer
to “Results of Operations—Other Income and Expense Items—Income from Unconsolidated Joint Ventures”
within “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio

We had six properties that were placed in-service or partially placed in-service between January 1, 2012 and
December 31, 2013. The square footage amount for the four properties that are fully placed in-service is
approximately 1.1 million. One and Two Patriots Park is a two-phase redevelopment project for a single tenant.

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue from our Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio increased approximately $16.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012, as detailed below:

Rental Revenue for the year ended
December 31,

Quarter Initially Quarter Fully
Property Placed In-Service Placed In-Service 2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)
510 Madison Avenue . . ............... Second Quarter, 2011 Second Quarter, 2012 $22.141 $19,577 $ 2,564
One and Two Patriots Park ............ Second Quarter, 2012 Second Quarter, 2012
(Phase I) and First (Phase I) and First
Quarter, 2013 (Phase IT) Quarter, 2013 (Phase II) 15,889 8,135 7,754
Seventeen Cambridge Center .......... Second Quarter, 2013 Second Quarter, 2013 5,717 — 5,717
250 West 55th Street . ................ Third Quarter, 2013 N/A 311 — 311
The Avant at Reston Town Center . ..... Fourth Quarter, 2013 N/A 157 — 157
Total ............................. $44,215 $27,712 $16,503
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Termination Income

Included above for the year ended December 31, 2013 is approximately $0.4 million of termination income
related to two tenants, of which approximately $0.3 million was related to a retail tenant at our 510 Madison
Avenue building.

Included above for the year ended December 31, 2012 is the remaining approximately $2.6 million of
termination income related to lease amendments we signed on July 1, 2011 with the existing tenant at our three-
building Patriots Park complex on Sunrise Valley Drive in Reston, Virginia. Under the amendments, the existing
tenant terminated early its leases for approximately 523,000 square feet at the complex and was responsible for
certain payments to us aggregating approximately $15.7 million.

Real Estate Operating Expenses

Real estate operating expenses from our Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio increased approximately
$5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012, as detailed below:

Real Estate Operating Expenses for the
year ended December 31,

Quarter Initially Quarter Fully
Property Placed In-Service Placed In-Service 2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)
510 Madison Avenue ............... Second Quarter, 2011 Second Quarter, 2012 $ 7,082 $6,223 $ 859
One and Two Patriots Park .......... Second Quarter, 2012 Second Quarter, 2012
(Phase I) and First (Phase I) and First
Quarter, 2013 (Phase II)  Quarter, 2013 (Phase II) 4,223 1,381 2,842
Seventeen Cambridge Center . ... ..... Second Quarter, 2013 Second Quarter, 2013 353 — 353
250 West 55th Street ............... Third Quarter, 2013 N/A 1,340 — 1,340
The Avant at Reston Town Center .... Fourth Quarter, 2013 N/A 364 — 364
Total ... $13,362 $7,604 $5,758

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense for our Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio increased by
approximately $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012.

Properties in Development or Redevelopment Portfolio

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Properties in Development or Redevelopment Portfolio consisted
primarily of our 601 Massachusetts Avenue property located in Washington, DC.

On April 25, 2013, we commenced development of our 601 Massachusetts Avenue property, which is
expected to be completed during the fourth quarter of 2015. Prior to the commencement of development, this
building was operational and, during the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, had revenue of approximately
$2.2 million and $7.1 million, respectively, and operating expenses of approximately $0.4 million and
$1.1 million, respectively. In addition, the decrease in depreciation expense of approximately $1.6 million is the
result of the property being taken out of service on April 25, 2013 and therefore not incurring a full year of
depreciation expense.

Other Operating Income and Expense Items

Residential Net Operating Income

Net operating income for our residential properties increased by approximately $0.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012.
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The following reflects our occupancy and rate information for The Lofts at Atlantic Wharf and the
Residences on The Avenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Lofts at Atlantic Wharf Residences on The Avenue
Percentage Percentage
2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
Average Physical Occupancy(l) ................ 98.6% 958% 2.9% 93.4% 90.0% 3.8%
Average Economic Occupancy(2) .............. 97.6% 92.0% 6.1% 93.0% 89.2% 4.3%
Average Monthly Rental Rate(3) ............... $3,778  $3,640 3.8% $3,295 $3,213 2.6%
Average Rental Rate Per Occupied Square Foot ... $ 420 $ 4.08 29% $ 404 $ 394 2.5%

(1) Average Physical Occupancy is defined as the average number of occupied units divided by the total
number of units, expressed as a percentage.

(2) Average Economic Occupancy is defined as total possible revenue less vacancy loss as a percentage of total
possible revenue. Total possible revenue is determined by valuing average occupied units at contract rates
and average vacant units at Market Rents. Vacancy loss is determined by valuing vacant units at current
Market Rents. By measuring vacant units at their Market Rents, Average Economic Occupancy takes into
account the fact that units of different sizes and locations within a residential property have different
economic impacts on a residential property’s total possible gross revenue. Market Rents used by us in
calculating Economic Occupancy are based on the current market rates set by the managers of our
residential properties based on their experience in renting their residential property’s units and publicly
available market data. Trends in market rents for a region as reported by others could vary. Market Rents for
a period are based on the average Market Rents during that period and do not reflect any impact for cash
concessions.

(3) Average Monthly Rental Rates are calculated by us as rental revenue in accordance with GAAP, divided by
the weighted monthly average number of occupied units.

Hotel Net Operating Income

Net operating income for the Cambridge Center Marriott hotel property increased by approximately $2.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012 due primarily to improvements in revenue per
available room (“REVPAR”) and occupancy. We expect our hotel net operating income for fiscal 2014 to be
between $12 million and $13 million.

The following reflects our occupancy and rate information for the Cambridge Center Marriott hotel for the
year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Percentage
2013 2012 Change
OCCUPANCY .« . ettt ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e 798%  788% 1.3%
Average daily rate . ..... ... . $233.95 $226.58 3.3%
REVPAR . $186.71 $178.66 4.5%

Development and Management Services

Development and management services income decreased approximately $4.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to 2012. The decrease was due to decreases in development and management fee
income of approximately $1.4 million and $3.0 million, respectively. The decrease in development fees is
primarily due to a decrease in fees associated with tenant improvement project management. The net decrease in
management fees is due primarily to a decrease in management fees earned from our joint ventures primarily due
to the consolidation/acquisition of 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) and the Mountain View
assets and the sale of 125 West 55th Street in New York City, partially offset by an increase in tenant service
income. We expect fee income for fiscal 2014 to be between $19 million and $22 million. Our 2014 estimates are
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less than 2013 due to the conclusion of several fee development projects in Washington, DC and Boston as well
as the change in the accounting for 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building). As a result of the
consolidation of 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), the management fees for the building that
were approximately $5 million per year will no longer be recognized as fee income. Instead our partners’ 40%
share will be reflected as an adjustment to noncontrolling interest in property partnerships.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $25.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to 2012. On March 11, 2013, we announced that Owen D. Thomas would succeed
Mortimer B. Zuckerman as our Chief Executive Officer, effective April 2, 2013. Mr. Zuckerman will continue to
serve as Executive Chairman for a transition period and thereafter is expected to continue to serve as the Non-
Executive Chairman of the Board. In connection with succession planning, Mr. Zuckerman entered into a
Transition Benefits Agreement with us. If Mr. Zuckerman remains employed by us through July 1, 2014, he will
be entitled to receive, on January 1, 2015, a lump sum cash payment of $6.7 million and an equity award with a
targeted value of approximately $11.1 million. The cash payment and equity award vest one-third on each of
March 10, 2013, October 1, 2013 and July 1, 2014, subject to acceleration in certain circumstances. As a result,
we recognized approximately $13.8 million of compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2013.
We expect to recognize the remaining approximately $4.0 million of compensation expense over the remaining
vesting period and, accordingly, expect to expense approximately $2.0 million in each of the 1st and 2nd quarters
of 2014. In addition, the agreement provides that if Mr. Zuckerman terminates his employment with us for any
reason, voluntarily or involuntarily, he will become fully vested in any outstanding equity awards with time-
based vesting. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2013, we accelerated the remaining
approximately $12.9 million of stock-based compensation expense associated with Mr. Zuckerman’s unvested
long-term equity awards. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized approximately $4.6 million
of amortization that occurred prior to the accelerated vesting of the $12.9 million of stock-based compensation
expense associated with the Transition Benefits Agreement. The remaining increase was primarily due to (1) an
approximately $2.6 million increase related to the issuance of the 2013 MYLTIP Units and non-qualified stock
options, (2) an approximately $1.3 million increase in health insurance costs, (3) an approximately $1.7 million
increase in the value of our deferred compensation plan, (4) an approximately $0.8 million increases in taxes and
(5) an approximately $3.1 million increase in other general and administrative expenses, which includes
compensation expenses. This increase was partially offset by (1) approximately $1.9 million of amortization that
occurred for a member of senior management in 2012 that did not recur in 2013 due to the fact that this person
reached retirement age and therefore became fully vested in time-based equity awards and we no longer
recognized expense on a quarterly basis and (2) our recognition of approximately $4.5 million of expense during
the first quarter of 2012 in connection with the resignation of E. Mitchell Norville, our Chief Operating Officer,
on February 29, 2012, which did not recur in 2013.

We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate our San Francisco and Princeton regional offices
to reflect the growing activity in our San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across our
company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $8.1 million and $7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses and are now
included in General and Administrative Expenses for all periods presented. We expect our fiscal 2014 general
and administrative expenses to be between $100 million and $104 million, which includes approximately
$1.2 million associated with the termination of the 2011 OPP Awards. Refer to Note 20 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Wages directly related to the development of rental properties are not included in our operating results.
These costs are capitalized and included in real estate assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized
over the useful lives of the real estate. Capitalized wages for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were
approximately $12.8 million and $12.7 million, respectively. These costs are not included in the general and
administrative expenses discussed above.
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Transaction Costs

During the year ended December 31, 2013 we incurred approximately $1.7 million of transaction costs of
which approximately $0.6 million related to the acquisition of the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain
View Technology Park properties in Mountain View, California, approximately $0.4 million related to Transbay
Tower in San Francisco, California, approximately $0.5 million related to transaction costs for transactions in
New York City and approximately $0.2 million related to the pursuit of other transactions.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we incurred approximately $3.7 million of transaction pursuit
costs of which approximately $0.6 million related to the acquisition of 680 Folsom Street in San Francisco,
California, approximately $0.5 million related to the acquisition of Fountain Square in Reston, Virginia,
approximately $0.3 million related to the forming of a joint venture to pursue the acquisition of land in San
Francisco, California to construct the Transbay Tower, approximately $0.6 million related to the acquisition of
100 Federal Street in Boston, Massachusetts and approximately $1.7 million related to the pursuit of other
transactions.

Impairment Loss

On March 28, 2013, we executed a binding contract for the sale of our 303 Almaden Boulevard property
located in San Jose, California for a sale price of $40.0 million. The pending sale of this asset caused us to
evaluate our strategy for development of the adjacent Almaden land parcel which can accommodate
approximately 840,000 square feet of office development. Based on a shorter than expected hold period, we
reduced the carrying value of the land parcel to its fair market value and recognized an impairment loss of
approximately $8.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2013.

Other Income and Expense Items

Income from Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

For the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012, income from unconsolidated joint ventures
increased by approximately $26.0 million due primarily to (1) an increase of approximately $41.1 million in our
share of net income from the sale of 125 West 55th Street on May 30, 2013 and (2) an increase of approximately
$11.3 million in our share of net income from the sale of the Eighth Avenue and 46th Street project in New York
City partially offset by the following: (1) an approximately $21.0 million decrease in our share of net income
from 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) related to the consolidation on June 1, 2013 and
termination income that was received during 2012 that did not recur in 2013, (2) an approximately $3.2 million
decrease in our share of net income from 540 Madison Avenue due to lease expirations, (3) an approximately
$1.1 million decrease in our share of net income from the Value-Added Fund due to our acquisition of the
Mountain View assets on April 10, 2013 which includes approximately $0.2 million of gain recognized during
2012 related to the sale of 300 Billerica Road in Chelmsford, Massachusetts and (4) an approximately
$1.1 million decrease in our share of net income from our other unconsolidated joint ventures.

On July 19, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 50% interest completed the sale of its Eighth Avenue
and 46th Street project located in New York City for an imputed sale price of $45.0 million. Eighth Avenue and
46th Street is comprised of an assemblage of land parcels and air-rights. Net cash proceeds to us totaled
approximately $21.8 million, after the payment of transaction costs. The joint venture had previously recognized
an impairment loss on the property. As a result, the joint venture recognized a gain on sale of real estate totaling
approximately $12.6 million, of which our share was approximately $11.3 million.

On May 31, 2013, our two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint venture to
third parties. In connection with the transfer, we and our new joint venture partners modified our relative
decision making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s assets and operations. These
changes resulted in us having sufficient financial and operating control over 767 Venture, LLC such that we now
account for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in our financial
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statements instead of under the equity method of accounting. Our ownership interest in 767 Venture, LLC
remained unchanged at 60%. Due to the consolidation effective June 1, 2013, only five months of activity are
being shown for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to a full year in 2012 resulting in a decrease in
income from unconsolidated joint ventures of approximately $9.2 million. In aggregate, the total decrease, which
includes the termination income detailed below, and the decrease in income due to consolidation is
approximately $21.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012.

On May 14, 2012, an unconsolidated joint venture in which we have a 60% interest entered into a lease
termination agreement with an existing tenant at 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) in New York
City. Under the agreement, the tenant terminated early its lease for approximately 36,000 square feet at the
building and is responsible for certain payments to the unconsolidated joint venture aggregating approximately
$28.4 million through May 1, 2014 (of which our share is approximately $17.0 million). As a result of the
termination, we recognized termination income totaling approximately $11.8 million (which is net of the write-
off of the accrued straight-line rent balance) during the year ended ended December 31, 2012.

On May 30, 2013, a joint venture in which we have a 60% interest completed the sale of its 125 West 55th
Street property located in New York City for a sale price of $470.0 million, including the assumption by the
buyer of the mortgage loan collateralized by the property totaling approximately $198.6 million. The mortgage
loan bore interest at a fixed rate of 6.09% per annum and was scheduled to mature on March 10, 2020. Net cash
proceeds totaled approximately $253.7 million, of which our share was approximately $152.2 million, after the
payment of transaction costs. 125 West 55th Street is a Class A office property totaling approximately 588,000
net rentable square feet. We had previously recognized an impairment loss on our investment in the
unconsolidated joint venture. As a result, we recognized a gain on sale of real estate totaling approximately
$43.2 million. Due to the sale on May 30, 2013, only five months of activity are being shown for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to a full year in 2012 resulting in a decrease in income from unconsolidated joint
ventures of approximately $2.1 million.

On April 10, 2013, we acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park
properties from the Value-Added Fund for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately $233.1 million.
Prior to the acquisition, our ownership interest in the properties was approximately 39.5%. As a result of the
acquisition, we own 100% of the properties and account for them on a consolidated basis. Due to the acquisition,
the Value-Added Fund, excluding the gain on the sale of 300 Billerica Road in Chelmsford, Massachusetts,
contributed an approximately $1.3 million loss to our share of the income for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to 2012.

For the consolidated operating results for 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), Mountain View
Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park refer to “Results of Operations—Properties Acquired
Portfolio” within “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”

Gains on Consolidation of Joint Ventures

On May 31, 2013, our two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint venture to
third parties. In connection with the transfer we and our new joint venture partners modified our relative decision
making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s assets and operations. These changes
resulted in us having sufficient financial and operating control over 767 Venture, LLC such that we now account
for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in our financial statements
instead of under the equity method of accounting. Our ownership interest in 767 Venture, LLC remained
unchanged at 60%. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized a non-cash gain on our investment
of approximately $359.5 million.
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On April 10, 2013, we acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park
properties from the Value-Added Fund for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately $233.1 million.
Prior to the acquisition, our ownership interest in the properties was approximately 39.5%. As a result of the
acquisition, we own 100% of the properties and account for them on a consolidated basis. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, we recognized a gain upon consolidation totaling approximately $26.5 million.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income decreased approximately $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to 2012, of which $1.1 million was related to an insurance claim that we received during 2012 that did
not recur in 2013 and the remaining decrease of approximately $0.7 million related to interest income. The
decrease in interest income was due primarily to interest income that we recognized related to the loans that we
made to our Value-Added Fund. On April 10, 2013 we acquired the Mountain View properties from the Value-
Added Fund and the loans were repaid (Refer to Notes 3 and 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements). The
loans to the Value-Added Fund had been reflected in Related Party Note Receivable on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Gains from Investments in Securities

Gains from investments in securities for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 related to investments
that we have made to reduce our market risk relating to a deferred compensation plan that we maintain for our
officers. Under this deferred compensation plan, each officer who is eligible to participate is permitted to defer a
portion of the officer’s current income on a pre-tax basis and receive a tax-deferred return on these deferrals
based on the performance of specific investments selected by the officer. In order to reduce our market risk
relating to this plan, we typically acquire, in a separate account that is not restricted as to its use, similar or
identical investments as those selected by each officer. This enables us to generally match our liabilities to our
officers under the deferred compensation plan with equivalent assets and thereby limit our market risk. The
performance of these investments is recorded as gains from investments in securities. During the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized gains of approximately $2.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively,
on these investments. By comparison, our general and administrative expense increased by approximately
$2.9 million and $1.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, as a result of
increases in our liability under our deferred compensation plan that were associated with the performance of the
specific investments selected by our officers participating in the plan.

Gains (Losses) from Early Extinguishments of Debt

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we had a gain from early extinguishments of debt of approximately
$0.1 million due to the following transactions:

On April 15, 2013, we announced that holders of our Operating Partnership’s 3.75% Exchangeable Senior
Notes due 2036 (the “Notes™) had the right to surrender their Notes for purchase by our Operating Partnership
(the “Put Right”) on May 18, 2013. On April 15, 2013, we also announced that our Operating Partnership issued
a notice of redemption to the holders of the Notes to redeem, on May 18, 2013 (the “Redemption Date”), all of
the Notes outstanding on the Redemption Date. In connection with the notice of redemption, holders of the Notes
had the right to exchange their Notes on or prior to May 16, 2013. Notes with respect to which the Put Right was
not exercised and that were not surrendered for exchange on or prior to May 16, 2013, were redeemed by our
Operating Partnership at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued and
unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the Redemption Date. Based on final information provided to our
Operating Partnership by the trustee for the Notes, no Notes were validly tendered and accepted for purchase in
the Put Right. Pursuant to the notice of redemption, an aggregate principal amount of $990,000 of the Notes was
redeemed on May 18, 2013. The remaining aggregate principal amount of $449,010,000 of the Notes was
surrendered for exchange and, in addition to the repayment of the principal in cash, we issued an aggregate of
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419,116 shares of our common stock in exchange for the Notes. We recognized a loss on early extinguishment of
debt totaling approximately $0.1 million consisting of transaction costs.

On April 1, 2013, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our 140 Kendrick
Street property located in Needham, Massachusetts totaling approximately $47.6 million. The mortgage loan
bore interest at a fixed rate of 7.51% per annum and was scheduled to mature on July 1, 2013. There was no
prepayment penalty. We recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.3 million
related to the acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the
result of purchase accounting.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we had a loss from early extinguishments of debt of approximately
$4.5 million due to the following transactions:

On September 4, 2012, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our Sumner
Square property located in Washington, DC totaling approximately $23.2 million. The mortgage financing bore
interest at a fixed rate of 7.35% per annum and was scheduled to mature on September 1, 2013. We recognized a
loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.3 million, which included a prepayment penalty
totaling approximately $0.2 million associated with the early repayment.

On August 24, 2012, our Operating Partnership used available cash to redeem the remaining $225.0 million
in aggregate principal amount of its 6.25% senior notes due 2013. The redemption price was determined in
accordance with the applicable indenture and totaled approximately $231.6 million. The redemption price
included approximately $1.5 million of accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the redemption date.
Excluding such accrued and unpaid interest, the redemption price was approximately 102.25% of the principal
amount being redeemed. We recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately
$5.2 million, which amount included the payment of the redemption premium totaling approximately $5.1
million.

On April 2, 2012, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our One Freedom
Square property located in Reston, Virginia totaling $65.1 million. The mortgage financing bore interest at a
fixed rate of 7.75% per annum and was scheduled to mature on June 30, 2012. There was no prepayment penalty.
We recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.3 million related to the
acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the result of
purchase accounting.

On March 12, 2012, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our Bay Colony
Corporate Center property located in Waltham, Massachusetts totaling $143.9 million. The mortgage financing
bore interest at a fixed rate of 6.53% per annum and was scheduled to mature on June 11, 2012. There was no
prepayment penalty. We recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.9 million
related to the acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the
result of purchase accounting.

In connection with the repurchase and redemption in February 2012 of our Operating Partnership’s 2.875%

Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2037, we recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt of approximately
$0.1 million related to the expensing of transaction related costs.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense for the Total Property Portfolio increased approximately $35.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to 2012 as detailed below:

Change in interest
expense for the year
ended
December 31, 2013
compared to
Component December 31, 2012

(in thousands)
Increases to interest expense due to:
Interest associated with the consolidation of the $1.6 billion of debt outstanding

for 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) ...................... $ 31,397
Issuance of $1.0 billion in aggregate principal of our Operating Partnership’s

3.850% senior notes due 2023 onJune 11,2012 . ... ... . . . 17,173
Partner’s share of the interest for the outstanding Outside Members’ Notes

Payable for 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) ............... 16,044
Issuance of $700 million in aggregate principal of our Operating Partnership’s

3.800% senior notes due 2024 on June 27,2013 . .. ... . 13,634
Issuance of $500 million in aggregate principal of our Operating Partnership’s

3.125% senior notes due 2023 on April 11,2013 ... ... ... ... .. ...... 11,514
New mortgage/properties placed in-service financings . .. .................... 4,572
Total increases to INEreSt EXPENSE . . .« v v vt vttt et e et e e $ 94,334
Decreases to interest expense due to:
Increase in capitalized interest . . ... $(23,873)
Repurchases/redemption/exchange of $450.0 million in aggregate principal of our

Operating Partnership’s 3.75% exchangeable senior notes due 2036 .......... (10,594)
Redemption of $225.0 million in aggregate principal of our Operating

Partnership’s 6.25% senior notes due 2013 . ....... ... ... .. ... . . ... (8,014)
Repayment of mortgage financings . ........... ... (6,418)
Interest expense associated with the accretion of the adjustment for the equity

component allocation of our unsecured exchangeabledebt ................. (6,004)
Repurchases/redemption of $576.2 million in aggregate principal of our Operating

Partnership’s 2.875% exchangeable senior notes due 2037 ................. (3,053)
Other interest expense (excluding senior notes) . ..............c.vuenien.n.. (468)
Total decreases to INtereSt EXPENSE . . . .. v vv vt vttt e e et e s $(58,424)
Total change in INterest EXPenSe . ... ...vvu ittt et ee $ 35,910

The following property is included in the new mortgages/properties placed in-service financings line item:
Fountain Square. The following properties are included in the repayment of mortgage financings line item: Bay
Colony Corporate Center, One Freedom Square, Sumner Square, Kingstowne One and 140 Kendrick Street. As
properties are placed in-service, we cease capitalizing interest and interest is then expensed.

Interest expense directly related to the development of rental properties is not included in our operating
results. These costs are capitalized and included in real estate assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and
amortized over the useful lives of the real estate. Interest capitalized for the year ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 was approximately $68.2 million and $44.3 million, respectively. These costs are not included in the
interest expense referenced above.

We anticipate net interest expense for 2014 will be approximately $448 million to $452 million. This
estimate assumes approximately $54 million to $58 million of capitalized interest. The estimates for 2014 reflect
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the repayment at maturity of the $747.5 million of 3.625% exchangeable senior notes ,which occurred on
February 18, 2014, and assumes the repayment of $63.0 million of secured debt that matures in October 2014.
These estimates also assume that we will not incur any additional indebtedness, make additional prepayments or
repurchases of existing indebtedness and that there will not be any fluctuations in interest rates or any changes in
our development activity.

At December 31, 2013, our variable rate debt consisted of our Operating Partnership’s $1.0 billion
Unsecured Line of Credit, of which no amount was outstanding at December 31, 2013. For a summary of our
consolidated debt as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 refer to the heading “Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Capitalization—Debt Financing” within “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Discontinued Operations

On December 20, 2013, we completed the sale of our 10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road property located in
Burlington, Massachusetts for a sale price of approximately $30.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled
approximately $29.4 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $20.5 million. 10 & 20 Burlington Mall
Road consists of two Class A office properties aggregating approximately 152,000 net rentable square feet. The
operating results of the property through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a
historical basis for all periods presented.

On December 20, 2013, we completed the sale of our One Preserve Parkway property located in Rockville,
Maryland for a sale price of approximately $61.3 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $59.9 million,
resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $5.9 million. One Preserve Parkway is a Class A office property
totaling approximately 184,000 net rentable square feet. The operating results of the property through the date of
sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical basis for all periods presented.

On August 22, 2013, we completed the sale of our 1301 New York Avenue property located in Washington,
DC for a net contract sale price of approximately $121.7 million. After adjusting for outstanding lease and other
transaction costs assumed by the buyer, the gross sale price was approximately $135.0 million. Net cash proceeds
totaled approximately $121.5 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $86.4 million. 1301 New York
Avenue is a Class A office property totaling approximately 201,000 net rentable square feet. The operating
results of the property through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical
basis for all periods presented.

On June 28, 2013, we completed the sale of our 303 Almaden Boulevard property located in San Jose,
California for a sale price of $40.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $39.3 million. 303 Almaden
Boulevard is a Class A office property totaling approximately 158,000 net rentable square feet. Because we
entered into the related purchase and sale agreement on March 28, 2013 and the carrying value of the property
exceeded its net sale price, we recognized an impairment loss totaling approximately $3.2 million during the
three months ended March 31, 2013. As a result, there was no loss on sale of real estate recognized during the
year ended December 31, 2013. The impairment loss and operating results of this property have been classified
as discontinued operations on a historical basis for all periods presented.

On February 20, 2013, the foreclosure sale of our Montvale Center property was ratified by the court. As a
result of the ratification, the mortgage loan totaling $25.0 million was extinguished and the related obligations
were satisfied with the transfer of the real estate resulting in the recognition of a gain on forgiveness of debt
totaling approximately $20.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2013. The operating results of the
property through the date of ratification have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical basis for
all periods presented.

On May 17, 2012, we completed the sale of our Bedford Business Park properties located in Bedford,
Massachusetts for approximately $62.8 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $62.0 million,
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resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $36.9 million. Bedford Business Park is comprised of two Office/
Technical buildings and one Class A office building aggregating approximately 470,000 net rentable square feet.
The operating results of the property through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a
historical basis for all periods presented.

Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships

Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships decreased by approximately $2.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012. Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships consisted of the
outside owners’ equity interest in the net income (loss) from our 505 9th Street, Fountain Square, 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) and Time Square Tower properties as of December 31, 2013 and 505
9th Street and Fountain Square as of December 31, 2012.

On October 9, 2013, we completed the sale of a 45% ownership interest in our Times Square Tower
property for a gross sale price of $684.0 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $673.1 million,
after the payment of transaction costs. In connection with the sale, we formed a joint venture with the buyer and
will provide customary property management and leasing services to the joint venture. Times Square Tower is an
approximately 1,246,000 net rentable square foot Class A office tower located in New York City. The transaction
did not qualify as a sale of real estate for financial reporting purposes because we continue to control the joint
venture and will therefore continue to account for the entity on a consolidated basis in our financial statements.
We have accounted for the transaction as an equity transaction and have recognized noncontrolling interest in our
consolidated balance sheets totaling approximately $243.5 million, which is equal to 45% of the carrying value
of the total equity of the property immediately prior to the transaction. The difference between the net cash
proceeds received and the noncontrolling interest recognized, which difference totals approximately
$429.6 million, has not been reflected as a gain on sale of real estate in our consolidated statements of operations
and has instead been reflected as an increase to additional paid-in capital in our consolidated balance sheets. This
building contributed an increase in noncontrolling interests in property partnerships of approximately
$5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

On May 31, 2013, our two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint venture to
third parties. In connection with the transfer we and our new joint venture partners modified our relative decision
making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s assets and operations. These changes
resulted in us having sufficient financial and operating control over 767 Venture, LLC such that we now account
for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in our financial statements
instead of under the equity method of accounting. Our ownership interest in 767 Venture, LLC remained
unchanged at 60%. This building contributed a decrease in noncontrolling interests in property partnerships of
approximately $13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. This decrease was primarily due to the
partners’ share of the interest expense for the outside member’s notes payable.

On October 4, 2012, we completed the formation of a joint venture which owns and operates Fountain Square
located in Reston, Virginia, adjacent to our other Reston properties. Fountain Square is an office and retail
complex aggregating approximately 756,000 net rentable square feet, comprised of approximately 522,000 net
rentable square feet of Class A office space and approximately 234,000 net rentable square feet of retail space.
The joint venture partner contributed the property valued at approximately $385.0 million and related mortgage
indebtedness totaling approximately $211.3 million for a 50% interest in the joint venture. We contributed cash
totaling approximately $87.0 million for our 50% interest, which cash was distributed to the joint venture partner.
We are consolidating this joint venture. The mortgage loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.71% per annum and
matures on October 11, 2016. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement (i) we have rights to acquire the partner’s
50% interest and (ii) the partner has the right to cause us to acquire the partner’s interest on January 4, 2016, in
each case at a fixed price totaling approximately $102.0 million in cash. The fixed price option rights expire on
January 31, 2016. This building contributed an increase in noncontrolling interests in property partnerships of
approximately $6.6 million and $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Noncontrolling Interest—Common Units of the Operating Partnership

Noncontrolling interest—common units of the Operating Partnership increased by approximately $40.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012 due to a increase in allocable income partially
offset by a decrease in the noncontrolling interest’s ownership percentage.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2012 to the year ended December 31, 2011

The table below shows selected operating information for the Same Property Portfolio and the Total
Property Portfolio. The Same Property Portfolio consists of 119 properties totaling approximately 30.9 million
net rentable square feet of space, excluding unconsolidated joint ventures. The Same Property Portfolio includes
properties acquired or placed in-service on or prior to January 1, 2011 and owned and in service through
December 31, 2012. The Total Property Portfolio includes the effects of the other properties either placed in-
service, acquired or in development or redevelopment after January 1, 2011 or disposed of on or prior to
December 31, 2012. This table includes a reconciliation from the Same Property Portfolio to the Total Property
Portfolio by also providing information for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 with respect to the
properties which were placed in-service, acquired or in development or redevelopment.
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Same Property Portfolio

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue from the Same Property Portfolio increased approximately $14.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. The increase was primarily the result of an increase of approximately
$9.3 million in rental revenue from our leases and increases in parking and other income of approximately
$3.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively. The increase in rental revenue from our leases of approximately
$9.3 million was the result of our average revenue increasing by approximately $0.47 per square foot,
contributing approximately $13.3 million, offset by an approximately $4.0 million decrease due to a decline in
average occupancy from 92.5% to 92.2%.

Termination Income

Termination income increased by approximately $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to 2011.

Termination income for the year ended December 31, 2012 related to twenty-three tenants across the Same
Property Portfolio and totaled approximately $7.0 million of which approximately $3.6 million was from the
settlement of a bankruptcy claim against a former tenant that rejected our lease in 2009 and approximately
$0.9 million was a negotiated termination from one of our Reston, Virginia properties in order to accommodate
growth of an existing tenant.

Termination income for the year ended December 31, 2011 related to fourteen tenants across the Same
Property Portfolio and totaled approximately $3.6 million, which included approximately $1.8 million of
termination income related to a default by a 30,000 square foot law firm tenant in one of our New York City
properties.

Real Estate Operating Expenses

Operating expenses from the Same Property Portfolio increased approximately $20.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. This increase was primarily due to (1) an increase of approximately
$13.4 million, or 5.7% in real estate taxes, which primarily occurred in our Boston, New York and Washington,
DC regions, (2) an approximately $3.2 million cumulative non-cash straight-line adjustment for ground rent
expense (refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and (3) an approximately $4.3 million, or
1.4%, increase in other property operating expenses.

We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate our San Francisco and Princeton regional offices
to reflect the growing activity in our San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across our
company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $7.7 million and $7.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses and are now
included in General and Administrative Expenses for all periods presented.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense for the Same Property Portfolio increased approximately

$4.3 million, or 1.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011.

Properties Acquired Portfolio

On February 1, 2011, we completed the acquisition of Bay Colony Corporate Center in Waltham,
Massachusetts for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $185.0 million. Bay Colony Corporate Center is
an approximately 985,000 net rentable square foot, four-building Class A office park situated on a 58-acre site in
Waltham, Massachusetts.
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On November 22, 2011, we acquired 2440 West El Camino Real located in Mountain View, California for a
net purchase price of approximately $71.1 million. 2440 West El Camino Real is an approximately 140,000 net
rentable square foot Class A office property.

On March 1, 2012, we acquired 453 Ravendale Drive located in Mountain View, California for a purchase
price of approximately $6.7 million in cash. 453 Ravendale Drive is an approximately 30,000 net rentable square
foot Office/Technical property.

On March 13, 2012, we acquired 100 Federal Street in Boston, Massachusetts for an aggregate investment
of approximately $615.0 million in cash. In connection with the transaction, we entered into a long-term lease
with an affiliate of Bank of America for approximately 732,000 square feet. 100 Federal Street is an
approximately 1,265,000 net rentable square foot, 37-story Class A office tower.

On October 4, 2012, we completed the formation of a joint venture which owns and operates Fountain
Square located in Reston, Virginia, adjacent to our other Reston properties. Fountain Square is an office and
retail complex aggregating approximately 756,000 net rentable square feet, comprised of approximately 522,000
net rentable square feet of Class A office space and approximately 234,000 net rentable square feet of retail
space. We own 50% of, and are consolidating, the joint venture.

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue from our Properties Acquired Portfolio increased approximately $70.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011, as detailed below:

Rental Revenue for the
year ended December 31,

Property Date Acquired 2012 2011 Change

- (in thousands)
Bay Colony Corporate Center ..................... February 1, 2011 $20,778 $19,047 $ 1,731
2440 West El CaminoReal ....................... November 22, 2011 8,122 816 7,306
453 Ravendale Drive . ........ ... . . . ... .. March 1, 2012 494 — 494
100 Federal Street . . ... March 13, 2012 52,529 — 52,529
Fountain Square ............ .. ... ... .. . . ... October 4, 2012 8,669 — 8,669
Total ....... ... . .. . $90,592 $19,863  $70,729

Real Estate Operating Expenses

Real estate operating expenses from our Properties Acquired Portfolio increased approximately $27.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011, as detailed below:

Real Estate Operating Expenses
for the year ended December 31,

Property Date Acquired 2012 2011 Change
(in thousands)
Bay Colony Corporate Center ..................... February 1, 2011 $12,410 $12,008 $ 402
2440 West El CaminoReal ....................... November 22, 2011 2,453 305 2,148
453 Ravendale Drive . ........... ... ... ... ....... March 1, 2012 149 — 149
100 Federal Street .. ... March 13, 2012 22,141 — 22,141
Fountain Square ............ ... .. .. .. .. .. .. ... October 4, 2012 3,088 — 3,088
Total ....... ... ... . . . . $40,241 $12,313  $27,928
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Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense for our Properties Acquired Portfolio increased by approximately
$30.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011 as a result of the acquisition of properties
after December 31, 2011, as well as the additional depreciation expense incurred for the year ended
December 31, 2012 associated with Bay Colony Corporate Center and 2440 West El Camino Real, which were
acquired on February 1, 2011 and November 22, 2011, respectively, and, as a result, were not recognizing
depreciation expense for the full year ended December 31, 2011.

Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio

At December 31, 2012, we had six properties totaling approximately 2.3 million square feet that were placed
in-service or partially placed in-service between January 1, 2011 and December 31, 2012.

Rental Revenue

Rental revenue from our Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio increased approximately $49.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011, as detailed below:

Rental Revenue for the
year ended December 31,

Quarter Initially Quarter Fully Placed

Property Placed In-Service In-Service 2012 2011 Change
(in thousands)

2200 Pennsylvania Avenue . .. ...... First Quarter, 2011 Third Quarter, 2011 $ 31,052 $17,656 $13,396
Residences on The Avenue . ........ Second Quarter, 2011 Third Quarter, 2011 16,632 5,632 11,000
The Lofts at Atlantic Wharf ........ Third Quarter, 2011  Third Quarter, 2011 3,936 985 2,951
Atlantic Wharf—Office ........... First Quarter, 2011 Fourth Quarter, 2011 49,235 36,775 12,460
510 Madison Avenue ............. Second Quarter, 2011 Second Quarter, 2012 19,577 7,270 12,307
One Patriots Park ................ Second Quarter, 2012 Second Quarter, 2012 5,599 8,065 (2,466)
Total .......................... $126,031 $76,383 $49,648

Termination Income

Included in rental revenue above is approximately $2.6 million of termination income for the year ended
December 31, 2011 related to lease amendments we signed on July 1, 2011 with the existing tenant at our three-
building complex on Sunrise Valley Drive in Reston, Virginia. Under the agreements, the existing tenant terminated
early its leases for approximately 523,000 square feet at the complex and was responsible for certain payments to us
aggregating approximately $15.7 million. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we recognized approximately
$13.1 million of termination income related to these agreements, of which approximately $10.5 million is included
within the Development or Redevelopment Portfolio. One of the three buildings, One Patriots Park, has been
redeveloped and placed back in-service and is now occupied by a new tenant.

Real Estate Operating Expenses

Real estate operating expenses from our Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio increased approximately
$20.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011, as detailed below:

Real Estate Operating Expenses

Quarter Initially Quarter Fully Placed for the year ended December 31,

Property Placed In-Service In-Service 2012 2011 Change
(in thousands)

2200 Pennsylvania Avenue ........ First Quarter, 2011 Third Quarter, 2011 $18,307 $11,326 $ 6,981
Residences on The Avenue ........ Second Quarter, 2011 Third Quarter, 2011 9,317 4,958 4,359
The Lofts at Atlantic Wharf ........ Third Quarter, 2011 Third Quarter, 2011 1,675 521 1,154
Atlantic Wharf—Office ........... First Quarter, 2011 Fourth Quarter, 2011 15,005 10,804 4,201
510 Madison Avenue ............. Second Quarter, 2011 Second Quarter, 2012 6,223 2,995 3,228
One Patriots Park ................ Second Quarter, 2012 Second Quarter, 2012 1,364 957 407
Total .......................... $51,891 $31,561 $20,330
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Real estate operating expenses for 2200 Pennsylvania Avenue and the Residences on The Avenue include
ground rent expense, which includes the non-cash straight-lining of the ground rent expense of approximately
$11.1 million and $5.1 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $6.7 million and
$2.8 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense for our Properties Placed In-Service Portfolio decreased by
approximately $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. Approximately
$17.6 million of the decrease in depreciation expense for One Patriots Park was the result of the acceleration of
depreciation expense during the year ended December 31, 2011 in conjunction with the building being taken out
of service for redevelopment. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of approximately $16.0 million in
depreciation expense at the other buildings that were placed in-service.

Properties in Development or Redevelopment Portfolio

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Properties in Development or Redevelopment Portfolio consisted
primarily of our 250 West 55th Street development project located in New York City and our Two Patriots Park
property located in Reston, Virginia.

On February 6, 2009, we announced that we were suspending construction on our 989,000 square foot office
project at 250 West 55th Street in New York City. During December 2009, we completed the construction of
foundations and steel/deck to grade to facilitate a restart of construction in the future and as a result ceased
interest capitalization on the project. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we recognized approximately
$0.8 million of additional costs associated with the suspension and ongoing maintenance of the development
project. On May 24, 2011, we signed a lease with the law firm of Morrison & Foerster LLP for approximately
184,000 square feet at 250 West 55t Street and resumed construction of the project. As a result of our decision to
resume development, in May 2011 we began interest capitalization and are no longer expensing costs associated
with this project.

On July 1, 2011, we entered into lease amendments with the existing tenant at our three-building complex
on Sunrise Valley Drive in Reston, Virginia, which will be redeveloped as the headquarters for a government
related tenant. Under the agreements, the existing tenant terminated early its leases for approximately 523,000
square feet at the complex and was responsible for certain payments to us aggregating approximately
$15.7 million. We recognized approximately $13.1 million of such termination income during 2011 of which
approximately $2.6 million is included within the Placed In-Service Portfolio. We recognized the remaining
approximately $2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2012. On January 3, 2012, we commenced the
redevelopment of our Two Patriots Park property at the complex, which is expected to be completed during the
second quarter of 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2011, this building had revenue, excluding the
$10.5 million of termination income, of approximately $10.2 million and operating expenses of approximately
$1.7 million. During the year ended December 31, 2012, excluding termination income, this building had de
minimis revenue and operating expenses. In addition, the decrease in depreciation of approximately
$16.7 million is the result of the acceleration of depreciation expense during the year ended December 31, 2011
in conjunction with the redevelopment of this building.

Other Operating Income and Expense Items

Hotel Net Operating Income

Net operating income for the Cambridge Center Marriott hotel property increased by approximately
$1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011 due primarily to improvements in revenue
per available room (“REVPAR”) and occupancy.
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The following reflects our occupancy and rate information for the Cambridge Center Marriott hotel for the
year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Percentage
2012 2011 Change
OCCUPANCY . .ttt et e e e e e e e e e e 788%  782% 0.8%
Average daily rate . ... ... $226.58 $210.45 7.7%
Revenue per available room, REVPAR ....... .. .. .. .. .. .. ... ... $178.66 $164.15 8.8%

Development and Management Services

Development and management services income increased approximately $0.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. The increase was primarily due to an increase in development fee income
of approximately $2.5 million partially offset by a decrease in management fee income of approximately
$1.8 million. The increase in development fees is primarily due to an increase in fees associated with tenant
improvement project management. The decrease in management fees is due to a decrease in leasing fees and
management fees earned from our joint venture and third-party managed properties, as a result of decreases in
leasing activity and third-party properties that we managed.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $3.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2012 compared to 2011. We recognized approximately $4.5 million of expense during the first quarter of 2012 in
connection with the resignation of E. Mitchell Norville, our Chief Operating Officer, on February 29, 2012. This
increase was partially offset by the acceleration of the remaining unrecognized compensation expense totaling
approximately $4.3 million associated with the termination of the 2008 OPP Awards during the first quarter of
2011, which did not recur in 2012. The remaining increase was primarily due to (1) an approximately
$3.0 million increase related to the issuance of the 2012 OPP Awards and non-qualified stock options and (2) an
approximately $1.5 million increase in the value of our deferred compensation plan, partially offset by an
approximately $1.7 million decrease in other general and administrative expenses, which includes a decrease in
compensation expense.

We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate our San Francisco and Princeton regional offices
to reflect the growing activity in our San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across our
company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $7.7 million and $7.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses and are now
included in General and Administrative Expenses for all periods presented.

Wages directly related to the development of rental properties are not included in our operating results.
These costs are capitalized and included in real estate assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized
over the useful lives of the real estate. Capitalized wages for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were
approximately $12.7 million and $11.0 million, respectively. These costs are not included in the general and
administrative expenses discussed above.

Transaction Costs

During the year ended December 31, 2012 we incurred approximately $3.7 million of transaction costs of
which approximately $0.6 million related to the acquisition of 680 Folsom Street in San Francisco, California,
approximately $0.5 million related to the acquisition of Fountain Square in Reston, Virginia, approximately
$0.3 million related to the forming of a joint venture to pursue the acquisition of land in San Francisco,
California to construct the Transbay Tower, approximately $0.6 million related to the acquisition of 100 Federal
Street in Boston, Massachusetts and approximately $1.7 million related to the pursuit of other transactions.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred approximately $2.0 million of transaction pursuit costs.
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Other Income and Expense Items

Income from Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

For the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011, income from unconsolidated joint ventures
decreased by approximately $36.8 million. This decrease was primarily due to the sale of Two Grand Central
Tower during the year ended December 31, 2011, in which we recognized a gain of approximately $46.2 million,
partially offset by an increase of approximately $2.0 million in our share of the net income from 767 Fifth
Avenue (The General Motors Building) and an increase of approximately $7.4 million in our share of net income
from our other unconsolidated joint ventures. The increase at 767 Fifth Avenue (The General Motors Building)
was primarily due to a lease termination agreement with an existing tenant and lower amortization expense of
approximately $6.7 million due to expiring leases. Under that agreement, the tenant terminated early its lease for
approximately 36,000 square feet at the building and is responsible for certain payments aggregating
approximately $28.4 million through May 1, 2014 (of which our share is approximately $17.0 million). As a
result of the termination, we recognized termination income totaling approximately $11.8 million (which is net of
the write-off of the accrued straight-line rent balance) during the year ended December 31, 2012. This increase
was partially offset by a decrease in “above-" and “below-market” lease income of approximately $13.8 million
and accrued straight-line rent of approximately $2.7 million at 767 Fifth Avenue (The General Motors Building).

On October 25, 2011, an unconsolidated joint venture in which we have a 60% interest completed the sale
of Two Grand Central Tower located in New York City for approximately $401.0 million, including the
assumption by the buyer of approximately $176.6 million of mortgage indebtedness. Net cash proceeds totaled
approximately $210.0 million, of which our share was approximately $126.0 million, after the payment of
transaction costs of approximately $14.4 million. Two Grand Central Tower is an approximately 650,000 net
rentable square foot Class A office tower. The unconsolidated joint venture’s carrying value of the net assets of
the property aggregated approximately $427.1 million. As a result, pursuant to the provisions of ASC 360
“Property, Plant and Equipment” (“ASC 3607), the unconsolidated joint venture recognized a non-cash
impairment loss and loss on sale of real estate aggregating approximately $40.5 million during the year ended
December 31, 2011, which is equal to the difference between (1) the sale price less cost to sell and (2) the
carrying value of the net assets of the property. Separately, in 2008 we had recognized an impairment loss on our
investment in the unconsolidated joint venture totaling approximately $74.3 million under the provisions of ASC
323 “Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures” (“ASC 323”). As a result, we recognized a gain on sale of
real estate totaling approximately $46.2 million, which is included within income from unconsolidated joint
ventures on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income increased approximately $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to 201 1. Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011 increased
approximately $1.3 million due primarily to the approximately $0.9 million of interest income that we
recognized related to the loans that we made to our Value-Added Fund and an increase in the average cash
balance that was partially offset by overall lower interest rates. The loans to the Value-Added Fund have been
reflected in Related Party Note Receivable on our Consolidated Financial Statements. The average daily cash
balances for the year ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were approximately $1.2 billion and
$1.1 billion, respectively.

Other income for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011 increased by approximately
$3.4 million of which (1) approximately $2.9 million related to the sale of historic tax credits at our Lofts at
Atlantic Wharf, (2) approximately $1.1 million was related to an insurance claim that we received during 2012
and (3) approximately $0.2 million related to a sales deposit we retained due to a prospective buyer of 164
Lexington Road canceling the contract, partially offset by the approximately $0.8 million recognized during 2011
related to 280 Park Avenue (as detailed below). On October 20, 2010, we closed a transaction with a financial
institution (the “HTC Investor”) related to the historic rehabilitation of the residential component of our Atlantic
Wharf
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development in Boston, Massachusetts (the “residential project”). The HTC Investor has contributed an
aggregate of approximately $15 million to the project. As part of its contribution, the HTC Investor will receive
substantially all of the benefits derived from the tax credits. Beginning in July 2012 to July 2016, we recognized
and will recognize the cash received as revenue over the five-year tax credit recapture period as defined in the
Internal Revenue Code. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized approximately $2.9 million of
the $15 million that the HTC Investor had contributed to us.

On June 6, 2006, we sold 280 Park Avenue in New York City. In connection with the sale, in lieu of a
closing adjustment in favor of the buyer for certain unfunded tenant improvements, we retained the obligation to
pay for the improvements, subject to the tenant initiating the request for reimbursement. The total amount of
unfunded tenant improvements at closing was approximately $1.0 million and has yet to be requested by the
tenants. During the year ended December 31, 2011, a tenant’s lease expired for which we had unfunded tenant
improvement liabilities of approximately $0.8 million, resulting in the recognition of other income in that
amount.

Gains (Losses) from Investments in Securities

Gains (losses) from investments in securities for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 related to
investments that we have made to reduce our market risk relating to a deferred compensation plan that we
maintain for our officers. Under this deferred compensation plan, each officer who is eligible to participate is
permitted to defer a portion of the officer’s current income on a pre-tax basis and receive a tax-deferred return on
these deferrals based on the performance of specific investments selected by the officer. In order to reduce our
market risk relating to this plan, we typically acquire, in a separate account that is not restricted as to its use,
similar or identical investments as those selected by each officer. This enables us to generally match our
liabilities to our officers under the deferred compensation plan with equivalent assets and thereby limit our
market risk. The performance of these investments is recorded as gains (losses) from investments in securities.
During the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we recognized gains (losses) of approximately $1.4 million
and $(0.4) million, respectively, on these investments. By comparison, our general and administrative expense
increased (decreased) by approximately $1.3 million and $(0.3) million during the year ended December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively, as a result of increases (decreases) in our liability under our deferred compensation
plan that were associated with the performance of the specific investments selected by our officers participating
in the plan.

Losses from Early Extinguishments of Debt

Losses from early extinguishments of debt increased by approximately $3.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. This increase is related to the following transactions that occurred during
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

On September 4, 2012, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our Sumner
Square property located in Washington, DC totaling approximately $23.2 million. The mortgage financing bore
interest at a fixed rate of 7.35% per annum and was scheduled to mature on September 1, 2013. We recognized a
loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.3 million, which included a prepayment penalty
totaling approximately $0.2 million associated with the early repayment.

On August 24, 2012, our Operating Partnership used available cash to redeem the remaining $225.0 million
in aggregate principal amount of its 6.25% senior notes due 2013. The redemption price was determined in
accordance with the applicable indenture and totaled approximately $231.6 million. The redemption price
included approximately $1.5 million of accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the redemption date.
Excluding such accrued and unpaid interest, the redemption price was approximately 102.25% of the principal
amount being redeemed. We recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately
$5.2 million, which amount included the payment of the redemption premium totaling approximately
$5.1 million.
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On April 2, 2012, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our One Freedom
Square property located in Reston, Virginia totaling $65.1 million. The mortgage financing bore interest at a
fixed rate of 7.75% per annum and was scheduled to mature on June 30, 2012. There was no prepayment penalty.
We recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.3 million related to the
acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the result of
purchase accounting.

On March 12, 2012, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our Bay Colony
Corporate Center property located in Waltham, Massachusetts totaling $143.9 million. The mortgage financing
bore interest at a fixed rate of 6.53% per annum and was scheduled to mature on June 11, 2012. There was no
prepayment penalty. We recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.9 million
related to the acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the
result of purchase accounting.

In connection with the repurchase and redemption in February 2012 of our Operating Partnership’s 2.875%
Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2037, we recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt of approximately
$0.1 million related to the expensing of transaction related costs.

On November 9, 2011, our Operating Partnership repurchased $50.0 million aggregate principal amount of
its 2.875% exchangeable senior notes due 2037 for approximately $50.2 million. The repurchased notes had an
aggregate carrying value of approximately $49.6 million at the time of repurchase resulting in the recognition of
a loss on early extinguishment of debt of approximately $0.6 million.

On November 9, 2011, we used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by our Reservoir
Place property located in Waltham, Massachusetts totaling $50.0 million. The mortgage financing bore interest at
a variable rate equal to Eurodollar plus 2.20% per annum and was scheduled to mature on July 30, 2014. There
was no prepayment penalty. We recognized a loss from early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.5
million consisting of the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs.

On November 16, 2011, we terminated the construction loan facility collateralized by our Atlantic Wharf
property, located in Boston, Massachusetts, totaling $192.5 million. The construction loan facility bore interest at
a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 3.00% per annum and was scheduled to mature on April 21, 2012 with two,
one-year extension options, subject to certain conditions. We did not draw any amounts under the facility. We
recognized a loss from early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.4 million consisting of the write-
off of unamortized deferred financing costs.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense for the Total Property Portfolio increased approximately $19.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to 2011 as detailed below:

Change in interest
expense for the
year ended
December 31, 2012
compared to
Component December 31, 2011

(in thousands)
Increases to interest expense due to:
Issuance by our Operating Partnership of $850 million in aggregate principal of

3.700% senior notes due 2018 on November 10,2011 .............. ... ..... $ 27,213
New mortgages/properties placed in-service/acquisition financings ............. 23,490
Issuance by our Operating Partnership of $1.0 billion in aggregate principal of

3.850% senior notes due 2023 onJune 11,2012 ... ... ... ... .. . .. ... 21,501
Decrease in capitalized interest due to properties being placed in-service . ........ 3,890
Other interest expense (excluding senior notes) partially offset by principal

amortization of continuing debt . ........ ... . . L 853
Total increases to INErest EXPENSE . . v v vttt vttt ettt ee e $ 76,947
Decreases to interest expense due to:

Repayment of mortgage financings . .. ...t $(22,468)
Repurchases/redemption of $576.2 million in aggregate principal of 2.875%

exchangeable senior notes due 2037 . ... ... (17,912)
Interest expense associated with the accretion of the adjustment for the equity

component allocation of our unsecured exchangeabledebt .................. (9,734)
Redemption of $225.0 million in aggregate principal of 6.25% unsecured senior

notes due 2013 . .. ... (6,136)
Interest on our Operating Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit .. ............. (1,260)
Total decreases to INtEreSt EXPENSE . . . v v v vttt vt ettt e $(57,510)
Total change in interest expense .............. .. .. .. ... .. ... ... $ 19,437

The following properties are included in the new mortgages/properties placed in-service/acquisition financings
line item: 601 Lexington Avenue and Fountain Square. The following properties are included in the repayment of
mortgage financings line item: 601 Lexington Avenue, Reservoir Place, Atlantic Wharf, 510 Madison Avenue, Bay
Colony Corporate Center, One Freedom Square and Sumner Square. Included within the interest on our Operating
Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit line item is the interest expense associated with our borrowing that had been
secured by 601 Lexington Avenue. As properties are placed in-service, we cease capitalizing interest and interest is
then expensed.

Interest expense directly related to the development of rental properties is not included in our operating
results. These costs are capitalized and included in real estate assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and
amortized over the useful lives of the real estate. Interest capitalized for the year ended December 31, 2012 and
2011 was approximately $44.3 million and $48.2 million, respectively. These costs are not included in the
interest expense referenced above.

At December 31, 2012, our variable rate debt consisted of our Operating Partnership’s $750.0 million
Unsecured Line of Credit, of which no amount was outstanding at December 31, 2012.
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Discontinued Operations

On May 17, 2012, we completed the sale of our Bedford Business Park properties located in Bedford,
Massachusetts for approximately $62.8 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $62.0 million,
resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $36.9 million. Bedford Business Park is comprised of two Office/
Technical buildings and one Class A office building aggregating approximately 470,000 net rentable square feet.
The operating results of the property through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a
historical basis for all periods presented. Refer to Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
details regarding the sale and operating results.

Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships

Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships increased by approximately $2.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 compared to 2011. Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships consisted of the outside
owners’ equity interest in the income from our 505 9t Street and Fountain Square properties as of December 31,
2012 and only 505 9t Street as of December 31, 2011.

On October 4, 2012, we completed the formation of a joint venture which owns and operates Fountain
Square located in Reston, Virginia, adjacent to our other Reston properties. Fountain Square is an office and
retail complex aggregating approximately 756,000 net rentable square feet, comprised of approximately 522,000
net rentable square feet of Class A office space and approximately 234,000 net rentable square feet of retail
space. The joint venture partner contributed the property valued at approximately $385.0 million and related
mortgage indebtedness totaling approximately $211.3 million for a 50% interest in the joint venture. We
contributed cash totaling approximately $87.0 million for our 50% interest, which cash was distributed to the
joint venture partner. We are consolidating this joint venture. The mortgage loan bears interest at a fixed rate of
5.71% per annum and matures on October 11, 2016. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement (i) we have rights to
acquire the partner’s 50% interest and (ii) the partner has the right to cause us to acquire the partner’s interest on
January 4, 2016, in each case at a fixed price totaling approximately $102.0 million in cash. The fixed price
option rights expire on January 31, 2016.

Noncontrolling Interest—Common Units of the Operating Partnership

Noncontrolling interest-common units of the Operating Partnership decreased by approximately $5.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to 2011 due to a decrease in allocable income and a decrease in the
noncontrolling interest’s ownership percentage.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Our principal liquidity needs for the next twelve months and beyond are to:

e fund normal recurring expenses;

* meet debt service and principal repayment obligations, including balloon payments on maturing debt;
e fund capital expenditures, including major renovations, tenant improvements and leasing costs;

e fund development costs;

* fund possible property acquisitions; and

e make the minimum distribution required to maintain our REIT qualification under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended.
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We expect to satisfy these needs using one or more of the following:
e cash flow from operations;

e distribution of cash flows from joint ventures;

e cash and cash equivalent balances;

e issuances of our equity securities and/or additional preferred or common units of partnership interest in
our Operating Partnership;

e our Operating Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit or other short-term bridge facilities;
e construction loans;
e long-term secured and unsecured indebtedness (including unsecured exchangeable indebtedness); and

e sales of real estate.

We draw on multiple financing sources to fund our long-term capital needs. Our Operating Partnership’s
Unsecured Line of Credit is utilized primarily as a bridge facility to fund acquisition opportunities, refinance
outstanding indebtedness and meet short-term development and working capital needs. Although we generally
seek to fund our development projects with construction loans, which may be guaranteed by our Operating
Partnership, the financing for each particular project ultimately depends on several factors, including, among
others, the project’s size and duration, the extent of pre-leasing and our available cash and access to cost effective
capital at the given time.

The following table presents information on properties under construction as of December 31, 2013 (dollars
in thousands):

Estimated
Stabilization # of Square Investment Estimated Total Percentage
Construction Properties Date Location Buildings  feet to Date(1) Investment(l) Leased(2)

Office
Annapolis Junction Building

Seven (50% ownership) (3) ... First Quarter, 2015  Annapolis, MD 1 125,000 $ 11,580 $ 17,500 100%
680 Folsom Street (4) .......... Third Quarter, 2015 San Francisco, CA 2 524,509 279,923 340,000 96%
250 West 55t Street(5) ......... Fourth Quarter, 2015 New York, NY 1 989,000 840,317 1,050,000 61%
804 Carnegie Center ........... First Quarter, 2016  Princeton, NJ 1 130,000 1,970 40,410 100%
535 Mission Street . ........... Third Quarter, 2016 San Francisco, CA 1 307,000 113,275 215,000 —%
601 Massachusetts Avenue . . . ... Fourth Quarter, 2017 Washington, DC 1 478,000 155,310 360,760 79%
Transbay Tower (95%

ownership) (6) .............. N/A San Francisco, CA 1 N/A 244,082 340,000 N/A
Total Office Properties under

Construction ............... 8 2,553,509 $1,646,457  $2,363,670 68%
Residential
The Avant at Reston Town Center

B59units) (7) oo Fourth Quarter, 2015 Reston, VA 1 355,327 $ 109,194  $ 137,250 21%
Total Properties under

Construction ............... 2,908,836 $1,755,651 $2,500,920 63%

o

(1) Represents our share. Includes net revenue during lease up period, acquisition expenses and approximately $53.9 million of construction
cost and leasing commission accruals.

(2) Represents percentage leased as of February 21, 2014, includes leases with future commencement dates.

(3) This development project has a construction loan.

(4) As of February 21, 2014, this property was 1% placed in-service.

(5) Investment to Date excludes approximately $24.8 million of costs that were expensed in prior periods in connection with the suspension
of development activities. Estimated Total Investment includes approximately $230 million of interest capitalization. As of February 21,
2014, this property was 6% placed in-service.

(6) On March 26, 2013, the joint venture completed the acquisition of a land parcel in San Francisco which will support a 60-story,

1.4 million square foot office tower known as Transbay Tower. The Estimated Total Investment represents only the cost to build to
grade.

(7) The square footage amount includes approximately 26,000 square feet of retail space that is 100% leased. As of February 21, 2014, this
property was fully placed in-service.
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Contractual rental revenue, recoveries from tenants, other income from operations, available cash balances and
draws on our Operating Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit are our principal sources of capital used to pay
operating expenses, debt service, recurring capital expenditures and the minimum distribution required to enable us
to maintain our REIT qualification. We seek to maximize income from our existing properties by maintaining
quality standards for our properties that promote high occupancy rates and permit increases in rental rates while
reducing tenant turnover and controlling operating expenses. Our sources of revenue also include third-party fees
generated by our property management, leasing, and development and construction businesses, as well as the sale of
assets from time to time. We believe our revenue, together with our cash balances and proceeds from financing
activities, will continue to provide the necessary funds for our short-term liquidity needs.

Material adverse changes in one or more sources of capital may adversely affect our net cash flows. Such
changes, in turn, could adversely affect our ability to fund dividends and distributions, debt service payments and
tenant improvements. In addition, a material adverse change in the cash provided by our operations may affect
our ability to comply with the financial covenants under our Operating Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit
and unsecured senior notes.

Since January 1, 2013, we raised net proceeds of approximately $1.4 billion in the capital markets.
Specifically, we issued $200 million of 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, and our Operating
Partnership issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 3.125% senior unsecured notes due 2023 and $700
million aggregate principal amount of 3.800% senior unsecured notes due 2024. In addition, we repaid
approximately $65 million of secured debt, and we redeemed/repurchased our Operating Partnership’s $450 million
3.75% exchangeable senior notes due 2036 and repaid $747.5 million of our Operating Partnership’s 3.625%
exchangeable senior notes due February 2014 and our Operating Partnership redeemed 861,400 Series Four
Preferred Units at a redemption price of $50.00 per unit plus accrued and unpaid distributions. In addition, we
refinanced the loans secured by 540 Madison Avenue and 500 North Capitol Street, which aggregate approximately
$225 million (of which our share is approximately $104 million), obtained $22 million of construction financing for
our Annapolis Junction Building Seven development project and exercised an option to extend the maturity date on
an approximately $14 million loan for our Annapolis Junction Building Six property (of which our share is
approximately $7 million). On July 26, 2013, our Operating Partnership amended and restated the revolving credit
agreement governing its Unsecured Line of Credit, which, among other things, (1) increased the total commitment
from $750.0 million to $1.0 billion, (2) extended the maturity date from June 24, 2014 to July 26, 2018 and
(3) reduced per annum variable rates and other fees.

The completion of our ongoing developments, through 2017, has remaining costs to fund of approximately
$0.7 billion. We have approximately $77 million of secured debt (of which our share is approximately
$70 million) expiring through the end of 2014. We believe that our strong liquidity, including available cash as of
February 21, 2014 of approximately $0.9 billion, the approximately $989.4 million available under our Operating
Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit and proceeds from potential asset sales provide sufficient capacity to
meet our debt obligations and fund our remaining capital requirements on existing development projects, our
foreseeable potential development activity and pursue additional attractive investment opportunities. Given the
relatively low interest rates currently available to us in the debt markets, we may seek to enhance our liquidity in
the future, which may result in us carrying additional cash and cash equivalents pending our Operating
Partnership’s use of the proceeds. In order to reduce future cash interest payments, as well as future amounts due
at maturity or upon redemption, we may, from time to time, purchase unsecured senior notes and unsecured
exchangeable senior notes for cash in open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions, or both. We
will evaluate any such potential transactions in light of then-existing market conditions, taking into account the
trading prices of the notes, our current liquidity and prospects for future access to capital.

REIT Tax Distribution Considerations
Dividend
As a REIT we are subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a

requirement that we currently distribute at least 90% of our annual taxable income. Our policy is to distribute at
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least 100% of our taxable income to avoid paying federal tax. On December 2, 2013, we announced that our
Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $2.25 per common share payable on January 29, 2014 to
shareholders of record as of the close of business on December 31, 2013. The decision to declare a special
dividend was primarily a result of the sale of a 45% interest in our Times Square Tower property in October
2013. The Board of Directors did not make any change in our policy with respect to regular quarterly dividends.
Holders of common units of limited partnership interest in Boston Properties Limited Partnership, our Operating
Partnership, as of the close of business on December 31, 2013 received the same distribution on January 29,
2014. On November 8, 2012, our Board of Directors increased our quarterly dividend from $0.55 per common
share to $0.65 per common share. Our Board of Directors will continue to evaluate our dividend rate in light of
our actual and projected taxable income, liquidity requirements and other circumstances, and there can be no
assurance that the future dividends declared by our Board of Directors will not differ materially.

Sales

To the extent that we sell assets at a gain and cannot efficiently use the proceeds in a tax deferred manner
for either our development activities or attractive acquisitions, we would, at the appropriate time, decide whether
it is better to declare a special dividend, adopt a stock repurchase program, reduce our indebtedness or retain the
cash for future investment opportunities. Such a decision will depend on many factors including, among others,
the timing, availability and terms of development and acquisition opportunities, our then-current and anticipated
leverage, the cost and availability of capital from other sources, the price of our common stock and REIT
distribution requirements. At a minimum, we expect that we would distribute at least that amount of proceeds
necessary for us to avoid paying corporate level tax on the applicable gains realized from any asset sales.

Cash Flow Summary

The following summary discussion of our cash flows is based on the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows and is not meant to be an all-inclusive discussion of the changes in our cash flows for the periods
presented below.

Cash and cash equivalents were approximately $2.4 billion and $1.0 billion at December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, representing an increase of approximately $1.4 billion. The following table sets forth changes in
cash flows:

Year ended December 31,

Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease)
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities ........................ $ 777926 $ 642,949 $ 134,977
Net cash used in investing activities .............. ... ... .v.... (532,640) (1,278,032) 745,392
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . ................ 1,077,873 (146,147) 1,224,020

Our principal source of cash flow is related to the operation of our office properties. The average term of our
in-place tenant leases, including our unconsolidated joint ventures, is approximately 6.6 years with occupancy
rates historically in the range of 91% to 94%. Our properties generate a relatively consistent stream of cash flow
that provides us with resources to pay operating expenses, debt service and fund quarterly dividend and
distribution payment requirements. In addition, over the past several years, we have raised capital through the
sale of some of our properties, secured and unsecured borrowings and equity offerings.

Cash is used in investing activities to fund acquisitions, development, net investments in unconsolidated
joint ventures and recurring and nonrecurring capital expenditures. We selectively invest in new projects that
enable us to take advantage of our development, leasing, financing and property management skills and invest in
existing buildings to enhance or maintain their market position. Cash used in investing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted primarily of funding our development projects and the acquisitions
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of 453 Ravendale Drive, 100 Federal Street, Fountain Square, 680 Folsom Street, 535 Mission Street and the
Mountain View Research and Technology Parks and the Transbay Tower and Reston, Virginia land parcels,
offset by cash from the disposition of 10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road, One Preserve Parkway, 1301 New York
Avenue, 303 Almaden Boulevard and Bedford Business Park, as detailed below:

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012
(in thousands)

Acquisitions of real estate . ................ ..., $(522,900) $ (788,052)
Construction in ProgressS . .. ...ven e et e enenenen... (396,835) (356,397)
Building and other capital improvements .................. (73,821) (49,943)
Tenant improvements . ................cueueunenenan... (105,425) (139,662)
Proceeds from sales of real estate . ....................... 250,078 61,963
Cash recorded upon consolidation . ....................... 79,468 —
Issuance of notes receivable,net ......................... 12,491 (2,049)
Capital contributions to unconsolidated joint ventures . . ...... — (6,214)
Capital distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures . .. ... 225,862 3,557
Investments in securities, net . .. ....................... (1,558) (1,235)
Net cash used in investing activities ...................... $(532,640) $(1,278,032)

Cash used in investing activities changed primarily due to the following:

On March 1, 2012, we acquired 453 Ravendale Drive located in Mountain View, California for a
purchase price of approximately $6.7 million in cash.

On March 13, 2012, we acquired 100 Federal Street in Boston, Massachusetts for an aggregate
investment of approximately $615.0 million in cash.

On August 29, 2012, we acquired the development project located at 680 Folsom Street in San
Francisco, California. The consideration paid by us to the seller consisted of approximately
$62.2 million in cash.

On October 4, 2012, we completed the formation of a consolidated joint venture which owns and
operates Fountain Square located in Reston, Virginia for an aggregate cash investment from us of
approximately $100.0 million.

On February 6, 2013, we completed the acquisition of 535 Mission Street, a development site, in San
Francisco, California for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $71.0 million in cash, including
work completed and materials purchased to date.

On March 26, 2013, the consolidated joint venture in which we have a 95% interest completed the
acquisition of a land parcel in San Francisco, California which will support a 60-story, 1.4 million
square foot office tower known as Transbay Tower. The purchase price for the land was approximately
$192.0 million.

On March 29, 2013, we completed the acquisition of a parcel of land located in Reston, Virginia for a
purchase price of approximately $27.0 million. The land parcel is commercially zoned for 250,000
square feet of office space.

On April 10, 2013, we acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology
Park properties from our Value-Added Fund for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately
$233.1 million. Mountain View Research Park is a 16-building complex of Office/Technical properties
aggregating approximately 604,000 net rentable square feet. Mountain View Technology Park is a
seven-building complex of Office/Technical properties aggregating approximately 135,000 net rentable
square feet.
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e Construction in progress for the year ended December 31, 2012 includes expenditures associated with
our 510 Madison Avenue and One Patriots Park developments, which were fully placed in-service
during the year ended December 31, 2012. In addition, we incurred costs associated with the continued
development and redevelopment of Two Patriots Park, Seventeen Cambridge Center, The Avant at
Reston Town Center, the Cambridge Center Connector, 250 West 55t Street and 680 Folsom Street.
Construction in progress for the year ended December 31, 2013 includes ongoing expenditures
associated with our Two Patriots Park and Seventeen Cambridge Center properties and the Cambridge
Center Connector, which were fully placed in-service during the year ended December 31, 2013. In
addition, we incurred costs associated with our continued development of The Avant at Reston Town
Center, 250 West 55th Street, 680 Folsom Street, 535 Mission Street, 601 Massachusetts Avenue,

804 Carnegie Center and Transbay Tower.

e Our capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately
$73.6 million and $47.0 million, respectively. Included in our 2013 amount is approximately
$15.8 million of non-recurring capital expenditures related to our repositioning of Bay Colony
Corporate Center in Waltham, Massachusetts.

e Tenant improvement costs decreased by approximately $34.2 million due to the completion of large
tenant projects in 2012.

*  On May 17, 2012, we completed the sale of our Bedford Business Park properties located in Bedford,
Massachusetts for approximately $62.8 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately
$62.0 million.

*  OnJune 28, 2013, we completed the sale of our 303 Almaden Boulevard property located in San Jose,
California for a sale price of $40.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $39.3 million.

e On August 22, 2013, we completed the sale of our 1301 New York Avenue property located in
Washington, DC for a net contract sale price of approximately $121.7 million. After adjusting for
outstanding lease and other transaction costs assumed by the buyer, the gross sale price was
approximately $135.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $121.5 million.

e On December 20, 2013, we completed the sale of our 10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road property located in
Burlington, Massachusetts for a sale price of approximately $30.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled
approximately $29.4 million.

e On December 20, 2013, we completed the sale of our One Preserve Parkway property located in
Rockville, Maryland for a sale price of approximately $61.3 million. Net cash proceeds totaled
approximately $59.9 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $5.9 million.

e We recorded approximately $79.5 million of cash upon consolidating the joint venture that owns 767
Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) (See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

e Capital distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures increased by approximately $222.3 million due
to the sale of the Eighth Avenue and 46th Street project and 125 West 55th Street in New York City and
the Value-Added Fund selling Mountain View Research and Technology Parks.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 totaled approximately
$1.1 billion. This consisted primarily of us selling a 45% ownership interest in our Time Square Tower building
in New York City, us issuing $200 million of 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, the
issuance by our Operating Partnership of $500 million aggregate principal amount of 3.125% senior unsecured
notes due 2023 and the issuance by our Operating Partnership of $700 million aggregate principal amount of
3.800% senior unsecured notes due 2024, partially offset by the redemption of our Operating Partnership’s
$450 million 3.75% exchangeable senior notes due 2036, which were redeemable in May 2013, the redemption
of Series Four Preferred Units, the payments of dividends and distributions to our shareholders and the
unitholders of our Operating Partnership and the repayment of mortgage notes payable. Future debt payments are
discussed below under the heading “Capitalization—Debt Financing.”
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Capitalization

At December 31, 2013, our total consolidated debt was approximately $11.3 billion. The GAAP weighted-
average annual interest rate on our consolidated indebtedness was 4.60% (with a coupon/stated rate of 4.93%)
and the weighted-average maturity was approximately 5.4 years.

Consolidated debt to total consolidated market capitalization ratio, defined as total consolidated debt as a
percentage of the value of our outstanding equity securities plus our total consolidated debt, is a measure of
leverage commonly used by analysts in the REIT sector. Our total consolidated market capitalization was
approximately $28.7 billion at December 31, 2013. Our total consolidated market capitalization was calculated
using the December 31, 2013 closing stock price of $100.37 per common share and the following:

(1) 152,983,101 shares of our common stock, (2) 15,583,370 outstanding common units of partnership interest in
our Operating Partnership (excluding common units held by us), (3) an aggregate of 874,168 common units
issuable upon conversion of all outstanding Series Two Preferred Units of partnership interest in our Operating
Partnership, (4) an aggregate of 1,455,761 common units issuable upon conversion of all outstanding LTIP Units,
assuming all conditions have been met for the conversion of the LTIP Units, (5) 360,126 Series Four Preferred
Units of partnership interest in our Operating Partnership multiplied by the fixed liquidation preference of

$50 per unit, (6) 80,000 shares (8,000,000 depositary shares, each representing 1/100th of a share), of our 5.25%
Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, at a price of $2,500 per share ($25 per depositary share) and
(7) our consolidated debt totaling approximately $11.3 billion. Our total consolidated debt, which excludes debt
collateralized by our unconsolidated joint ventures, at December 31, 2013, represented approximately 39.50% of
our total consolidated market capitalization.

Following the consolidation of 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767 Fifth Avenue (the General
Motors Building)), effective June 1, 2013, our consolidated debt increased significantly compared to prior
periods even though our economic interest in 767 Venture, LLC remained substantially unchanged. As a result,
we believe the presentation of total adjusted debt may provide investors with a more complete picture of our
share of consolidated and unconsolidated debt. Total adjusted debt is defined as our total consolidated debt, plus
our share of unconsolidated joint venture debt, minus our joint venture partners’ share of consolidated debt, and
was approximately $10.8 billion at December 31, 2013. In addition, in light of the difference between our total
consolidated debt and our total adjusted debt, we believe that also presenting our total adjusted debt to total
adjusted market capitalization ratio may provide investors with a more complete picture of our leverage in
relation to the overall size of our company. The calculation of the total adjusted debt to total adjusted market
capitalization ratio is the same as consolidated debt to total consolidated market capitalization ratio except that
the total adjusted debt balance is used in lieu of the total consolidated debt balance. Our total adjusted debt at
December 31, 2013, represented approximately 38.31% of our total adjusted market capitalization.

The calculation of total consolidated and adjusted market capitalization does not include 396,500 2011 OPP
Units, 396,150 2012 OPP Units and 316,325 2013 MYLTIP Units because, unlike other LTIP Units, they are not
earned until certain return thresholds are achieved. These percentages will fluctuate with changes in the market
value of our common stock and does not necessarily reflect our capacity to incur additional debt to finance our
activities or our ability to manage our existing debt obligations. However, for a company like ours, whose assets
are primarily income-producing real estate, the consolidated debt to total consolidated market capitalization ratio
and the adjusted debt to total adjusted market capitalization ratio may provide investors with an alternate
indication of leverage, so long as it is evaluated along with other financial ratios and the various components of
our outstanding indebtedness.

For a discussion of our unconsolidated joint venture indebtedness, see “Liquidity and Capital Resources—

Capitalization—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Joint Venture Indebtedness” within “Item 7—Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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Debt Financing

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $11.3 billion of outstanding consolidated indebtedness,
representing approximately 39.50% of our total consolidated market capitalization as calculated above consisting
of approximately (1) $5.836 billion (net of discount) in publicly traded unsecured senior notes (excluding
exchangeable senior notes) having a weighted-average interest rate of 4.44% per annum and maturities in 2015,
2018, 2019, 2020, 2021, 2023 and 2024; (2) $744.9 million (net of discount and the adjustment for the equity
component allocation) of exchangeable senior notes having a GAAP interest rate of 6.555% per annum (an
effective rate of 4.037%, excluding the effect of the adjustment for the equity component allocation) and
maturing in 2014; (3) $4.4 billion of property-specific mortgage debt having a GAAP weighted-average interest
rate of 4.31% per annum and weighted-average term of 4.2 years and (4) $0.3 million of mezzanine notes
payable associated with 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), having a GAAP interest rate of
5.53% per annum and maturing in 2017. The table below summarizes our mortgage and mezzanine notes
payable, our unsecured senior notes and our Unsecured Line of Credit at December 31, 2013 and December 31,
2012:

2013 2012
(Dollars in thousands)

Debt Summary:

Balance
Fixed rate mortgage notes payable ........... ... ... .. .. $ 4,449,734 $3,102,485
Variable rate mortgage notes payable . ........... ... . ... — —
Unsecured senior notes, net of discount . .........................c..... 5,835,854 4,639,528
Unsecured exchangeable senior notes, net of discount and adjustment for the
equity component allocation . ............ .. .. ... . . i 744,880 1,170,356
Unsecured Line of Credit .......... ... i — —
Mezzanine notes payable . .......... .. 311,040 —
Total .. $11,341,508 $8,912,369
Percent of total debt:
FIxedrate . ... ..o 100.00% 100.00%
Variable rate .. ... — % — %
Total ... 100.00% 100.00%
GAAP Weighted-average interest rate at end of period:
Fixedrate ... ... 4.60% 5.13%
Variablerate . ...... ... .. — % — %
Total . 4.60% 5.13%
Coupon/Stated Weighted-average interest rate at end of period:
FIxedrate . ... ..o 4.93% 4.89%
Variable rate .. ... — % — %
Total ... 4.93% 4.89%

Unsecured Line of Credit

On July 26, 2013, our Operating Partnership amended and restated the revolving credit agreement governing
its Unsecured Line of Credit, which, among other things, (1) increased the total commitment from $750.0 million to
$1.0 billion, (2) extended the maturity date from June 24, 2014 to July 26, 2018 and (3) reduced the per annum
variable interest rates and other fees. Our Operating Partnership may increase the total commitment to $1.5 billion,
subject to syndication of the increase and other conditions. At our Operating Partnership’s option, loans outstanding
under the Unsecured Line of Credit will bear interest at a rate per annum equal to (1), in the case of loans
denominated in Dollars, Euro or Sterling, LIBOR or, in the case of loans denominated in Canadian Dollars,
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CDOR, in each case, plus a margin ranging from 0.925% to 1.70% based on our Operating Partnership’s credit
rating or (2) an alternate base rate equal to the greatest of (a) the Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (b) the
Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% or (c) LIBOR for a one month period plus 1.00%, in each case, plus a margin
ranging from 0.0% to 0.70% based on our Operating Partnership’s credit rating. The Unsecured Line of Credit
also contains a competitive bid option that allows banks that are part of the lender consortium to bid to make loan
advances to our Operating Partnership at a reduced interest rate. In addition, our Operating Partnership is also
obligated to pay (1) in quarterly installments a facility fee on the total commitment at a rate per annum ranging
from 0.125% to 0.35% based on our Operating Partnership’s credit rating and (2) an annual fee on the undrawn
amount of each letter of credit equal to the LIBOR margin. Based on our Operating Partnership’s current credit
rating, the LIBOR and CDOR margin is 1.00%, the alternate base rate margin is 0.0% and the facility fee is
0.15%. Our ability to borrow under our Operating Partnership’s Unsecured Line of Credit is subject to our
compliance with a number of customary financial and other covenants on an ongoing basis, including:

e aleverage ratio not to exceed 60%, however the leverage ratio may increase to no greater than 65%

provided that it is reduced back to 60% within one year;
e asecured debt leverage ratio not to exceed 55%;

e afixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.40;

e an unsecured leverage ratio not to exceed 60%, however the leverage ratio may increase to no greater
than 65% provided that it is reduced back to 60% within one year;

e anunsecured debt interest coverage ratio of at least 1.75; and

e limitations on permitted investments.

We believe we are in compliance with the financial and other covenants listed above.

As of December 31, 2013, we had no borrowings and outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately
$10.6 million outstanding under the Unsecured Line of Credit, with the ability to borrow approximately $989.4
million. As of February 21, 2014, we had no borrowings and outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately
$10.6 million outstanding under the Unsecured Line of Credit, with the ability to borrow approximately

$989.4 million.

Unsecured Senior Notes

The following summarizes the unsecured senior notes outstanding as of December 31, 2013 (dollars in

thousands):
Coupon/ Effective Principal

Stated Rate  Rate(1) Amount Maturity Date(2)
12 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.625% 5.693% $ 300,000 April 15, 2015
12 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.000%  5.194% 250,000 June 1, 2015
10 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.875%  5.967% 700,000 October 15, 2019
10 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.625% 5.708% 700,000 November 15, 2020
10 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 4.125%  4.289% 850,000 May 15, 2021
7 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................. 3.700%  3.853% 850,000 November 15, 2018
11 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 3.850%  3.954% 1,000,000 February 1, 2023
10.5 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ............... 3.125%  3.279% 500,000  September 1, 2023
10.5 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ............... 3.800% 3.916% 700,000 February 1, 2024
Total principal ......... .. .. .. . .. .. 5,850,000
Net unamortized discount . ...................... (14,146)
Total ... .. $5,835,854

(1) Yield on issuance date including the effects of discounts on the notes and the amortization of financing costs.

(2) No principal amounts are due prior to maturity.
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Our unsecured senior notes are redeemable at our option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to
the greater of (1) 100% of their principal amount or (2) the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled
payments of principal and interest discounted at a rate equal to the yield on U.S. Treasury securities with a
comparable maturity plus 35 basis points (or 20 basis points in the case of the $500 million of notes that mature
on September 1, 2023, 25 basis points in the case of the $250 million and $700 million of notes that mature on
June 1, 2015 and February 1, 2024, respectively, 40 basis points in the case of the $700 million of notes that
mature on October 15, 2019 and 30 basis points in the case of the $700 million and $850 million of notes that
mature on November 15, 2020 and May 15, 2021, respectively), in each case plus accrued and unpaid interest to
the redemption date. The indenture under which our unsecured senior notes were issued contains restrictions on
incurring debt and using our assets as security in other financing transactions and other customary financial and
other covenants, including (1) a leverage ratio not to exceed 60%, (2) a secured debt leverage ratio not to exceed
50%, (3) an interest coverage ratio of greater than 1.50, and (4) unencumbered asset value to be no less than
150% of our unsecured debt. As of December 31, 2013, we believe we were in compliance with each of these
financial restrictions and requirements.

Unsecured Exchangeable Senior Notes

The following summarizes the unsecured exchangeable senior notes outstanding as of December 31, 2013
(dollars in thousands):

First Optional
Coupon/ Effective Exchange Principal Redemption Date
Stated Rate  Rate(1) Rate Amount by Company Maturity Date
3.625% Exchangeable Senior
Notes ................. 3.625% 4.037% 8.6974(2)$747,500 N/A February 15, 2014

Net unamortized discount . . . (182)
Adjustment for the equity
component allocation, net

of accumulated
amortization ............ (2,438)
Total .. ..o $744,880

(1) Yield on issuance date including the effects of discounts on the notes but excluding the effects of the adjustment for the
equity component allocation.

(2) The initial exchange rate is 8.5051 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes (or an initial exchange price of
approximately $117.58 per share of our common stock). In addition, we entered into capped call transactions with
affiliates of certain of the initial purchasers, which are intended to reduce the potential dilution upon future exchange of
the notes. The capped call transactions were intended to increase the effective exchange price to us of the notes from
$117.58 to approximately $137.17 per share (subject to adjustment), representing an overall effective premium of
approximately 40% over the closing price on August 13, 2008 of $97.98 per share of our common stock. The net cost of
the capped call transactions was approximately $44.4 million. In connection with the special dividend declared on
November 27, 2013, the exchange rate of 8.5051 was adjusted to 8.6974 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes
effective as of December 31, 2013, resulting in an exchange price of approximately $114.98 per share of our common
stock. As of December 31, 2013, the effective exchange price was $130.21 per share. Our Operating Partnership repaid
the notes on February 18, 2014 (Refer to Note 20 of the Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Mortgage Notes Payable

The following represents the outstanding principal balances due under the mortgage notes payable at
December 31, 2013:

Stated Historical
Stated GAAP Principal Fair Value Carrying
Properties Interest Rate Interest Rate(1) Amount Adjustment Amount Maturity Date
(Dollars in thousands)

767 Fifth Avenue (the

General Motors

Building) ........... 5.95% 2.44% $1,300,000  $163,143 $1,463,143(1)(2)(3)(4) October 7, 2017
599 Lexington Avenue . . . 5.57% 5.41% 750,000 — 750,000(4)(5) March 1, 2017
601 Lexington Avenue . . . 4.75% 4.79% 722,253 — 722,253 April 10, 2022
John Hancock Tower .. .. 5.68% 5.05% 640,500 12,433 652,933(1)(4)(6) January 6, 2017
Embarcadero Center

Four ............... 6.10% 7.02% 360,133 —_ 360,133(7) December 1, 2016
Fountain Square . ....... 5.71% 2.56% 211,250 15,354 226,604(1)(4)(8) October 11, 2016
505 9t Street . ......... 5.73% 5.87% 121,360 —_ 121,360(8) November 1, 2017
New Dominion Tech Park,

Bldg. Two ........... 5.55% 5.58% 63,000 — 63,000(4) October 1, 2014
New Dominion Tech Park,

Bldg.One ........... 7.69% 7.84% 43,278 — 43,278 January 15, 2021
Kingstowne Two and

Retail .............. 5.99% 5.61% 33,064 274 33,338(1) January 1, 2016
University Place ........ 6.94% 6.99% 13,692 — 13,692 August 1, 2021
Total ................. $4,258,530  $191,204  $4,449,734

(1) GAAP interest rate differs from the stated interest rate due to the inclusion of the amortization of financing charges, effects of
hedging transactions and adjustments required to reflect loans at their fair values upon acquisition. All adjustments to reflect
loans at their fair value upon acquisition are noted above.

(2) This property is owned by a consolidated joint venture in which we have a 60% interest.

(3) In connection with the assumption of the loan, we guaranteed the joint venture’s obligation to fund various escrows, including
tenant improvements, taxes and insurance in lieu of cash deposits. As of December 31, 2013, the maximum funding obligation
under the guarantee was approximately $24.1 million. We earn a fee from the joint venture for providing the guarantee and have
an agreement with our partners to reimburse the joint venture for their share of any payments made under the guarantee.

(4) The mortgage loan requires interest only payments with a balloon payment due at maturity.

(5) On December 19, 2006, we terminated the forward-starting interest rate swap contracts related to this financing and received
approximately $10.9 million, which amount is reducing our GAAP interest expense for this mortgage over the term of the
financing, resulting in an effective interest rate of 5.41% per annum for the financing. The stated interest rate is 5.57% per
annum.

(6) In connection with the mortgage financing we have agreed to guarantee approximately $15.9 million related to our obligation to
provide funds for certain tenant re-leasing costs.

(7) On November 13, 2008, we closed on an eight-year, $375.0 million mortgage loan collateralized by this property. The mortgage
loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.10% per annum. Under our interest rate hedging program, we are reclassifying into
earnings over the eight-year term of the loan as an increase in interest expense approximately $26.4 million (approximately $3.3
million per year) of the amounts recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets within Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
resulting in an effective interest rate of 7.02% per annum.

(8) This property is owned by a consolidated joint venture in which we have a 50% interest.

Contractual aggregate principal payments of mortgage notes payable at December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Year Principal Payments
" (in thousands)
200 $ 87,759
20 LS 26,182
2000 608,879
20 0T 2,821,750
208 18,633
Thereafter . ... e 695,327
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Mezzanine Notes Payable

The following represents the outstanding principal balances due under the mezzanine notes payable at
December 31, 2013:

Stated  Historical
Stated GAAP Principal Fair Value Carrying
Property Debt is Associated With Interest Rate Interest Rate(1) Amount Adjustment Amount Maturity Date

(Dollars in thousands)

767 Fifth Avenue (the General
Motors Building) ............. 6.02% 5.53% $306,000  $5,040 $311,040(1)(2)(3) October 7, 2017

(1) GAAP interest rate differs from the stated interest rate due to adjustments required to reflect loans at their
fair values upon acquisition or consolidation. All adjustments to reflect loans at their fair value upon
acquisition are noted above.

(2) This property is owned by a consolidated joint venture in which we have a 60% interest.

(3) The mortgage loan requires interest only payments with a balloon payment due at maturity.

Outside Members’ Notes Payable

In conjunction with the consolidation of 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), we recorded
loans payable to the joint venture’s partners totaling $450.0 million and related accrued interest payable totaling
approximately $175.8 million. The member loans bear interest at a fixed rate of 11.0% per annum and mature on
June 9, 2017. We have eliminated in consolidation our member loan totaling $270.0 million and our share of the
related accrued interest payable of approximately $114.5 million at December 31, 2013. The remaining notes
payable to the outside joint venture partners and related accrued interest payable totaling $180.0 million and
approximately $76.4 million as of December 31, 2013 have been reflected as Outside Members’ Notes Payable
and within Accrued Interest Payable, respectively, on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The related interest
expense from the Outside Members’ Notes Payable totaling approximately $16.0 million for the period from
May 31, 2013 through December 31, 2013 is fully allocated to the outside joint venture partners as an adjustment
to Noncontrolling Interests in Property Partnerships in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices and interest rates. Our future earnings,
cash flows and fair values relevant to financial instruments are dependent upon prevalent market interest rates.
Our primary market risk results from our indebtedness, which bears interest at fixed and variable rates. The fair
value of our debt obligations are affected by changes in the market interest rates. We manage our market risk by
matching long-term leases with long-term, fixed-rate, non-recourse debt of similar duration. We continue to
follow a conservative strategy of generally pre-leasing development projects on a long-term basis to creditworthy
tenants in order to achieve the most favorable construction and permanent financing terms. All of our outstanding
debt, excluding our unconsolidated joint ventures, has fixed interest rates, which minimizes the interest rate risk
through the maturity of such outstanding debt. We also manage our market risk by entering into hedging
arrangements with financial institutions. Our primary objectives when undertaking hedging transactions and
derivative positions is to reduce our floating rate exposure and to fix a portion of the interest rate for anticipated
financing and refinancing transactions. This in turn, reduces the risks that the variability of cash flows imposes
on variable rate debt. Our strategy mitigates against future increases in our interest rates.

At December 31, 2013 our weighted-average coupon/stated rate on all of our outstanding debt, all of which
had a fixed interest rate, was 4.93% per annum. At December 31, 2013, we had no outstanding variable rate debt.
The weighted-average coupon/stated rate for our senior notes and unsecured exchangeable debt was 4.44% and
3.63%, respectively.
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Funds from Operations

Pursuant to the revised definition of Funds from Operations adopted by the Board of Governors of NAREIT,
we calculate Funds from Operations, or FFO, by adjusting net income (loss) attributable to Boston Properties,
Inc. (computed in accordance with GAAP, including non-recurring items) for gains (or losses) from sales of
properties, impairment losses on depreciable real estate of consolidated real estate, impairment losses on
investments in unconsolidated joint ventures driven by a measurable decrease in the fair value of depreciable real
estate held by the unconsolidated joint ventures, real estate related depreciation and amortization, and after
adjustment for unconsolidated partnerships, joint ventures and preferred distributions. FFO is a non-GAAP
financial measure. The use of FFO, combined with the required primary GAAP presentations, has been
fundamentally beneficial in improving the understanding of operating results of REITs among the investing
public and making comparisons of REIT operating results more meaningful. Management generally considers
FFO to be a useful measure for reviewing our comparative operating and financial performance because, by
excluding gains and losses related to sales of previously depreciated operating real estate assets, impairment
losses on depreciable real estate of consolidated real estate, impairment losses on investments in unconsolidated
joint ventures driven by a measurable decrease in the fair value of depreciable real estate held by the
unconsolidated joint ventures and excluding real estate asset depreciation and amortization (which can vary
among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life
estimates), FFO can help one compare the operating performance of a company’s real estate between periods or
as compared to different companies. Our computation of FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other
REITs or real estate companies that do not define the term in accordance with the current NAREIT definition or
that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently. Amount represents our share, which was 89.99%,
89.48%, 88.57%, 87.25% and 86.57% for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively, after allocation to the noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership.

FFO should not be considered as an alternative to net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc.
(determined in accordance with GAAP) as an indication of our performance. FFO does not represent cash
generated from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP and is not a measure of liquidity or an
indicator of our ability to make cash distributions. We believe that to further understand our performance, FFO
should be compared with our reported net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. and considered in
addition to cash flows in accordance with GAAP, as presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. to FFO
and FFO, as adjusted, for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ........................ $741,754  $289,650 $272,679 $159,072 $231,014
Add:
Preferred dividends .. ...... ... ... 8,057 — — — —
Noncontrolling interest in discontinued operations—common units of the
Operating Partnership . .......... ... . i 14,151 5,075 1,243 1,290 532
Noncontrolling interest—common units of the Operating Partnership . ... 70,085 30,125 35,007 22,809 35,002
Noncontrolling interest in gains on sales of real estate—common units of
the Operating Partnership . ................ oot — — — 349 1,579
Noncontrolling interest—redeemable preferred units of the Operating
Partnership .. ... 6,046 3,497 3,339 3,343 3,594
Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships .. ................... 1,347 3,792 1,558 3,464 2,778
Impairment loss from discontinued operations . ...................... 3,241 — — — —
Less:
Gain on forgiveness of debt from discontinued operations ............. 20,182 — — — —
Gains on sales of real estate from discontinued operations ............. 112,829 36,877 — — —
Income from discontinued operations . ............ ... ... ... ... 8,022 9,806 10,876 10,121 3,958
Gainson sales of real estate .. ............... ..ttt — — — 2,734 11,760
Income from continuing operations . .................... ... 703,648 285,456 302,950 177,472 258,781
Add:
Real estate depreciation and amortization (1) ........... ... ... ..... 610,352 542,753 541,791 450,546 446,718

Impairment losses on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures driven
by a measurable decrease in the fair value of depreciable real estate held

by the unconsolidated joint ventures (2) . ..., — — — — 13,555
Income from discontinued operations . ............ ... ... ... ... 8,022 9,806 10,876 10,121 3,958
Less:
Gains on sales of real estate included within income from unconsolidated
joint ventures (3) ... ..o 54,501 248 46,166 572 —
Gains on consolidation of joint ventures (4) ...............ciuin... 385,991 — — — —
Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships’ share of Funds from
OPErations . . ... vttt ettt et 33,930 5,684 3412 6,862 5,513
Noncontrolling interest—redeemable preferred units of the Operating
Partnership (5) . ..« o o 4,079 3,497 3,339 3,343 3,594
Preferred dividends . . ........... ... 8,057 — — — —
Funds from Operations attributable to the Operating Partnership ............ 835,464 828,586 802,700 627,362 713,905
Less:
Noncontrolling interest—common units of the Operating Partnership’s
share of Funds from Operations . ............. ... coiiinno... 84,000 87,167 91,709 80,006 95,899
Funds from Operations attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. .. ............. $751,464 $741,419 $710,991 $547,356 $618,006
Our percentage share of Funds from Operations—basic ................... 89.99% 89.48% 88.57% 87.25% 86.57%
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic . ............. ... ... ... ... 152,201 152,120 145,693 139,440 131,050

(1) Real estate depreciation and amortization consists of depreciation and amortization from the Consolidated Statements of Operations of
$560,637, $445,875, $429,742, $329,749 and $313,444, our share of unconsolidated joint venture real estate depreciation and
amortization of $46,214, $90,076, $103,970, $113,945 and $126,943, and depreciation and amortization from discontinued operations of
$4.,760, $8,169, $9,442, $8,622 and $8,237, less corporate related depreciation and amortization of $1,259, $1,367, $1,363, $1,770 and
$1,906, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

(2) Consists of non-cash impairment losses on our investment in the Value-Added Fund totaling approximately $13.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009. The non-cash impairment losses on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures included above were driven
by measurable decreases in the fair value of depreciable real estate owned by the unconsolidated joint ventures and have been reflected
within income from unconsolidated joint ventures in our consolidated statements of operations.
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(3) Consists of the portion of income from unconsolidated joint ventures related to (1) the gain on sale of Eighth Avenue and 46th Street
totaling approximately $11.3 million and (2) the gain on sale of 125 West 55th Street totaling approximately $43.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. Consists of approximately $0.2 million related to the gain on sale of real estate associated with the sale of 300
Billerica Road for the year ended December 31, 2012. Consists of approximately $46.2 million related to the gain on sale of real estate
associated with the sale of Two Grand Central Tower for the year ended December 31, 2011. Consists of approximately $0.6 million
related to our share of the gain on sale associated with the sale of our 5.0% equity interest in the unconsolidated joint venture entity that
owns the retail portion of the Wisconsin Place mixed-use property for the year ended December 31, 2010.

(4) The gains on consolidation of joint ventures consisted of (1) 767 Fifth Avenue (The General Motors Building) totaling approximately
$359.5 million and (2) our Value-Added Fund’s Mountain View properties totaling approximately $26.5 million during the year ended
December 31, 2013.

(5) Excludes approximately $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 of income allocated to the holders of Series Two Preferred
Units to account for their right to participate on an as-converted basis in the special dividend that was primarily the result of the sale of a
45% interest in our Times Square Tower property.
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Net Operating Income

Net operating income, or “NOI,” is a non-GAAP financial measure equal to net income attributable to
Boston Properties, Inc., the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, plus net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests, impairment loss from discontinued operations, losses (gains) from early
extinguishments of debt, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, suspension of development, impairment
loss, transaction costs and general and administrative expense, less gain on forgiveness of debt from discontinued
operations, gains on sales of real estate from discontinued operations, income from discontinued operations,
gains on sales of real estate, gains (losses) from investments in securities, interest and other income, gains on
consolidation of joint ventures, income from unconsolidated joint ventures and development and management
services revenue. We use NOI internally as a performance measure and believe NOI provides useful information
to investors regarding our financial condition and results of operations because it reflects only those income and
expense items that are incurred at the property level. Therefore, we believe NOI is a useful measure for
evaluating the operating performance of our real estate assets.

Our management also uses NOI to evaluate regional property level performance and to make decisions
about resource allocations. Further, we believe NOI is useful to investors as a performance measure because,
when compared across periods, NOI reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental
rates, operating costs and acquisition and development activity on an unleveraged basis, providing perspective
not immediately apparent from net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. NOI excludes certain
components from net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. in order to provide results that are more
closely related to our properties’ results of operations. For example, interest expense is not necessarily linked to
the operating performance of a real estate asset and is often incurred at the corporate level as opposed to the
property level. In addition, depreciation and amortization, because of historical cost accounting and useful life
estimates, may distort operating performance at the property level. NOI presented by us may not be comparable
to NOI reported by other REITs and real estate companies that define NOI differently. We believe that in order to
facilitate a clear understanding of our operating results, NOI should be examined in conjunction with net income
attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. as presented in our Consolidated Financial Statements. NOI should not be
considered as an alternative to net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. as an indication of our
performance or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity or ability to make distributions.
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The following sets forth a reconciliation of NOI to net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. for the

fiscal years 2009 through 2013.

Net operating income . ....................
Add:
Development and management services
ncome .............. ...
Income from unconsolidated joint
VENLUICS .. ...ov v
Gains on consolidation of joint ventures . . .
Interest and other income ..............
Gains (losses) from investments in
SECUrities .................ovou....
Gains on sales of real estate ............
Income from discontinued operations . . . . .
Gains on sales of real estate from
discontinued operations .. ............
Gain on forgiveness of debt from
discontinued operations .. ............
Less:
General and administrative .............
Transaction costs .....................
Impairmentloss ......................
Suspension of development . ... .........
Depreciation and amortization ..........
Interestexpense . ............ .. .. .....
Losses (gains) from early extinguishments
ofdebt ........ ... .. . il
Impairment loss from discontinued
OPErations . ..........c.c.ovenmenenn..
Noncontrolling interests in property
partnerships ................ .. ... ..
Noncontrolling interest—redeemable
preferred units of the Operating
Partnership .. ...... ... .. . .. .. ..
Noncontrolling interest in gains on sales of
real estate—common units of the
Operating Partnership ...............
Noncontrolling interests—common units of
the Operating Partnership ............
Noncontrolling interest in discontinued
operations—common units of the
Operating Partnership ...............

Net income attributable to Boston Properties,

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
$1,334,441 $1,145918 $1,090,590 $969,186 $949,595
29,695 34,060 33406 41202 34,849
75,074 49,078 85,806 36,774 12,058
385,991 — — — —
8,310 10,091 5,358 7,332 4,050
2911 1,389 (443) 935 2,434
— — — 2734 11,760
8,022 9,806 10,876 10,121 3,958
112,829 36,877 — — —
20,182 — — — —
115,329 90,129 87,101 87459 83512
1,744 3,653 1,987 2,876 —
8,306 — — — —
_ _ — (7,200) 27,766
560,637 445875 429742 329,749 313444
446,880 410,970 391,533 375403 318,989
(122) 4,453 1494 89,670 494
3241 — — — —
1,347 3,792 1,558 3,464 2,778
6,046 3,497 3,339 3,343 3,594
— — — 349 1,579
70,085 30,125 35007 22,809 35,002
14,151 5,075 1,243 1,290 532
$ 749,811 $ 289,650 $ 272,679 $159,072 $231,014
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Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2013, we were subject to contractual payment obligations as described in the table
below.

Payments Due by Period
Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter

(Dollars in thousands)

Contractual Obligations:
Long-term debt

Mortgage debt(1) ... $ 5,588,733 $ 345,034 $ 279,078 $ 856,050 $3,253,650 $ 53,271 $ 801,650
Unsecured senior
notes(l) ......... 7,617,777 257,113 792,425 227,738 227,738 1,077,738 5,035,025
Exchangeable senior
notes(1)(2) ...... 761,048 761,048 — — — — —
Unsecured line of
credit(l) ............ — — — — — — —
Ground leases .......... 967,771 13,184 13,507 13,732 13,963 14,198 899,187
Tenant
obligations(3)(4) ...... 156,954 124,759 28,704 2,440 1,034 — 17
Construction contracts on
development
projects(4) ........... 653,227 403,666 212,842 35,017 1,702 — —
Other obligations ....... 2,221 473 73 1,363 73 73 166

Total Contractual
Obligations . ......... $15,747,731  $1,905,277 $1,326,629 $1,136,340 $3,498,160 $1,145,280 $6,736,045

(1) Amounts include principal and interest payments.

(2) Debt was repaid on February 18, 2014. Refer to Footnote 20 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) Committed tenant-related obligations based on executed leases as of December 31, 2013 (tenant improvements and lease commissions).
(4) Includes 100% of the obligations for our consolidated joint ventures and only our share for the unconsolidated joint ventures.

We have various standing or renewable service contracts with vendors related to our property management.
In addition, we have certain other contracts we enter into in the ordinary course of business that may extend
beyond one year. These contracts are not included as part of our contractual obligations because they include
terms that provide for cancellation with insignificant or no cancellation penalties. Contract terms are generally
between three to five years.

During 2013, we paid approximately $161.9 million to fund tenant-related obligations, including tenant
improvements and leasing commissions, and incurred approximately $172 million of new tenant-related
obligations associated with approximately 4.6 million square feet of second generation leases, or approximately
$38 per square foot. In addition, we signed leases for approximately 545,000 square feet at our development
properties. The tenant-related obligations for the development properties are included within the projects’
“Estimated Total Investment” referred to in “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.” In the aggregate, during 2013, we
signed leases for approximately 5.1 million square feet of space and incurred aggregate tenant-related obligations
of approximately $226 million, or approximately $44 per square foot.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Joint Venture Indebtedness

We have investments in unconsolidated joint ventures with our effective ownership interests ranging from
25% to 60%. Six of these joint ventures have mortgage indebtedness. We exercise significant influence over, but
do not control, these entities and therefore they are presently accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. See also Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. At December 31, 2013, the aggregate
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carrying amount of debt, including both our and our partners’ share, incurred by these ventures was
approximately $749.7 million (of which our proportionate share is approximately $329.2 million). The table
below summarizes the outstanding debt of these joint venture properties at December 31, 2013. In addition to
other guarantees specifically noted in the table, we have agreed to customary environmental indemnifications and
nonrecourse carve-outs (e.g., guarantees against fraud, misrepresentation and bankruptcy) on certain of the loans.

Venture Stated GAAP Stated
Ownership Interest Interest Principal

Properties % Rate Rate(1) Amount Maturity Date

- (Dollars in thousands)
540 Madison Avenue .................. 60% 1.67% 1.84% $120,000(2)(3) June 5, 2018
Metropolitan Square . .................. 51% 5.75% 5.81% 173,703 May 5, 2020
Market Square North .................. 50% 4.85% 491% 129,678 October 1, 2020
Annapolis Junction Building One . ... ... .. 50% 1.92% 2.08%  41,272(4) March 31, 2018
Annapolis Junction Building Six ......... 50% 1.82% 2.01% 13,993(2)(5) November 17, 2014
Annapolis Junction Building Seven ....... 50% 1.83% 2.39% 12,433(2)(6) April 4, 2016
500 North Capitol Street .. .............. 30% 4.15% 4.19% 105,000(2) June 6, 2023
901 New York Avenue . ................ 25% 5.19% 5.27% 153,653 January 1, 2015
Total ... $749,732

(1) GAAP interest rate differs from the stated interest rate due to the inclusion of the amortization of financing charges.

(2) The loan requires interest only payments with a balloon payment due at maturity.

(3) Mortgage loan bears interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.50% per annum.

(4) Mortgage loan bears interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.75% per annum and matures on March 31, 2018 with one, three-

year extension option, subject to certain conditions.

(5) The construction financing bears interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per annum and matures on November 17, 2014
with a one-year extension option, subject to certain conditions.

(6) The construction financing bears interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per annum and matures on April 4, 2016 with
two, one-year extension option, subject to certain conditions.

Environmental Matters

It is our policy to retain independent environmental consultants to conduct or update Phase I environmental
assessments (which generally do not involve invasive techniques such as soil or ground water sampling) and
asbestos surveys in connection with our acquisition of properties. These pre-purchase environmental assessments
have not revealed environmental conditions that we believe will have a material adverse effect on our business,
assets, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, and we are not otherwise aware of environmental
conditions with respect to our properties that we believe would have such a material adverse effect. However,
from time to time environmental conditions at our properties have required and may in the future require
environmental testing and/or regulatory filings, as well as remedial action.

In February 1999, we (through a joint venture) acquired from Exxon Corporation a property in
Massachusetts that was formerly used as a petroleum bulk storage and distribution facility and was known by the
state regulatory authority to contain soil and groundwater contamination. We developed an office park on the
property. We engaged a specially licensed environmental consultant to oversee the management of contaminated
soil and groundwater that was disturbed in the course of construction. Under the property acquisition agreement,
Exxon agreed to (1) bear the liability arising from releases or discharges of oil and hazardous substances which
occurred at the site prior to our ownership, (2) continue monitoring and/or remediating such releases and
discharges as necessary and appropriate to comply with applicable requirements, and (3) indemnify us for certain
losses arising from preexisting site conditions. Any indemnity claim may be subject to various defenses, and
there can be no assurance that the amounts paid under the indemnity, if any, would be sufficient to cover the
liabilities arising from any such releases and discharges.
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Environmental investigations at some of our properties and certain properties owned by our affiliates have
identified groundwater contamination migrating from off-site source properties. In each case we engaged a
licensed environmental consultant to perform the necessary investigations and assessments, and to prepare any
required submittals to the regulatory authorities. In each case the environmental consultant concluded that the
properties qualify under the regulatory program or the regulatory practice for a status which eliminates certain
deadlines for conducting response actions at a site. We also believe that these properties qualify for liability relief
under certain statutory provisions or regulatory practices regarding upgradient releases. Although we believe that
the current or former owners of the upgradient source properties may bear responsibility for some or all of the
costs of addressing the identified groundwater contamination, we will take such further response actions (if any)
that we deem necessary or advisable. Other than periodic testing at some of these properties, no such additional
response actions are anticipated at this time.

Some of our properties and certain properties owned by our affiliates are located in urban, industrial and
other previously developed areas where fill or current or historical use of the areas have caused site
contamination. Accordingly, it is sometimes necessary to institute special soil and/or groundwater handling
procedures and/or include particular building design features in connection with development, construction and
other property operations in order to achieve regulatory closure and/or ensure that contaminated materials are
addressed in an appropriate manner. In these situations it is our practice to investigate the nature and extent of
detected contamination and estimate the costs of required response actions and special handling procedures. We
then use this information as part of our decision-making process with respect to the acquisition and/or
development of the property. For example, we own a parcel in Massachusetts which was formerly used as a
quarry/asphalt batching facility. Pre-purchase testing indicated that the site contained relatively low levels of
certain contaminants. We have developed an office park on this property. Prior to and during redevelopment
activities, we engaged a specially licensed environmental consultant to monitor environmental conditions at the
site and prepare necessary regulatory submittals based on the results of an environmental risk characterization. A
submittal has been made to the regulatory authorities in order to achieve regulatory closure at this site. The
submittal included an environmental deed restriction that mandates compliance with certain protective measures
in a portion of the site where low levels of residual soil contamination have been left in place in accordance with
applicable laws.

We expect that resolution of the environmental matters described above will not have a material impact on
our business, assets, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. However, we cannot assure you that
we have identified all environmental liabilities at our properties, that all necessary remediation actions have been
or will be undertaken at our properties, that we will be indemnified, in full or at all, or that we will have
insurance coverage in the event that such environmental liabilities arise.

Reclassifications and Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate its San Francisco and Princeton regional offices
to reflect the growing activity in its San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across our
company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $8.1 million, $7.7 million and $7.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses
and are now included in General and Administrative Expenses for all periods presented.

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update No. 2013-02, “Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”
(“ASU No. 2013-02”). ASU No. 2013-02 requires an entity to provide information about the amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to
present, either on the face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income, but only
if the amount reclassified is required to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period.
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For other amounts that are not required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to
cross-reference to other disclosures that provide additional detail about those amounts. ASU No. 2013-02 is
effective prospectively for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2012. Our adoption of ASU

No. 2013-02 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Inflation

Substantially all of our leases provide for separate real estate tax and operating expense escalations over a
base amount. In addition, many of our leases provide for fixed base rent increases or indexed increases. We
believe that inflationary increases in costs may be at least partially offset by the contractual rent increases and
operating expense escalations.

Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $11.3 billion of our consolidated borrowings bore interest at fixed
rates and none of our consolidated borrowings bore interest at variable rates. The fair value of these instruments
is affected by changes in market interest rates. The table below does not include our unconsolidated joint venture
debt. For a discussion concerning our unconsolidated joint venture debt, refer to Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements and “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Capitalization—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Joint Venture Indebtedness.”

Estimated
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019+ Total Fair Value
(Dollars in thousands)
Mortgage debt
Fixed Rate ...... $140,251 $ 80,070 $659,511 $2,855,942 $ 18,633 $ 695,327 $ 4,449,734 § 4,545,283
Average Interest
Rate ......... 5.66% 5.87% 5.29% 3.90% 5.52% 4.94% 4.31%
Variable Rate . . .. — — — — — — — —
Mezzanine debt
Fixed Rate ...... $ 1244 $ 1314 $ 1,389 $ 307,093 $§ — $ — $ 311,040 $ 311,064
Average Interest
Rate ......... — — — 5.53% — — 5.53%
Variable Rate . . .. — — — — — — — —
Unsecured debt
Fixed Rate ...... $ —  $549,703 $§ — § —  $848,572 $4,437,579 $ 5,835,854 $ 6,050,517
Average Interest
Rate ......... — 5.47% — — 3.85% 4.53% 4.52%
Variable Rate . . .. — — — — — — — —
Unsecured exchangeable debt
Fixed Rate ...... $747318 $ — $ — $ — $ — 3 — $ 747318 $ 750,266
Adjustment for the
equity
component
allocation . .. .. (2,438) — — — — — (2,438) —
Total Fixed
Rate ......... 744,880 — — — — — 744,880 —
Average Interest
Rate ......... 6.56% — — — — — 6.56% —
Variable Rate . ... — — — — — — — —
Total Debt ...... $886,375 $631,087 $660,900 $3,163,035 $867,205 $5,132,906 $11,341,508 $11,657,130
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At December 31, 2013, the weighted-average coupon/stated rates on all of our outstanding debt, all of which
had a fixed interest rate, was 4.93% per annum. At December 31, 2013 we had no outstanding variable rate debt.
The weighted-average coupon/stated rates for our unsecured debt and unsecured exchangeable debt were
4.44% per annum and 3.63% per annum, respectively.

The fair value amounts were determined solely by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on
our financial instruments. Due to the uncertainty of specific actions we may undertake to minimize possible
effects of market interest rate increases, this analysis assumes no changes in our financial structure.

Additional disclosure about market risk is incorporated herein by reference from “Item 7—Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Market Risk.”
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20 L L o 117
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20T e 118
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Financial Statement Schedule—Schedule IIT . . . ... .. . . . . e 169

All other schedules for which a provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are
not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting

Management of Boston Properties, Inc. (“the Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. The Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As of the end of the Company’s 2013 fiscal year, management conducted assessments of the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on these assessments, management has determined that the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 was effective.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of our
assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors of the
Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on our financial
statements.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in
their report appearing on page 114, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Boston Properties, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Boston Properties, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related
consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/  PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, MA
February 28, 2014
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BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except for share and par value amounts)

ASSETS

Real estate, at CoSt . ...t

Less: accumulated depreciation ... ............i ittt

Total real @State . . ..ottt

Cash and cash equivalents . .......... .. ..
Cash held in @SCTOWS . . .ottt et e e e e e e e e e e e et e et
INVeStmMents N SECUITHIES . . .. oottt et et e et e e e et e et e e et e et e
Tenant and other receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,636 and $1,960,

TESPECHIVELY) . o oot

Related party notes receivable ... ... ...
Interest receivable from related party notes receivable ........... ... ... . .. i i

Accrued rental income (net of allowance of $3,636 and $1,571, respectively) ...................

Deferred charges, Nt .. ... ... e
Prepaid expenses and other assets . ... ... ...ttt
Investments in unconsolidated JOINt VENTUIES . ... ...... oottt

TOtal @SSELS . . v vt ettt ettt e e e e

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities:

Mortgage notes payable . .. ... ...
Unsecured senior notes (net of discount of $14,146 and $10,472, respectively) . .............
Unsecured exchangeable senior notes (net of discount of $182 and $1,653, respectively) . . .. ..
Unsecured line of credit ... ... ..o
Mezzanine notes payable . .. ... ...
Outside members’ notes payable .. ... ... ...t
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses . . .. ... ...
Dividends and distributions payable .......... ... ...
Accrued interest payable .. ... ...
Other liabilities . . . ... ...

Total Habilities . .. ...ttt e e e e

Commitments and CONNZENCIES . . .. ot v ettt ettt e e e e e e ettt

Noncontrolling interests:

Redeemable preferred units of the Operating Partnership ............... ... .. ... ......

Redeemable interest in property partnership .. ... ..........ouuiinninin ..

Equity:
Stockholders’ equity attributable to Boston Properties, Inc.:

Excess stock, $.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding . . . . . .
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized;
5.25% Series B cumulative redeemable preferred stock, $.01 par value, liquidation
preference $2,500 per share, 92,000 shares authorized, 80,000 and no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively
Common stock, $.01 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized, 153,062,001 and 151,680,109
issued and 152,983,101 and 151,601,209 outstanding at December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively . ... ...t
Additional paid-incapital . ...
Dividends in excess of @arnings . . ... .. ...ttt
Treasury common stock at cost, 78,900 shares at December 31, 2013 and December 31,
200 o
Accumulated other comprehensive 10Ss .. ... ... .

Total stockholders’ equity attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. .. ...................

Noncontrolling interests:

Common units of the Operating Partnership .. ........ ... .. ... . ... . ..
Property partnerships . . ...

Total @QUILY . . oot
Total liabilities and eqUIty . ... ... ...ttt

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

115

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012
$18,978,765  $14,893,328
(3,161,571) (2,934,160)
15,817,194 11,959,168
2,365,137 1,041,978
57,201 55,181
16,641 12,172
59,464 69,555
— 282,491
— 104,816
651,603 598,199
884,450 588,235
184,477 90,610
126,084 659,916
$20,162,251  $15,462,321

$ 4,449,734

$ 3,102,485

5,835,854 4,639,528
744,880 1,170,356
311,040 -
180,000 —
202,470 199,102
497,242 110,488
167,523 72,461
578,969 324,613

12,967,712 9,619,033
51312 110,876
99,609 97,558

200,000 -
1,530 1,516
5,662,453 5,222,073
(108.,552) (109,985)
(2,722) (2,722)
(11,556) (13,817)

5,741,153 5,097,065
576,333 539,753
726,132 (1,964)

7,043,618 5,634,854

$20,162,251  $15,462,321




BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except for per share
amounts)
Revenue
Rental
BaSETONt . . o o oottt $1,675,412  $1,457,834  $1,376,278
Recoveries from tenants . . .. ... ... .t 292,944 228,170 198,083
Parking and other . . .. ... .. . 97,158 89,207 80,496
Total rental TEVENUE . . . . ... . 2,065,514 1,775,211 1,654,857
HOEL TEVENUE . . . . o e e 40,330 37,915 34,529
Development and management SEIVICES . . ... ...ttt ettt et e 29,695 34,060 33,406
TOLAl TEVEIMUE . . o\ ottt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 2,135,539 1,847,186 1,722,792
Expenses
Operating
ReNtal . .. 742,956 639,088 572,668
HoO el . oo 28,447 28,120 26,128
General and adminiStratiVe . . .. ... ..ttt 115,329 90,129 87,101
TranSaction COSES . . . .o vttt e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,744 3,653 1,987
ImMpairment 10SS . . . ...t 8,306 — —
Depreciation and amortization . .. .. ...... .ottt 560,637 445,875 429,742
TOtal EXPENSES . ..ottt e et e 1,457,419 1,206,865 1,117,626
Operating iNCOME . . . .« .ottt ettt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e 678,120 640,321 605,166
Other income (expense)
Income from unconsolidated joint ventures . ............. ...t 75,074 49,078 85,896
Gains on consolidation of JOINt VENtUIES . ... ... ...ttt 385,991 — —
Interest and Other INCOME . . . . . . ..ttt e e e e e e 8,310 10,091 5,358
Gains (losses) from investments in SECUTTHES . ... .. .ottt it enns 2911 1,389 (443)
INEEIeSt EXPEIISE . . . oottt ettt et e e (446,880) (410,970) (391,533)
Gains (losses) from early extinguishments of debt ............ ... ... ... ... ... ..... 122 (4,453) (1,494)
Income from continuing OPETAtIONS . . . . ..ottt t ettt ettt e e e e e 703,648 285,456 302,950
Discontinued operations
Income from discontinued OpPerations . .. ... ... .......uouiein et 8,022 9,806 10,876
Gains on sales of real estate from discontinued operations ................. ... ... .. 112,829 36,877 —
Gain on forgiveness of debt from discontinued operations . ................. .. ..., 20,182 — —
Impairment loss from discontinued operations . .................o.iiiiiiiiniiian... (3,241) — —
NELINCOME & .\ ottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 841,440 332,139 313,826
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
Noncontrolling interests in property partnerships . ............... i .. (1,347) (3,792) (1,558)
Noncontrolling interest—redeemable preferred units of the Operating Partnership ........... (6,046) (3,497) (3,339)
Noncontrolling interest—common units of the Operating Partnership ..................... (70,085) (30,125) (35,007)
Noncontrolling interest in discontinued operations—common units of the Operating Partnership . . . (14,151) (5,075) (1,243)
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ......... . ... ... .. .. i 749,811 289,650 272,679
Preferred dividends ... ... ... . (8,057) — —
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common shareholders ...................... $ 741,754 $ 289,650 $ 272,679
Basic earnings per common share attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common shareholders:
Income from continuing OPerations . . ... ... ... ...ttt ee ettt $ 4.06 $ 1.65 $ 1.80
Discontinued OPerations . . . .. ...ttt ettt 0.81 0.28 0.07
NELINCOMIE .« . o oottt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 487 $ 193 $ 1.87
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding .............................. 152,201 150,120 145,693
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common shareholders:
Income from continuing OPerations . . ... .. ... ...ttt et $ 405 $ 1.64 % 1.80
Discontinued OPerations . . ... ... ...ttt e 0.81 0.28 0.06
NELINCOME .« . o ottt e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 486 $ 192 % 1.86
Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding .......... 152,521 150,711 146,218

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

NELINCOME . . .ottt e e e e e e e e $841,440 $332,139 $313,826
Other comprehensive income:

Amortization of interest rate contracts (1) ......................... 2,513 2,594 2,595

Other comprehensive iNCOMEe . . . .. oottt e 2,513 2,594 2,595
Comprehensive INCOME . ..ot ottt ettt e e et e e e 843,953 334,733 316,421
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests . ..................... (91,629) (42,489) (41,147)
Other comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests . ...... (252) (273) 297)
Comprehensive income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ... .......... $752,072 $291,971 $274,977

(1) Amounts reclassified from comprehensive income primarily to interest expense within the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Dividends in Treasur: Other
M Preferred Paid-in Excess of Stock,y Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Shares Amount  Stock Capital Earnings  at cost Loss Interests Total

Equity, December 31,2010 ........... 140,199 $1,402 $§ — $4,417,162 $ (24,763) $(2,722) $(18,436) $ 591,550 $4,964,193
Redemption of operating partnership

units to Common Stock . ........... 2,919 29 — 85,469 — — — (85,498) —
Reallocation of noncontrolling

INErest .. .ovvvein e — — — (23,073) — — — 23,073 —
Allocated net income for the year ... ... — — — — 272,679 — — 37,808 310,487
Dividends/distributions declared . . . .. .. — — — —  (300,996) — — (39,132)  (340,128)
Sale of common stock, net of offering

COSES & vttt e e 4,660 47 — 438,990 — — — — 439,037
Shares issued pursuant to stock purchase

plan ... .. .. L 6 — — 620 — — — — 620
Net activity from stock option and

incentiveplan ................... 324 3 — 17,289 — — — 21,427 38,719
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

in property partnerships . ........... — — — — — — — (2,007) (2,007)
Amortization of interest rate contracts . . — — — — — — 2,298 297 2,595
Equity, December 31,2011 ........... 148,108 1,481 — 4,936,457 (53,080) (2,722) (16,138) 547,518 5,413,516
Redemption of operating partnership

units to common stock ... .......... 1,111 11 — 34,610 — — — (34,621) —
Conversion of redeemable preferred

units to common units . ............ — — — — — — — 5,852 5,852
Allocated net income for the year . .. ... — — — — 289,650 — — 37,189 326,839
Dividends/distributions declared . .. . ... — — — —  (346,555) — — (41,434)  (387,989)
Sale of common stock, net of offering

COSES & vttt e e 2,348 24 — 247,003 — — — — 247,027
Shares issued pursuant to stock purchase

plan ... .. ... 7 — — 781 — — — — 781
Net activity from stock option and

incentiveplan ................... 27 — — 5,419 — — — 23,705 29,124
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

in property partnerships . ........... — — — — — — — (2,890) (2,890)
Amortization of interest rate contracts . . — — — — — — 2,321 273 2,594
Reallocation of noncontrolling

interest . ... — — — (2,197) — — — 2,197 —
Equity, December 31,2012 ........... 151,601 1,516 — 5,222,073 (109,985) (2,722)  (13,817) 537,789 5,634,854
Redemption of operating partnership

units to common stock . ... ....... .. 929 10 — 30,281 — — — (30,291) —
Conversion of redeemable preferred

units to common units . ............ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ - —_ 16,494 16,494
Allocated net income for the year ... ... — — — — 749,811 — — 78,946 828,757
Dividends/distributions declared . . .. ... — — — —  (748,378) — — (83,448) (831,826)
Issuance of 5.25% Series B cumulative

redeemable preferred stock ......... — — 200,000 (6,377) — — — — 193,623
Shares issued in connection with

exchange of Exchangeable Senior

Notes ..o 419 4 — 43,830 — — — — 43,834
Equity component of exchange of

Exchangeable Senior Notes . ........ — — — (43,869) — — — — (43,869)
Shares issued pursuant to stock purchase

plan ... .. 6 — — 681 — — — — 681
Net activity from stock option and

incentiveplan ................... 28 — — 7,701 — — — 27,870 35,571

Noncontrolling interests in property

partnerships recorded upon

consolidation .................... — — — — — — — 480,861 480,861
Sale of interest in property partnership

and contributions from noncontrolling

interests in property partnerships . ... — — — 429,600 — — — 257,564 687,164
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

in property partnerships ............ — — — — — — — (5,039) (5,039)
Amortization of interest rate contracts . . — — — — — — 2,261 252 2,513

Reallocation of noncontrolling
INterest .. ....ovvii — — — (21,467) — — — 21,467 —
Equity, December 31,2013 ........... 152,983 $1,530 $200,000 $5,662,453 $(108,552) $(2,722) $(11,556) $1,302,465 $7,043,618

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
NEtinCOmME .. ..ottt e et
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ..........................
Non-cash compensation eXpense . .......................
Impairment loss . ....... ... ..
Income from unconsolidated joint ventures ................
Gains on consolidation of joint ventures .. .................
Distributions of net cash flow from operations of
unconsolidated joint ventures . ........................
Losses (gains) from investments in securities . .. ............
Non-cash portion of interest expense .....................
Settlement of accreted debt discount on repurchases of
unsecured exchangeable senior notes ...................

Losses (gains) from early extinguishments of debt . ..........
Gains on sales of real estate from discontinued operations . . ..
Gain on forgiveness of debt from discontinued operations .. ..
Impairment loss from discontinued operations ..............

Change in assets and liabilities:
Cashheldinescrows . ......... ...,
Tenant and other receivables, net . .......................
Accrued rental income, net . .......... ...
Prepaid expenses and other assets . .......................
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . .................
Accrued interest payable . ......... ..
Other liabilities .. .......... .. .. ..
Tenant leasing CoStS .. ......otietn i

Total adjustments . .............c.ciiiiiiinen...
Net cash provided by operating activities ..............

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of real estate .. ........... .. .. i
CONStruction in ProOgIeSS . ... vv vttt vttt et e
Building and other capital improvements .. ....................
Tenant improvements . ...................iiuiiniinnann....
Proceeds from sales of real estate ................ .. .. ... .....
Cash recorded upon consolidation ...........................
Proceeds from land transaction .............. ... .. .. .. .. ... ..
Proceeds from mortgage loan released from (placed in) escrow . . ..
Depositsonreal €state . .. .. ..ottt
Issuance of notes receivable, net .. ........... .. ... ...
Capital contributions to unconsolidated joint ventures . ...........
Capital distributions from unconsolidated joint ventures ..........
Investments in SECUrities, Nt . ......... v,

Net cash used in investing activities ..................

For the year ended December 31,

2013

2012

2011

(in thousands)

$ 841,440 $ 332,139 $ 313,826

565,397 454,044 439,184
45,155 29679 29,672
8,306 — —
(75,074) (49,078)  (85,896)
(385,991) — —
32,600 47,002 39,851
2,911) (1,389) 443
2,649 43,131 54,962
(56,532) (69,499)  (5,601)
(264) (1,000) 1,494
(112,829) (36,877) —
(20,182) — —
3,241 — —
315 10,272 (9,801)
(443) 23,155  (19,396)
(59,972) (77,363)  (79,992)
12,966 6,990  (39,213)
13,108 3,854 6,660
21,302 3,356 6,778
2,073 1,354 6,569
(56,428) (76,821)  (53,212)
(63,514) 310,810 292,502
777,926 642,949 606,328
(522,900)  (788,052) (112,180)
(396,835)  (356,397) (271,856)
(73,821) (49,943)  (61,961)
(105425)  (139,662)  (76,320)
250,078 61,963 —
79,468 — —
— — 43,887
— — 267,500
— — 10,000
12,491 (2,049)  (10,442)
— 6.214)  (17,970)
225,862 3,557 140,505
(1,558) (1,235)  (1,259)
(532,640) (1,278,032)  (90,096)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from mortgage notes payable ............ .. .. ... ...
Repayments of mortgage notes payable .............. .. ... .. ...
Proceeds from unsecured senior notes ... .............i i,
Redemption/repurchase of unsecured senior notes . . .................ou....
Redemption/repurchase/exchange of unsecured exchangeable senior notes . . . ..
Deferred financing Costs .. ..ottt
Net proceeds from preferred stock issuance .. ....... ... ... .. ... .. ... ....
Deposit on mortgage loan financing . ............. .. .. . i
Returned deposit on mortgage loan financing ......... ... .. ... ... ... ... ..
Net proceeds from ATM stock issuances .............c..cveniininnonn...
Net proceeds from equity tranSactions ... ............c.veuveneenennenn...
Redemption of preferred units ............. .. ... i
Dividends and distributions .. ..............i i
Sale of interest in property partnership and contributions from noncontrolling
interests in property partnerships ... ..............oiiiiiiiiiii.
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in property partnerships .............

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ....................

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... ............ ... ... ......
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ............... .. ... ... ... ... ...

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ............ .. ... ... .. ...

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid for interest ... ... ... ...ttt

Interest capitalized ......... .. ..

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Additions to real estate included in accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . . .

Real estate and related intangibles recorded upon consolidation ..............
Debt recorded upon consolidation . .............. ...,
Working capital recorded upon consolidation ............ ... .. ... ... .....
Noncontrolling interests recorded upon consolidation . .....................
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures eliminated upon consolidation . . . ..
Mortgage note extinguished through foreclosure ............... ... ... ... ..
Real estate transferred upon foreclosure . .......... .. .. . i,

Land improvements contributed by noncontrolling interest in property
partnership . . . ...t

Mortgage note payable assumed in connection with the acquisition of real estate . . .
Redeemable noncontrolling interest in property partnership .................
Preferred units issued in connection with the acquisition of real estate .........
Dividends and distributions declared butnot paid .............. ... ... ... ..

Issuance of common stock in connection with the exchange of exchangeable
SEMIOT NOTES . . ..ottt ettt et

Conversions of noncontrolling interests to stockholders’ equity ..............
Conversion of redeemable preferred units to common units .................

Issuance of restricted securities to employees and directors . ................

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
— — 1,178,306
(80,311)  (253,877) (1,251,841)
1,194,753 997,790 848,019
— (224,261) —
(393,468) (507,434) (44,586)
(15,195) (8,468) (15,970)
193,623 — —
— — (14,500)
— — 14,500
— 247,027 439,037
(334) 226 9,667
(43,070) (18,329) —
(451,118)  (372,899) (332,597)
682,617 — —
(9,624) (5,922) (2,007)
1,077,873 (146,147) 828,028
1,323,159 (781,230) 1,344,260
1,041,978 1,823,208 478,948
$2,365,137 $1,041,978 $ 1,823,208
$ 547,973 $ 480,866 $ 386,170
$ 68,152 $ 44278 $ 48,178
$ 19,824 $ 14,059 $ 10,767
$3,356,000 $ — 3 —
$2,056,000 $ — —
$ 177,315 $ — 3 —
$ 480,861 $ — 3 —
$ 361,808 $ — 3 —
$ 25000 $ — 3 —
$ 7,508 $ — —
$ 4,546 $ — 3 —
$ — $ 211,250 $ 143,900
$ — $ 98,787 $ —
$ — $ 79405 $ —
$ 497,242 $ 110,488 $ 91,901
$ 43,834 $ — 3 —
$ 30291 $ 34,621 $ 85,498
$ 16494 $ 5,852 $ —
$ 30,077 $ 26,198 $ 25,087

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

Boston Properties, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, is a self-administered and self-managed
real estate investment trust (“REIT”). The Company is the sole general partner of Boston Properties Limited
Partnership (the “Operating Partnership”) and at December 31, 2013 owned an approximate 89.5% (89.0% at
December 31, 2012) general and limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership. Partnership interests in
the Operating Partnership are denominated as “‘common units of partnership interest” (also referred to as “OP
Units”), “long term incentive units of partnership interest” (also referred to as “LTIP Units”) or “preferred units
of partnership interest” (also referred to as “Preferred Units”). In addition, in February 2011 and February 2012,
the Company issued LTIP Units in connection with the granting to employees of outperformance awards (also
referred to as “2011 OPP Units” and “2012 OPP Units,” respectively, and collectively as “OPP Units”). In
February 2013, the Company issued LTIP Units in connection with the granting to employees of 2013 MYLTIP
Units (“2013 MYLTIP Units”). Because the rights, preferences and privileges of OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP
Units differ from other LTIP Units granted to employees as part of the annual compensation process, unless
specifically noted otherwise, all references to LTIP Units exclude OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units (See
Notes 11 and 17).

Unless specifically noted otherwise, all references to OP Units exclude units held by the Company. A holder
of an OP Unit may present such OP Unit to the Operating Partnership for redemption at any time (subject to
restrictions agreed upon at the time of issuance of OP Units to particular holders that may restrict such
redemption right for a period of time, generally one year from issuance). Upon presentation of an OP Unit for
redemption, the Operating Partnership is obligated to redeem such OP Unit for cash equal to the value of a share
of common stock of the Company (“Common Stock”) at such time. In lieu of a cash redemption, the Company
may elect to acquire such OP Unit for one share of Common Stock. Because the number of shares of Common
Stock outstanding at all times equals the number of OP Units that the Company owns, one share of Common
Stock is generally the economic equivalent of one OP Unit, and the quarterly distribution that may be paid to the
holder of an OP Unit equals the quarterly dividend that may be paid to the holder of a share of Common Stock.
An LTIP Unit is generally the economic equivalent of a share of restricted common stock of the Company. LTIP
Units, whether vested or not, will receive the same quarterly per unit distributions as OP Units, which equal per
share dividends on Common Stock (See Note 12).

At December 31, 2013, there were three series of Preferred Units outstanding (i.e., Series Two Preferred
Units, Series Four Preferred Units and Series B Preferred Units).

e The Series Two Preferred Units bear a distribution that is set in accordance with an amendment to the
partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership. Each Series Two Preferred Unit may also be
converted into approximately 1.312336 OP Units or redeemed for $50.00 of cash at the election of the
holder thereof or the Operating Partnership in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the
applicable amendment to the partnership agreement (See Note 11).

e The Series Four Preferred Units are not convertible into or exchangeable for any common equity of the
Operating Partnership or the Company, have a per unit liquidation preference of $50.00 and are entitled
to receive quarterly distributions of $0.25 per unit (or an annual rate of 2.00%) (See Note 11).

e The Series B Preferred Units were issued to the Company on March 27, 2013 in connection with the
Company’s issuance of 80,000 shares (8,000,000 depositary shares each representing 1/100th of a share)
of 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock™). The
Company contributed the net proceeds from the offering to the Operating Partnership in exchange for
80,000 Series B Preferred Units having terms and preferences generally mirroring those of the Series B
Preferred Stock (See Note 12).
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All references herein to the Company refer to Boston Properties, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries,
including the Operating Partnership, collectively, unless the context otherwise requires.

Properties

At December 31, 2013, the Company owned or had interests in a portfolio of 175 commercial real estate
properties (the “Properties”) aggregating approximately 44.4 million net rentable square feet, including nine
properties under construction totaling approximately 2.9 million net rentable square feet. In addition, the
Company has structured parking for approximately 45,234 vehicles containing approximately 15.4 million square
feet. At December 31, 2013, the Properties consist of:

e 167 office properties, including 128 Class A office properties (including eight properties under
construction) and 39 Office/Technical properties;

e one hotel;
e four retail properties; and

» three residential properties (including one property under construction).
The Company owns or controls undeveloped land parcels totaling approximately 503.6 acres.

The Company considers Class A office properties to be centrally located buildings that are professionally
managed and maintained, attract high-quality tenants and command upper-tier rental rates, and that are modern
structures or have been modernized to compete with newer buildings. The Company considers Office/Technical
properties to be properties that support office, research and development, laboratory and other technical uses. The
Company’s definitions of Class A Office and Office/Technical properties may be different than those used by
other companies. Net rentable square feet amounts are unaudited.

Basis of Presentation

Boston Properties, Inc. does not have any other significant assets, liabilities or operations, other than its
investment in the Operating Partnership, nor does it have employees of its own. The Operating Partnership, not
Boston Properties, Inc., executes all significant business relationships. All majority-owned subsidiaries and joint
ventures over which the Company has financial and operating control and variable interest entities (“VIE*s) in
which the Company has determined it is the primary beneficiary are included in the consolidated financial
statements. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
Company accounts for all other unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity method of accounting.
Accordingly, the Company’s share of the earnings of these joint ventures and companies is included in
consolidated net income.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Real Estate

Upon acquisitions of real estate that constitutes a business, which includes the consolidation of previously
unconsolidated joint ventures, the Company assesses the fair value of acquired tangible and intangible assets
(including land, buildings, tenant improvements, “above-" and “below-market” leases, leasing and assumed
financing origination costs, acquired in-place leases, other identified intangible assets and assumed liabilities, and
allocates the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities, including land and buildings as if
vacant. The Company assesses and considers fair value based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize
discount and/or capitalization rates that it deems appropriate, as well as available market information. Estimates
of future cash flows are based on a number of factors including the historical operating results, known and
anticipated trends, and market and economic conditions. The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired
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property considers the value of the property as if it were vacant. The Company also considers an allocation of
purchase price of other acquired intangibles, including acquired in-place leases that may have a customer
relationship intangible value, including (but not limited to) the nature and extent of the existing relationship with
the tenants, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations of lease renewals. Based on its acquisitions to date, the
Company’s allocation to customer relationship intangible assets has been immaterial.

The Company records acquired “above-" and “below-market” leases at their fair values (using a discount
rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) equal to the difference between (1) the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and (2) management’s estimate of fair market
lease rates for each corresponding in-place lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease
for above-market leases and the initial term plus the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for
below- market leases. Acquired “above-" and “below-market” lease values have been reflected within Prepaid
Expenses and Other Assets and Other Liabilities, respectively, in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Other intangible assets acquired include amounts for in-place lease values that are based on the Company’s
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease. Factors to be considered include estimates of
carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions, and costs to
execute similar leases. In estimating carrying costs, the Company includes real estate taxes, insurance and other
operating expenses and estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up periods, depending
on local market conditions. In estimating costs to execute similar leases, the Company considers leasing
commissions, legal and other related expenses.

Management reviews its long-lived assets for impairment following the end of each quarter and when there
is an event or change in circumstances that indicates an impairment in value. An impairment loss is recognized if
the carrying amount of its assets is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. If such criteria are present, an
impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its fair value. The
evaluation of anticipated cash flows is highly subjective and is based in part on assumptions regarding future
occupancy, rental rates and capital requirements that could differ materially from actual results in future periods.
Since cash flows on properties considered to be “long-lived assets to be held and used” are considered on an
undiscounted basis to determine whether an asset has been impaired, the Company’s established strategy of
holding properties over the long term directly decreases the likelihood of recording an impairment loss. If the
Company’s strategy changes or market conditions otherwise dictate an earlier sale date, an impairment loss may
be recognized and such loss could be material. If the Company determines that impairment has occurred, the
affected assets must be reduced to their fair value, less cost to sell.

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) ASC 360 “Property Plant and Equipment” requires that
qualifying assets and liabilities and the results of operations that have been sold, or otherwise qualify as “held for
sale,” be presented as discontinued operations in all periods presented if the property operations are expected to
be eliminated and the Company will not have significant continuing involvement following the sale. The
components of the property’s net income that is reflected as discontinued operations include the net gain (or loss)
upon the disposition of the property held for sale, operating results, depreciation and interest expense (if the
property is subject to a secured loan). The Company generally considers assets to be “held for sale” when the
transaction has been approved by the Board of Directors, or a committee thereof, and there are no known
significant contingencies relating to the sale, such that the property sale within one year is considered probable.
Following the classification of a property as “held for sale,” no further depreciation is recorded on the assets, and
the asset is written down to the lower of carrying value or fair market value, less cost to sell.

Real estate is stated at depreciated cost. A variety of costs are incurred in the acquisition, development and
leasing of properties. The cost of buildings and improvements includes the purchase price of property, legal fees
and other acquisition costs. The Company expenses costs that it incurs to effect a business combination such as
legal, due diligence and other closing related costs. Costs directly related to the development of properties are
capitalized. Capitalized development costs include interest, internal wages, property taxes, insurance, and other
project costs incurred during the period of development. After the determination is made to capitalize a cost, it is
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allocated to the specific component of a project that is benefited. Determinations of when a development project
commences and capitalization begins, and when a development project is substantially complete and held
available for occupancy and capitalization must cease, involve a degree of judgment. The Company’s
capitalization policy on development properties is guided by guidance in ASC 835-20 “Capitalization of Interest”
and ASC 970 “Real Estate—General.” The costs of land and buildings under development include specifically
identifiable costs. The capitalized costs include pre-construction costs necessary to the development of the
property, development costs, construction costs, interest costs, real estate taxes, salaries and related costs and
other costs incurred during the period of development. The Company begins the capitalization of costs during the
pre-construction period, which it defines as activities that are necessary to the development of the property. The
Company considers a construction project as substantially completed and held available for occupancy upon the
completion of tenant improvements, but no later than one year from cessation of major construction activity. The
Company ceases capitalization on the portion (1) substantially completed and (2) occupied or held available for
occupancy, and capitalizes only those costs associated with the portion under construction, or if activities
necessary for the development of the property have been suspended. Interest costs capitalized for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $68.2 million, $44.3 million and $48.2 million, respectively. Salaries
and related costs capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $7.7 million,

$7.1 million and $6.5 million, respectively.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. Significant betterments are
capitalized. When assets are sold or retired, their costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from
the accounts with the resulting gains or losses reflected in net income or loss for the period.

The Company computes depreciation and amortization on properties using the straight-line method based on
estimated useful asset lives. In accordance with ASC 805, the Company allocates the acquisition cost of real
estate to its components and depreciates or amortizes these assets (or liabilities) over their useful lives. The
amortization of acquired “above-" and “below-market” leases and acquired in-place leases is recorded as an
adjustment to revenue and depreciation and amortization, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land improvements .............. ..., 25 to 40 years

Buildings and improvements .................... 10 to 40 years

Tenant improvements .. ........................ Shorter of useful life or terms of related lease
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment .. .............. 3 to 7 years

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and investments with maturities of three months or less
from the date of purchase. The majority of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at major
commercial banks which may at times exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit of $250,000. The
Company has not experienced any losses to date on its invested cash.

Cash Held in Escrows

Escrows include amounts established pursuant to various agreements for security deposits, property taxes,
insurance and other costs.

Investments in Securities

The Company accounts for investments in trading securities at fair value, with gains or losses resulting from
changes in fair value recognized currently in earnings. The designation of trading securities is generally
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determined at acquisition. The Company maintains a deferred compensation plan that is designed to allow
officers of the Company to defer a portion of their current income on a pre-tax basis and receive a tax-deferred
return on these deferrals. The Company’s obligation under the plan is that of an unsecured promise to pay the
deferred compensation to the plan participants in the future. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had
maintained approximately $16.6 million and $12.2 million, respectively, in a separate account, which is not
restricted as to its use. The Company recognized gains (losses) of approximately $2.9 million, $1.4 million and
$(0.4) million on its investments in the account associated with the Company’s deferred compensation plan
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Tenant and Other Receivables

Tenant and other accounts receivable, other than accrued rents receivable, are expected to be collected
within one year.

Deferred Charges

Deferred charges include leasing costs and financing fees. Leasing costs include an allocation for acquired
intangible in-place lease values and direct and incremental fees and costs incurred in the successful negotiation of
leases, including brokerage, legal, internal leasing employee salaries and other costs which have been deferred
and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Internal leasing salaries
and related costs capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were $5.1 million,
$5.6 million and $4.4 million, respectively. External fees and costs incurred to obtain long-term financing have
been deferred and are being amortized over the terms of the respective loans and are included within interest
expense. Unamortized financing and leasing costs are charged to expense upon the early repayment or significant
modification of the financing or upon the early termination of the lease, respectively. Fully amortized deferred
charges are removed from the books upon the expiration of the lease or maturity of the debt.

Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The Company consolidates variable interest entities (VIEs) in which it is considered to be the primary
beneficiary. VIEs are entities in which the equity investors do not have sufficient equity at risk to finance their
endeavors without additional financial support or that the holders of the equity investment at risk do not have a
controlling financial interest. The primary beneficiary is defined by the entity having both of the following
characteristics: (1) the power to direct the activities that, when taken together, most significantly impact the
variable interest entity’s performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb losses and right to receive the returns from
the variable interest entity that would be significant to the variable interest entity. For ventures that are not VIEs
the Company consolidates entities for which it has significant decision making control over the ventures’
operations. The Company’s judgment with respect to its level of influence or control of an entity involves the
consideration of various factors including the form of the Company’s ownership interest, its representation in the
entity’s governance, the size of its investment (including loans), estimates of future cash flows, its ability to
participate in policy making decisions and the rights of the other investors to participate in the decision making
process and to replace the Company as manager and/or liquidate the venture, if applicable. The Company’s
assessment of its influence or control over an entity affects the presentation of these investments in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. In addition to evaluating control rights, the Company consolidates
entities in which the outside partner has no substantive kick-out rights to remove the Company as the managing
member.

Accounts of the consolidated entity are included in the accounts of the Company and the non-controlling
interest is reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of equity or in temporary equity between
liabilities and equity. Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are recorded initially at cost, and subsequently
adjusted for equity in earnings and cash contributions and distributions. Any difference between the carrying
amount of these investments on the balance sheet and the underlying equity in net assets is amortized as an
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adjustment to equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures over the life of the related asset. Under the
equity method of accounting, the net equity investment of the Company is reflected within the Consolidated
Balance Sheets, and the Company’s share of net income or loss from the joint ventures is included within the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The joint venture agreements may designate different percentage
allocations among investors for profits and losses; however, the Company’s recognition of joint venture income
or loss generally follows the joint venture’s distribution priorities, which may change upon the achievement of
certain investment return thresholds. The Company may account for cash distributions in excess of its investment
in an unconsolidated joint venture as income when the Company is not the general partner in a limited
partnership and when the Company has neither the requirement nor the intent to provide financial support to the
joint venture. The Company’s investments in unconsolidated joint ventures are reviewed for impairment
periodically and the Company records impairment charges when events or circumstances change indicating that a
decline in the fair values below the carrying values has occurred and such decline is other-than-temporary, which
is dependent on a number of factors, including the performance of each investment and market conditions.

To the extent that the Company contributes assets to a joint venture, the Company’s investment in the joint
venture is recorded at the Company’s cost basis in the assets that were contributed to the joint venture. To the
extent that the Company’s cost basis is different than the basis reflected at the joint venture level, the basis
difference is amortized over the life of the related asset and included in the Company’s share of equity in net
income of the joint venture. In accordance with the provisions of ASC 970-323 “Investments—Equity Method
and Joint Ventures” (“ASC 970-323”), the Company will recognize gains on the contribution of real estate to
joint ventures, relating solely to the outside partner’s interest, to the extent the economic substance of the
transaction is a sale.

Equity Offering Costs

Underwriting commissions and offering costs have been reflected as a reduction of additional paid-in
capital.

Treasury Stock

The Company’s share repurchases are reflected as treasury stock utilizing the cost method of accounting and
are presented as a reduction to consolidated stockholders’ equity.

Dividends

Earnings and profits, which determine the taxability of dividends to stockholders, will differ from income
reported for financial reporting purposes due to the differences for federal income tax purposes in the treatment
of gains/losses on the sale of real property, revenue and expense recognition, compensation expense, and in the
estimated useful lives and basis used to compute depreciation.

The tax treatment of common dividends per share for federal income tax purposes is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Per Share % Per Share % Per Share %
Ordinary income ....................... $2.31 48.71%  $2.29 96.45%  $2.06 97.39%
Capital gainincome . .................... 2.44 51.29% 0.08 3.55% 0.05 2.61%
Total ........... . $4.75(1) 100.00% $2.37 100.00% $2.11 100.00%

(1) The fourth quarter 2013 dividend of $2.90 per common share consists of a $2.25 per common share special
dividend and a $0.65 per common share regular quarterly dividend of which approximately $2.44 per
common share was allocable to 2013 and approximately $0.46 per common share is allocable to 2014.
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Revenue Recognition

Contractual rental revenue is reported on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. The
impact of the straight-line rent adjustment increased revenue by approximately $65.8 million, $77.6 million and
$77.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, as the revenue recorded
exceeded amounts billed. Accrued rental income, as reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, represents
cumulative rental income earned in excess of rent payments received pursuant to the terms of the individual lease
agreements. The Company maintains an allowance against accrued rental income for future potential tenant
credit losses. The credit assessment is based on the estimated accrued rental income that is recoverable over the
term of the lease. The Company also maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting
from the inability of tenants to make required rent payments. The computation of this allowance is based on the
tenants’ payment history and current credit status, as well as certain industry or geographic specific credit
considerations. If the Company’s estimates of collectability differ from the cash received, then the timing and
amount of the Company’s reported revenue could be impacted. The credit risk is mitigated by the high quality of
the Company’s existing tenant base, reviews of prospective tenants’ risk profiles prior to lease execution and
consistent monitoring of the Company’s portfolio to identify potential problem tenants.

In accordance with ASC 805, the Company recognizes rental revenue of acquired in-place “above-"" and
“below-market” leases at their fair values over the terms of the respective leases. The impact of the acquired in-
place “above-" and “below-market” leases increased revenue by approximately $28.0 million, $14.6 million and
$10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The following table
summarizes the scheduled amortization of the Company’s acquired “above-" and “below-market” lease
intangibles for each of the five succeeding years (in thousands).

Acquired Above-Market Acquired Below-Market

Lease Intangibles Lease Intangibles
2014 $23,669 $61,700
2015 o 22,758 55,207
20016 .o 20,576 52,461
2017 12,279 40,346
2018 Lo 8,637 37,774

Recoveries from tenants, consisting of amounts due from tenants for common area maintenance, real estate
taxes and other recoverable costs are recognized as revenue in the period during which the expenses are incurred.
Tenant reimbursements are recognized and presented in accordance with guidance in ASC 605-45 “Principal
Agent Considerations” (“ASC 605-45""). ASC 605-45 requires that these reimbursements be recorded on a gross
basis, as the Company is generally the primary obligor with respect to purchasing goods and services from third-
party suppliers, has discretion in selecting the supplier and has credit risk. The Company also receives
reimbursement of payroll and payroll related costs from third parties which the Company reflects on a net basis
in accordance with ASC 605-45.

The Company’s parking revenues are derived from leases, monthly parking and transient parking. The
Company recognizes parking revenue as earned.

The Company’s hotel revenues are derived from room rentals and other sources such as charges to guests
for telephone service, movie and vending commissions, meeting and banquet room revenue and laundry services.
Hotel revenues are recognized as earned.

The Company receives management and development fees from third parties. Property management fees are
recorded and earned based on a percentage of collected rents at the properties under management, and not on a
straight-line basis, because such fees are contingent upon the collection of rents. The Company reviews each
development agreement and records development fees as earned depending on the risk associated with each
project. Profit on development fees earned from joint venture projects is recognized as revenue to the extent of
the third party partners’ ownership interest.
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Gains on sales of real estate are recognized pursuant to the provisions included in ASC 360-20 “Real Estate
Sales” (“ASC 360-20”). The specific timing of a sale is measured against various criteria in ASC 360-20 related
to the terms of the transaction and any continuing involvement in the form of management or financial assistance
associated with the properties. If the sales criteria for the full accrual method are not met, the Company defers
some or all of the gain recognition and accounts for the continued operations of the property by applying the
finance, leasing, profit sharing, deposit, installment or cost recovery methods, as appropriate, until the sales
criteria are met.

Ground Leases

The Company has non-cancelable ground lease obligations with various initial term expiration dates through
2068. The Company recognizes ground rent expense on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective
ground lease agreements. The future contractual minimum lease payments to be made by the Company as of
December 31, 2013, under non-cancelable ground leases which expire on various dates through 2068, are as
follows:

Years Ending December 31, (in thousands)
2004 $ 13,184
2005 13,507
2016 .. 13,732
2007 13,963
2008 14,198
Thereafter . .. ... 899,187

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders, as
adjusted for unallocated earnings (if any) of certain securities issued by the Operating Partnership, by the
weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS reflects the
potential dilution that could occur from shares issuable in connection with awards under stock-based
compensation plans, including upon the exercise of stock options, and securities of the Operating Partnership that
are exchangeable for Common Stock.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, escrows, receivables, accounts
payable, accrued expenses and other assets and liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair values because of
the short maturities of these instruments.

The Company follows the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements when valuing its financial
instruments for disclosure purposes. The Company determines the fair value of its unsecured senior notes and
unsecured exchangeable senior notes using market prices. The inputs used in determining the fair value of the
Company’s unsecured senior notes and unsecured exchangeable senior notes is categorized at a level 1 basis (as
defined in the accounting standards for Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures) due to the fact that the
Company uses quoted market rates to value these instruments. However, the inputs used in determining the fair
value could be categorized at a level 2 basis if trading volumes are low. The Company determines the fair value
of its mortgage notes payable using discounted cash flow analyses by discounting the spread between the future
contractual interest payments and hypothetical future interest payments on mortgage debt based on current
market rates for similar securities. In determining the current market rates, the Company adds its estimates of
market spreads to the quoted yields on federal government treasury securities with similar maturity dates to its
debt. The inputs used in determining the fair value of the Company’s mortgage notes payable and mezzanine
notes payable are categorized at a level 3 basis (as defined in the accounting standards for Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures) due to the fact that the Company considers the rates used in the valuation
techniques to be unobservable inputs.
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Because the Company’s valuations of its financial instruments are based on these types of estimates, the
actual fair values of its financial instruments may differ materially if the Company’s estimates do not prove to be
accurate. The following table presents the aggregate carrying value of the Company’s indebtedness and the
Company’s corresponding estimate of fair value as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 (in
thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Mortgage notes payable ...................... $ 4,449,734 $ 4,545,283  $3,102,485  $3,256,940

Mezzanine notes payable ..................... 311,040 311,064 — —
Unsecured senior notes . ...................... 5,835,854 6,050,517 4,639,528 5,162,486
Unsecured exchangeable senior notes .. .......... 744,880(1) 750,266 1,170,356(1) 1,278,554
Total ........ ... . . . . ... $11,341,508  $11,657,130  $8,912,369  $9,697,980

(1) Includes the net adjustment for the equity component allocation totaling approximately $2.4 million and
$25.5 million at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivative instruments and hedging activities require management to make judgments on the nature of its
derivatives and their effectiveness as hedges. These judgments determine if the changes in fair value of the
derivative instruments are reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a component of net income
or as a component of comprehensive income and as a component of equity on the consolidated balance sheets.
While management believes its judgments are reasonable, a change in a derivative’s effectiveness as a hedge
could materially affect expenses, net income and equity. The Company accounts for the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of a derivative in other comprehensive income (loss) and subsequently reclassifies the
effective portion to earnings over the term that the hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company accounts
for the ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of a derivative directly in earnings.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be treated as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”’), commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 1997. As a
result, the Company generally will not be subject to federal corporate income tax on its taxable income that is
distributed to its stockholders. A REIT is subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements,
including a requirement that it currently distribute at least 90% of its annual taxable income. The Company’s
policy is to distribute at least 100% of its taxable income. Accordingly, the only provision for federal income
taxes in the accompanying consolidated financial statements relates to the Company’s consolidated taxable REIT
subsidiaries. The Company’s taxable REIT subsidiaries did not have significant tax provisions or deferred
income tax items. The Company has no uncertain tax positions recognized as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Company owns a hotel property which is managed through a taxable REIT subsidiary. The hotel
taxable REIT subsidiary, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership, is the lessee pursuant to the
lease for the hotel property. As lessor, the Operating Partnership is entitled to a percentage of gross receipts from
the hotel property. Marriott International, Inc. continues to manage the hotel property under the Marriott name
and under terms of the existing management agreement. The hotel taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to tax at the
federal and state level and, accordingly, the Company has recorded a tax provision in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

The net difference between the tax basis and the reported amounts of the Company’s assets and liabilities is
approximately $1.7 billion and $0.8 billion as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which is primarily
related to the difference in basis of contributed property and accrued rental income.
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Certain entities included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are subject to certain state and
local taxes. These taxes are recorded as operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

The following table reconciles GAAP net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. to taxable income:

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ...................... $ 749,811 $289,650 $272,679
Straight-line rent adjustments . ... .......... .. it (74,445) (80,281) (77,422)
Book/Tax differences from depreciation and amortization ............... 170,370 105,599 117,675
Book/Tax differences on gains/losses from capital transactions ........... (124,413) (22,408) (38.,443)
Book/Tax differences from stock-based compensation .................. 42,146 19,660 827
Other book/tax differences, net . .. ... .. (12,797) 35,461 29,389
Taxable INCOME . . . v . vt et e e e e e e e e e $ 750,672 $347,681 $304,705

Stock-Based Employee Compensation Plans

At December 31, 2013, the Company has a stock-based employee compensation plan. Effective January 1,
2005, the Company adopted early ASC 718 “Compensation—Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which revised
the fair value based method of accounting for share-based payment liabilities, forfeitures and modifications of
stock-based awards and clarified previous guidance in several areas, including measuring fair value, classifying
an award as equity or as a liability and attributing compensation cost to reporting periods.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates
include such items as depreciation and allowances for doubtful accounts. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Out-of-Period Adjustment

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded additional real estate operating expenses
totaling approximately $3.2 million related to the cumulative non-cash straight-line adjustment to the ground rent
expense of certain ground leases that were not previously recognized on a straight-line basis. This resulted in the
overstatement of real estate operating expenses by approximately $3.2 million during the year ended
December 31, 2012 and in the understatement of real estate operating expenses in the aggregate amount of
approximately $3.2 million in previous periods. Because this adjustment was not material to the prior years’
consolidated financial statements and the impact of recording the adjustment in the current period is not material
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company recorded the related adjustment during the
year ended December 31, 2012.

Reclassifications

The Company has modified the presentation of expenses to operate its San Francisco and Princeton regional
offices to reflect the growing activity in its San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across the
Company. These expenses, which totaled approximately $8.1 million, $7.7 million and $7.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses
and are now included in General and Administrative Expenses for all periods presented.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update No. 2013-02, “Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”
(“ASU No. 2013-02"). ASU No. 2013-02 requires an entity to provide information about the amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to
present, either on the face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income, but only
if the amount reclassified is required to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period.
For other amounts that are not required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to
cross-reference to other disclosures that provide additional detail about those amounts. ASU No. 2013-02 is
effective prospectively for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2012. The Company’s adoption of
ASU No. 2013-02 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Real Estate

Real estate consisted of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2013 2012
Land . ... $ 4,450,532 $ 2,605,162
Land held for future development .. ........ .. ... i 297,376 275,094
Buildings and improvements . . .. ...t e 11,065,113 9,517,343
Tenant iMProOVEMENLS . .. ..ottt ettt e e e e e et 1,617,401 1,435,508
Furniture, fixtures and equipment .. ........... .ttt 25,164 23,441
COoNnStrucCtion IN PrOGIESS . . v v v vt e ettt e e ettt e et 1,523,179 1,036,780
Total .. 18,978,765 14,893,328
Less: Accumulated depreciation .. ...............i it (3,161,571)  (2,934,160)

$15,817,194 $11,959,168

Acquisitions

On February 6, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of 535 Mission Street, a development site, in
San Francisco, California for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $71.0 million in cash, including work
completed and materials purchased to date. When completed, 535 Mission Street will consist of a 27-story,
Class A office tower with approximately 307,000 net rentable square feet of office and retail space. The property
is currently under development.

On March 26, 2013, a consolidated joint venture in which the Company has a 95% interest completed the
acquisition of a land parcel in San Francisco, California that will support a 60-story, 1.4 million square foot
office tower known as Transbay Tower. The purchase price for the land was approximately $192.0 million. On
February 7, 2013, the partner in the joint venture issued a notice that it was electing under the joint venture
agreement to reduce its nominal ownership interest in the venture from 50% to 5%. On February 26, 2013, the
Company issued a notice to the partner electing to proceed with the venture on that basis. As a result, the
Company has a 95% nominal interest in and is consolidating the joint venture (See Note 11). The initial phase of
the development consisting of building the project to grade is currently under development.

On March 29, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of a parcel of land located in Reston, Virginia
for a purchase price of approximately $27.0 million. The land parcel is commercially zoned for 250,000 square

feet of office space.

On April 10, 2013, the Company acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View
Technology Park properties from Boston Properties Office Value-Added Fund, L.P. (the “Value-Added Fund”)
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for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately $233.1 million. Mountain View Research Park is a
16-building complex of Office/Technical properties aggregating approximately 604,000 net rentable square feet.
Mountain View Technology Park is a seven-building complex of Office/Technical properties aggregating
approximately 135,000 net rentable square feet. The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate
purchase price of Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park at the date of acquisition
(in thousands) in accordance with the guidance in ASC 805 “Business Combinations.”

Land ... $126,521
Building and improvements . . .. .. ... ...ttt 82,451
Tenant IMPrOVEMENES . . . . o . v ettt ettt e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e 7,326
In-place lease intan@ibles . ... .. ... 23,279
AbOVe-Market TENLS . . . ... .t 843
Below-market rents . .. ... .. (7,336)
Net assets ACUITEA . . . ..ottt et et e et et e e e e e e $233,084

On May 31, 2013, the Company’s two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns
767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) located in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the
joint venture to third parties. 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) is a Class A office property
totaling approximately 1.8 million net rentable square feet. In connection with the transfer, the Company and its
new joint venture partners modified the Company’s relative decision making authority and consent rights with
respect to the joint venture’s assets and operations. These changes resulted in the Company having sufficient
financial and operating control over 767 Venture, LLC such that, effective as of May 31, 2013, the Company
accounts for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in its financial
statements instead of under the equity method of accounting (See Notes 5 and 11). The following table
summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price of 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) at
the date of consolidation on May 31, 2013 (in thousands) in accordance with the guidance in ASC 805 “Business
Combinations.”

Real estate and related intangibles recorded upon consolidation

Land . ... $ 1,796,252
Building and improvements . . .. ..... ..ttt e 1,447,446
Tenant IMPrOVEMENLS . . . .. oottt ettt e et e e e e et e e e e et 85,208
In-place lease intan@ibles . . ... ... 357,781
ADOVE MArKet TENES . . . . 101,897
Below market 1entS . .. ... (239,641)
Above market assumed debt adjustments . .......... .. (192,943)

$ 3,356,000
Debt recorded upon consolidation

Mortgage notes payable . . ... $(1,300,000)
Mezzanine notes payable ... ... (306,000)
Members’ notes payable . ... .. ... e (450,000)(1)
$(2,056,000)
Working capital recorded upon consolidation
Cash and cash equivalents ... ......... .. . e $ 79,468
Cash held In €SCIOWS . . . . e e e e e e e e e s 2,403
Tenant and other receivables . .. ... . 7,104
Prepaid expenses and other assets . ... ..... ...t 4,269
Accounts payable and accrued EXPenses . . ... ... (2,418)
Accrued interest payable . ... ... .. (182,369)(2)
Other lHabilities ... ... ..o (6,304)
$  (97,847)
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Noncontrolling interest recorded upon consolidation

Noncontrolling INtEreStS . .. .. ..ottt ettt et e e $(520,000)
Noncontrolling interests—working capital .. ......... .. .. .. . 39,139
$(480,861)

Net assets recorded upon consolidation ............ ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. .. ... $ 721,292

(1) The Company’s member loan totaling $270.0 million eliminates in consolidation.
(2) The Company’s share of the accrued interest payable on the members’ loans totaling approximately $105.5
million eliminates in consolidation.

Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park contributed approximately
$16.7 million of revenue and approximately $0.4 million of earnings to the Company for the period from
April 10, 2013 through December 31, 2013. 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) contributed
approximately $168.4 million of revenue and approximately $8.4 million of earnings to the Company for the
period from May 31, 2013 through December 31, 2013.

The accompanying unaudited pro forma information for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 is
presented as if the operating property acquisitions of (1) Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View
Technology Park on April 10, 2013 and the approximately $26.5 million gain on consolidation and (2) 767 Fifth
Avenue (the General Motors Building) on May 31, 2013 and the approximately $359.5 million gain on
consolidation, had occurred on January 1, 2012. This unaudited pro forma information is based upon the
historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. This pro forma information does not purport to represent
what the actual results of operations of the Company would have been had the above occurred, nor do they
purport to predict the results of operations of future periods.

Pro Forma (Unaudited) Year ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012
TOtal TEVENUE . . . . o ottt e e e e $2,257,098 $2,149,391
Income from continuing OPerations .. ...............ueuneunernenneennennn. $ 302,354 $ 634,457
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. . ............................ $ 400,017 $ 626,174
Basic earnings per share:

Net income per share attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ..................... $ 258 $ 4.15
Diluted earnings per share:

Net income per share attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ..................... $ 257 $ 4.13
Developments

On March 22, 2013, the Company completed and fully placed in-service Two Patriots Park, a Class A office
redevelopment project with approximately 256,000 net rentable square feet located in Reston, Virginia.

On April 25, 2013, the Company commenced construction of its 601 Massachusetts Avenue, a Class A
office development project totaling approximately 478,000 net rentable square feet located in Washington, DC.

On June 14, 2013, the Company completed and fully placed in-service Seventeen Cambridge Center, a
Class A office project with approximately 195,000 net rentable square feet located in Cambridge, Massachusetts.

On July 1, 2013, the Company completed and fully placed in-service its Cambridge Center Connector, a
Class A office project with approximately 43,000 net rentable square feet located in Cambridge, Massachusetts.

On October 29, 2013, the Company entered into a lease agreement as landlord with a third-party tenant for a
build-to-suit project with approximately 130,000 net rentable square feet of Class A office space located in
Princeton, New Jersey.
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As of December 31, 2013, the Company has placed in-service approximately 63% of The Avant at Reston
Town Center development project comprised of 359 apartment units and retail space aggregating approximately
355,000 square feet located in Reston, Virginia (See Note 20).

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has placed in-service approximately 6% of its 250 West 55th Street
development project. When completed, this project will consist of approximately 989,000 net rentable square feet
of Class A office space located in New York City.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company has placed in-service approximately 1% of its 680 Folsom Street
development project. When completed, this project will consist of approximately 525,000 net rentable square feet
of Class A office space located in San Francisco, California.

Dispositions

On February 20, 2013, the foreclosure sale of the Company’s Montvale Center property was ratified by the
court. As a result of the ratification, the mortgage loan totaling $25.0 million was extinguished and the related
obligations were satisfied with the transfer of the real estate resulting in the recognition of a gain on forgiveness
of debt totaling approximately $20.2 million. The operating results of the property through the date of ratification
have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical basis for all periods presented.

On June 28, 2013, the Company completed the sale of its 303 Almaden Boulevard property located in San
Jose, California for a sale price of $40.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $39.3 million. 303
Almaden Boulevard is a Class A office property totaling approximately 158,000 net rentable square feet. Because
the Company entered into the related purchase and sale agreement on March 28, 2013 and the carrying value of
the property exceeded its net sale price, the Company recognized an impairment loss totaling approximately
$3.2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2013. As a result, there was no loss on sale of real estate
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2013. The impairment loss and operating results of this property
have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical basis for all periods presented. The sale of this
asset caused the Company to reevaluate its strategy for development of its adjacent Almaden land parcel, which
can accommodate an approximately 840,000 square feet office complex. Based on a shorter than expected hold
period, the Company reduced the carrying value of the land parcel to its estimated fair market value and
recognized an impairment loss of approximately $8.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2013.
The Company’s estimated fair value, as measured on a non-recurring basis, was based on comparable land sales.
The Company has determined that its valuation of the land falls within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, as it
has utilized significant unobservable inputs in its assessment.

On August 22, 2013, the Company completed the sale of its 1301 New York Avenue property located in
Washington, DC for a net contract sale price of approximately $121.7 million. After adjusting for outstanding
lease and other transaction costs assumed by the buyer, the gross sale price was approximately $135.0 million.
Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $121.5 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately
$86.4 million. 1301 New York Avenue is a Class A office property totaling approximately 201,000 net rentable
square feet. The operating results of the property through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued
operations on a historical basis for all periods presented.

On October 9, 2013, the Company completed the sale of a 45% ownership interest in its Times Square
Tower property for a gross sale price of $684.0 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately
$673.1 million, after the payment of transaction costs. In connection with the sale, the Company formed a joint
venture with the buyer and will provide customary property management and leasing services to the joint
venture. Times Square Tower is an approximately 1,246,000 net rentable square foot Class A office tower
located in New York City. The transaction did not qualify as a sale of real estate for financial reporting purposes
because the Company continues to control the joint venture and will therefore continue to account for the entity
on a consolidated basis in its financial statements. The Company has accounted for the transaction as an equity
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transaction and has recognized noncontrolling interest in its consolidated balance sheets totaling approximately
$243.5 million, which is equal to 45% of the carrying value of the total equity of the property immediately prior
to the transaction. The difference between the net cash proceeds received and the noncontrolling interest
recognized, which difference totals approximately $429.6 million, has not been reflected as a gain on sale of real
estate in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and has instead been reflected as an increase to
additional paid-in capital in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

On December 20, 2013, the Company completed the sale of its 10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road property
located in Burlington, Massachusetts for a sale price of approximately $30.0 million. Net cash proceeds totaled
approximately $29.4 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $20.5 million. 10 & 20 Burlington Mall
Road consists of two Class A office properties aggregating approximately 152,000 net rentable square feet. The
operating results of the properties through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a
historical basis for all periods presented.

On December 20, 2013, the Company completed the sale of its One Preserve Parkway property located in
Rockville, Maryland for a sale price of approximately $61.3 million. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately
$59.9 million, resulting in a gain on sale of approximately $5.9 million. One Preserve Parkway is a Class A
office property totaling approximately 184,000 net rentable square feet. The operating results of the property
through the date of sale have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical basis for all periods
presented.

The following table summarizes the income from discontinued operations related to One Preserve Parkway,
10 & 20 Burlington Mall Road, 1301 New York Avenue, 303 Almaden Boulevard, Montvale Center and Bedford
Business Park and the related gains on sales of real estate, gain on forgiveness of debt and impairment loss for
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)
TOtAl TEVEIUE . . o o v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 20,138 $32,607 $36,734
Expenses
OPCIALING . . o .ttt ettt et e e 6,996 12,038 13,818
Depreciation and amortization .. ..............o.iiiiiana.. 4,760 8,169 9,442
TOtal EXPENSES . . o v vttt e e e 11,756 20,207 23,260
OPerating iNCOIME . « . o v vttt ettt e et e e e e e e e e 8,382 12,400 13,474
Other expense
INEEIESt EXPEISE . . v vttt ettt et e e e 360 2,594 2,598
Income from discontinued Operations . .................cuiriiiniinain... $ 8,022 $ 9,806 $10,876
Noncontrolling interest in income from discontinued operations—common units
of the Operating Partnership ......... .. ... ... . . . .. (803) (1,031) (1,243)
Income from discontinued operations attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. . . . . $ 7219 $ 8,775 $ 9,633
Gains on sales of real estate from discontinued operations .................. $112,829 $36,877 $ —
Gain on forgiveness of debt from discontinued operations .................. 20,182 — —
Impairment loss from discontinued operations ........................... (3,241) — —
Noncontrolling interest in gains on sales of real estate, gain on forgiveness of
debt and impairment loss from discontinued operations—common units of
the Operating Partnership . .. ....... ... . i (13,348) (4,044) —
Gains on sales of real estate, gain on forgiveness of debt and impairment loss
from discontinued operations attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ........ $116,422 $32,833 § —
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4. Deferred Charges

Deferred charges consisted of the following at December 31, (in thousands):

2013 2012
Leasing costs, including lease related intangibles ............. ... .. .. .. ... ..... $1,183,204 $ 790,740
FInancing CoStS . .. .. ..ot 76,798 90,682
1,260,002 881,422
Less: Accumulated amortization .. ...........t ittt (375,552) (293,187)

$ 884,450 § 588,235

The following table summarizes the scheduled amortization of the Company’s acquired in-place lease
intangibles for each of the five succeeding years (in thousands).

Acquired In-Place Lease

Intangibles
200 $91,903
20 LS 66,716
2000 o 55,083
2007 41,106
2008 o 36,306

5. Investments in Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The investments in unconsolidated joint ventures consist of the following at December 31, 2013:

Nominal %
Entity Properties Ownership
Square 407 Limited Partnership Market Square North 50.0%
The Metropolitan Square Associates LLC Metropolitan Square 51.0%
BP/CRF 901 New York Avenue LL.C 901 New York Avenue 25.0%(1)
WP Project Developer LLC Wisconsin Place Land and Infrastructure ~ 33.3%(2)
RBP Joint Venture LLC N/A 50.0%(3)
Boston Properties Office Value-Added Fund, L.P. N/A 39.5%(4)
Annapolis Junction NFM, LLC Annapolis Junction 50.0%(5)
2 GCT Venture LLC N/A 60.0%(6)
540 Madison Venture LLC 540 Madison Avenue 60.0%
125 West 55t Street Venture LLC N/A 60.0%(7)
500 North Capitol LLC 500 North Capitol Street, NW 30.0%

(1) The Company’s economic ownership can increase based on the achievement of certain return thresholds.

(2) The Company’s wholly-owned entity that owns the office component of the project also owns a 33.3%
interest in the entity owning the land, parking and infrastructure of the project.

(3) Eighth Avenue and 46th Street was sold on July 19, 2013.

(4) The Company acquired Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park from the
Value-Added Fund on April 10, 2013 (See Note 3). As of December 31, 2013, the investment is comprised
of undistributed cash.

(5) Comprised of two buildings, one building under construction and two undeveloped land parcels.

(6) Two Grand Central Tower was sold on October 25, 2011. As of December 31, 2013, the investment is
comprised of undistributed cash.

(7) 125 West 55th Street was sold on May 30, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, the investment is comprised of
undistributed cash.
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Certain of the Company’s joint venture agreements include provisions whereby, at certain specified times,
each partner has the right to initiate a purchase or sale of its interest in the joint ventures at an agreed upon fair
value. Under these provisions, the Company is not compelled to purchase the interest of its outside joint venture
partners.

The combined summarized balance sheets of the unconsolidated joint ventures are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

(in thousands)

ASSETS
Real estate and development in process, Nt ... ...........ovuieininenennen.n. $ 924297 $4,494,971
OtNer ASSEES . v v v et 163,149 673,716
TOtAl @SSELS -« v v oot e e e $1,087,446 $5,168,687

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’/PARTNERS’ EQUITY
Mortgage and notes payable . ........ ... $ 749,732 $3,039,922
Other Habilities . . . . ..ot e 28,830 792,888
Members’/Partners” eqUity . .. ... ...ttt 308,884 1,335,877

Total liabilities and members’/partners’ equity ... ..........oouuveennn.... $1,087,446  $5,168,687
Company’s share of eqUity . ... ......ooii it $ 154,726 $ 787,941
Basis differentials (1) ... ... .. (28,642) (128,025)
Carrying value of the Company’s investments in unconsolidated joint ventures . . ... $ 126,084 $ 659,916

(1) This amount represents the aggregate difference between the Company’s historical cost basis and the basis
reflected at the joint venture level, which is typically amortized over the life of the related assets and
liabilities. Basis differentials occur from impairment of investments and upon the transfer of assets that were
previously owned by the Company into a joint venture. In addition, certain acquisition, transaction and other
costs may not be reflected in the net assets at the joint venture level.
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The combined summarized statements of operations of the joint ventures are as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Total revenue (1) . ... .. $ 311,548 $ 564,205 $ 589,294
Expenses

OPEIating . . ..ottt et 105,319 162,665 170,404

Depreciation and amortization .. ..., 86,088 163,134 190,437

Impairment 10SSes . . . . ..ot — — 40,468
Total EXPENSES . . v v ottt e 191,407 325,799 401,309
OPerating iNCOMC .« .« v vttt ettt e et e e e e e e e 120,141 238,406 187,985
Other income (expense)

INtEIeSt EXPEINSE . . o\ttt et ettt e (112,535) (224,645) (228,494)

Losses from early extinguishments of debt ...................... (1,677) — —
Income (loss) from continuing operations . ................c.coueu.... 5,929 13,761 (40,509)

Gainson salesof realestate . .......... ... . ... .. 14,207 990 —
Net income (I0SS) ..ottt e e $ 20,136 $ 14,751 $ (40,509)
Company’s share of net income (10SS) . ............. ..o iiinoon. .. $ 4612 $ 6,863 $ (25374)
Gains on sales of realestate ............. ... ... ... ... 54,501 — 46,166
Basis differential . ......... ... .. ... ... (1,017) 1,732 27,226
Elimination of inter-entity interest on partner loan .................... 16,978 40,483 37,878
Income from unconsolidated joint ventures . ......................... $ 75074 $ 49,078 $ 85,896
Gains on consolidation of joint ventures ................ ... ... ...... $ 385,991 $ — 3 —

(1) Includes straight-line rent adjustments of $7.8 million, $12.0 million and $21.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Includes net below-market rent adjustments of
$33.7 million, $91.1 million and $120.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012 includes termination income totaling
approximately $19.6 million (of which the Company’s share is approximately $11.8 million) related to a
lease termination with a tenant at 767 Fifth Avenue (The General Motors Building).

On February 28, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest completed and fully placed
in-service Annapolis Junction Building Six, a Class A office property with approximately 119,000 net rentable
square feet located in Annapolis, Maryland.

On March 31, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 30% interest completed and fully placed in-
service 500 North Capitol Street, NW, a Class A office redevelopment project with approximately 231,000 net
rentable square feet located in Washington, DC.

On April 4, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest obtained construction financing
collateralized by its Annapolis Junction Building Seven development project located in Annapolis, Maryland
totaling $22.0 million. The construction financing bears interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per
annum and matures on April 4, 2016, with two, one-year extension options, subject to certain conditions.

On April 10, 2013, the Company acquired the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View
Technology Park properties from its Value-Added Fund for an aggregate net purchase price of approximately
$233.1 million. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Value-Added Fund repaid the mortgage loans
collateralized by the Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park properties totaling
approximately $90.0 million and $20.0 million, respectively, as well as the outstanding loans payable to the
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Company’s Operating Partnership totaling approximately $8.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively. The
Mountain View Research Park and Mountain View Technology Park mortgage loans bore interest at variable
rates equal to LIBOR plus 2.00% per annum and LIBOR plus 2.50% per annum, respectively, and were
scheduled to mature on May 31, 2014 and November 22, 2014, respectively. The joint venture recognized a loss
on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.4 million, of which the Company’s share was
approximately $0.2 million, consisting of the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs. Prior to the
acquisition, the Company’s ownership interest in the properties was approximately 39.5%. As a result of the
acquisition, the Company owns 100% of the properties and is accounting for them on a consolidated basis (See
Note 3). The Company had previously recognized an impairment loss on its investment in the unconsolidated
joint venture. As a result, the Company recognized a gain on its investment of approximately $26.5 million,
which is included within gains on consolidation of joint ventures in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations.

On May 30, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 60% interest completed the sale of its 125
West 55th Street property located in New York City for a sale price of $470.0 million, including the assumption
by the buyer of the mortgage loan collateralized by the property totaling approximately $198.6 million. The
mortgage loan bore interest at a fixed rate of 6.09% per annum and was scheduled to mature on March 10, 2020.
Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $253.7 million, of which the Company’s share was approximately
$152.2 million, after the payment of transaction costs. 125 West 55th Street is a Class A office property totaling
approximately 588,000 net rentable square feet. The Company had previously recognized an impairment loss on
its investment in the unconsolidated joint venture. As a result, the Company recognized a gain on sale of real
estate totaling approximately $43.2 million, which is included within income from unconsolidated joint ventures
in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

On May 31, 2013, the Company’s two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767
Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) located in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the
joint venture to third parties. In connection with the transfer, the Company and its new joint venture partners
modified the Company’s relative decision making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s
assets and operations. These changes resulted in the Company having sufficient financial and operating control
over 767 Venture, LLC such that the Company now accounts for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767
Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in its financial statements instead of under the equity method of accounting
(See Note 3). Upon consolidation, the Company recognized a non-cash gain on its investment of approximately
$359.5 million, which is included within gains on consolidation of joint ventures in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations.

On May 31, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 30% interest refinanced its construction loan
collateralized by 500 North Capitol Street, NW located in Washington, DC. The construction loan totaling
approximately $90.6 million bore interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per annum and was
scheduled to mature on October 14, 2014. The joint venture recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt
totaling approximately $1.0 million, of which the Company’s share was approximately $0.3 million, consisting
of the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs. The new mortgage loan totaling $105.0 million requires
interest only payments at a fixed interest rate of 4.15% per annum and matures on June 6, 2023.

On June 5, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 60% interest refinanced its mortgage loans
collateralized by 540 Madison Avenue located in New York City. The mortgage loans aggregating approximately
$118.0 million bore interest at a weighted-average fixed rate of 5.20% per annum and were scheduled to mature
on July 11, 2013. The joint venture recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately
$0.3 million, of which the Company’s share was approximately $0.2 million, related to the acceleration of the
remaining balance of the historical fair value debt adjustment, which was the result of purchase accounting. The
new mortgage loan totaling $120.0 million requires interest only payments at a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus
1.50% per annum and matures on June 5, 2018.
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On July 19, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest completed the sale of its Eighth
Avenue and 46th Street project located in New York City for an imputed sale price of $45.0 million. The Eighth
Avenue and 46th Street project is comprised of an assemblage of land parcels and air-rights. Net cash proceeds to
the Company totaled approximately $21.8 million, after the payment of transaction costs. The joint venture had
previously recognized an impairment loss on the property. As a result, the joint venture recognized a gain on sale
of real estate totaling approximately $12.6 million, of which the Company’s share was approximately
$11.3 million. The Company’s share of the gain on sale of real estate is reflective of the Company’s share of the
net proceeds from the imputed sale price and is included within income from unconsolidated joint ventures in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

On September 26, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest entered into a lease
agreement for its Annapolis Junction Building Seven development project. Annapolis Junction Building Seven
when completed will consist of a Class A office property with approximately 125,000 net rentable square feet
located in Annapolis, Maryland.

On October 29, 2013, a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest exercised an option to
extend the maturity date to November 17, 2014 of the construction financing collateralized by its Annapolis
Junction Building Six property. The construction financing totaling approximately $14.0 million bears interest at
a variable rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.65% per annum and was scheduled to mature on November 17, 2013.
Annapolis Junction Building Six is a Class A office property with approximately 119,000 net rentable square feet
located in Annapolis, Maryland.

6. Mortgage Notes Payable

The Company had outstanding mortgage notes payable totaling approximately $4.4 billion and $3.1 billion
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, each collateralized by one or more buildings and related land
included in real estate assets. The mortgage notes payable are generally due in monthly installments and mature
at various dates through April 10, 2022.

Fixed rate mortgage notes payable totaled approximately $4.4 billion and $3.1 billion at December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively, with contractual interest rates ranging from 4.75% to 7.69% per annum at December 31,
2013 and 4.75% to 9.93% per annum at December 31, 2012 (with weighted-averages of 5.70% (excluding the
mezzanine notes payable) and 5.65% at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively).

There were no variable rate mortgage loans at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the LIBOR rate was 0.17% and 0.21%, respectively.

On February 5, 2013, the Company used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by its
Kingstowne One property located in Alexandria, Virginia totaling approximately $17.0 million. The mortgage
loan bore interest at a fixed rate of 5.96% per annum and was scheduled to mature on May 5, 2013. There was no
prepayment penalty.

On February 20, 2013, the foreclosure sale of the Company’s Montvale Center property was ratified by the
court. As a result of the ratification, the mortgage loan totaling $25.0 million was extinguished and the related
obligations were satisfied with the transfer of the real estate resulting in the recognition of a gain on forgiveness
of debt totaling approximately $20.2 million. The operating results of the property through the date of ratification
have been classified as discontinued operations on a historical basis for all periods (See Note 3).

On April 1, 2013, the Company used available cash to repay the mortgage loan collateralized by its 140
Kendrick Street property located in Needham, Massachusetts totaling approximately $47.6 million. The
mortgage loan bore interest at a fixed rate of 7.51% per annum and was scheduled to mature on July 1, 2013.
There was no prepayment penalty. The Company recognized a gain on early extinguishment of debt totaling
approximately $0.3 million related to the acceleration of the remaining balance of the historical fair value debt
adjustment, which was the result of purchase accounting.
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On May 31, 2013, in conjunction with the consolidation of the Company’s 767 Venture, LLC joint venture
(the entity that owns 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), the Company recorded mortgage loans
collateralized by the property aggregating $1.3 billion and mezzanine loans aggregating $306.0 million. The
mortgage loans require interest-only payments at a weighted-average fixed interest rate of 5.95% per annum and
mature on October 7, 2017. The mezzanine loans require interest-only payments at a weighted-average fixed
interest rate of 6.02% per annum and mature on October 7, 2017. The mortgage loans and mezzanine loans were
recorded at their fair values aggregating approximately $1.5 billion and $311.7 million, respectively, using
weighted-average effective interest rates of approximately 2.44% and 5.53% per annum, respectively. In
addition, in conjunction with the consolidation, the Company recorded loans payable to the joint venture’s
partners totaling $450.0 million and related accrued interest payable totaling approximately $175.8 million. The
member loans bear interest at a fixed rate of 11.0% per annum and mature on June 9, 2017. The member loans
consist of the portion of the original purchase price for the property that was financed with loans from the joint
venture’s partners on a pro rata basis. The Company has eliminated in consolidation its member loan totaling
$270.0 million and its share of the related accrued interest payable of approximately $114.5 million at
December 31, 2013. The remaining notes payable to the outside joint venture partners and related accrued
interest payable totaling $180.0 million and approximately $76.4 million as of December 31, 2013 have been
reflected as Outside Members’ Notes Payable and within Accrued Interest Payable, respectively, on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets (See Note 3). The related interest expense from the Outside Member’s Notes
Payable totaling approximately $16.0 million for the period from May 31, 2013 through December 31, 2013 is
fully allocated to the outside joint venture partners as an adjustment to Noncontrolling Interests in Property
Partnerships in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Four mortgage loans totaling approximately $2.2 billion at December 31, 2013 and five mortgage loans
totaling approximately $951.5 million at December 31, 2012 have been accounted for at their fair values on the
dates the mortgage loans were assumed. The impact of recording the mortgage loans at fair value resulted in a
decrease to interest expense of approximately $34.4 million, $7.0 million and $9.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The cumulative liability related to the fair value adjustments
was $191.2 million and $38.6 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and is included in mortgage
notes payable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Contractual aggregate principal payments of mortgage notes payable at December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Principal Payments
(in thousands)

2004 $ 87,759
200 26,182
20016 . 608,879
2007 2,821,750
2008 18,633
Thereafter . ... ... . . 695,327
Total aggregate principal payments . ............ ... ... ..o, 4,258,530
Unamortized balance of historical fair value adjustments ............. 191,204
Total carrying value of mortgage notes payable .................... $4,449,734
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7. Unsecured Senior Notes

The following summarizes the unsecured senior notes outstanding as of December 31, 2013 (dollars in
thousands):

Coupon/ Effective Principal

Stated Rate  Rate(1) Amount Maturity Date(2)
12 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.625%  5.693% $ 300,000 April 15,2015
12 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.000%  5.194% 250,000 June 1, 2015
10 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.875%  5.967% 700,000 October 15, 2019
10 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 5.625%  5.708% 700,000 November 15, 2020
10 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 4.125%  4.289% 850,000 May 15, 2021
7 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................. 3.700%  3.853% 850,000 November 15, 2018
11 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ................ 3.850% 3.954% 1,000,000 February 1, 2023
10.5 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ............... 3.125%  3.279% 500,000 September 1, 2023
10.5 Year Unsecured Senior Notes . ............... 3.800% 3.916% 700,000 February 1, 2024
Total principal ....... ... .. .. . ... . .. 5,850,000
Net unamortized discount . ...................... (14,146)
Total ... ... $5,835,854

(1) Yield on issuance date including the effects of discounts on the notes and the amortization of financing
costs.
(2) No principal amounts are due prior to maturity.

The indenture relating to the unsecured senior notes contains certain financial restrictions and requirements,
including (1) a leverage ratio not to exceed 60%, (2) a secured debt leverage ratio not to exceed 50%, (3) an
interest coverage ratio of greater than 1.50, and (4) an unencumbered asset value of not less than 150% of
unsecured debt. At December 31, 2013, the Company was in compliance with each of these financial restrictions
and requirements.

On April 11, 2013, the Company’s Operating Partnership completed a public offering of $500.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of its 3.125% senior unsecured notes due 2023. The notes were priced at 99.379% of
the principal amount to yield an effective rate (including financing fees) of 3.279% to maturity. The notes will
mature on September 1, 2023, unless earlier redeemed. The aggregate net proceeds from the offering were
approximately $492.5 million after deducting underwriting discounts and transaction expenses.

On June 27, 2013, the Company’s Operating Partnership completed a public offering of $700.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of its 3.800% senior unsecured notes due 2024. The notes were priced at 99.694% of
the principal amount to yield an effective rate (including financing fees) of 3.916% to maturity. The notes will
mature on February 1, 2024, unless earlier redeemed. The aggregate net proceeds from the offering were
approximately $691.9 million after deducting the underwriting discount and transaction expenses.
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8. Unsecured Exchangeable Senior Notes

The following summarizes the unsecured exchangeable senior notes outstanding as of December 31, 2013
(dollars in thousands):

First Optional
Redemption Date by
Coupon/ Effective Exchange  Principal the
Stated Rate Rate (1) Rate Amount Company Maturity Date
3.625% Exchangeable Senior
Notes .......coevinnn. 3.625% 4.037% 8.6974(2) $747,500 N/A February 15, 2014

Net unamortized discount . . . .. (182)
Adjustment for the equity

component allocation, net of

accumulated amortization . . . (2,438)

Total ..................... $744,880

(1) Yield on issuance date including the effects of discounts on the notes but excluding the effects of the
adjustment for the equity component allocation.

(2) The initial exchange rate is 8.5051 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes (or an initial exchange
price of approximately $117.58 per share of Boston Properties, Inc.’s common stock). In addition, the
Company entered into capped call transactions with affiliates of certain of the initial purchasers, which are
intended to reduce the potential dilution upon future exchange of the notes. The capped call transactions
were intended to increase the effective exchange price to the Company of the notes from $117.58 to
approximately $137.17 per share (subject to adjustments), representing an overall effective premium of
approximately 40% over the closing price on August 13, 2008 of $97.98 per share of Boston Properties,
Inc.”s common stock. The net cost of the capped call transactions was approximately $44.4 million. In
connection with the special dividend declared on November 27, 2013, the exchange rate of 8.5051 was
adjusted to 8.6974 shares per $1,000 principal amount of notes effective as of December 31, 2013, resulting
in an exchange price of approximately $114.98 per share of Boston Properties, Inc.’s common stock. As of
December 31, 2013, the effective exchange price was $130.21 per share. The Operating Partnership repaid
the notes on February 18, 2014 (See Note 20).

ASC 470-20 requires the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments that may be settled
in cash upon conversion (including partial cash settlement) to be separately accounted for in a manner that
reflects the issuer’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate. ASC 470-20 requires that the initial proceeds from the
sale of the Operating Partnership’s $862.5 million of 2.875% exchangeable senior notes due 2037 (all of which
had been redeemed/repurchased as of December 31, 2012), $450.0 million of 3.75% exchangeable senior notes
due 2036 (all of which have been redeemed/repurchased as of December 31, 2013) and $747.5 million of 3.625%
exchangeable senior notes due 2014 (see Note 20) be allocated between a liability component and an equity
component in a manner that reflects interest expense at the interest rate of similar nonconvertible debt that could
have been issued by the Operating Partnership at such time. The Company measured the fair value of the debt
components of the 2.875%, 3.75% and 3.625% exchangeable senior notes for the periods presented based on
effective interest rates of 5.630%, 5.958% and 6.555%, respectively. The aggregate carrying amount of the debt
component was approximately $744.9 million and $1.17 billion (net of the equity component allocation
adjustment of approximately $2.4 million and $25.5 million) at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012,
respectively. As a result, the Company attributed an aggregate of approximately $230.3 million of the proceeds
to the equity component of the notes, which represents the excess proceeds received over the fair value of the
notes at the date of issuance. The equity component of the notes has been reflected within Additional Paid-in
Capital in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company reclassified approximately $1.0 million of deferred
financing costs to Additional Paid-in Capital, which represented the costs attributable to the equity components
of the notes. The carrying amount of the equity component was approximately $91.9 million and $148.5 million
at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The resulting debt discount has been amortized over

143



the period during which the debt was expected to be outstanding (i.e., through the first optional redemption dates
or, in the case of the 2014 notes, the maturity date) as additional non-cash interest expense. The aggregate
contractual interest expense was approximately $34.8 million, $48.4 million and $66.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. As a result, the Company reported additional non-cash
interest expense of approximately $23.1 million, $29.1 million and $38.8 million for the years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

On April 15, 2013, the Company announced that holders of its Operating Partnership’s 3.75% Exchangeable
Senior Notes due 2036 (the “Notes”) had the right to surrender their Notes for purchase by the Operating
Partnership (the “Put Right”) on May 18, 2013. On April 15, 2013, the Company also announced that the
Operating Partnership issued a notice of redemption to the holders of the Notes to redeem, on May 18, 2013 (the
“Redemption Date”), all of the Notes outstanding on the Redemption Date. In connection with the notice of
redemption, holders of the Notes had the right to exchange their Notes on or prior to May 16, 2013. Notes with
respect to which the Put Right was not exercised and that were not surrendered for exchange on or prior to
May 16, 2013, were redeemed by the Operating Partnership at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the Redemption Date. Based on
final information provided to the Operating Partnership by the trustee for the Notes, no Notes were validly
tendered and accepted for purchase in the Put Right. Pursuant to the notice of redemption, an aggregate principal
amount of $990,000 of the Notes was redeemed on May 18, 2013. The remaining aggregate principal amount of
$449,010,000 of the Notes was surrendered for exchange and, in addition to the repayment of the principal in
cash, the Company issued an aggregate of 419,116 shares of its common stock in exchange for the Notes (See
Note 12). The Company recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling approximately $0.1 million
consisting of transaction costs.

9. Unsecured Line of Credit

On July 26, 2013, the Company’s Operating Partnership amended and restated the revolving credit
agreement governing the Company’s Unsecured Line of Credit, which, among other things, (1) increased the
total commitment from $750.0 million to $1.0 billion, (2) extended the maturity date from June 24, 2014 to
July 26, 2018 and (3) reduced the per annum variable interest rates and other fees. The Operating Partnership
may increase the total commitment to $1.5 billion, subject to syndication of the increase and other conditions. At
the Operating Partnership’s option, loans outstanding under the Unsecured Line of Credit will bear interest at a
rate per annum equal to (1), in the case of loans denominated in Dollars, Euro or Sterling, LIBOR or, in the case
of loans denominated in Canadian Dollars, CDOR, in each case, plus a margin ranging from 0.925% to 1.70%
based on the Operating Partnership’s credit rating or (2) an alternate base rate equal to the greatest of (a) the
Administrative Agent’s prime rate, (b) the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% or (c) LIBOR for a one month period
plus 1.00%, in each case, plus a margin ranging from 0.0% to 0.70% based on the Operating Partnership’s credit
rating. The Unsecured Line of Credit also contains a competitive bid option that allows banks that are part of the
lender consortium to bid to make loan advances to the Operating Partnership at a reduced interest rate. In
addition, the Operating Partnership is also obligated to pay (1) in quarterly installments a facility fee on the total
commitment at a rate per annum ranging from 0.125% to 0.35% based on the Operating Partnership’s credit
rating and (2) an annual fee on the undrawn amount of each letter of credit equal to the LIBOR margin. Based on
the Operating Partnership’s current credit rating, the LIBOR and CDOR margin is 1.00%, the alternate base rate
margin is 0.0% and the facility fee is 0.15%. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no amounts
outstanding on the Unsecured Line of Credit.

The terms of the Unsecured Line of Credit require that the Company maintain a number of customary
financial and other covenants on an ongoing basis, including: (1) a leverage ratio not to exceed 60%, however,
the leverage ratio may increase to no greater than 65% provided that it is reduced back to 60% within one year,
(2) a secured debt leverage ratio not to exceed 55%, (3) a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.40, (4) an
unsecured debt leverage ratio not to exceed 60%, however, the unsecured debt leverage ratio may increase to no
greater than 65% provided that it is reduced back to 60% within one year, (5) an unsecured debt interest coverage
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ratio of at least 1.75 and (6) limitations on permitted investments. At December 31, 2013, the Company was in
compliance with each of these financial and other covenant requirements.

10. Commitments and Contingencies
General

In the normal course of business, the Company guarantees its performance of services or indemnifies third
parties against its negligence. In addition, in the normal course of business, the Company guarantees to certain
tenants the obligations of its subsidiaries for the payment of tenant improvement allowances and brokerage
commissions in connection with their leases and limited costs arising from delays in delivery of their premises.

The Company has letter of credit and performance obligations of approximately $13.9 million related to
lender and development requirements.

Certain of the Company’s joint venture agreements include provisions whereby, at certain specified times,
each partner has the right to initiate a purchase or sale of the property or its interest in the joint ventures. Under
these provisions, the Company is not compelled to purchase the interest of its outside joint venture partners. See
also Noncontrolling Interest—Redeemable Interest in Property Partnership in Note 11.

In connection with the assumption of 767 Fifth Avenue’s (the General Motors Building) secured loan by the
Company’s consolidated joint venture, 767 Venture, LLC, the Company guaranteed the consolidated joint
venture’s obligation to fund various escrows, including tenant improvements, taxes and insurance in lieu of cash
deposits. As of December 31, 2013, the maximum funding obligation under the guarantee was approximately
$24.1 million. The Company earns a fee from the joint venture for providing the guarantee and has an agreement
with the outside partners to reimburse the joint venture for their share of any payments made under the guarantee.

In connection with the mortgage financing collateralized by the Company’s John Hancock Tower property
located in Boston, Massachusetts, the Company has agreed to guarantee approximately $15.9 million related to
its obligation to provide funds for certain tenant re-leasing costs. The mortgage financing matures on
January 6, 2017.

From time to time, the Company (or the applicable joint venture) has also agreed to guarantee portions of
the principal, interest or other amounts in connection with other unconsolidated joint venture borrowings. In
addition to the financial guarantees referenced above, the Company has agreed to customary environmental
indemnifications and nonrecourse carve-outs (e.g., guarantees against fraud, misrepresentation and bankruptcy)
on certain of its unconsolidated joint venture loans.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Management of the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of tenants and may require tenants to
provide some form of credit support such as corporate guarantees and/or other financial guarantees. Although the
Company’s properties are geographically diverse and the tenants operate in a variety of industries, to the extent
the Company has a significant concentration of rental revenue from any single tenant, the inability of that tenant
to make its lease payments could have an adverse effect on the Company.

Some potential losses are not covered by insurance.

The Company carries insurance coverage on its properties of types and in amounts and with deductibles that
it believes are in line with coverage customarily obtained by owners of similar properties. In response to the
uncertainty in the insurance market following the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the Federal Terrorism
Risk Insurance Act (as amended, “TRIA”) was enacted in November 2002 to require regulated insurers to make
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available coverage for “certified” acts of terrorism (as defined by the statute). The expiration date of TRIA was
extended to December 31, 2014 by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2007
(“TRIPRA”) and the Company can provide no assurance that it will be extended further. Currently, the
Company’s property insurance program per occurrence limits are $1.0 billion for its portfolio insurance program,
including coverage for acts of terrorism certified under TRIA other than nuclear, biological, chemical or
radiological terrorism (“Terrorism Coverage”). The Company also carries $250 million of Terrorism Coverage
for 601 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York (“601 Lexington Avenue”) in excess of the $1.0 billion of
coverage in the Company’s property insurance program which is provided by IXP, LLC (“IXP”) as a direct
insurer. Certain properties, including the General Motors Building located at 767 Fifth Avenue in New York,
New York (“767 Fifth Avenue”), are currently insured in separate insurance programs. The property insurance
program per occurrence limits for 767 Fifth Avenue are $1.625 billion, including Terrorism Coverage, with
$1.375 billion of Terrorism Coverage in excess of $250 million being provided by NYXP, LLC (“NYXP”), as a
direct insurer. The Company also currently carries nuclear, biological, chemical and radiological terrorism
insurance coverage for acts of terrorism certified under TRIA (“NBCR Coverage”), which is provided by IXP as
a direct insurer, for the properties in our portfolio, including 767 Fifth Avenue, but excluding certain other
properties owned in joint ventures with third parties or which the Company manages. The per occurrence limit
for NBCR Coverage is $1.0 billion. Under TRIA, after the payment of the required deductible and coinsurance,
the additional Terrorism Coverage provided by IXP for 601 Lexington Avenue, the NBCR Coverage provided by
IXP and the Terrorism Coverage provided by NYXP are backstopped by the Federal Government if the aggregate
industry insured losses resulting from a certified act of terrorism exceed a “program trigger.” The program
trigger is $100.0 million and the coinsurance is 15%. Under TRIPRA, if the Federal Government pays out for a
loss under TRIA, it is mandatory that the Federal Government recoup the full amount of the loss from insurers
offering TRIA coverage after the payment of the loss pursuant to a formula in TRIPRA. The Company may elect
to terminate the NBCR Coverage if the Federal Government seeks recoupment for losses paid under TRIA, if
there is a change in its portfolio or for any other reason. In the event TRIPRA is not extended beyond

December 31, 2014, (i) the Company will evaluate alternative approaches to secure coverage for acts of terrorism
thereby potentially increasing its overall cost of insurance, (ii) if such insurance is not available at commercially
reasonable rates with limits equal to its current coverage or at all, the Company may not continue to have full
occurrence limit coverage for acts of terrorism, (iii) the Company may not satisfy the insurance requirements
under existing or future debt financings secured by individual properties, (iv) the Company may not be able to
obtain future debt financings secured by individual properties and (v) the Company may cancel the insurance
policies issued by IXP for the NBCR Coverage and the additional Terrorism Coverage for 601 Lexington Avenue
and by NYXP for the Terrorism Coverage for 767 Fifth Avenue. The Company intends to continue to monitor
the scope, nature and cost of available terrorism insurance and maintain terrorism insurance in amounts and on
terms that are commercially reasonable.

The Company also currently carries earthquake insurance on its properties located in areas known to be subject
to earthquakes in an amount and subject to self-insurance that the Company believes are commercially reasonable.
In addition, this insurance is subject to a deductible in the amount of 5% of the value of the affected property.
Specifically, the Company currently carries earthquake insurance which covers its San Francisco region (excluding
535 Mission Street and the below grade improvements for Transbay Tower) with a $120 million per occurrence
limit and a $120 million annual aggregate limit, $20 million of which is provided by IXP, as a direct insurer. The
builders risk policy maintained for the development of 535 Mission Street in San Francisco includes a $15 million
per occurrence and annual aggregate limit of earthquake coverage. In addition, the builders risk policy maintained
for the development of the below grade improvements of the Transbay Tower in San Francisco includes a
$15 million per occurrence and annual aggregate limit of earthquake coverage. The amount of the Company’s
earthquake insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover losses from earthquakes. In addition, the amount of
earthquake coverage could impact the Company’s ability to finance properties subject to earthquake risk. The
Company may discontinue earthquake insurance or change the structure of its earthquake insurance program on
some or all of its properties in the future if the premiums exceed the Company’s estimation of the value of the
coverage.
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IXP, a captive insurance company which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acts as a direct
insurer with respect to a portion of the Company’s earthquake insurance coverage for its Greater San Francisco
properties, the additional Terrorism Coverage for 601 Lexington Avenue and the Company’s NBCR Coverage.
The additional Terrorism Coverage provided by IXP for 601 Lexington Avenue only applies to losses which
exceed the program trigger under TRIA. NYXP, a captive insurance company which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, acts as a direct insurer with respect to a portion of the Company’s Terrorism
Coverage for 767 Fifth Avenue. Currently, NYXP only insures losses which exceed the program trigger under
TRIA and NYXP reinsures with a third-party insurance company any coinsurance payable under TRIA. Insofar
as the Company owns IXP and NYXP, it is responsible for their liquidity and capital resources, and the accounts
of IXP and NYXP are part of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In particular, if a loss occurs
which is covered by the Company’s NBCR Coverage but is less than the applicable program trigger under TRIA,
IXP would be responsible for the full amount of the loss without any backstop by the Federal Government. IXP
and NYXP would also be responsible for any recoupment charges by the Federal Government in the event losses
are paid out and their insurance policies are maintained after the payout by the Federal Government. If the
Company experiences a loss and IXP or NYXP are required to pay under their insurance policies, the Company
would ultimately record the loss to the extent of the required payment. Therefore, insurance coverage provided
by IXP and NYXP should not be considered as the equivalent of third-party insurance, but rather as a modified
form of self-insurance. In addition, the Operating Partnership has issued a guarantee to cover liabilities of IXP in
the amount of $20.0 million.

The mortgages on the Company’s properties typically contain requirements concerning the financial ratings
of the insurers who provide policies covering the property. The Company provides the lenders on a regular basis
with the identity of the insurance companies in the Company’s insurance programs. The ratings of some of the
Company’s insurers are below the rating requirements in some of the Company’s loan agreements and the
lenders for these loans could attempt to claim that an event of default has occurred under the loan. The Company
believes it could obtain insurance with insurers which satisfy the rating requirements. Additionally, in the future,
the Company’s ability to obtain debt financing secured by individual properties, or the terms of such financing,
may be adversely affected if lenders generally insist on ratings for insurers or amounts of insurance which are
difficult to obtain or which result in a commercially unreasonable premium. There can be no assurance that a
deficiency in the financial ratings of one or more of the Company’s insurers will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company.

The Company continues to monitor the state of the insurance market in general, and the scope and costs of
coverage for acts of terrorism and California earthquake risk in particular, but the Company cannot anticipate
what coverage will be available on commercially reasonable terms in future policy years. There are other types of
losses, such as from wars, for which the Company cannot obtain insurance at all or at a reasonable cost. With
respect to such losses and losses from acts of terrorism, earthquakes or other catastrophic events, if the Company
experiences a loss that is uninsured or that exceeds policy limits, the Company could lose the capital invested in
the damaged properties, as well as the anticipated future revenues from those properties. Depending on the
specific circumstances of each affected property, it is possible that the Company could be liable for mortgage
indebtedness or other obligations related to the property. Any such loss could materially and adversely affect the
Company’s business and financial condition and results of operations.

Legal Matters

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of
business. These matters are generally covered by insurance. Management believes that the final outcome of such
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations or liquidity of the
Company.
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State and Local Tax Matters

Because the Company is organized and qualifies as a REIT, it is generally not subject to federal income
taxes, but is subject to certain state and local taxes. In the normal course of business, certain entities through
which the Company owns real estate either have undergone, or are currently undergoing, tax audits. Although the
Company believes that it has substantial arguments in favor of its positions in the ongoing audits, in some
instances there is no controlling precedent or interpretive guidance on the specific point at issue. Collectively, tax
deficiency notices received to date from the jurisdictions conducting the ongoing audits have not been material.
However, there can be no assurance that future audits will not occur with increased frequency or that the ultimate
result of such audits will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations.

Environmental Matters

It is the Company’s policy to retain independent environmental consultants to conduct or update Phase I
environmental assessments (which generally do not involve invasive techniques such as soil or ground water
sampling) and asbestos surveys in connection with the Company’s acquisition of properties. These pre-purchase
environmental assessments have not revealed environmental conditions that the Company believes will have a
material adverse effect on its business, assets, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, and the
Company is not otherwise aware of environmental conditions with respect to its properties that the Company
believes would have such a material adverse effect. However, from time to time environmental conditions at the
Company’s properties have required and may in the future require environmental testing and/or regulatory
filings, as well as remedial action.

In February 1999, the Company (through a joint venture) acquired from Exxon Corporation a property in
Massachusetts that was formerly used as a petroleum bulk storage and distribution facility and was known by the
state regulatory authority to contain soil and groundwater contamination. The Company developed an office park
on the property. The Company engaged a specially licensed environmental consultant to oversee the management
of contaminated soil and groundwater that was disturbed in the course of construction. Under the property
acquisition agreement, Exxon agreed to (1) bear the liability arising from releases or discharges of oil and
hazardous substances which occurred at the site prior to the Company’s ownership, (2) continue monitoring and/
or remediating such releases and discharges as necessary and appropriate to comply with applicable
requirements, and (3) indemnify the Company for certain losses arising from preexisting site conditions. Any
indemnity claim may be subject to various defenses, and there can be no assurance that the amounts paid under
the indemnity, if any, would be sufficient to cover the liabilities arising from any such releases and discharges.

Environmental investigations at some of the Company’s properties and certain properties owned by
affiliates of the Company have identified groundwater contamination migrating from off-site source properties.
In each case the Company engaged a licensed environmental consultant to perform the necessary investigations
and assessments and to prepare any required submittals to the regulatory authorities. In each case the
environmental consultant concluded that the properties qualify under the regulatory program or the regulatory
practice for a status which eliminates certain deadlines for conducting response actions at a site. The Company
also believes that these properties qualify for liability relief under certain statutory provisions or regulatory
practices regarding upgradient releases. Although the Company believes that the current or former owners of the
upgradient source properties may bear responsibility for some or all of the costs of addressing the identified
groundwater contamination, the Company will take such further response actions (if any) that it deems necessary
or advisable. Other than periodic testing at some of these properties, no such additional response actions are
anticipated at this time.

Some of the Company’s properties and certain properties owned by the Company’s affiliates are located in
urban, industrial and other previously developed areas where fill or current or historical uses of the areas have
caused site contamination. Accordingly, it is sometimes necessary to institute special soil and/or groundwater
handling procedures and/or include particular building design features in connection with development,
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construction and other property operations in order to achieve regulatory closure and/or ensure that contaminated
materials are addressed in an appropriate manner. In these situations it is the Company’s practice to investigate
the nature and extent of detected contamination and estimate the costs of required response actions and special
handling procedures. The Company then uses this information as part of its decision- making process with
respect to the acquisition and/or development of the property. For example, the Company owns a parcel in
Massachusetts which was formerly used as a quarry/asphalt batching facility. Pre-purchase testing indicated that
the site contained relatively low levels of certain contaminants. The Company has developed an office park on
this property. Prior to and during redevelopment activities, the Company engaged a specially licensed
environmental consultant to monitor environmental conditions at the site and prepare necessary regulatory
submittals based on the results of an environmental risk characterization. A submittal has been made to the
regulatory authorities in order to achieve regulatory closure at this site. The submittal included an environmental
deed restriction that mandates compliance with certain protective measures in a portion of the site where low
levels of residual soil contamination have been left in place in accordance with applicable laws.

The Company expects that resolution of the environmental matters relating to the above will not have a
material impact on its business, assets, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. However, the
Company cannot assure you that it has identified all environmental liabilities at its properties, that all necessary
remediation actions have been or will be undertaken at the Company’s properties or that the Company will be
indemnified, in full or at all, in the event that such environmental liabilities arise.

Tax Protection Obligations

In connection with the acquisition or contribution of three properties, the Company entered into agreements
for the benefit of the selling or contributing parties which specifically state that until such time as the
contributors do not hold at least a specified percentage of the OP Units owned by such person following the
contribution of the properties, or until June 9, 2017 for 767 Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building), the
Operating Partnership will not sell or otherwise transfer the properties in a taxable transaction. If the Company
does sell or transfer the properties in a taxable transaction, it would be liable to the contributors for contractual
damages.

11. Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests relate to the interests in the Operating Partnership not owned by the Company and
interests in consolidated property partnerships not wholly-owned by the Company. As of December 31, 2013, the
noncontrolling interests consisted of 15,583,370 OP Units, 1,455,761 LTIP Units, 396,500 2011 OPP Units,
396,150 2012 OPP Units, 316,325 2013 MYLTIP Units, 666,116 Series Two Preferred Units (or 874,168 OP
Units on an as converted basis) and 360,126 Series Four Preferred Units (not convertible into OP Units) held by
parties other than the Company.

Noncontrolling Interest—Redeemable Preferred Units of the Operating Partnership

The Preferred Units at December 31, 2013 consisted of 666,116 Series Two Preferred Units, which bear a
preferred distribution equal to the greater of (1) the distribution which would have been paid in respect of the
Series Two Preferred Unit had such Series Two Preferred Unit been converted into an OP Unit (including both
regular and special distributions) or (2) 6.00% per annum on a liquidation preference of $50.00 per unit, and are
convertible into OP Units at a rate of $38.10 per Preferred Unit (1.312336 OP Units for each Preferred Unit). The
holders of Series Two Preferred Units have the right to require the Operating Partnership to redeem their units for
cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit on May 12, 2014. The holders also had the right to have their
Series Two Preferred Units redeemed for cash on May 12, 2009, May 12, 2010, May 12, 2011, May 14, 2012 and
May 14, 2013, although no holder exercised such right. Due to the holders’ redemption option existing outside
the control of the Company, the Series Two Preferred Units are presented outside of permanent equity in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. In May 2014, the Company also has the right, subject to certain
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conditions, to call for redemption all of the outstanding Series Two Preferred Units for cash or to convert into OP
Units any Series Two Preferred Units that have not been previously redeemed. In the event the Company calls
the Series Two Preferred Units for redemption, the holders shall have the right to convert the Series Two
Preferred Units into OP Units.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 329,881 and 117,047 Series Two Preferred Units of
the Operating Partnership, respectively, were converted by the holders into 432,914 and 153,605 OP Units,
respectively. In addition, the Company paid the accrued preferred distributions due to the holders of Preferred
Units that were converted.

On February 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on its outstanding Series Two Preferred
Units of $0.85302 per unit. On May 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on its outstanding
Series Two Preferred Units of $0.85302 per unit. On August 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a
distribution on its outstanding Series Two Preferred Units of $0.85302 per unit. On November 15, 2013, the
Operating Partnership paid a distribution on its outstanding Series Two Preferred Units of $0.85302 per unit.

The Preferred Units at December 31, 2013 also included 360,126 Series Four Preferred Units, which bear a
preferred distribution equal to 2.00% per annum on a liquidation preference of $50.00 per unit and are not
convertible into OP Units. In order to secure the performance of certain obligations by the holders, such Series
Four Preferred Units are subject to forfeiture pursuant to the terms of a pledge agreement. The holders of Series
Four Preferred Units have the right, at certain times and subject to certain conditions set forth in the Certificate of
Designations establishing the rights, limitations and preferences of the Series Four Preferred Units, to require the
Operating Partnership to redeem all of their their units for cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit. The
Operating Partnership also has the right, at certain times and subject to certain conditions, to redeem all of the
Series Four Preferred Units for cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit. The Series Four Preferred Units
that are subject to the security interest under the pledge agreement may not be redeemed until and unless such
security interest is released. The Operating Partnership’s first right to redeem the Series Four Preferred Units was
a 30-day period beginning on August 29, 2013. Due to the holders’ redemption option existing outside the
control of the Company, the Series Four Preferred Units are presented outside of permanent equity in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. On August 29, 2013, the Company’s Operating Partnership redeemed
approximately 861,400 Series Four Preferred Units for cash at the redemption price of $50.00 per unit plus
accrued and unpaid distributions through the redemption date.

On February 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on its outstanding Series Four Preferred
Units of $0.25 per unit. On May 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on its outstanding Series
Four Preferred Units of $0.25 per unit. On August 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on its
outstanding Series Four Preferred Units of $0.25 per unit. On November 15, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid
a distribution on its outstanding Series Four Preferred Units of $0.25 per unit.
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The following table reflects the activity of the noncontrolling interests—redeemable preferred units of the
Operating Partnership for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2010 . . ..ottt $ 55,652
NELINCOME . . . e e e e e 3,339
DIiStribULIONS . . . .ot (3,339)
Balance at December 31, 2011 ... ..ot $ 55,652
Issuance of redeemable preferred units (Series Four Preferred Units) ................... 79,405
NEtINCOME . .ottt ittt e e e e e e e e e e 3,497
DistribDULIONS . . . oot (3,497)
Redemption of redeemable preferred units (Series Four Preferred Units) ................ (18,329)
Conversion of redeemable preferred units (Series Two Preferred Units) to common units . . . (5,852)
Balance at December 31, 2012 . .. ... $110,876
NEtINCOME . . .ttt 6,046
DistribUtiOnS . . .. ... (6,046)
Redemption of redeemable preferred units (Series Four Preferred Units) ................ (43,070)
Conversion of redeemable preferred units (Series Two Preferred Units) to common units . . . . . . (16,494)
Balance at December 31, 2013 . . .ottt $ 51,312

Noncontrolling Interest—Redeemable Interest in Property Partnership

On October 4, 2012, the Company completed the formation of a joint venture, which owns and operates
Fountain Square located in Reston, Virginia. The joint venture partner contributed the property valued at
approximately $385.0 million and related mortgage indebtedness totaling approximately $211.3 million for a
nominal 50% interest in the joint venture. The Company contributed cash totaling approximately $87.0 million
for its nominal 50% interest, which cash was distributed to the joint venture partner. Pursuant to the joint venture
agreement (i) the Company has rights to acquire the partner’s nominal 50% interest and (ii) the partner has the
right to cause the Company to acquire the partner’s interest on January 4, 2016, in each case at a fixed price
totaling approximately $102.0 million in cash. The fixed price option rights expire on January 31, 2016. The
Company is consolidating this joint venture due to the Company’s right to acquire the partner’s nominal 50%
interest. The Company initially recorded the noncontrolling interest at its acquisition-date fair value as temporary
equity, due to the redemption option existing outside the control of the Company. The Company will accrete the
changes in the redemption value quarterly over the period from the acquisition date to the earliest redemption
date using the effective interest method. The Company will record the accretion after the allocation of net income
and distributions of cash flow to the noncontrolling interest account balance.

The following table reflects the activity of the noncontrolling interest—redeemable interest in property
partnership in the Company’s Fountain Square consolidated joint venture for the for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2011 . . ... .o $ —
Acquisition-date fair value of redeemable interest ............. .. .. ... .. .. .. . ..., 98,787
Nt L0SS .« oot e (719)
DistribULIONS . . . ot (3,032)
Adjustment to reflect redeemable interest at redemption value .. ...................... 2,522
Balance at December 31, 2012 . . . ..ot $97,558
Nt 0SS .+ v vt ettt et e e (1,839)
DistribUtiONS . . . . ..o (4,585)
Adjustment to reflect redeemable interest at redemption value .. ...................... 8,475
Balance at December 31, 2013 . . . oottt $99,609




Noncontrolling Interest—Common Units of the Operating Partnership

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 929,441 and 1,110,660 OP Units, respectively, were
presented by the holders for redemption (including 432,914 and 153,605 OP Units, respectively, issued upon
conversion of Series Two Preferred Units and 24,028 and 544,729 OP Units, respectively, issued upon
conversion of LTIP Units) and were redeemed by the Company in exchange for an equal number of shares of
Common Stock.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had outstanding 396,500 2011 OPP Units and 396,150 2012 OPP
Units and 316,325 2013 MYLTIP Units (See Note 17). Prior to the measurement date (January 31, 2014 for 2011
OPP Units (See Note 20), February 6, 2015 for 2012 OPP Units and February 4, 2016 for 2013 MYLTIP Units),
holders of OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units are entitled to receive per unit distributions equal to one-tenth
(10%) of the regular quarterly distributions payable on an OP Unit, but will not be entitled to receive any special
distributions. After the measurement date, the number of OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units, both vested and
unvested, that OPP and 2013 MYLTIP award recipients have earned, if any, based on the establishment of an
outperformance pool, will be entitled to receive distributions in an amount per unit equal to distributions, both
regular and special, payable on an OP Unit.

On January 29, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on the OP Units and LTIP Units in the
amount of $0.65 per unit, and a distribution on the 2011 OPP Units and 2012 OPP Units in the amount of $0.065
per unit, to holders of record as of the close of business on December 31, 2012. On April 30, 2013, the Operating
Partnership paid a distribution on the OP Units and LTIP Units in the amount of $0.65 per unit, and a distribution
on the 2011 OPP Units, 2012 OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units in the amount of $0.065 per unit, to holders of
record as of the close of business on March 29, 2013. On July 31, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a
distribution on the OP Units and LTIP Units in the amount of $0.65 per unit, and a distribution on the 2011 OPP
Units, 2012 OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units in the amount of $0.065 per unit, to holders of record as of the
close of business on June 28, 2013. On October 31, 2013, the Operating Partnership paid a distribution on the OP
Units and LTIP Units in the amount of $0.65 per unit and a distribution on the 2011 OPP Units, 2012 OPP Units
and 2013 MYLTIP Units in the amount of $0.065 per unit, to holders of record as of the close of business on
September 30, 2013. On November 27, 2013, the Company, as general partner of the Operating Partnership,
declared a special cash distribution on the OP Units and LTIP Units in the amount of $2.25 per unit payable on
January 29, 2014 to holders of record as of the close of business on December 31, 2013. The special cash
distribution was in addition to the regular quarterly distribution on the OP Units and LTIP Units of $0.65 per unit
and the distribution on the 2011 OPP Units, 2012 OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units in the amount of $0.065
per unit, in each case payable on January 29, 2014 to holders of record as of the close of business on
December 31, 2013. Holders of the 2011 OPP Units, 2012 OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units are not entitled to
receive any special distributions. Holders of Series Two Preferred Units will participate in the special cash
dividend (separately from their regular February 2014 distribution) on an as-converted basis in connection with
their regular May 2014 distribution payment as provided in the Operating Partnership’s partnership agreement.

The Series Two Preferred Units may be converted into OP Units at the election of the holder thereof at any
time. A holder of an OP Unit may present such OP Unit to the Operating Partnership for redemption at any time
(subject to restrictions agreed upon at the time of issuance of OP Units to particular holders that may restrict such
redemption right for a period of time, generally one year from issuance). Upon presentation of an OP Unit for
redemption, the Operating Partnership must redeem such OP Unit for cash equal to the then value of a share of
common stock of the Company. The Company may, in its sole discretion, elect to assume and satisfy the
redemption obligation by paying either cash or issuing one share of Common Stock. The value of the OP Units
(not owned by the Company and including LTIP Units assuming that all conditions had been met for the
conversion thereof) and Series Two Preferred Units (on an as converted basis) had all of such units been
redeemed at December 31, 2013 was approximately $1.7 billion and $87.7 million, respectively, based on the
closing price of the Company’s common stock of $100.37 per share on December 31, 2013.
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Noncontrolling Interest—Property Partnerships

The noncontrolling interests in property partnerships consist of the outside equity interests in ventures that
are consolidated with the financial results of the Company because the Company exercises control over the
entities that own the properties. The equity interests in these ventures that are not owned by the Company,
totaling approximately $726.1 million at December 31, 2013 and approximately $(2.0) million at December 31,
2012, are included in Noncontrolling Interests—Property Partnerships on the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

On February 7, 2013, the partner in the Company’s Transbay Tower joint venture issued a notice that it was
electing under the joint venture agreement to reduce its nominal ownership interest in the venture from 50% to
5%. On February 26, 2013, the Company issued a notice to the partner electing to proceed with the venture on
that basis. As a result, the Company has a 95% nominal interest in and is consolidating the joint venture. Under
the joint venture agreement, if certain return thresholds are achieved the partner will be entitled to an additional
promoted interest. Also, under the agreement, (1) the partner has the right to cause the Company to purchase the
partner’s interest after the defined stabilization date and (2) the Company has the right to acquire the partner’s
interest on the third anniversary of the stabilization date, in each case at an agreed upon purchase price or
appraised value. On March 26, 2013, the consolidated joint venture completed the acquisition of a land parcel in
San Francisco, California which will support a 60-story, 1.4 million square foot office tower known as Transbay
Tower. The purchase price for the land was approximately $192.0 million. The joint venture has commenced
construction of the initial phase of the development consisting of building the project to grade (See Note 3).

On May 31, 2013, the Company’s two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767
Fifth Avenue(the General Motors Building) in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the joint
venture to third parties. In connection with the transfer, the Company and its new joint venture partners modified
the Company’s relative decision making authority and consent rights with respect to the joint venture’s assets and
operations. These changes resulted in the Company having sufficient financial and operating control over 767
Venture, LLC such that the Company now accounts for the assets, liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC
on a consolidated basis in its financial statements instead of under the equity method of accounting. Upon
consolidation, the Company recognized the new joint venture partners’ aggregate 40% equity interest at its
aggregate fair value of approximately $480.9 million within Noncontrolling Interests—Property Partnerships on
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets (See Notes 3 and 5).

On October 9, 2013, the Company completed the sale of a 45% ownership interest in its Times Square
Tower property for a gross sale price of $684.0 million in cash. Net cash proceeds totaled approximately $673.1
million, after the payment of transaction costs. In connection with the sale, the Company formed a joint venture
with the buyer and will provide customary property management and leasing services to the joint venture. Times
Square Tower is an approximately 1,246,000 net rentable square foot Class A office tower located in New York
City. The transaction did not qualify as a sale of real estate for financial reporting purposes because the Company
continues to control the joint venture and will therefore continue to account for the entity on a consolidated basis
in its financial statements. The Company has accounted for the transaction as an equity transaction and has
recognized noncontrolling interest in its consolidated balance sheets totaling approximately $243.5 million,
which is equal to 45% of the carrying value of the total equity of the property immediately prior to the
transaction. The difference between the net cash proceeds received and the noncontrolling interest recognized,
which difference totals approximately $429.6 million, has not been reflected as a gain on sale of real estate in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and has instead been reflected as an increase to Additional
Paid-in Capital in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets (See Notes 3).
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12. Stockholders’ Equity
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had 152,983,101 shares of Common Stock outstanding.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $305.3 million remained available for issuance under the
Company’s $600 million “at the market” stock offering program. No shares were issued under the “at the
market” stock offering program during the year ended December 31, 2013.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company did not issue any shares of Common Stock upon
the exercise of options to purchase Common Stock by employees. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the
Company issued 22,823 shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of options to purchase Common Stock by
certain employees.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company issued 929,441 and 1,110,660 shares of
Common Stock, respectively, in connection with the redemption of an equal number of OP Units.

On January 29, 2013, the Company paid a dividend in the amount of $0.65 per share of Common Stock to
shareholders of record as of the close of business on December 31, 2012. On April 30, 2013, the Company paid a
dividend in the amount of $0.65 per share of Common Stock to shareholders of record as of the close of business
on March 29, 2013. On July 31, 2013, the Company paid a dividend in the amount of $0.65 per share of Common
Stock to shareholders of record as of the close of business on June 28, 2013. On October 31, 2013, the Company
paid a dividend in the amount of $0.65 per share of Common Stock to shareholders of record as of the close of
business on September 30, 2013.

On November 27, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $2.25 per
share of Common Stock payable on January 29, 2014 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on
December 31, 2013. The special cash dividend was in addition to the regular quarterly dividend of $0.65 per
share of Common Stock declared by the Company’s Board of Directors and payable on January 29, 2014 to
shareholders of record as of the close of business on December 31, 2013.

On March 27, 2013, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 80,000 shares (8,000,000
depositary shares each representing 1/100th of a share) of its newly designated 5.25% Series B Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock, at a price of $2,500.00 per share ($25.00 per depositary share). The net proceeds
from this offering were approximately $193.6 million, after deducting the underwriting discount and transaction
expenses. The Company contributed the net proceeds to the Operating Partnership in exchange for 80,000 Series
B Preferred Units having terms and preferences generally mirroring those of the Series B Preferred Stock. The
Company will pay cumulative cash dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock at a rate of 5.25% per annum of the
$2,500.00 liquidation preference per share. The Company may not redeem the Series B Preferred Stock prior to
March 27, 2018, except in certain circumstances relating to the preservation of the Company’s REIT status. On
or after March 27, 2018, the Company, at its option, may redeem the Series B Preferred Stock for a cash
redemption price of $2,500.00 per share ($25.00 per depositary share), plus all accrued and unpaid dividends.
The Series B Preferred Stock is not redeemable by the holders, has no maturity date and is not convertible into
any other security of the Company or its affiliates.

On May 15, 2013, the Company paid a dividend on its outstanding Series B Preferred Stock of $32.8125 per
share. On August 15, 2013, the Company paid a dividend on its outstanding Series B Preferred Stock of $32.8125
per share. On November 15, 2013, the Company paid a dividend on its outstanding Series B Preferred Stock of
$32.8125 per share. On November 27, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $32.8125
per share of Series B Preferred Stock payable on February 18, 2014 to shareholders of record as of the close of
business on February 7, 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company issued 419,116 shares of Common Stock in
connection with the exchange by holders of its Operating Partnership’s 3.75% Exchangeable Senior Notes due
2036 (See Note 8).
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13. Future Minimum Rents

The properties are leased to tenants under net operating leases with initial term expiration dates ranging
from 2014 to 2048. The future contractual minimum lease payments to be received (excluding operating expense
reimbursements) by the Company as of December 31, 2013, under non-cancelable operating leases which expire
on various dates through 2048, are as follows:

Years Ending December 31, (in thousands)
2004 e $1,716,754
200D o e 1,706,282
2006 .o 1,660,890
2007 o e 1,510,645
2008 o e 1,342,157
Thereafter . . .. ... ... 6,674,466

No single tenant represented more than 10.0% of the Company’s total rental revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

14. Segment Information

The Company’s segments are based on the Company’s method of internal reporting which classifies its
operations by both geographic area and property type. The Company’s segments by geographic area are Boston,
New York, Princeton, San Francisco and Washington, DC. Segments by property type include: Class A Office,
Office/Technical, Residential and Hotel.

Asset information by segment is not reported because the Company does not use this measure to assess
performance. Therefore, depreciation and amortization expense is not allocated among segments. Interest and
other income, development and management services, general and administrative expenses, transaction costs,
interest expense, depreciation and amortization expense, gains (losses) from investments in securities, gains
(losses) from early extinguishments of debt, income from unconsolidated joint ventures, gains on consolidation
of joint ventures, impairment loss, discontinued operations and noncontrolling interests are not included in Net
Operating Income as internal reporting addresses these items on a corporate level.

Net Operating Income is not a measure of operating results or cash flows from operating activities as
measured by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and it is not indicative of
cash available to fund cash needs and should not be considered an alternative to cash flows as a measure of
liquidity. All companies may not calculate Net Operating Income in the same manner. The Company considers
Net Operating Income to be an appropriate supplemental measure to net income because it helps both investors
and management to understand the core operations of the Company’s properties.

We have modified the presentation of expenses to operate our San Francisco and Princeton regional offices
to reflect the growing activity in our San Francisco region and to have a consistent presentation across our
company. For San Francisco these expenses, which totaled approximately $6.7 million, $6.1 million and $6.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and for Princeton these expenses
were approximately $1.4 million, $1.6 million and $1.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively, were previously included in Rental Operating Expenses and are now included in General and
Administrative Expenses for all periods presented.

On May 31, 2013, the Company’s two joint venture partners in 767 Venture, LLC (the entity that owns 767
Fifth Avenue (the General Motors Building) located in New York City) transferred all of their interests in the
joint venture to third parties (See Note 3). Effective as of May 31, 2013, the Company accounts for the assets,
liabilities and operations of 767 Venture, LLC on a consolidated basis in its financial statements instead of under
the equity method of accounting. Upon consolidation, the operations for this building are included in the New
York region.
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Information by geographic area and property type (dollars in thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 2013:

San Washington,
Boston New York Princeton Francisco DC Total
Rental Revenue:
Class AOffice ................ $665,991 $662,888 $62,678 $214,755 $381,359 $1,987,671
Office/Technical .............. 22,617 — — 17,259 15,649 55,525
Residential ................... 4,395 — — — 17,923 22,318
Hotel ......... ... .. ........ 40,330 — — — — 40,330
Total .................... 733,333 662,888 62,678 232,014 414,931 2,105,844
9% of Grand Totals ................. 34.82% 31.48% 2.98% 11.02% 19.70% 100.00%
Rental Expenses:
Class AOffice ................ 259,997 223,265 28,375 77,905 126,507 716,049
Office/Technical .............. 6,879 — — 3,708 4,190 14,777
Residential ................... 1,823 — — — 10,307 12,130
Hotel ....................... 28,447 — — — — 28,447
Total .................... 297,146 223,265 28,375 81,613 141,004 771,403
% of Grand Totals ................. 38.52% 28.94% 3.68% 10.58% 18.28% 100.00%
Net operating income . . ............. $436,187 $439,623 $34,303 $150,401 $273,927 $1,334,441
% of Grand Totals ................. 32.69% 32.94% 2.57% 11.27% 20.53% 100.00%
For the year ended December 31, 2012:
San Washington,
Boston New York Princeton Francisco DC Total
Rental Revenue:
Class AOffice ................ $617,652 $481,844 $61,350 $208,177 $346,402 $1,715,425
Office/Technical .............. 22,460 — — 494 16,264 39,218
Residential ................... 3,936 — — — 16,632 20,568
Hotel ....................... 37,915 — — — — 37,915
Total .................... 681,963 481,844 61,350 208,671 379,298 1,813,126
% of Grand Totals ................. 37.61% 26.58% 3.38% 11.51% 20.92% 100.00%
Rental Expenses:
Class AOffice ................ 242,904 160,386 27,601 75,542 111,049 617,482
Office/Technical .............. 6,499 — — 149 3,966 10,614
Residential ................... 1,675 — — — 9,317 10,992
Hotel ......... ... .. ........ 28,120 — — — — 28,120
Total .................... 279,198 160,386 27,601 75,691 124,332 667,208
% of Grand Totals ................. 41.85% 24.04% 4.14% 11.34% 18.63% 100.00%
Net operating income . .............. $402,765 $321,458 $33,749 $132,980 $254,966 $1,145,918
% of Grand Totals ................. 35.15% 28.05% 2.95% 11.60% 22.25% 100.00%
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For the year ended December 31, 2011:

San Washington,
Boston New York Princeton Francisco DC Total
Rental Revenue:
Class AOffice ................ $537,743 $458,791 $62,648 $207,003 $340,470 $1,606,655
Office/Technical .............. 25,349 — — — 16,236 41,585
Residential ................... 985 — — — 5,632 6,617
Hotel ......... ... .. ........ 34,529 — — — — 34,529
Total .................... 598,606 458,791 62,648 207,003 362,338 1,689,386
% of Grand Totals ................. 35.43% 27.16% 3.71% 12.25% 21.45% 100.00%
Rental Expenses:
Class AOffice ................ 206,469 152,649 28,620 72,122 95,804 555,664
Office/Technical .............. 7,245 — — — 4,280 11,525
Residential ................... 521 — — — 4,958 5,479
Hotel ....................... 26,128 — — — — 26,128
Total .................... 240,363 152,649 28,620 72,122 105,042 598,796
9% of Grand Totals ................. 40.14% 25.49% 4.78% 12.05% 17.54% 100.00%
Net operating income . . ............. $358,243  $306,142 $34,028 $134,881 $257,296  $1,090,590
% of Grand Totals ................. 32.85% 28.07% 3.12% 12.37% 23.59% 100.00%

The following is a reconciliation of Net Operating Income to net income attributable to Boston Properties,

Inc.:

Net Operating Income
Add:
Development and management services income
Income from unconsolidated joint ventures
Gains on consolidation of joint ventures
Interest and other income
Gains (losses) from investments in securities
Gains (losses) from early extinguishments of debt
Income from discontinued operations
Gains on sales of real estate from discontinued operations
Gain on forgiveness of debt from discontinued operations
Less:
General and administrative expense
Transaction costs
Depreciation and amortization expense
Interest expense
Impairment loss
Impairment loss from discontinued operations
Noncontrolling interest in property partnerships
Noncontrolling interest—redeemable preferred units of the
Operating Partnership
Noncontrolling interest—common units of the Operating
Partnership
Noncontrolling interest in discontinued operations—common units
of the Operating Partnership

Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ..................
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Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$1,334,441 $1,145,918 $1,090,590
29,695 34,060 33,406
75,074 49,078 85,896
385,991 — —
8,310 10,091 5,358
2911 1,389 (443)
122 (4,453) (1,494)
8,022 9,806 10,876
112,829 36,877 —
20,182 — —
115,329 90,129 87,101
1,744 3,653 1,987
560,637 445,875 429,742
446,880 410,970 391,533
8,306 — —
3,241 — —
1,347 3,792 1,558
6,046 3,497 3,339
70,085 30,125 35,007
14,151 5,075 1,243
$ 749811 $ 289,650 $ 272,679




15. Earnings Per Share

The following table provides a reconciliation of both the net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc.
and the number of common shares used in the computation of basic earnings per share (“EPS”), which is
calculated by dividing net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. by the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. The terms of the Series Two Preferred Units enable the holders to
obtain OP Units of the Operating Partnership, as well as Common Stock of the Company, and as a result these
are considered participating securities. Unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights
to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are also participating securities. As such, unvested
restricted common stock of the Company, LTIP Units, OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units are considered
participating securities. Participating securities are included in the computation of basic EPS of the Company
using the two-class method. Participating securities are included in the computation of diluted EPS of the
Company using the if-converted method if the impact is dilutive. Because the OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP
Units require the Company to outperform absolute and relative return thresholds, unless such thresholds have
been met by the end of the applicable reporting period, the Company excludes such units from the diluted EPS
calculation. Other potentially dilutive common shares, including stock options, restricted stock and other
securities of the Operating Partnership that are exchangeable for the Company’s Common Stock, and the related
impact on earnings, are considered when calculating diluted EPS.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)
Basic Earnings:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Boston

Properties, INC. . ..ot $618,113 152,201 $ 4.06
Discontinued operations attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. . .. 123,641 — 0.81
Allocation of undistributed earnings to participating securities . . . . (160) — —
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common

shareholders . ... $741,594 152,201 $ 4.87

Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Stock Based Compensation and Exchangeable Senior Notes . . ... — 320 (0.01)
Diluted Earnings:
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common
shareholders .. ... ... $741,594 152,521 $ 4.86

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)
Basic Earnings:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Boston

Properties, Inc. ......... .. $248,042 150,120 $1.65
Discontinued operations attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ... 41,608 — 0.28
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common
shareholders . ... $289,650 150,120 $1.93
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Stock Based Compensation and Exchangeable Senior Notes ... .. — 591 (0.01)
Diluted Earnings:
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common
shareholders .. ...... .. $289,650 150,711 $1.92




For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)
Basic Earnings:
Income from continuing operations attributable to Boston

Properties, Inc. ....... . . $263,046 145,693 $ 1.80
Discontinued operations attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. . ... 9,633 — 0.07
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common
shareholders . ....... ... $272,679 145,693 $1.87
Effect of Dilutive Securities:
Stock Based Compensation and Exchangeable Senior Notes ... ... — 525 (0.01)
Diluted Earnings:
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. common
shareholders . ....... ... ... ... . . . . . $272,679 146,218 $ 1.86

16. Employee Benefit Plans

Effective January 1, 1985, the predecessor of the Company adopted a 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Plan”) for its
employees. Under the Plan, as amended, employees, as defined, are eligible to participate in the Plan after they have
completed three months of service. Upon formation, the Company adopted the Plan and the terms of the Plan.

Effective January 1, 2000, the Company amended the Plan by increasing the Company’s matching
contribution to 200% of the first 3% from 200% of the first 2% of participant’s eligible earnings contributed
(utilizing earnings that are not in excess of an amount established by the IRS ($255,000, $250,000 and $245,000
in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively), indexed for inflation) and by eliminating the vesting requirement. The
Company’s aggregate matching contribution for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was
$3.4 million, $3.2 million and $3.1 million, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company amended the Plan to provide a supplemental retirement
contribution to certain employees who have at least ten years of service on January 1, 2001, and who are 40 years
of age or older as of January 1, 2001. The maximum supplemental retirement contribution will not exceed the
annual limit on contributions established by the IRS. The Company will record an annual supplemental
retirement credit for the benefit of each participant. The Company’s supplemental retirement contribution and
credit for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $60,000, $78,000 and $62,000, respectively.

The Company also maintains a deferred compensation plan that is designed to allow officers of the
Company to defer a portion of their current income on a pre-tax basis and receive a tax-deferred return on these
deferrals. The Company’s obligation under the plan is that of an unsecured promise to pay the deferred
compensation to the plan participants in the future. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had
maintained approximately $16.6 million and $12.2 million, respectively, in a separate account, which is not
restricted as to its use. The Company’s liability under the plan is equal to the total amount of compensation
deferred by the plan participants and earnings on the deferred compensation pursuant to investments elected by
the plan participants. The Company’s liability as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $16.6 million and
$12.2 million, respectively, which are included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

17. Stock Option and Incentive Plan

At the Company’s 2012 annual meeting of stockholders held on May 15, 2012, the stockholders of the
Company approved the Boston Properties, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”). The
2012 Plan replaced the 1997 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “1997 Plan”). The material terms of the 2012
Plan include, among other things: (1) the maximum number of shares of common stock reserved and available
for issuance under the 2012 Plan is the sum of (i) 13,000,000 newly authorized shares, plus (ii) the number of
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shares available for grant under the 1997 Stock Plan immediately prior to the effective date of the 2012 Plan, plus
(iii) any shares underlying grants under the 1997 Plan that are forfeited, cancelled or terminated (other than by
exercise) in the future; (2) “full-value” awards (i.e., awards other than stock options) are multiplied by a 2.32
conversion ratio to calculate the number of shares available under the 2012 Plan that are used for each full-value
award, as opposed to a 1.0 conversion ratio for each stock option awarded under the 2012 Plan; (3) shares
tendered or held back for taxes will not be added back to the reserved pool under the 2012 Plan; (4) stock options
may not be re-priced without stockholder approval; and (5) the term of the 2012 Plan is for ten years from the
date of stockholder approval.

On January 28, 2013, the Company’s Compensation Committee approved multi-year long-term incentive
program (MYLTIP) awards under the Company’s 2012 Plan to officers and employees of the Company.
MYLTIP awards utilize total return to shareholders (“TRS”) over a three-year measurement period, on an
annualized, compounded basis, as the performance metric. Earned awards will be based on the Company’s TRS
relative to (i) the Cohen & Steers Realty Majors Portfolio Index (50% weight) and (ii) the NAREIT Office Index
adjusted to exclude the Company (50% weight). Earned awards will range from zero to a maximum of
approximately $30.7 million depending on the Company’s TRS relative to the two indices, with four tiers
(threshold: approximately $5.1 million; target: approximately $10.2 million; high: approximately $20.5 million;
exceptional: approximately $30.7 million) and linear interpolation between tiers. Earned awards measured on the
basis of relative TRS performance are subject to an absolute TRS component in the form of relatively simple
modifiers that (A) reduce the level of earned awards in the event the Company’s annualized TRS is less than 2%
and (B) cause some awards to be earned in the event the Company’s annualized TRS is more than 10% even
though on a relative basis alone the Company’s TRS would not result in any earned awards.

Earned awards (if any) will vest 25% on February 4, 2016, 25% on February 4, 2017 and 50% on
February 4, 2018, based on continued employment. Vesting will be accelerated in the event of a change in
control, termination of employment by the Company without cause, termination of employment by the award
recipient for good reason, death, disability or retirement. If there is a change of control prior to February 4, 2016,
earned awards will be calculated based on TRS performance up to the date of the change of control. MYLTIP
awards are in the form of LTIP Units issued on the grant date which (i) are subject to forfeiture to the extent
awards are not earned and (ii) prior to the performance measurement date are only entitled to one-tenth (10%) of
the regular quarterly distributions payable on common partnership units.

On March 11, 2013, the Company announced that Owen D. Thomas would succeed Mortimer B.
Zuckerman as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, effective April 2, 2013. On April 2, 2013, the Company
issued 24,231 LTIP units, 38,926 2013 MYLTIP Units and 50,847 non-qualified stock options under the 2012
Plan to Mr. Thomas, pursuant to his employment agreement. Mr. Zuckerman will continue to serve as Executive
Chairman for a transition period and thereafter is expected to continue to serve as the Non-Executive Chairman
of the Board. In connection with succession planning, the Company and Mr. Zuckerman entered into a Transition
Benefits Agreement. If Mr. Zuckerman remains employed by the Company through July 1, 2014, he will be
entitled to receive on January 1, 2015 a lump sum cash payment of $6.7 million and an equity award with a
targeted value of approximately $11.1 million. The cash payment and equity award vest one-third on each of
March 10, 2013, October 1, 2013 and July 1, 2014, subject to acceleration in certain circumstances. As a result,
the Company recognized approximately $13.8 million of compensation expense during the year ended
December 31, 2013. In addition, the agreement provides that if Mr. Zuckerman terminates his employment with
the Company for any reason, voluntarily or involuntarily, he will become fully vested in any outstanding equity
awards with time-based vesting. As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company accelerated
the remaining approximately $12.9 million of stock-based compensation expense associated with
Mr. Zuckerman’s unvested long-term equity awards.

Under the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718
“Compensation-Stock Compensation” the MYLTIP awards granted to employees in February 2013 and granted
to Mr. Thomas in April 2013 have an aggregate value of approximately $9.2 million, which amount will
generally be amortized into earnings over the five-year plan period under the graded vesting method.
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The Company issued 36,730, 20,756 and 19,030 shares of restricted common stock and 184,733, 174,650
and 190,067 LTIP Units to employees and non-employee directors under the 1997 Plan and 2012 Plan during the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The Company issued 252,220, 186,007 and 146,844 non-
qualified stock options under the 1997 Plan during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The
amounts issued during 2013 include the amounts issued to Mr. Thomas pursuant to his employment agreement,
as discussed above. The Company issued 400,000 2011 OPP Units to employees under the 1997 Plan during the
year ended December 31, 2011. The Company issued 400,000 2012 OPP Units to employees under the 1997 Plan
during the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company issued 318,926 2013 MYLTIP Units to employees
under the 2012 Plan during the year ended December 31, 2013, including the amounts issued to Mr. Thomas
pursuant to his employment agreement, as discussed above. Employees and directors paid $0.01 per share of
restricted common stock and $0.25 per LTIP Unit, OPP Unit and 2013 MYLTIP Unit. An LTIP Unit is generally
the economic equivalent of a share of restricted stock in the Company. The aggregate value of the LTIP Units is
included in noncontrolling interests in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Grants of restricted stock and LTIP
Units to employees vest in four equal annual installments. Restricted stock is measured at fair value on the date
of grant based on the number of shares granted, as adjusted for forfeitures, and the closing price of the
Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange. Such value is
recognized as an expense ratably over the corresponding employee service period. Non-qualified stock options,
which are valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, are recognized as an expense ratably over the
corresponding employee service period. As the 2011 OPP Awards, 2012 OPP Awards and 2013 MYLTIP
Awards are subject to both a service condition and a market condition, the Company recognizes the
compensation expense related to the 2011 OPP Awards, 2012 OPP Awards and 2013 MYLTIP Awards under the
graded vesting attribution method. Under the graded vesting attribution method, each portion of the award that
vests at a different date is accounted for as a separate award and recognized over the period appropriate to that
portion so that the compensation cost for each portion should be recognized in full by the time that portion vests.
Dividends paid on both vested and unvested shares of restricted stock are charged directly to Dividends in Excess
of Earnings in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Aggregate stock-based compensation expense associated with
restricted stock, non-qualified stock options, LTIP Units, 2011 OPP Units, 2012 OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP
Units was approximately $43.9 million, $28.3 million and $28.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2013, stock-based compensation expense includes
approximately $21.5 million consisting of the acceleration of the expense of the Company’s Executive
Chairman’s stock-based compensation awards and the stock-based compensation awards associated with his
transition benefits agreement related to the Company’s succession planning. For the year ended December 31,
2012, stock-based compensation expense includes approximately $2.7 million consisting of the acceleration of
vesting of the Company’s Chief Operating Officer’s stock-based compensation awards associated with his
resignation. Upon the conclusion of the three-year measurement period in February 2011, the 2008 OPP Awards
were not earned, the program was terminated and the Company accelerated the then remaining unrecognized
compensation expense totaling approximately $4.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2011. At
December 31, 2013, there was $17.6 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested
restricted stock and LTIP Units and $11.1 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested
2011 OPP Units, 2012 OPP Units and 2013 MYLTIP Units that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of approximately 2.7 years (See Note 20).

The shares of restricted stock were valued at approximately $3.9 million ($105.30 per share weighted-
average), $2.2 million ($107.31 per share weighted-average) and $1.8 million ($93.40 per share weighted-
average) for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

LTIP Units were valued using a Monte Carlo simulation method model in accordance with the provisions of
ASC 718 “Compensation—Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”). LTIP Units issued during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 were valued at approximately $17.8 million, $17.3 million and $16.5 million,
respectively. The weighted-average per unit fair value of LTIP Unit grants in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $96.13,
$98.83 and $86.74, respectively. The per unit fair value of each LTIP Unit granted in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was
estimated on the date of grant using the following assumptions; an expected life of 5.7 years, 5.8 years and
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5.8 years, a risk-free interest rate of 1.03%, 0.94% and 2.22% and an expected price volatility of 26.0%, 29.1%
and 30.0%, respectively.

The non-qualified stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 had a
weighted-average fair value on the date of grant of $18.46, $19.50 and $24.67 per option, respectively, which was
computed using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model utilizing the following assumptions: an expected life of 6.0
years, 5.4 years and 6.0 years, a risk-free interest rate of 1.11%, 0.92% and 2.37%, an expected price volatility of
26.0%, 28.4% and 35.0% and an expected dividend yield of 3.0%, 2.9% and 3.0%, respectively. The exercise price
of the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 where $105.10, $107.23 and
$92.71, respectively, which was the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock options as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and
changes during the years then ended are presented below:

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares Price
Outstanding at December 31,2010 .......... ... ... . ... 324938 $ 32.65
Granted . . . ..ot 146,844  $ 92.71
ExXercised ... ... e (316,159) $ 32.63
Canceled . . .. ..o — $ —
Outstanding at December 31,2011 ....... ... ... .. ... .. 155,623 $ 89.35
Granted . . . . oo 186,007  $107.23
EXEICISEd . ..ottt (22,823) $ 72.42
Canceled . . ... (24,280) $100.15
Outstanding at December 31,2012 ....... ... ... . . i 294,527  $101.06
Granted . .. ... 252,220  $104.50
EXercised ... ... — $ —
Canceled . . ... i — $ —
Special dividend adjustment .. ............. . ... 12,076 $100.44
Outstanding at December 31,2013 ....... ... . ... .. . i 558,823  $100.43

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Number
Outstanding at Remaining Exercise = Number Exercisable
M 12/31/13 Contractual Life Price at 12/31/13 Exercise Price
$90.71 131,837 7.1 years $ 90.71 80,240 $ 90.71
$99.94 51,971 9.3 years $ 99.94 — $ —
$102.83 205,821 9.1 years $102.83 48,026 $102.83
$105.25 169,194 8.1 years $105.25 71,602 $105.25

The total intrinsic value of the outstanding and exercisable stock options as of December 31, 2013 was
approximately $0.8 million. In addition, the Company had 91,496 and 13,633 options exercisable at a weighted-
average exercise price of $98.92 and $54.32 at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company adopted the 1999 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock Purchase Plan™)
to encourage the ownership of Common Stock by eligible employees. The Stock Purchase Plan became effective
on January 1, 1999 with an aggregate maximum of 250,000 shares of Common Stock available for issuance. The
Stock Purchase Plan provides for eligible employees to purchase on the business day immediately following the
end of the biannual purchase periods (i.e., January 1-June 30 and July 1-December 31) shares of Common Stock
at a purchase price equal to 85% of the average closing prices of the Common Stock during the last ten business
days of the purchase period. The Company issued 6,442, 7,406 and 6,356 shares with the weighted average
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purchase price equal to $89.65 per share, $86.52 per share and $80.13 per share under the Stock Purchase Plan
during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

18. Related Party Transactions

Prior to joining the Company effective January 2, 2014, Mr. John F. Powers provided commercial real estate
brokerage services to the Company, on behalf of his prior employer, CBRE, in connection with certain leasing
transactions. Mr. Powers received approximately $592,000 during the year ended December 31, 2013 in
connection with these transactions. Mr. John F. Powers is a Senior Vice President of Boston Properties, Inc. and
the Regional Manager of its New York office.

A firm controlled by Mr. Raymond A. Ritchey’s brother was paid aggregate leasing commissions of
approximately $868,000, $1,306,000 and $671,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, related to certain exclusive leasing arrangements for certain Northern Virginia properties.

Mr. Ritchey is an Executive Vice President of Boston Properties, Inc.

On June 30, 1998, the Company acquired from entities controlled by Mr. Alan B. Landis, a former director,
a portfolio of properties known as the Carnegie Center Portfolio and Tower Center One and related operations
and development rights (collectively, the “Carnegie Center Portfolio”). In connection with the acquisition of the
Carnegie Center Portfolio, the Operating Partnership entered into a development agreement (the “Development
Agreement”) with affiliates of Mr. Landis providing for up to approximately 2,000,000 square feet of
development in or adjacent to the Carnegie Center office complex. An affiliate of Mr. Landis was entitled to a
purchase price for each parcel developed under the Development Agreement calculated on the basis of $20 per
rentable square foot of property developed. Another affiliate of Mr. Landis was eligible to earn a contingent
payment for each developed property that achieves a stabilized return in excess of a target annual return ranging
between 10.5% and 11%. The Development Agreement also provided that upon negotiated terms and conditions,
the Company and Mr. Landis would form a development company to provide development services for these
development projects and would share the expenses and profits, if any, of this new company. In addition, in
connection with the acquisition of the Carnegie Center Portfolio, Mr. Landis became a director of the Company
pursuant to an Agreement Regarding Directorship, dated as of June 30, 1998, with the Company (the
“Directorship Agreement”). Under the Directorship Agreement, the Company agreed to nominate Mr. Landis for
re-election as a director at each annual meeting of stockholders of the Company in a year in which his term
expires, provided that specified conditions are met.

On October 21, 2004, the Company entered into an agreement (the “2004 Agreement”) to modify several
provisions of the Development Agreement. Under the terms of the 2004 Agreement, the Operating Partnership
and affiliates of Mr. Landis amended the Development Agreement to limit the rights of Mr. Landis and his
affiliates to participate in the development of properties under the Development Agreement. Among other things,
Mr. Landis agreed that (1) Mr. Landis and his affiliates will have no right to participate in any entity formed to
acquire land parcels or the development company formed by the Operating Partnership to provide development
services under the Development Agreement, (2) Mr. Landis will have no right or obligation to play a role in
development activities engaged in by the development company formed by the Operating Partnership under the
Development Agreement or receive compensation from the development company and (3) the affiliate of
Mr. Landis will have no right to receive a contingent payment for developed properties based on stabilized
returns. In exchange, the Company (together with the Operating Partnership) agreed to:

e effective as of June 30, 1998, pay Mr. Landis $125,000 on January 1 of each year until the earlier of
(A) January 1, 2018, (B) the termination of the Development Agreement or (C) the date on which all
development properties under the Development Agreement have been conveyed pursuant to the
Development Agreement, with $750,000, representing payments of this annual amount from 1998 to
2004, being paid upon execution of the 2004 Agreement; and

e pay an affiliate of Mr. Landis, in connection with the development of land parcels acquired under the
Development Agreement, an aggregate fixed amount of $10.50 per rentable square foot of property
developed (with a portion of this amount (i.e., $5.50) being subject to adjustment, in specified
circumstances, based on future increases in the Consumer Price Index) in lieu of a contingent payment
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based on stabilized returns, which payment could have been greater or less than $10.50 per rentable
square foot of property developed.

The Operating Partnership also continues to be obligated to pay an affiliate of Mr. Landis the purchase price
of $20 per rentable square foot of property developed for each land parcel acquired as provided in the original
Development Agreement. During the 20-year term of the Development Agreement, until such time, if any, as the
Operating Partnership elects to acquire a land parcel, an affiliate of Mr. Landis will remain responsible for all
carrying costs associated with such land parcel. On July 24, 2007, the Company acquired from Mr. Landis
701 Carnegie Center, a land parcel located in Princeton, New Jersey for a purchase price of approximately
$3.1 million.

In addition, in connection with entering into the 2004 Agreement, Mr. Landis resigned as a director of the
Company effective as of May 11, 2005 and agreed that the Company had no future obligation to nominate
Mr. Landis as a director of the Company under the Directorship Agreement or otherwise. Mr. Landis did not
resign because of a disagreement with the Company on any matter relating to its operations, policies or practices.
Mitchell S. Landis, the Senior Vice President and Regional Manager of the Company’s Princeton, New Jersey
region, is the brother of Alan B. Landis.

In accordance with the Company’s 2012 Plan, and as approved by the Board of Directors, six non-employee
directors made an election to receive deferred stock units in lieu of cash fees for 2013. The deferred stock units will
be settled in shares of common stock upon the cessation of such director’s service on the Board of Directors. As a
result of these elections, the aggregate cash fees otherwise payable to a non-employee director during a fiscal
quarter are converted into a number of deferred stock units equal to the aggregate cash fees divided by the last
reported sales price of a share of the Company’s common stock on the last trading of the applicable fiscal quarter.
The deferred stock units are also credited with dividend equivalents as dividends are paid by the Company. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had outstanding 83,995 and 76,682 deferred stock units, respectively.

19. Selected Interim Financial Information (unaudited)

The tables below reflect the Company’s selected quarterly information for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012. Total revenue and income from continuing operations amounts have been reclassified for
properties qualifying for discontinued operations presentation (See Note 3).

2013 Quarter Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

TOtal TEVENUE . . . . oo et e et e e e e e $477,826 $510,033  $571,481 $576,199
Income from continuing operations .................... $ 38,496 $503,446 $ 82,311 $ 79,395
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ... ...... $ 47,854 $452,417  $152,677 $ 88,719
Income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. per

share—basic ..ottt $ 032 $ 295 $ 1.00 $ 058
Income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. per share—

diluted . ... o $ 031 $ 294 §$ 1.00 $ 058

2012 Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

Total TEVENUE . . .. oottt e e $438,722 $466,197 $464,220  $478,047
Income from continuing operations . ...................... $ 53,079 $ 94,795 $ 63,331 $ 74,251
Net income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. ............ $ 48,454 $118,559 $ 57,249 $ 65,400
Income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. per

share—basic . ........... .. ... $ 033%$ 079 $ 038 $ 043
Income attributable to Boston Properties, Inc. per

share—diluted . ....... ... .. . ... $ 0338%$ 078 $ 038 $ 043



20. Subsequent Events

On January 27, 2014, the Company’s Compensation Committee approved the 2014 multi-year, long-term
incentive program (the “2014 MYLTIP”) awards under the Company’s 2012 Plan to certain officers and
employees of the Company. The 2014 MYLTIP awards utilize TRS over a three-year measurement period, on an
annualized, compounded basis, as the performance metric. Earned awards will be based on the Company’s TRS
relative to (i) the Cohen & Steers Realty Majors Portfolio Index (50% weight) and (ii) the NAREIT Office Index
adjusted to exclude the Company (50% weight). Earned awards will range from zero to a maximum of
approximately $40.2 million depending on the Company’s TRS relative to the two indices, with four tiers
(threshold: approximately $6.7 million; target: approximately $13.4 million; high: approximately $26.8 million;
exceptional: approximately $40.2 million) and linear interpolation between tiers. Earned awards measured on the
basis of relative TRS performance are subject to an absolute TRS component in the form of relatively simple
modifiers that (A) reduce the level of earned awards in the event the Company’s annualized TRS is less than 0%
and (B) cause some awards to be earned in the event the Company’s annualized TRS is more than 12% even
though on a relative basis alone the Company’s TRS would not result in any earned awards.

Earned awards (if any) will vest 50% on February 3, 2017 and 50% on February 3, 2018, based on
continued employment. Vesting will be accelerated in the event of a change in control, termination of
employment by the Company without cause, termination of employment by the award recipient for good reason,
death, disability or retirement. If there is a change of control prior to February 3, 2017, earned awards will be
calculated based on TRS performance up to the date of the change of control. The 2014 MYLTIP awards are in
the form of LTIP Units issued on the grant date which (i) are subject to forfeiture to the extent awards are not
earned and (ii) prior to the performance measurement date are only entitled to one-tenth (10%) of the regular
quarterly distributions payable on common partnership units.

Under the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718
“Compensation-Stock Compensation” the 2014 MYLTIP awards have an aggregate value of approximately
$13.1 million, which amount will generally be amortized into earnings over the four-year plan period under the
graded vesting method.

On January 31, 2014, the Company issued 21,455 shares of restricted common stock and 109,718 LTIP
units under the 2012 Plan to certain employees of the Company.

On January 31, 2014, the measurement period for the Company’s 2011 OPP Awards expired and the
Company’s TRS performance was not sufficient for employees to earn and therefore become eligible to vest in
any of the 2011 OPP Awards. As a result, the Company accelerated the then remaining unrecognized
compensation expense totaling approximately $1.2 million. Accordingly, all 2011 OPP Awards were
automatically forfeited and the Operating Partnership repaid employees an amount equal to $0.25 (which is equal
to what they paid upon acceptance of the award) multiplied by the number of 2011 OPP Awards they received.

On February 10, 2014, the Company completed and fully placed in-service The Avant at Reston Town
Center development project comprised of 359 apartment units and retail space aggregating approximately
355,000 square feet located in Reston, Virginia.

On February 18, 2014, the Company’s Operating Partnership repaid at maturity the $747.5 million

aggregate principal amount outstanding of its 3.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2014 plus accrued and
unpaid interest thereon.
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation was carried out by our management, with
the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report. In addition,
no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) occurred during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting is set forth on page 113 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2013.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

Plan category warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in
column (a))

(a)

(b)

(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders(1) ... 3,221,915(2) $100.43(2) 12,628,358(3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders(4) ...................... N/A N/A 122,652
Total ... 3,221,915 $100.43 12,751,010

(1) Includes information related to our 2012 Plan.

(2) Includes (a) 558,823 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options (199,868 of
which are vested and exercisable), (b) 1,455,761 long term incentive units (LTIP units) (1,087,403 of which
are vested) that, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, are convertible into common units, which may
be presented to the Operating Partnership for redemption and acquired by us for shares of our common
stock, (c) 14,362 common units issued upon conversion of LTIP units, which may be presented to the
Operating Partnership for redemption and acquired by us for shares of our common stock, (d) 396,500 2011
OPP Awards that, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, are convertible into common units, which may
be presented to the Operating Partnership for redemption and acquired by us for shares of our common
stock, (e) 396,150 2012 OPP Awards that, upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, are convertible into
common units, which may be presented to the Operating Partnership for redemption and acquired by us for
shares of our common stock, (f) 316,325 2013 MYLTIP Awards that, upon the satisfaction of certain
conditions, are convertible into common units, which may be presented to the Operating Partnership for
redemption and acquired by us for shares of our common stock (g) 83,994 deferred stock units which were
granted pursuant to elections by certain of our non-employee directors to defer all cash compensation to be
paid to such directors and to receive their deferred cash compensation in shares of our common stock upon
their retirement from our Board of Directors. Does not include 63,638 shares of restricted stock, as they
have been reflected in our total shares outstanding. Because there is no exercise price associated with LTIP
units, 2011 OPP Awards, 2012 OPP Awards, 2013 MYLTIP Awards or deferred stock units, such shares are
not included in the weighed-average exercise price calculation.
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(3) “Full-value” awards (i.e., awards other than stock options) are multiplied by a 2.32 conversion ratio to
calculate the number of shares available under the 2012 Plan that are used for each full-value award, as
opposed to a 1.0 conversion ratio for each stock option awarded under the 2012 Plan.

(4) Includes information related to the 1999 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). The ESPP
was adopted by the Board of Directors on October 29, 1998. The ESPP has not been approved by our
stockholders. The ESPP is available to all our employees that are employed on the first day of the purchase
period. Under the ESPP, each eligible employee may purchase shares of our common stock at semi-annual
intervals each year at a purchase price equal to 85% of the average closing prices of our common stock on
the New York Stock Exchange during the last ten business days of the purchase period. Each eligible
employee may contribute no more than $10,000 per year to purchase our common stock under the ESPP.

Additional information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
required by Item 12 will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 will be included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2014
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

168



(1 00T LSS91 9¥ET9 - - 9€8'YS 0169 768°€ 898°1¢ ¥86°C 000°€9 VA ‘UOpuIsH PPO om],
*3p1g “yed AS0[ouydd [, uotuIoq MoN
(1) 861 ¥€0°1T 8€€°S9 - - 061°SS 8¥1°01 9IPe'S LS80S SE1'6 - VA ‘u0isoy 1 101U deiodio)) uolsay
(1) 600C €LSTT 9€1°99 - - 9€1°99 - L8LTI 6V€°ES - - AW ‘oseyD) Aoy aoyjQ T 90B[d UISUOISIA\
(1) £00T/L861 06£'Y 87589 - - L8LIS 1¥L°91 [ S8T'IS 17L91 — VO ‘MIIA URJUNOIN 20YJO  “ """ " [2Y] oure?) 15 IS9OM 0FFT
(1) €10 080°1 TeE'69 - — 9IS — w91 080°81 - VIA 98puquie)y  o0yjo e 191U0D) 9BPUGUIEY) UIIUADS
(1) 1861 80T°01 I18¥°SL - 688°SE SIT91 010y 690°¢1 0Y'8S - VO ‘esof ueg SouIsng ISIL] YPION
(1) 661 109°L1 PI1°9L - - 12629 T01°¢l €T8°61 681°¢I - VIN ‘wegem T uod AN 06T
(1) 800T 10€°C1 06€°LL - - LIS'€9 091°¢ €8€°09 Ly8'El - VIN ‘wegem S UOdAND) L
(1) €002 60L°1T 1¥S°6L - - vi'89 w9r'8 ¥69°09 S8€°01 - VIN ‘Wegem e aejuaD) yeiodio)) Uojsa A WeyIEA
(1) 8661/€861 19L°01 ¥S0'€8 - - 69779 T8Il 8L0°TS YO1°61 - VIN ‘98puquie)) 191UaD) 9BPUqUIED) N0
(1 1002 $98'8T 69166 - - 9€9'98 68191 T8LIL 861°11 — VA "u0Isay axenbg £1040081Q
(1) 000T €Ev'Ll 65L°66 - - L99°08 65LY1 $0699 S60°81 - VIA ‘WEYpRN * 199ng yoUpualy O |
(1) 9661/1861 8S1°61 1L6°101 - - 86L°08 T9L°6T 9Ire'es €98°81 - VIN ‘98puquie)) 19)U9D) ABPUUIED) ALY
(1) 900T 86v°LY €LYE01 - - 8¥€°66 088°C 9€1°L6 LSY'E - VIN 98puquie)  aoyjo T JO1UD) ABPLIGUIE)) UGADS
(1) 100T Y6T°LE S8¥°501 - - $90°06 918°¢l 6€L°LL 0€6°€l - VAUOISYy o arenbg wopadi] oM,
(1) 6661 PrI1€ €87°601 - - TTL16 $€9°9 6199 9591 - VAuOIy o * YOO[IDAQ) UOISIY OM, pue auQy
(1) 000T LT8TE 660°T11 - - 908°66 99991 0S8 6266 - VAUOISY o arenbg wopai] AuQ
(1) 010T 126°01 T6'LIT - - 880°C6 (€zn) TIETO €SL°ST - VINUOISOA o 10100 21e10dI0D) UOISIAN
(1) 900T/1861 L1T0S €8T°1CI - - 129°TI1 £66'98 $95°6¢ StLy - OQ uoBuIYSEAy  OPIO T Aqren rended
(1) 861 815°6T 6LS'VT1 - - Yi'L6 98791 11€78 786°ST — 0 ‘uoIBuIyseA QNUIAY INDNIAUUOT) OEE |
(1) 900T-£00T 959 108°LT1 - - 6€L°601 L 8€0°601 120°81 8EE'EE VA ‘BLpUEXd]Y IOJUBD) QUMO, QUMOISTUTY]
(1) L00T 85€°0T 96T'8T1 - - ¥17°98 T69°S 61L°¢8 $88'8¢ 09€'1T1 Od ‘UOIBUIYSEA\  OYJQ I 32218 Wi SOS
(1) 9661 T6£°0€ €SL8T1 - - 65€°€6 190°6 099°68 TE0vE - Od ‘uoiBulysesy  90yJO T onuoAy aaysdweH MoN €e¢|
(1) L861/SS61 628°TS 0L9°'8€1 - - TSS8I1 Ivy'LT 6196 S09°81 - VA ‘wegrepy o Do ©9de[d JIOAISIY
(1) 8861 S91°€T LETYYL - rL'E 961'€01 6991 €98°C8 SOL'9¢ - vDesorueg o ot © proy 1eyuez 00TE
(1) €10T/710T/8861/L861 TEO'L 8EL'6LL - - 98€°LST ¥66v€ SIe9zl 6T 81 - VA ‘u0isoy djed sjoLned OmJ, pue auQ
(1) €10T-L00T/1861-LL6T €10°€ S6v' 81 - - €€E'8L T91°901 961°C LET9L 91901 - VO "MIIA UIRUNON DIPYO "7 Sed YOIBasay MAIA UIIUNON
(1) 110T S81°81 80€°L81 - - 80€°L81 — L9L'E 176°€81 — - Od ‘UOIBUIYSEA\  OYJO T ONUAAY BIUEAJASUUR] ()TT
(1) 6861-6861 6€€°1T TS YIT - - €8L°S61 68L'81 TEE'LY 151871 68L'81 - VIN ‘wegiem 19ua)) ajeiodio) Auojo) Aeg
(1) 00T/9861/7861 19v°08 0€8'81C - - €0T'881 LTY9°0€ 0€€°1S SYT6E1 SST'8T - VD ‘oospourl] ueg © 10ua) AEMaIED

(1 600C-800C 1€8°0S TL8'09T - - S8I°LYT L8Y'EL 06L°6 6LY'LET €09°¢1 - VAUOISY  DuyQ o Jomo],
KorIoowa(] pue JONIRIA JO YINOS
(1) 9861 60 v¥1 9TL'YOE - - vL8'9IT TS8L8 6L1°€Tl LOS 001 0v0°'18 000°0SL AN SHOA MoON ONUGAY UOIBUIXT 665
(1) c1oc 106°S1 PL6'T9E - - YL6'6ST 000°€01 60€°9 §99°¢ST 000°€01 — AN JOX MON 20O QNUDAY UOSIPEIN (S
(1) 0661-9861 09%°G1 8T0°L9€E - - SLI'OIE £68°95 LL8'E 86°90¢ £68°9S $09°9TT VA ‘u0isoy * arenbg urelunOy
(1) 110T L69°6€ 691°0€S — — 181°99% 886°€9 P91l LES TSy 886°€9 - VIN ‘uoisog TRy Onuepy
(1) 6661-€861 L8S°691 TET'6VS Svl 90TT LIS ey ¥90°€01 99899 6ST'LLE LOT'SO1 - [N uopduLd YO e I d13ouIe)
(1) SLOI-1L6T 090°6C 170°€LS - 14X 09L T+t L90'TET 0209 PS6°SEY L90°1€1 - VIN ‘uoisog 32218 [e1pa 001
(1) 00T PE6LEL L66'0€9 - — Y08°19% €61°691 9Ir1°e8 8¢ 08¢ €I'91 — AN JOX MON 20O JTomo], orenbg sowr,

(1 9L61 99¢°8L L¥8'Y16 - 611 TI8YTL 919'61¢ 0Tr'LS ¥88°L99 £vs61T £€6'TS9 VINuosog o ot ogeIen
puR 19MO ], YO0OURH Uyof dy |,
(1) L661/LLOT 1TL°50T LES'ES6 - - 868°€99 6€9°68C SSI°LIT 8L Y6V 009°1¥T €5TTTL AN SHOA MoON ONUGAY UOIZUIXT [(9
(1) 1961 8¢6°61C OILYIT - — SSO'€6L LOT'PSE $09°L01 85€°00L 00T6£€ - AN 10X MaN QNUIAY MIed 66€
(1) 200T/€661/5961 606°86€ TLI'IST'I - 1€6°C1 SI8'LSO'T 9TH'LOT 10S 7S¢ Y65 VEL LLOT6 — VIN ‘uoisog 1a)ud)) [enuapniq
(1) 6861/0L61 YTETLY 66€ THE'l - - PIVSPIT $86°S61 6T YIE 017°LY8 L69°6L1 £€1°09¢ VD ‘oospouel] ueg * 19U olspesIequIy

(1 8961 106°8C $ LSE'EEE'E - $ — $ SEI'LEST $ TST96L'T $ 18F'V $ YSO'TES'T  $ TSTO6L'T $ EVI'EIP'T § AN “HOX MON WYPYQ ity (Buipping
SIOJOJA] [BIOUDD) DY) dNUAY UYL L9/

(ST83X) SIAI] pajesouURY uonenaxdaq e ssaadoag ur judwrdopAd( syudwdAoIduwy sjudwAoxduy uwonisinboy  Suipping pue| SIdUBAQUINDUT uonedo| adL], JureN Ayradoag
sqenaxda(q g PajRMUINIIY uonPNYsU0)  JI0JpPH  pue Suippng  pue pue| 0}
(S)ABax pue pue| juanbasqng [ewiSliQ
JudwdopPAd(q pazifeyde)
51500

(Sspuesnoy) ur sIe[jop)
€10T ‘T€ IdquIRQq

uonedIda( pajenuINddy pue 3)e)sy [8Y - € [NPIAYDS

ouf ‘sanradoad uoysog

Al LIVd

SoINPaYIS JUIWIIDIS IVIDUDUL PUD SPQIYXTT ST WA

J[NPIYDS JUSWAL]S [RIOURUL (B)

169



(1) 0661 LST'8 188°€1 - - SILTI €91°1 S80°1 €€9°11 €91°1 - VIN ‘98puquie) ageren * 1+ 98eIRD YUON Io)ud) AFprquie)
(1) 900T 9€°€ 90581 - - TLO'LT yer'l €661 L69°S1 9¢T'1 - VN ‘98puquie) ageren d3eIeD 1S9 JOIURD) 23pLIqUIED)
(1) 7861 ¥89°9 TTS9E - - 617°9¢ €01 L8Y'] SE0°SE — - VN ‘98puquie) ageren ** 9FeIeD) ISBY 19U ABpLqUIL)
(1) 9861 wI'LY LLEYL - - 9LI'EL 10T°1 186°G€ 816°LE 8Ly - VN “98puquie) [P VOLIBJ I9)UD)) AFpLIquIL)
(1) 110T 165°€ £96°6S - - YEY9S 6TS°€ (3791 168°vS 6T - VIA ‘uoisog fenuoprsoy "t JBYA ODUBNY I SYOT oY,
(1 110T 8¥6°L ws'6ll - - w8611l - () L8611 - - Od ‘uoIBuIyseE\  [enuOpISay oo UMNIS
1 17T “ONUAAY Y, UO SAOUIPISY
(1) 8961 6£9 SLI'T - - €11°1 <9 200°1 0ST 9t - VN ‘U0ISuIXa] PO TT7T ONURAY [[9MIIRH L]
(1) 861 €0L 18T°C - - 8€9°1 €79 61¢ 0LET 68 - VIA ‘BoLR[IIg PO POy UOISUIXST $9]
(1) L861/6L61-8961 89¢°1 116'C - - L6ST yIe 008 €96°1 891 - VIN ‘U0ISUIXa] PO QNULAY [[oMMBH T¢
(1 861 1€1°T YOI°€ - - 16v°C €19 €IE1 ws'l 6¥C - VA ‘Proysuudg PO
(1 8861 19T SILE - - 9 €6 LOO'T $89°C €T - VA ‘Proysuudg PO
(1 7861 LTET SYL'E - - 0S€°€ 86¢ 206°1 S09°1 1844 - VA ‘Proysuudg NMPO e Inog
(1 6861 S 169t - - 916°c SLL 8¥°1 1L0°€ 9¢l - VA ‘Proysuudg PO
(1 00T P€6°E 119°¢ - - 056t 199 0€T €LLY 809 - VA ‘Proysuudg PO UosMIy [,
Sup[ing ‘preadnog uoisoq (O0¢L
(1) £861 S08°¢ 918°¢ - - £7S°S €LT €Tl €8’y oIt - VIN “98puquie) PO T 101UdD) 9FPLIQUIE) UIAUNO]
(1 9861 9LS'E £56'S - - w0r's 1S9 SL8'Y 8L8 00T - VA ‘Proysuudg PO ©oydg
Suipring ‘preadnog uoisog [09L
(1 S861 eI’y LLY'9 - - 1L0°9 90t 065°C 6bL'E 8¢ - VA ‘Proysuudg PMPO e XIS
Supring ‘preadnog uoisog (O0SL
(1) LL6T wl L6L9 - - 0zET LLY'S 0€T 060°T LLY'S - VD “MIIA UIRUNOIN DO 7T QAL S[epURARY ¢S
(1 7861 091°¢ T6S°L - - 1669 109 6T wTY 99¢ - VA ‘Proysuudg PO QAL
Suipring “uno) 1esurein o008
(1 L861 L16T 19L°L - - 1€€°9 0er'1 S16°1 189°'% S - VA ‘Proysuudg PO e daIy ],
Surpring ‘preadnog uoisog OSyL
(1 861 9Ts'S 601°8 - - 0SY'L 659 S68°€ TT8'e (13 - VA ‘Proysuudg PO U0
Sup[ing ‘pread[nog uoisoq Sl
(1 L661 S68°¢ w8Y01 - - 169'6 T6L 1449 €LT6 S99 - VA ‘Proyduudg PO e U2Ad§
Suipring ‘preadnog uoisoq [0SL
(1) 7861 ove'L L8L01 - - €9v°01 143 1€1°¢ SeS'S 1ct - VN “98puquie) PO 121U0D) ABPLIqUIE)) USAJ[H
(1) S861 SES'L T€TT - - 16T°11 176 86 9¥°9 ¥8L - VA ‘UOISUIXa] PO QNULAY [[PMMBH [6
(1) 0661 L8T°9 8EY'TI - - 08S°01 868°1 SLI'y 7599 1191 - VIA ‘wegem PO T 12N$ 1S9M 61
(1) 6661 LOO'Y 9€5°TI - - 9LETT 091°1 0S6°1 0256 990°1 - VA ‘U0ISuIXo] PO 100ng Suudg 18]
(1) 6L61 98Y°L €8L°¢1 - - 8SE'El Sty €8T°01 PET'E 99T - VN ‘U0ISuIXo| PO AMUIAY UIPARH £¢
(1) S861 716'6 191°61 - - 65EY1 w08 618°L 8PL9 765 - VN ‘U0ISuIXo| PO "+ onudAY udpAeH 001-26
(1) 861 995°01 981°91 - - 'Yl Y9T°1 woLel 9Tr'1 866 - VN ‘U0ISuIXa] PO "1 Ied 9OJO U0ITUIKT
(1) 100T LYS'S T06°L1 - - 600°L1 £68 €SY'T OvL'y1 60L - VIA “1oA0puy PO Pproy Nomeys o
(1) L661 ¥€0°9 866°L1 - - YL8 V1 yTI'e ((499] €0€°ST 68T - VN ‘U0ISuIXa| PO 10018 Buudg [0g
(1) 0661 LEETT 65€°0T - - ¥96°L1 S6E£T LIT9 €96°T1 661 - VN ‘98puquie) PO 10)udD) 9FPLIqUIED U,
(1) L861 89L°6 Ter'ne - - L91°0T $96 8SL'8 00T°TI PLT - VIN “98prquie) PO * 19WuaD) ABpuquIe) 221y,
(1 cLel 9L 181°v€ - - TTsel 65€°0T 81 0v9'el 65€°0T - VO “MIIA UIRIUNOIN DO
ASo[ouyoda [, MIIA UrRIUNOIA
(1) 6661 6€1°T1 66€ 1€ - - 9L0°€€ €Tel LOS'8 Tw0'sT 0S8 - VN “98puquie) PO T JaWU) 2BpuquIe) WS
(1) L861 €€9°0C £8€°6€ - - $00°€€ 6LET ¥S8°TI 0Tr'Te 601 - Oq ‘woiBuIysEN\  OYJO e 19a1§ 9 005
(1) 900T [l ¥85°6€ - - SLS'SE 600t €10°€ LL6TE P6S°€ - VA ‘u0isoy PO JIed syoted 21y],
(1) 100T 8¥LTI 9L81Y - - 689°9¢ L8I°S TL9'S Sy TE 0SL'E - VIA ‘PIOJswRy) - DO Sed 904jO wnionQ
(1) 100T 9LS91 STo'er - - 0v8°8€ S8L'Y LST'8 STIle YTy — AN 2[[IAN0Y PO T pIead[nog sjeQ 12MoJ, 009¢
(1) S861 69°0C oL8'EY - - 98r'ey 06€ S8L9 160°LE — T69°€1 VIN ‘98puquie) PO Qae[d ANISIOATUN
(1) L861 ¥16'vC [43:5494 - - YOE'SY 8¥S 809°0T 011°6T Pel - VN “98puquie) PO I9)u2) AFpHquIL) AUQ
(1) S661/1L61 9€9°6C VLS S - - £TH'SH IS1°¢ 8S6°81 91°LT 0S8°C - VA ‘U0ISUIXa] PO 10018 Suudg 161
(1) 6661 P8 Y1 669°61 - - 988°TE €18°91 89¢°8 €86'7C SP1°91 — VIA ‘wegem PO T 1991S 1S9M 00T
(1 100T ¥85°61 68605 - - 90" 9 €8Sy 788 LTTEY 088°¢ 8LTEY VA ‘UOpuIRH PO Tt QuQ ‘Sprg
“YIed AS0[0unyd9], UOTUTWIO MIN
(1) S861 T8T'ET 810°€S — — 0LS1S SLY'1 6L9°€T SPL'8T 79 — Oq ‘uoBuiysepy  0pJO U * arenbg Jouwng
(SIBIX) SIAI] pajeAOuUIRY uonendxdaq eoL, ssaxdoaq ur I adury 1dwry wonismboy  Suippng puey SdUBIGUINDU uonedx0| adAy, aweN Ayradoag
Jqenaxda(q g PajEMUINIIY uopINISU0)  JI0JpPH  pue Suippng  pue puey 0}
(s)aeax pue pue juanbasqng [ewdLQ
JudwdopAdq paziende)
51500

(Sspuesnoy) ur sIefop)
€10T ‘T€ QU

uonedIda( pajenuINddy pue 3)e)sy [eY - € [NPIAYDS

ouf ‘sanradoad uoysog

170



‘ol g 161$ A1rewrxoidde 3urelo) Juaunsnipe anfeA Irej [BILIOISIY 9Y) JO 20UR[Eq PIZILIOWRUN ) SIPN[oU]  (7)
's1eK ()7 03 SB[ AU JO JI] Y} WOI) JUISURI SAAI[ JOAO PIje[Nd[ed Ik sjudwaAordwr pue s3urp[ing 3y jo uonerdardoq (1)

*K1oanoadsar ‘uory[iq 9-z$ pue uol[iq 84 1$ Ajorewrxoidde sem sasodind xe) 10j uoneroardop paje[NWINIOL Pue Js0d 21eIAI33e A,

Juowdimbyg pue sa1n)x1q ‘imuing 03 paje[al uonerdrdaop paje[nwindoe
J0 0L8°S1$ A1arewrxoxdde apnpour jou seop uonerdardo parenunddy $91°6z$ Aferewrxoidde Surreiol juswdinbg pue samxi] ‘QIrmuin,g 9pn[our Jou Sa0p ANeISH [BAY [BI0], 110N

TOL'SPT'E$ T09°€S6'8T$ 6LTETS TS 9LE'L6TS PISTSITIS TESOSH'YS TLE'GTOHS LSO'TEIOTS TLIEOE S (DVEL 6V S

VIN VIN  — (4t [t - — [t - - - VIN “1oaopuy pueg ’ 7 proy YPnneys O¢
VIN VIN  — 888°L L9T'9 - 1291 888°L - - - VA *Kjunop) uopnory puey * OjIed ssaulsng uny| peolg
VIN VIN  — STL'8 STL'S - - STL'S - - - VI ‘USNOIOQEIBIN  puB oo MOPESJA dueI)
VIN VIN  — LO8'8 LO8'8 - - LO8'8 - - - VA ‘u0isoy L S QIeBISeY U0ISAY
VIN VIN  — 7896 7896 - - 7896 - - - VA ‘u0Isoy L S Kemaen uoisoy
VIN VIN  — €S1°T1 €111 - - €111 - - - VIN ‘28puquie) pueg ue[d 1SN FpLquIe))
VIN VIN @ — 816°11 816°11 — — 816°11 - - - VIN ‘Weygie sy L S QNUAAY Uy €01
VIN VIN  €90°8 9ILTI 901t Srr's S91 91L°TI - - - VIN ‘Weyie s pueg * 7 IURD) AdJO WEeEA
VIN VIN  — 998°¢1 998°¢1 - - 998°¢1 - - - VA ‘ploysuudg pueg oAl 1aWR)) pRYBuLdS 6099 % 1099
VIN VIN  — 06T°81 06T°81 — - 062T°81 - - - QI ‘Smqsioyien  pue " YHON URIUOISUTYSEA\
VIN VIN  — L61'YT 0€s°€T L99 - L61'¥T - - - VIN ‘Weygie sy L S [11H 10odsoig
VIN VIN  — 068°LT 068°LT - - 068°LT - - - VA u0isoy pueg 1 QNS AIMBUSIS U0ISIY
VIN VIN  — 9L6°8T 9L6'8T - - 9L6°8T - - - AN 21Ny pueg ue[d ISL SYeQ JoMOo],
VIN VIN  — £00°6C €00°6T - - €00°6T - - - VD asof ueg pueg T udpew]y je eze[d
VIN VIN  — €L0°TE €L0°TE — - €L0°TE - - - VA ‘ploysuudg pueg ’ * 10U 01 pRySundsg
VIN VIN 091 TT0°L01 086°8€ - 10L°SS 1vLTl TTO°LOT - - - VA ‘u0isoy Juawdo[AQ [BNUSPISIY

I2JUID) UMO], UOISAY I8 JUBAY Y,
VIN VIN  — PLTETL PLTETL - - - YLTETL - - - VO “09SIURL] UBG  UAWAO[Ad( * "
VIN VIN  — ¥69°1T1 ¥69°1C1 — - - ¥69°1C1 - - - OQ ‘uoduiysepy  yudwdopad
VIN VIN  — €60°17¢C 819°LET SLy'E - - €60°11C - - - VO ‘odsuerf ueg judwdoprdq
VIN VIN  — 90¥°SST 90¥°SST - — — 90¥°SST - - - VD ‘09souRL] kg JuowdofoAdy Iomo[, Aeqsuer],
VIN VIN €87 €PT8I8 TOP9SL — 9LY'SY S0€91 €VT818 — — — AN SHOA MON uowdoaaaqq < 1931$ WSS ISOM 05T

(SIB3 ) SAAI'] pajeaoudy uonendadaq ®oL ssaxgoad ur PAT adury 1dury wonismboy Suipping pue| SDUBIqUINIUF] uoned0 | adAy, ureN Ayradoag
sqewdrdaq  Apng  pajeUNDY uoPNYsU0) 10y pPH  pue Suippng  pue pue| 0}
(s)aeax pue pue| juanbasqng ewidQ
Juawdoprdq pazifende)
51500

(Sspuesnoy) ur sIefop)
€10T ‘T€ QU

ouf ‘sanradoad uoysog

uonedIda( pajenuINddy pue 3)e)sy [eY - € [NPIAYDS

171



Boston Properties, Inc.
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
December 31, 2013
(dollars in thousands)

A summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation is as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Real Estate:
Balance at the beginning of theyear ...................... $14,869,887 $13,363,113 $12,740,892
Additions to/improvements of real estate .............. 4,410,622 1,602,583 668,084
Assets sold/written-off . ......... ... ... . . ... .. .. ... (326,908) (95,809) (45,863)
Balance at the end of theyear ........................... $18,953,601 $14,869,887 $13,363,113
Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance at the beginning of theyear ...................... $ 2,919,479 $ 2,626,324 $ 2,308,665
Depreciation eXpense .. ............uiiiininianan.. 419,908 367,625 362,636
Assets sold/written-off . .......... ... ... ... .. ..... (193,686) (74,470) (44,977)
Balance at theend of theyear ........................... $ 3,145,701 $ 2,919,479 $ 2,626,324

Note: Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation amounts do not include Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment.
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(b) Exhibits

2.1 —

3.1 —

3.2 —

33 —

34 —

3.5 —

3.6 —

3.7 —

41 —

4.2 —

43—

44

45  —

Transfer Agreement, dated May 31, 2013, by and among BP 767 Fifth LLC, Sungate Fifth
Avenue LLC, 767 LLC and BP/DC 767 Fifth LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties, Inc. filed on June 3, 2013.)

Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Boston Properties, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Registration Statement
on Form S-11, File No. 333-25279.)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Designations of Series E Junior Participating Cumulative
Preferred Stock of Boston Properties, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Boston
Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 18, 2007.)

Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Boston
Properties, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 20, 2010.)

Certificate of Designations of 92,000 shares of 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock of Boston Properties, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the
Registration Statement on Form 8-A of Boston Properties, Inc. filed on March 22, 2013.)

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Boston Properties, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24,
2008.)

Amendment to Second Amended and Restated By-laws of Boston Properties, Inc. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 20, 2010.)

Form of Certificate of Designations for Series A Preferred Stock. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.26 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 25,
1998.)

Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2007, between Boston Properties, Inc. and
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as Rights Agent. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 18, 2007.)

Form of Common Stock Certificate. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Boston
Properties, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, File No. 333-25279.)

Master Deposit Agreement among Boston Properties, Inc., Computershare Inc. and
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., collectively, as depositary, and the holders from time
to time of depositary shares as described therein, dated March 22, 2013 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A of Boston Properties, Inc.
filed on March 22, 2013.)

Indenture, dated as of December 13, 2002, by and between Boston Properties Limited
Partnership and The Bank of New York, as Trustee. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on December 13, 2002.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 3, dated as of March 18, 2003, by and between Boston Properties
Limited Partnership and The Bank of New York, as Trustee, including a form of the 5.625%
Senior Note due 2015. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Boston Properties Limited
Partnership’s Amendment No. 3 to Form 10 filed on May 13, 2003.)
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4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

Supplemental Indenture No. 4, dated as of May 22, 2003, by and between Boston Properties
Limited Partnership and The Bank of New York, as Trustee, including a form of the 5.00%
Senior Note due 2015. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Boston Properties Limited
Partnership’s Form S-4 filed on June 13, 2003, File No. 333-106127.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 7, dated as of August 19, 2008, between the Company and the
Trustee, including a form of the 3.625% Exchangeable Senior Note due 2014. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited
Partnership filed on August 20, 2008.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 8, dated as of October 9, 2009, between Boston Properties Limited
Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, including a
form of the 5.875% Senior Note due 2019. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed on October 9,
2009.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 9, dated as of April 19, 2010, between Boston Properties Limited
Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, including a
form of the 5.625% Senior Note due 2020. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed on April 19,
2010.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 10, dated as of November 18, 2010, between Boston Properties
Limited Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee,
including a form of the 4.125% Senior Note due 2021 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed
on November 18, 2010.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 11, dated as of November 10, 2011, between Boston Properties
Limited Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee,
including a form of the 3.700% Senior Note due 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed on
November 10, 2011.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 12, dated as of June 11, 2012, between Boston Properties Limited
Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, including a
form of the 3.85% Senior Note due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed on June 11,
2012.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 13, dated as of April 11, 2013, between Boston Properties Limited
Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, including a
form of the 3.125% Senior Note due 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed on April 11, 2013.)

Supplemental Indenture No. 14, dated as of June 27, 2013, between Boston Properties Limited
Partnership and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, including a
form of the 3.800% Senior Note due 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed on July 1, 2013.)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2008, among the Company, Boston
Properties, Inc., JP Morgan Securities Inc., Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, Banc of
America Securities LLC, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as
the representatives of the initial purchasers of the Notes. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited Partnership filed
on August 20, 2008.)
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10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5%

10.6*

10.7

10.8%*

10.9%

10.10*

10.11%*

10.12%*

10.13*

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Boston Properties Limited
Partnership, dated as of June 29, 1998. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Boston
Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 15, 1998.)

Certificate of Designations for the Series Two Preferred Units, dated November 12, 1998,
constituting an amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Boston Properties Limited Partnership. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
99.24 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 25, 1998.)

Certificate of Designations for the Series Four Preferred Units, dated as of August 29, 2012,
constituting an amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Boston Properties Limited Partnership. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 10-Q of Boston Properties, Inc. filed on November 8,
2012.)

Certificate of Designations for the 5.25% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units,
dated as of March 20, 2013, constituting an amendment to the Second Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of Boston Properties Limited Partnership (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties, Inc. filed
on March 22, 2013.)

Forty-Seventh Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Boston Properties Limited Partnership, dated as of April 11, 2003, by Boston
Properties, Inc., as general partner. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Boston
Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2003.)

Seventy-Seventh Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Boston Properties Limited Partnership, dated as of January 24, 2008, by Boston
Properties, Inc., as general partner. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Boston
Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2008.)

Ninety-Eighth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership of Boston Properties Limited Partnership, dated as of October 21, 2010.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on November 5, 2010.)

Boston Properties, Inc. 2012 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit A to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 30,
2012.)

Form of 2011 Outperformance Award Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 21, 2011.)

Form of 2012 Outperformance Award Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8§, 2012.)

Boston Properties, Inc. 1999 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.59 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
March 15, 2005.)

First Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. 1999 Non-Qualified Employee Stock Purchase
Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2005.)

Second Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. 1999 Non-Qualified Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2005.)
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10.14%*

10.15%

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19%

10.20*

10.21%*

10.22%

10.23*

10.24%*

10.25%

10.26*

10.27*

Boston Properties Deferred Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated Effective as of January
1, 2009. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between Mortimer B. Zuckerman and Boston Properties, Inc.
dated as of January 17, 2003. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Boston Properties,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Mortimer B. Zuckerman. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November
9,2007.)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Mortimer B. Zuckerman. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13
to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Transition Benefits Agreement by and between Mortimer B. Zuckerman and Boston Properties,
Inc. dated March 10, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K of Boston Properties, Inc. filed on March 11, 2013.)

Third Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Mortimer B. Zuckerman and
Boston Properties, Inc. dated March 10, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties, Inc. filed on March 11, 2013.)

Employment Agreement by and between Owen D. Thomas and Boston Properties, Inc. dated
March 10, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
of Boston Properties, Inc. filed on March 11, 2013.)

Employment Agreement by and between Douglas T. Linde and Boston Properties, Inc. dated as
of November 29, 2002. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Boston Properties,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Douglas T. Linde. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Douglas T. Linde. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Raymond A. Ritchey and Boston
Properties, Inc. dated as of November 29, 2002. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1,
2007, by and between Boston Properties, Inc. and Raymond A. Ritchey. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December
15, 2008, by and between Boston Properties, Inc. and Raymond A. Ritchey. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between Michael E. LaBelle and Boston Properties, Inc. dated
as of January 24, 2008. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2008.)
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10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31*

10.32%

10.33*

10.34*

10.35%

10.36*

10.37*

10.38*

10.39*

10.40*

10.41%*

10.42%

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Michael E. LaBelle. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27
to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between Peter D. Johnston and Boston Properties, Inc. dated as
of August 25, 2005. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2005.)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Peter D. Johnston. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and
between Boston Properties, Inc. and Peter D. Johnston. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.30 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between Bryan J. Koop and Boston Properties, Inc. dated as of
November 29, 2002. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Bryan J. Koop. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and
between Boston Properties, Inc. and Bryan J. Koop. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.33 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between Robert E. Pester and Boston Properties, Inc. dated as
of December 16, 2002. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Boston Properties,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Robert E. Pester. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and
between Boston Properties, Inc. and Robert E. Pester. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.40 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between Mitchell S. Landis and Boston Properties, Inc. dated as
of November 26, 2002. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Boston Properties,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007, by and between
Boston Properties, Inc. and Mitchell S. Landis. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2008, by and
between Boston Properties, Inc. and Mitchell S. Landis. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.43 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Employment Agreement by and between John F. Powers and Boston Properties, Inc. dated as of
November 4, 2013. (Filed herewith.)

Senior Executive Severance Agreement by and among Boston Properties, Inc., Boston Properties
Limited Partnership and Mortimer B. Zuckerman. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)
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10.43*

10.44%*

10.45%

10.46*

10.47*

10.48*

10.49*

10.50%

10.51*

10.52%

10.53*

10.54*

10.55%

10.56*

First Amendment to the Senior Executive Severance Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2007,
by and among Boston Properties, Inc., Boston Properties Limited Partnership and Mortimer
B. Zuckerman. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to the Senior Executive Severance Agreement, dated as of December 15,
2008, by and among Boston Properties, Inc., Boston Properties Limited Partnership and
Mortimer B. Zuckerman. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to Boston Properties,
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Boston Properties, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.19 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan, dated as of
October 18, 2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan, dated as of
December 15, 2008. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Third Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan, dated as of
January 8, 2014. (Filed herewith.)

Boston Properties, Inc. Executive Severance Plan, dated as of July 30, 1998. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 27, 2003.)

First Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Executive Severance Plan, dated as of October
18, 2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Executive Severance Plan, dated as of
January 8, 2014. (Filed herewith.)

Boston Properties, Inc. Officer Severance Plan, dated as of July 30, 1998. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
on November 9, 2007.)

First Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Officer Severance Plan, dated as of October 18,
2007. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2007.)

Second Amendment to the Boston Properties, Inc. Officer Severance Plan, dated as of December
15, 2008. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to Boston Properties, Inc.”s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009.)

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and among Boston Properties, Inc., Boston Properties
Limited Partnership and certain officers and directors of the Company. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Boston Properties, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
August 9, 2004.)

Director Appointment Agreement, dated as of January 20, 2011, by and between Matthew J.
Lustig and Boston Properties, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to Boston
Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 25, 2011.)
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10.57

12.1
21.1
23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

322

101

Seventh Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2013, among
Boston Properties Limited Partnership and the lenders identified therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Boston Properties Limited
Partnership filed on July 29, 2013.)

Statement re Computation of Ratios. (Filed herewith.)
Subsidiaries of Boston Properties, Inc. (Filed herewith.)

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting firm.
(Filed herewith.)

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. (Furnished herewith.)

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. (Furnished herewith.)

The following materials from Boston Properties, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2013 formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows, and (vi) related notes to these financial statements.

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed or incorporated by
reference as an exhibit to this Form 10-K pursuant to Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

BOSTON PROPERTIES, INC.

February 28, 2014 /s/  MICHAEL E. LABELLE

Michael E. LaBelle
Chief Financial Officer
(duly authorized officer and principal financial and accounting officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant, and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

February 28, 2014 By: /s/  MORTIMER B. ZUCKERMAN

Mortimer B. Zuckerman
Executive Chairman

By: /s/  OWEN D. THOMAS

Owen D. Thomas
Director and Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/  DouGLAs T. LINDE

Douglas T. Linde
Director and President

By: /s/  ZOF BAIRD BUDINGER

Zoé Baird Budinger
Director

By: /s/ CAROL B. EINIGER

Carol B. Einiger
Director

By: /s/  DR.JACOB A. FRENKEL

Dr. Jacob A. Frenkel
Director

By: /s/ JOEL I. KLEIN

Joel I. Klein
Director

By: /s/  MATTHEW J. LUSTIG

Matthew J. Lustig
Director

By: /s/  ALAN J. PATRICOF

Alan J. Patricof
Director

By: /s/ MARTIN TURCHIN

Martin Turchin
Director
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By: /s/ DAVID A. TWARDOCK

David A. Twardock
Director

By: /s/  MICHAEL E. LABELLE

Michael E. LaBelle
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Owen D. Thomas, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Boston Properties, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014

/s/  OWEN D. THOMAS

Owen D. Thomas
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael E. LaBelle, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Boston Properties, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2014

/s/  MICHAEL E. LABELLE

Michael E. LaBelle
Chief Financial Officer







Corporate Information

Corporate Counsel

Goodwin Procter LLP
Exchange Place

53 State Street
Boston, MA 02109

Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
125 High Street
Boston, MA 02110

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Registered shareholders with questions
about their account or inquiries related
to our Dividend Reinvestment and Stock
Purchase Plan should contact:

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
PO. Box 30170

College Station, TX 77845

(888) 485-2389
www.computershare.com

Investor Relations

Investor inquiries may be directed to:

Investor Relations

Boston Properties

800 Boylston Street, Suite 1900

Boston, MA 02199

(617) 236-3322

investorrelations @bostonproperties.com

You may also contact us through our
website at www.bostonproperties.com.

Form 10-K

Boston Properties’ Form 10-K is incorporated herein and has been filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Additional copies of the Annual Report and Form 10-K may be obtained
from the Company free of charge by calling Investor Relations at (617) 236-3322; or by submitting

a request through the Contact feature on the Company’s website at www.bostonproperties.com.

Stock Information

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the ticker symbol “BXP"
On January 31, 2014, the closing sale price per common share on the NYSE was $108.09 and there
were approximately 1,440 common shareholders of record. This does not include the number of
persons whose shares are held in nominee or “street name” accounts through banks or brokers.
The table below sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices and distributions per common
share for fiscal year 2013.

2013 Quarter Ended High Low Distributions
December 31 $109.83 $98.04 $2.90"
September 30 $112.93 $98.21 $0.65
June 30 $115.85 $99.59 $0.65
March 31 $109.65 $99.85 $0.65

"Paid on January 29, 2014 to shareholders of record on December 31, 2013. Amount includes the $2.25 per
common share special dividend.
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